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: - PARTI o
(’AUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS i

" oot
Th:s Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward Iookmg statements wnthm thc meanmg of Sec-
tion 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act™) and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”). When used in this Report, the words “estimate, ¢
“project,” “anticipate,” “expect,”.“intend,” “believe, " “hope,” “may” and similar expressions, as well as “will,”
“shall” and other indications of future tense, are intended to identify forward- looking statements. The forward-
looking statements are based on our current expectations and speak only as of the date made. Thése forward-
looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that in some cases have affected our hlstoncal
results and could cause actual results in the future to differ significantly from the results anticipated in * Kz
forward-looking statements made in this Report. Important factors that could cause such a difference are
discussed in this Report, particularly in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Management s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”. You-are cautioned not to place.undue reliance
on the forward-looking statements.

p SR ey

, . . L
Few of the forward-looking statements in this Report, including the documents that are incorporated by, '
reference, deal with matters that are within our unilateral control. Joint venture, acquisition, financing and
other agreements and arrangements must be negotiated with independent third parties and, in some cases, must
be approved by governmental agencies. These third parties generally have mterests that do not commde W1th
ours and may conflict with our interests. Unless the third parties and we are able to compromtse their various''
objectives in a mutually acceptable manner, agreements and arrangements will not be consummated. .

Although we beheve our expectauons reflecied in forward- lookmg statements are based on reasonable
assumptions, no assurance can be given that these expectations wilt prove to have been correct; Important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations reflected in the forward-
looking statements include, among others T e B Ly “

. . S VI SN

‘1

s the market pnces of oil and gas; s e , e

* uncertainty of drilling results, reserve descriptions, charactéristics, estimates and reserve replacement;

.“l . i - N

« ‘operating uricertairities and ‘hazards;

* economi¢ and competitive conditions;
» natural disasters and other changes in business coqditions;
* inflation rates; . o e
* legislative and regulatory changes; ) oy, dae e e
* financial market conditions; ot e . C it
« accuracy, completeness and veracity of information received*from third parties; -.'.

4 - ; v
. ae / .

» wars and acts of terrorism or sabotage;

e o v

+ political and economic uncertainties of foreign governments; and

- . . Ve
N . L i, . !

+ future business decisions.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the events anticipated by our forward-looking |
statements might not occur. We undertake no obligation to update or revise our forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. . . - . o -

In this Annual Report, “CanArgo” or the “Company”,.“we”, “us” and “our” refer to CanArgo Energy
Corporation and, unless otherwise indicated by the context, our. consohdaled subsidiaries: . . - G
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GLOSSARY OF.-CERTAIN TERMS

The definitions setdorth below shall apply. toythe-indicated terms as-used in this-Form' 10-K. All volumes
of natural gas referred to herein are stated at the Iegal pressure base of the state or area where the reserves
exist and-at ‘60" dégrees Fahrenhelt and'in most mstanceSJare rounded to the‘nearest major multlpleff' ‘

4 oyt T e
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“AMEX” — The Amencan Stock Exchange Inc~ ‘ c - R vee

U"J + . [} s I .

pplt I—— One stock tank” b l or 42 U, S gal]ons liquid volume used herein'i in reference 'to crude orl’ or

- other llquld hydrocarbons e P et c e b
R e At w e IR "r' AN B e e, R
"L, “boe’— Barrel'of oil equwalent, deterrmned by. usmg the ratio of one bbl of oil.or natural gas, liquids to

SlX Mcfofgas Pl gt e N vy ‘ R BT ] e,

bop 5 Barrels of oil produced per. day ','

N do b g0y ook Lt R [ .. . .

‘i":“Brent . — Pricing point-for selling North Sea crude oil. - » 4 +. ™ & .. o
o
“Development drilling” — The drilling of a well within the proved area of an oil or gas reservoir to the

depth of a stratlgraphlc herizon known to be productive., « -« SonE .o

Iaranon prospecrs qr locanons —A locatlon where a well is drrlled to ﬁnd and produce natural gas
or 011 reserves not c]assrﬁed as proved to find a new reservoir in a field prevrously found to be producuve of
oil or gas 1n another reserv01r or to extend a, known reservmr ’

- o * 1

“Finding dnd 'development costs” — Costs associated wrth acquirinig’and developing proved natural gas
and 011 reserves which are caprmllzed pursuant to generally accepted accountmg pnnc1ples including any
capltahzed general and adrmmstranve expenses )

e i P r

R s o o
“Farm-in'or farm-out” *— An agreement under 'whxch the owner'of a workmg interest in an-oil and gas.
lease assigns the working interest or a portion thereof to another party who desires to drill on the leased ! -
acreage. Generally, the assignee is required to drill one or more wells in order to earn its interest in the
acreage. The assignor usually retains a royalty or reversionary interest in the léase. The interest received by an
assignee js a,"farm;in” while the interest transferred by the assignor is a'farm-out” .. A

“Gross acreage or gross wells” — The total acres or wells, as the case may be, i—{.‘ which a working ,
. . . - I T
interest is owned.,

“Km” — Kilometer.

.o - " . .
[ v . L N tat oy

“Mcf” — One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.
“MMcf’ — One million cubic feet of natural gas. T e
“Bcf” — One billion cubic feet of naturat gas.
“MCM” — One thousand cubic metres of natural gas. “ v . Ve
“MMCM” — One million cubic metres of natural gas. - e e e .
mD” — Millidarcies. Lo S . .
“MMbbl” — One million barrels. . ., =~ ., e e

“MMboe"” — Million barrels of oil equivalent. ' L

“Net acres ar ner weIIs ’I'he sum of the fractronal workm mterests owned in ross acres OrT gross
TR
¢ HE

wells j . - .

TN Lo P v o . (R ot oo C, g LRI

Pmducmg property” — A natural gas and-oil property’ with existing production. - =~ - "

“Proved developed reserves” — Proved réserves that can be expected to be recovered from existing wells
with existing equipment.and. operating methods. .~ <. . " v s aL P




“Proved reserves” — The estimated. quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids .which
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from
known reservmrs under exrstmg economic and operatmg COllClltl()nS

' “Proved undeveloped reserves” — Proved reserves that are expected to be. recovéred from’ new wells on
undrilled acreage, or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required: for-recompletion.
Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limited to those drilling-units that offset productive units and-that are
reasonably certain of productton when dnlled

1 ' J'" i

“PSC” or “PSA” Productton Shanng Contract or Production Sharing Agreement: . ..,7. .

"Recomplere - This term refers to the techmque of dnllmg a separate well—bore from all exlstmg casmg
in order to reach the same reservoir, or redrtllmg the same well bore to reach a new reservorr after producuon
from the ortgmal reservorr has been abandoned

1 . ) -,

“SEC” — United States Securmes and Exchange Commission. !+ . R

“Undeveloped acreage” — Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed'to a point
that would permit the production of commercial quantities of natural’gas and oil regardless of whether such
acreage contains proved reserves. .. . ‘ s A L

“Womng interest” — An operating intefest that gtves the owner the nght to dnll produce and conduct
operating activities on the property and to receive a share of productlon

“Workovers” — Operations on a producing well to restore or increase production.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS. . A i

General Development. ofBusmess. T Yoo ' R L

We operate as an oil and gas exploration and production company and as a holding témﬁahy carry out
our activities through a number of operating subsidiaries and associated or affiliated companies. These
operating companies are generally focused on one of our projects, and this structure assists in maintaining
separate cost centers for these different projects.

‘The address of the principal and administrative ofﬁces of CanArgo is P.O. Box 291, St Peter Port,
Guernsey, British Isles GY1 3RR (Tel. No. (44) 1481 729 980).

We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™). The public may read
and copy any materials that we file with the Commission at the Commission’s Public Reference Room at
- 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. We make available free of charge our annual report on
Form [0-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports; ﬁled
or furnished pursuant to_ Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act on our internet website at :
WWW.Canargo.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we electromcally file or furnish such material wrth
or-to the C'ommisswn ' -

v Our prmc1pal activities aré oil and gas exploration, development and production, pnncrpally in Georgia.
We direct most of our efforts and resources to our explorauon and appraisal program in Georgia and the !
development of the Ninotsminda Fteld in Georgia. Qur management and technical staff have substanttal
experience in our areas of operation. Currently our pnnclpal product is’crude oil, and the sale of crude oit'i lS _

our prmcrpal source of revenue. _ ) ven T

f Lt

Exploration, Development and Production Acttvrttes

-

In Georgta our exploratron development and productton activities are carried out under four production -
sharing contracts or agreements (“PSC” or “PSA™), these being:

.+ 1.- The Ninotsminda, Manavi arid West Rustavi Production Sharing:Contract, covering Block-XI® ,
- (“Ninotsminda PSC™), in which Ninotsminda Qil Company Limited owns a 100% interest. Nmotsmmda
Qil. Company Limited is a wholly owned, subsidiary of CanArgo. This PSC covers an area of * . s
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approximately 27,923 acres.(113 Km?), This area, excludmg any.development area, is subject to a | |
+ - voluntary 25% relinquishment in May 2008; S

S

2. The Nazvrevi and Block XIII Production Shanng Comract (“Nazvrew PSC™), covenng Blocks -

.-XIP and XIII; in.which CanArgo (Nazvrevi) Limited owns a 100% interest..CanArgo (Nazvrevi) Limited

-is a wholly owned subsidiary of CanArgo. This PSC covers an: area"of approximately acres 194,223 acres
(787 Km?);.following a 50% relinquishment of the contract area in February 2008;

3. The Norio (Block XI®) and North Kumisi Production Shari'ng Agreement (“Norio PSA™) in
which CanArgo Noric Limited currently' owns a 100% interest, although this interest may be reduced to
85%. should the state oil company, Georgian. !Oll exercise an option ava1lable to it under the PSA for a

: lm‘utcd penod followmg the suﬁmlssmn of a field development plan. As a contractor party, Georglan 0il
would be liable for all costs and expenses in relation to any interest, it rnay acquire in the PSA. This PSA
covers an area of approximately 265,122 acres (1,061 Km?) followmg a 25% relinquishment in April
2006 and will be subject to a further 50% relinquishment of the remaining contract area léss any
development area in April 2011;

ir . 1 [

i .4, The Block:XI¢ andw)f(IH Productlon Sharmg Contract (*“Thilisi PSC") +in which CanArgo Norio
Limited owns a 100% interest. CanArgo Norio Limited is a who}ly owned subsidiary of CanArgo. This
PSC covers an area of approximately 119,845 acres (485 Km?). A first relinquishment of 25% of the
Contract area, excluding any deve]opmem area is due i in September 2008 but we are negouatmg an
extension to this date.

Until February 16, 2006, we held an interest in Lﬁe Samg'ori, Block XIP Production Sharing Contract
(“Samgori PSC”), in which CanArgo Samgori Limited acquired a 50% interest in 2004 subject to completion
of an agreed work program to be completed in part by September 16, 2006 and in full by June 2008. This
work program did not commence in time and the Samgori PSC was returned to the.previous owner without
CanArgo retaining any interest. CanArgo Samgori Limited is 4 wholly owned subsidiary of CanArgo.

S Co
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“Under production sharing contracts, the contractor party (generally a foreign-investor) assumes the risk
and provides investment intothe project (in the abave mentioned contracts, CanArgo through its appropriate
subsidiary is a contractor party) and in return is entitled to a share of any petroleum produced which is: split
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into a cost recovery and profit share element. The remaining profit petroleum produced from the project is
delivered to the State from which the State will assume, pay and discharge, in the name and on behalf of each
contractor party, the contractor party's profit tax liability and all other host State taxes, levies and duties. PSCs
are a common.form.of oil and gas exploration and production contract in many parts of the world. . .

¢ ! L R : ’ Vo L TR
.
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il and Gas Fields .

. . . NG . Lo - . vy ' PRI
Since 1997, our resources have, through our wholly owned subsidiary Ninotsminda Oil Company Limited,
been mainly focused on the developmem of the Ninotsminda Field and related exploration activities in =~ ;.. «

Georgia, including the Manavi prospect. The Ninotsminda Field covers approxlmately 3,276-acres (13 26 ...

Km?) and is located approximately 25 miles (40 Kms)”no,r[h east of the Georgian capital, Thilisi. It i is qc_l;_apent_
to and east of the Samgori Oil Field, which was Georgia’s most productive oil field (we a_cc]uired an interestin
this Field i in early 2004 which we held until February 2006)., The Ninotsminda Field was discovered later. than,

the Samgon Field and has experienced substantially. less development activity. ﬂ“he Georgian State oil . . ,
company, Georgian Oil and others, including Ninotsminda Oi} Company lelted have drilled 36 wells in the
Ninotsminda Field,.of which 11 are currently producmg o ‘,‘ e e e,

We beheve that the Nlnolsmmda PSC area both outmde of and beneath the tcurrently producmg reservmrs
of the'Field has sugmﬁcam additional exploration and appralsal potential. To date, we have invested and p
continue to invest substantial funds in exploring the Ninotsminda PSC area mcludmg the Manavi prospecl ‘

where we made an o6il dlscovery ina deeper stratigraphic interval in 2003, oo .
R IV [ B LIPS o ey T e
. e - L . T oy i T
Other Projects . ] . ) ) Yo . -

3 « ' . ‘ ‘. . . .o
- ] ' X ) . 3 .

* ' We have' add1t1or|al exploratory and developmental oil ‘and gas propemes and prospects in Georgla wh:ch
we are actwely explormg Previously we had oil and gas interests in Ukrame but we exited this' country if *
2004 when we disposed of our sirigle remammg Ukralrhan asset, {he Bugruvanvske Field. We also had ‘
interests in Kazakhstan, but our Kazakhstan assets were ‘discontinued with our dlsposmon of our mterest m
Tethys Petroleum L1m1ted Wthh held quch assels ‘on August 3 2007 '

s ‘ i ' i " T i o -_' [

Business Structure .. P T . ! . )

o .ot - Co o T
CanArgo is a holding company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. Our principal product
is crude oil, and the sale of crude oil is our principal source of revenue. CanArgo’s pnncnpal active subsxdlanes
are held through our wholly owned subsidiary company CanArgo Limited as follows

[ . . v : . . R !

— I. CanArgo Limited

‘ . CanArgo Georgia Limited

-, .. . * v Georglan Operating Company to-gt PSCs [ ‘. T

. : - as . 1 . ] . g - D - . [ -

, L e Ninotsminda Oil Company Limited B

Ninotsminda, Marsvl & Was! Rustavi PSC

CanArgo Norio Limited TR L 1
Noria {Blogk X% and Nortn Kurmist PSA . :
Block Xi” and X1 PSG {Toitisl PSC*) * - : ' Cu
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Nmo!smmda PSC

4 - ot " r

Qur activities at the Nmotsmmda Field and on the Manav1 prospect are. conducted through Nmotsmmda
Oil Company Limited, a Cypriot corporation (“NOC") which became a wholly owned subsidiary of CanArgo
in July 2000.

A A ra t

NOC (then named JKX Ninotsminda Limited) obtained its nghts to the Ninotsminda Field, mcludlng all
ex15tmg wells, oné other field {West Rustavn) and cxploratlon acreage iri Block ' XIE under 41996 production
sharing contract with Georgian Oil'anid the State’of Georg1a (“Nmotsrmnda 'PSC"y which came into effcct in
February 1996”NOC s rights*tinder the coritract expire in December 2019, subject to the poss:ble loss of
undevefoped'areas pnor to that date and a possible extension with regard to developed areas. As such the’
initial téem -bf thé Nindtsminda PSC is until 2019 however, in respéct of any developriént area, if commercial
production remains possible beyond 2019 upon giving Notice-to the Staté we havé ‘an automatic nghl to éxtend
the contract in respect of such development aréa for an additional term of 5 yeirs (until 2024) or, if earlier, for
the producing’ life ‘of the- development area!"Under the Ninotsminda PSC, NOC is required to relinquish af
least half of the area then covered by the production shanng contract, but not in portions being actively
developed, at five year intervals commencing December 1999. In 1998, these terms were amended with the
initial relmqmshment bcmg due 1n 2008 and a reductlon in the drea to be relmqmshcd at each interval from
50% to 25%. G ' : C

ra. o e ooy - N : ' o .

Under the Ninotsminda PSC, up to 50% of petroleum produced under the contract (“Producuon Mis ..
allocated to NOC for the recovery of the cumulative allowable capital, operating and other project costs
. associated with the Ninotsminda Field and exploration in Block XIF (cost recovery petroleum). NOC pays
100% of the costs incurred in the project as the sole contractor party under the Ninotsminda PSC. The balande
of Producuon (profit petroleum) is allocated on a 70/30 basis between Georglan Oil as the State representative
in the PSC and NOC respectlvely ‘While NOC continues to have unrecovered costs, it will recelve 65% of
Production (cost recovery plus profit petroleum). After recoyery of its cumulative capital, operaung and other, -
allowable project costs, NOC will rec€ive 30% of Production. Thus, while NOC is rcsponmble for all of the
costs associated with the Ninotsminda PSC, it is only entitled to receive 30% of Producuon after cost recovery.
The aliocation of a share of Production to Georglan Oil, however, relieves NOC of all obligations it would
otherwise have to pay the State of Georgia for taxes, duties and levies related to activities covered by the
“production sharing contract. Georgian Oil and NOC take their respective shares of oil production in kind, and
they market their oil independently, however the intention is to market gas jointly. '

; ! l PRI 4 ot L . s

Samgori PSC

RO o T e o . . . ' . e,

In April 2004, we acquired a 50% interest in the Samgori PSC in Georgia. This interest was acquired
from Georgian Oil Samgori Limited (“GOSL”), a company wholly owned by Georgian Qil, by one of our

" subsidiaries, CanArgo Samgori Limited (“CSL"). Under the terms of the agreement dated January 8,"2004, up
to 10 horizontal wells were to be drilled on the Samgori Field as a result of GOSL's earlier acquisition of the
contractor’s interest in the PSC from the original contractor.party to the Samgori PSC, National Petroleum
Limited (“NPL”). Completion of well $302 in the autumn of 2004, _which was funded 100% by us, satisfied
our commitment to GOSL under the acquisition agreement. The intention was that the remainder of the
drilling program would be funded jointly by CSL and GOSL, the contractor parties, pro rata their interest in
the Samgori PSC. The total cost.to us of participating in.the whole program, which was due to be completed
within 36 months of the commencement of the joint work program was anticipated to be up to $13,500,000.

On February 17, 2006 we, 1ssued a press release announcmg that our subsidiary, CSL, was not proceeding
with further investment m the Samgori PSC and associated farm-in, and accordingly we terminated our interest
in the Samgori PSC with ‘effect from February 16, 2006 The decision by CSL not to proceed with further
investment under the currént farm-in arrangemems was due to the inability of CSL's partner in the project,
GOSL, to provide its share of funding to further the development of the Field. We consider that theré would
have been insufficient time to meet the commitments under the agreement with NPL and we were not prepared
to fund the project, which is not without risk, on a 100% basis without different commercial terms and an
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extension to'the commitment period. It was not possible to négotiate a satisfactory position on either muitter. '
NPL subsequently exercised its right to take back 100% of the contractor share in the Samgori PSC from. g
GOSL and, accordingly, effective February 16, 2006 we have withdrawn from the Samgori PSC.

. a . . ) -t ' 3 .
L3

CanArgo’ Georgia Limited:
[ ' oo
Pursuant to the terms of CanArgo s PSCs in Georgia, a Georgian not-for-profit company must_ be )
appointed as field operator. Until February 2005, there were three such field operating companies, relatmg to
CanArgo s PSCs: Georgian British Oil Company Ninotsminda, Georgian British Oil-Company Nazvrevi and
Georglan British Oil Company Norio (in respect of both the Norio PSA and the Tbilisi PS@);-each of which is
50% owned by a company within the CanArgo group with the remamder ownéd 'by. Georgian Oil, but with
CanArgo having chairmanship of the board and a casting vote. However, on February-1; 2005-Georgian oil,
the* State Agency for chulauon of Oil and Gas Resources in Georgia and CanArgo reached agreement on
restructuring the field operator, companies in our PSCs. A single operator company, CanArgo Georgia Lumted
a wholly owned subsidiary company of CanArgo, was appointed the field operator for the Ninotsminda, -
Nazvrevi, Norio and Thilisi PSCs. The field operator provides the operating personnel and is responsible for
day-to-day operatlons CanArgo or.a company within the CanArgo group pays the operating company’ ’s
expenses associated with the development of the fields, and the operating company performs its services on a
non-profit basis.
t
.Operations under each of the PSCs are determined by a co-ordinating body-(“Co-ordinating Committee™)"
composed of members designated by the respective CanArgo company and Georgian Qil, representing the
State, with the deciding vote allocated to us. If the State believes that any action proposed by us with which
the State disagrees would result in permanent damage to a field or reservoir or in a material reduction in
production over the life of a field or reservoir, it may refer the disagreement to a western independent expert
for binding resolution. Since we acquired our interest in the PSCs, there has been no such disagreement.
Georgian regulatory authorities must approve any drilling sites tentatively selected by us before drilling may
commence. ..

Ninotsminda, Manavi and West Rustavi LProduction Sharing Contract
Ninotsminda - "

The ’Nmotsmmda Fleld was drscovered in'1979, with commercral productron from the Mrddle Eocene
reservoir : established in the sanie yeat. When NOC assumed developmental reaponsrbrhtJy for the Field i in 1996,
productlon was minimal. We believe that produptlon was hampered by, among other factors a lack of fundmg,
civil smf( and utllrzatlon of old technology and methods . ’ e e .. oo .

The Nmotsmmda Freld 1s the eaQtemmost element of an elongate antrclme WhICh mcludes the Samgon T
and Patardzeuli Fields. The ‘Ninotsminda Field is separated from the Patardzeuli Field to the west by a saddle '
and a NW-SE trending cross fault. The field structure comprises an elongate anticline which measures 6.2 miles
(10 Km) (E-W) by 1.9.miles (3 Kin),and has a maximum strictural relief of:around 2,493 feet (760 metres).
The main reservoir_horizon is the-Middle Eocene which. consists:of well-bedded’ deep marine sedimentary
rocks eroded-from volcanoes. Such rocks typically have low matrix porosity with the'gross: field wide effective
porosity -of around 0.1% and permeability in'thé range ‘of 0.5-10 mD, however, in the Ninotsminda Field there
are well*developed sub-vertical fractures which provide secondary rporasity and permeability-of upto - .+, -
100-500 mD. The reservoir which in the field area is up to 1,640 feet (500 metres) thick is at a depth of -

8,530 feet (2,600 meétres) below surface 10,9,843 feet (3,000 metres) below surface: Production. from the Fleld
is facilitated by a strong water drive.. The-6il ‘accumulation has a.gas cap which together form.a maximum -
hydrocarbon column of 1,060 feet (323 metres) thickness, with'the gas-oil.contact at.4,839 feet (1,475 metres)
True Vertical Depth Sub Sea (“TVDSS")»and.the oil-water contact at 5,413 feet (1,650 metres) TVDSS. The
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oil itself is a high quahty sweet crude: 41°API, with _]USI 0.24% sulphur 4.9% parafﬁn and 8.7% tar and .
asphaltene. - A Tt :

- . L -*

r e - PR . - - - . .- - RPN,

NOC began an immediate rehablhtanon of the Ninotsminda Field in 1996 which included repamng and
adding perforanons to ex;stmg wells acquiring addmonal seismic data and a llmlted drilling program. The first .
new weIl (named N96) was completed in October 1997 and'a second ‘well (N98) wis completed in October
1998 which was sidetracked s a horizontal producér in 2000. The N98 honzontal well is'the most easter]y
producing well on the field and, although not oriented in an optimal direction so a$ to best encounter the siib
vertical fractures which are important for production, the well has produced approximately 510,000 barrels of oil
to date and continues’ to produee -at a steady rate of approxtmately 200 barrels of 01l per day (bopd) w1th less
than 1% water cut.

S . oo R . L. - . ..= \ I
As arésult of this development work, subsequent dnllmg and the comptletion of a.dynamic reservoir .

model, it was suggested that a higher level-of production could-be achieved from the Middle Eocene reservoir
from horizontal wells drilied in apreferred orientation so-as to'intersect the main fracture sets. During 2003, .
we completed three horizontal sidetrack wells with a total of 3,720 feet.(1,134 metres) of horizontal section

. having been dniled through the reservoir using our own equipment and-conventional drilling techniques.
Although individual wells tested. at rates.of over 2,000 barrels of oil per day (bopd) when completed; the wells
were put on production at lower rates in.accordance with the recommendations of independent petroleum
engineering specialists in-order to. maintain production. However, it has not been possible to maintain S
production”at these levéls due to water incursion resulting from what we bélieve to.be coning of water up.the
fractures, caused to an extent by reservoir damage caused by.conventional drilling techniques. Nevertheless, .
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the total production to date from these wells-amounts to approxrmately 745,000 barrels of oil and 597 MMcf
(16,908 MCM) of natural gas . . . . f. "« N

Desptte the fact that rmual productron results from the honzontal wells 1nd1cated s1gmﬁcant lmprovement
compared to production from offsetting vertical wells,_productron was not sustainable at the same hlgh levels . .
due to, what we believe, bemg drilled overbalanced with_a water-based mud that resulted in hlghly .
overbalanced pressures and mud invasion into what.is alreddy a low penneabrhty Teservoir. In an attempt to ;
address this issue, it was decided to employ under balanced drilling. (“UBD”), as well as drilling with cmled ,
tubing (“CT™) as these technologies have been combined successfully in the internationat oi mdustry to drill
undamaged horizontal sect1ons for rmproved productron and explonatron of both'oil and gas reservmrs

In June 2004, we signed a contract wrth WEUS Holdmg Inc., a subs.ldlary, of Weatherford Intemanonal
Lid (“Weatherford”), for the supply of Under Balanced Coiled Tubing Drilling (“UBCTD”) services to our | ..
projects in Georg1a Under the terms of the contract, Weatherford were to supply and operate a UBCTD uhit
to be used 6n-a program of up to 14° honzomal well-botes on the Ninotsminda and Samgori Fields (we were
party to the Samgori PSC at this tie). It 'was' ‘considered that these combined ‘drilling technologles would-

provide the best way to develop and produce both the' Nmotsmmda and Samgorr Frelds e e

We p]anned to drill at least ﬁve under balanced horizontal sidetracks on the Nmotsrmnda Field starting
with the N22H well which is located in the.east part of the Field where the reservoir is tighter but it is |,
believed to be relatively un-drained. We prepared the well with our own crew which' involved, sidetracking . -.
from the existing well-bore at 8,661 feet (2,640 metres) down to 9,193 feet (2,802 metres) and setting a 4'4
inch liner. Weatherford commenced operations: in December 2004. However, technical problems with the
Weatherford equipment caused a number of delays which resulted in the UBD not being completed untrl late
February, 2005 with a much shorter than planned section being dnlled and the wéll not achrevrng 1ts
objective, despite ﬂowmg gas at reported hrgh rates through the’ gas cap sectlon R

‘ ' = +

Subsequent operations by Weatherford on'both N IOOH2 (an eastern s1detrack to the well where we earlier
successfully drilled a conventional horizontal side track to the west) and. N49H wells also proved unsuccessful,
with Weatherford failing to drill any horizontal section in these wells. Progress was hampered by multiple: -«
failures of the downhole motors,.other equipment- malfunctions and.the loss of bottom hole’assemblies in the
wells. As a result of the failure of Weatherford to’successfully complete. any horizontal sidetrack development
wells on the Ninotsminda Field using: UBCTD technology, Weatherford demob111zed itsrequipment and left
Georgia in July 2005. . e e L

Despite this lack of success, which'we attribute mainly to multiple equipmerit failures, we still believe
that under-balanced technology is an appropriate technology for the development of this type of reservoir: ..
However, due to alternative UBCTD equipment not being available in the short.to medium term due to.a high .
demand for oil field equipment and services in general, we decidedto continue with our horizantal ...
development and production program and drill at least two additional sidetrack wells with our own equipment.

In October 2005 we successfully sidetracked the N10OH2 well, having drilled a horizontal section of
1,667 feet (508 metres). A pre-perforated liner was run over a 1,421 foot (433 metres) interval in the ’
horizontal section and was tested at a rate of up to 13.07 MMcf (370 MCM) of gas per day plus:301 barrels
of condensate per day. The well is currently producing at a steady raterof .approximately :1.4 MMcf (40 .
MCM) of gas per. day and 60 banels of oil ;per day {bopd)._ . oo . T

1

The last honzontal srdetrack well to be drrlled was the N97H well Wthh we completed m March 2006 It
targeted oil volumes un-drained from previous offset area wells and was, put on productron test followmg the
installation of a slotted liner over a 1,509, feet (460 metres) mterval furthest from the heel of the wel] The . ‘
well produced initially with a hrgh water cut, approxrmately 70%, and an oil rate whrch peaked at, 385 barrels
of oil per day (bopd) before declining. Subsequent pressure surveys run with downhole- -gauges suggested that
the NO7H well was in communication with the offset N4H well. The 'most likely assumed scenario was that
some of the fracture sets encountered at the end of the N97H well were drained by the N4H well and were |
hence water filled. Once-a‘very high permeability connection is established with the aqu1fer water w1lI ﬂow in
preference to any oil ﬁlled fractures or matrix of lower permeability. RN '
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*,'On the basis of the test data, and due to the fact that the N97H well is approximately 36 feet (11 metres)
structurally higher than the N4H well which is still producing oil, we decided to attempt to conduct remedial
water isolation. The slotted liner deployed in the horizontal section limited mechanical options for shutting off
the toe end of the horizontal section. Previous experience in the field has shown that pulling a liner'once set

* has’a‘very low ‘chance of success due to formation collapse around the linér. Also, a traditional cément

isolation was considered to have a low chance of suceess in a horizontal section, so we opted for a coiled
tubing deployed chemical ‘shut-off. Water isolation operatrons have been performed but subsequent producﬂon
testing showed t.hat the treatment was not successful -

PR i 14 t . ) ’ . ]

We plan to set-a cement retainer in the solid liner section of the N97H well in order to isolate and--
abandon the slotted liner part and then perforate the liner in the build up and heel section of the well where
there’is potential-to recomp'lete this well as a gas prodiicer. Th1s operatlon w1ll be subject o havmg a su1tab1e
gas. off take agreement in place: !

Productton and development to date at the Ninotsminda Field has,focused on the western 2/3rds of thes ]

" field. The eastern most wells drilled .on the field are the N98 horizontal well and the N52 well which is an

inclined well towards the southeast Both of these wells have proven the oil-water contact (0 be at a deeper
level than in the western part of the field. N52, which is a Soviet era well, has never produced from the
reservoir due to'a complex fish being left in the hole with the well subsequently abandoned. The eastern part
of the field has not been exploited because most of the area falls within an environmental protection zone
where drilling is prohibited. CanArgo has future plans, subject to financing being available; to develop this'
area by drilling-a highly deviated well from the vicinity of the N98H surface location into the eastern part of
the field and cornpletmg the well with at Jeast two horizontal sections in the reservoir interval.

Dunng the- year. we continued to perform workover operauons on the N52 well on the Nmotsnunda Fleld
using our own CanArgo Rig #1 and crew to extract the fish (approx:mately 9,300 feet (2,843 metres)
comprising drill pipe, tubing and a milling assembly) from the well and perforate the liner over the reservoir
interval. The operation is further complicated. due to the ‘inclined nature of the well which has a number of
severe doglegs and the potential for the tubing to have deformed when dropped. Although the fishing operation
was always:considered to present a considerable technical challenge, we did succeed in recovering approxi-
mately:7,155 feet-(2,181 metres) of 2%4” and 2%” tubing. However, we have now reached the pulling capacity
of Rig #1*and are unable to progress further with this unit.. We are re-evaluating the operation and if we deem
the chances' of success to be reasonable, we will consider moving our larger rig to the site once it has
completed operations on Manavi. : ot

- Apart:from the Middle Eocene sequénce on the Ninotsminda Field there are a number of other reservoirs

“which .contain oil. We have not yet fully evaluated the reserves and economics of production from these zones-

which include shallower'oil reservoirs, the gas cap on the Ninotsminda Field itself or from the hydrocarbon
bearing zones below the Middle Eocene. To fully evaluate these zones, further seismic, technical interpretation
and.the employment of, modern drilling techniques such as radial drilling may .be required. :

Marmw & Cretaceous Exploratwn

12

'Htstoncally, the main focus of oil and gas exploratton in Georgia has been directed at the Middle Eocene
sequence which provides the reservoir for. the Samgori and Ninotsminda Fields. Although the potential of the
underlying Cretaceous sequence has long been recognised from limited drilling, surface outcrop and by
analogy to the Cretaceous in nearby Chechnya and Dagestan, this sequence remains very under explored. The
Cretaceous i is deeper it was less well defined on Soviet era seismic data and technically more difficult to drill
hence the general lack 'of exploratlon As a result, the ‘Cretaceous of the Kura Basin in Georgia has potential
to contain very mgntﬁcant volumes of 6il and gas reserves and’ we are fortunate to hold a s:gmﬁcant acreage
posm(m }n ‘this very attractlve play falrway

The Upper Cretaceous stratlgraphy typically comprises a chalk and-chalky limestone Sequence Wthh is,
of the order of 1,000:feet (300 metres) thick. These rocks, because of their brittle nature, are generally - .
fractured, as seen,in outcrop, thus providing reservoirs with potentially-significant permeability. Such age
rocks are prolific producers in the North Caucasus, and indeed-worldwide. The:carbonates are deposited on
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top of.a thick pile of Cretaceous: volcanic rocks which at outcrop are seen to be.mainly pillow (submarine)
lavas. Although not as good a reservoir assthe:carbonates, pillow lavas provide a ready — made fracture ~~..
system in the shrinkage joints that separate the individual pillows of a massive lava flow. In the West Rustavi:
Field well #16 (w1th1n CanArgo’s acreage) which reached a total depth in the Cretaceous penetrated a volcanic
interval whtch flow tested water wrth gas at over 3, 000 barrels per day thus demonstranng srgmﬁcant n
permeabtlrty e ' : Coomen e

1 [NV ’ [E i T L BTSN L L
Followrng the acqursmon and interpretation”of new multi-channel 2D ‘seismic data‘i in the Ninétsiminda, «
Manavi and West'Rustavi Production Sharing Contraét (Nmotsmtnda PSC) area in 1998 ‘and 2000, we '~ ‘-’
identified several large stiicturés at the Cretaceous level, the largest of 'which is the Manivi prospéct. Manavi
is located approximately 28 miles (45 Km) to the east of Tbilisi and just to the east of the Ninotsminda Field-
and i is mapped as a very large, east — west trending anticlinal feature‘ at 'I‘op Cretaceous reservotr level,
measuring, approxlmately 12 miles by 4 mlles (€19 Km by (;’5 Km) w1th 2, 950 feet (900 metres) ‘of vert_tca]
relief, The prospect lies pnncrpally within the Ninotsminda PSC area "but part of the prospect extends mto the
adjacent Nazvrevi PSC area (also owned by CanArgo) All exploranon costs m the Nlnotsmrnda PSC area can
be added to the cost, recovery pool.to be recovered from the sale of ml produced from the Nmotsmmda Freld
subject to there bemg sufﬁcrent productron avarlable CanArgo holds a ldO% mterest 1n both of these PSCs
through wholly owned submdtary compames . S '

u LS A I TR AR VU R E R ey

“The'first’ exploratron well drilled on the Maiavi structure, Manavi' 11 (“M11™), reached i total depth

' (“TD”) of 14:765 feet (4,500 metres) in the Cretaceous in September 2003. THE well encountered the -
Cretaceous limestone tdrget at 14, 265 feet (4.348' meties) with over 490 féet (150 metres) of* hydrocarbons T
mdrcated oh wireline logs and with noevidence of an 011 water contact present On fest the M11 Well flowed
light sweet 34.4”APT oil-at a visibly srgmﬁcant rate find af a hlgh pressure prior to the test bemg terrrunated .
due to the mechamcal‘fatlure of 'the productton tubmg Oil was a]so dtscovered in the shallower Middle'-
Eocene sequence, but was' not 1ésted, ' S B AL "-' 3

/Attempts to recover, the damaged tubing frorn the M11 well were unsuccessful, The well was prepared
and subsequently srdetracked usmg a Saipem S. p- LA (“Smpem”) Ideco E-2100Az dnllmg rig equtpped with a
top-drive dnllmg system and an oil baséd mud System prov1ded by Baker-Hughes Internatlonal (“Baker”) to "

control thié swellmg clays whrch had proved dlt‘ficult to drlll m the ongmal well oL : L
. ' t . LS 1Y N L

The Manav1 M11Z well reached a TD of 14,994 feet (4,570 metres) in the Cretaceous in'October 2005, -
The well was completed in the Cretaceous using slim-hole drilling technology due to the, small size of the
casing from, Wthh the well was srdetracked The, prtmary Cretaceous, lrmestone target was encountered at e 4
14, 032 feet (4 277 metres) some 230 feet (70 mietres) hrgher than in,the ongmal Mll well whrle the secondary
Middle Eocene target zone was penetrated at 13,009 feet 3, 965 metres) _again srgmﬁcantly htgher than in the
M11 well The carbonate sectlon 1tse1f was proven to be approxrmate!y,,?SO feet (6300 metres) thlck Drtllmgw
. data and slim hole w1re11ne logs indicated the presence of hydrocarbens in both the Cretaceous and Mtddle s
Eocene target Zones. Agam no oil water contact was 1dent1ﬁed .

ron T i v S A VIR PR A R '.."ir'-.u,.U

As mtttal flow, testing only producedlsmall amounts of onl andlgas it quickly became apparent that the.,
reservoir needed to be stimulated- in,order to.properly complete the,tesung operation. Consrdertng the small _ ,
diameter of the hole which would Ilmrt our, ability to optimally test this weli, and the. fact that the specialist;, ,.
equipment required for this: job is both difficult to source and expensive to, mobilise _for a,stngle operatto_n.twe_
decided to delay completion of this test until after the completion of the planned M12 appraisal well. .

The M12 ‘well is located approxtmately '1.25' miles (2 Km) to the west of the ongrnal dtscovery well Thrs
well was drilled using the Saipem rig and an oil based mud capabrhty with Baker providing' ‘mud engtneenng
services. Oil based. mud was used in an'attempt to control.the swelling clays above- the-target-horizon which’

December 2006 with a total,thickness of 1,827 feet (557, metres) of>Cretaceous. carbonates and volcanics .

having been.encountered. The significant hydrocarbon shows’ observed during the drilling. process and the data:
obtained from wireline logs indicated a potenttally srgnlﬂcantrhydrocarbon column in the: well with no-obvious
presence of a hydrocarbon-water contact. - . . ™" » N R T T
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Prior to testing the well, an. 886 feet (270 metre) 5 pre:perforated production liner was run over the
potential reservorr interva] and ‘a production tesung string set-to test.the Cretaceous carbonate and 1nterbedded
units. . _— b et . . . ,

Dunng settmg of the test strmg the well began ﬂowrng and it was necessary to increase the mud welght
to control the well whilst the test string was set. Despite the flow and gas observed at ‘surface during drilling
operations, the initial testing operations resulted in a pressure increase at surface but with no discernable flow.
Subsequent re-perforating of parts of the test interval has resulted in minor flow with gas being flared and
black 40.5° API oil collected at surface. However it is considered likely that formation damage has occurred,
probably whilst control]mg the well dunng -the setting of the test stnng, with mud penetrating and blocking the

formation. . ;. o " ) ) . - L

v

We' concluded that_ stlmulatlon techmques using acid to clean the well and create conductive pathways
from the reservorr to the well-bore and hence bypass any reservoir damage would be required to’ fully
productron test the potential of the well. Acid stimulation is a farrly common procedure required to stlmulate ’
flow in carbonate reservoirs of the same age in the North Caucasus and indeed elsewhere. However, prior to
going o the’ expense of rnobllrzmg a full acid fractunng spread, it was decided ﬁrst to conduct a simple acrd
wash to ensure the effectiveness of acid stimulation under the résérvoir conditions encountered in M12.
FracTech Lid., a-UK company providing independent well completion and’ stimulation laboratory testing,
design and consultancy services, and Schlumberger well completions experts provided advice on the chemicals
and the strmulanon program. The stimulation itself was performed through coiled tubing over a 564 foot (172
metres} interval consisting pnmanly of Cretaceous limestone where the best. -hydrocarbon shows were observed
during dnlhng :On strmulatron mvolvrng a low pressure acid squeeze, the well flowed back unaided and.
produced liquids, at rates of up to 46 barrels. per hour (1,104 barrels per day) and a sizeable gas flare. Over a
12 hour period, the well produced a total of 402 barrels of liquids consisting of pumped fluid and chemicals, *
polymer drilling mud released from the reservoir, oil and gas. The maximum oil cut observed was in excess of
50%. .

. The well, however did not 'sustain’ flow, and it was concluded that the extent of the formation darnage
was beyond that whrch could be cleahed u$ing a srmple acid stlmulauon process, and as such a proper
hydraulic fractunng of thé formation wrth acid was requrred The results of the initial treatment suggested that
acid was the correct approach to opening this formation up to flow while at the same time proving the
presence of ol in the reservoir. : . S . \ " '

On August 13, 2007 we announced that ‘Schlumberger had béen contracted to provide pumping
equrpment chemxcals and services to the' Company in order to perform a hydraulic acid fracturing treatment
of the Cretaceous reservoir mterval in the Manavi 12 well. In order to prepare the well for the fracture
snmulatlon our operatmg company, CanArgo Georgra replaced the 2% 'inch productlon string with'a 5 inch
fraccing stnng, and set a temporary plug to reduce the treatment interval, in order to give the operatron the
best ‘chance of suécess. ' '

On January 29, 2008 we announced that the acrd fracturing operation at the Manavn 12 well had been
successfully completed by Schlumberger +The acid fracturing stimulation was conducted using a multi-stage
treatment comprising the pumping of-a fracture initiating gel followed by hydrochloric acid stimulating fluids
and diverter agents. This process was repeated a number of times for maximum efficiency. Approximately
2,700 barrels of tréatment fluids weré pumped at a maximum rate of up to 15 barrels per minute. ‘An interval -
totalling 227 fedt (69 metres) across the Cretaceous carbonate reservoir section in the well from 15,354 feet
(4 680 metres) to 15,581 feet (4,749 metres) was isolated for the treatment Pressure readmgs recorded during
the operatlon 1nd1cate that fractures were successfully created

- Following the fracturing operation, the .well cornmenced to flow unaided wnh spent acid and chemicals
being flowed to a surface pit. During this time, the effectivéness of the fracture stimulation in opening the
reservoir up to flow and the potential.deliverability of the reservoir itself was demonstrated by the flow-back
rate which reached a maximuny flow-back of 223 barrels per hour (5,352 barrels per day). However, despite
the initial encouraging. oil and-gas.shows (30 to 35 foot (10 to 11 metre) gas flare) observed during the flow-+
back or clean up phase, the oil cut did not exceed 7% of the total flow from the well following.the clean up
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process. It would appear.that the well was producing excess water, but without further testing and data .-
collection it has not.to date been possible to ascertain where,this water was coming from. As part of the
planned testing program,’ it is intended.to run a production long in the well to determine the origin of this .-
* water. :

In order to proceed with the testing program, it was necessary to replace the 5-inch frac siring required
for the stimulation operation with 2% inch production grade tubing. Attempts to set a blanking plug in the . .
lower: completion in the well (to isolate the reservoir. interval) using coil tubing were abandoned following a .
mechanical failure of the injector head on the coil tubing unit causing damage to the ‘coil tubing, plug and., -
upper completion string. A wireline unit was mobilised from Baku to reset the plug. This.was successfully.
completed, but on extraction of the frac string by CanArgo Georgia it became apparent that damage had also
been caused to the compIetron which resulted in a modification to the final well completron being required.
The productlon tubing is now in place and pressure tested, however, operations to retrieve the methanical plug
have encountered further complications and additional equipment will need to be ‘mobilised to Georgia to
complete the opération. Once the plug is removed, well testing operatlons w111 continug. ‘As part of the planned
testing” program, a w1relme-corweyed productron logging tool will ‘be run'in. the well to help locate flurd entry
points to the well and provide downhole flow rate and pressure data during the test. This data will assist in the’

evaluation of well conditions and reservoir performance and help assess the overall potentral of the wel] .
| S
In order to fully evaluate the potential of the Manavi prospect as a whole, 51gn1ﬁcant additional dnlhng
and analysis will be required. As part of this analysis, we are also evaluating the technical feasrbllrty of 3"
acquiring a 3-D seismic data survey over the Manavi structure. All these: exploratory actiVities are however

Fl

dependent upon the Company securmg additional Fundmg R S .
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West Rustavi and Kumm ‘ -

The West Rustavi Field is located approximately 25 miles (4() Km) southwest of the Ninotsminda Freld
Prior to NOC gaining the Ninotsminda PSC, Georgian Oil drilled ten wells in the West Rustavi Field area, two
of which produced oil. The Middle Eocene zone is thinner and less productive in'this area than at the Voo
Ninotsminda Fleld and only limited productron has taken place from the West Rustavi Field. However, NOC
has carried out only very limited ‘workover activity on West Rustavr and potentral may. yet, exist for further oil
prOdLlCthl’l from the Middle Eocene dependant on techmcal and economlc factors. Honzontal dnllmg may also
be appropnate for thrs deposit.

" One of the ten wells drilled in the West Rustavi Field by Georgian Oil was deepened to test the deeper
Cretaceous and Paleocene horizons. This well, named WR16; was tested and produced at rate of over | MMcf
(35 MCM) of gas and 3,500 barrels of water per day, thus demonstrating the ability of the Cretaceous to
produce at good rates. The WR16 well is interpreted to have tested the down dip extent of a potential
Cretaceous gas deposit named Kumisi. Following the signature of the Nazvrevi and Block XIII Production
Sharing Contract (Nazvrevr PSC) which lies to the west and south of the West Rustavi Field, we acquired and
1nterpreted additional selsmrc data over this structure ‘and identified a potenttally large prospect extendmg
across the Nazvrevi PSC area with the crestal part of the stnicture located in the Block XIG which was
subsequently secured by CanArgo as part of the Thilisi PSC area. The stuctuté is potennally very large with
the pnncrpal risk being closure on the structure to the north and west whrch 1s dependent ona downthrown

4 ir R \ [

fault seat. to.
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Fol]owing an undertaking by.the government to purchase. any gas produced from the Kumisi prospect on
agreed commercial terms, we drilled a well to;appraise this prospect in-2007 up-dip of the WR16 well. The
Kumisi #1 well is located within the Nazvrevi PSG area and is approxi'mately, 7.5 miles (12 Km) southeast of
Thilisi. It is close to the domestic gas transportation grid and the route of the' new South,Caucasus gas -
trunkline from Azerbaljan to Turkey The well commenced dnllmg in February 2007 and reached a total depth

of 11, 841' feet (3 609 metres) in June in the Cretaceous " ' X .
An extensive testing program was conducted over the Cretaceous sectron where six. separate:intervals
totalling 482 feet (147 metres) were perforated and tested. Despite. elevated gas readings’ ‘being recorded. during

drilling, these tests.resulted in no discemnable flow from the formation and without‘any hydrocarbons being
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detected. It is, therefore, reasonable-to assume that the Cretaceous reservoir.at this location is tight unlike the -
. rocks encountered in other wellsin the. area. This conclusion was confirmed: by a low pressure hydro squeeze

which was performed over two separate zones with+the data obtained suggesting that these rocks. are tight and
lack permeability.

Further tests were carried cut.of 'potential reservoir units in the overlying Middle and Lower Eocene
sequences. Three separate tests were conducted with-a total of 79 feet (24 metres) of sandstones being
perforated and flow tested. These tests produced water with- gas flow to surface in flareable quantities, but non:
commercial volumes. Each interval was flow tested for a number of days over'whtch there 'was no increase in+
the amount of.gas produced and the testing was.subsequently - termmated e,

On October 18, 2007 we announced that the Kum1s1 #l was bemg plugged and abandoned The well
results, partlcularly for thé Cretaceous interval, wrll be re\rlewed and 1ncorporated into our technical evaluauon
of the area in order to fully understand the remaining potential of the KllmlSl area. As part of this analysrs
consideration will be glven fo acid fracture stimulation techniques as a means by which to enhance .~
permeablllty within the prospect. As no water has been recovered from the well, managemem believes that
potenttal for a large gas prospect may still exist up-dip of the WR16 well given better reservoir qual:ty

A

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Reference is hereby made to the Sectton entltIed “CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FOR- ,
WARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS” with respect to certain qualifications regarding the following mformauon
The risks described below are not the only ones facing the Company. Additional risks not presently known to
us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations and adversely affect the price .
of our shares.

1. . P .

’-

o o .

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

v e - N

We Have Expenenced Recumug Losses Co . L e e

For the fiscal years énded December 31, 2007 2006 2005 2004, and 2003, wé recorded nef losses of *
$53 777 214 $60,540851; $12,335.314, $4 611 03l dnd $7.473,346 respectively, and have an accumulated
deficit 6f $231,519,571 as at Decembér 31, 2007, Impairments'of oil and gds propemes {entures and other '
assets in 2007 included writedowns of $42,000,000 in our carrying value of the Ninotsminda Fi¢ld. The
Company may never achieve or maintain, profitability. The Company will need to: generate, significant revenues
to achieve and maintain profitability. The Company cannot guarantee that it_will be able to generate these
revenues. P R RN - Bt

oo v 4 '

Our Ability To Pursue Our Actmtres Is: Dependent On Our Abtltty Ta Genemte Cash Flows

'

. Our ablltty to contmue to pursue our pnnc1pa1 actmtres of acqumng 1nterests in and developlng 011 and
gas fields is dependent upon generatmg funds from internal sources,,external zsources and, ulumately,
mamtammg sufficient’ posnive cash ﬂows from operatmg act:vmes Our ﬁnancml statements. have been
prepared in accordance w1th U S. GAAP Wthl‘l contemplales contmuanon of the Company 4s a gomg
‘concern. The Company mcurred net losses from continuing operauons to common stockholders of *
approximately $65,315,000 $54,432,000 and $12,522,000 for the vears ended December 31, 2007, 2006

- .and 2005 respectively. These'net losses:included non-cash charges related to depreciation -and «deplétion,

. impairments{ loan interest; amortization. of debt discount; extinguishment of debt and stock-based ".
compensation of approximately $61,936,000, $48,213, 000 and $7 175, 000 for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007, 2006 and. 2005 respectzvely . '. N .

d,0 ’ . - - .
¢ In the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 the Company s revenues fr'drn 1ts Georglan operatlons
did not cover the costs of its operations. At December 31, 2007 the ‘Company had’ unrestncted cash and
““cash equivalents -available for general corporate use or for-use in the' Georgian opérations'of. * u.
- «approximately-$6,869,000:.1n 2007 the Company 'experienced ‘a net cash-outflow' from operations of
4 approximately $1,800,000 in Georgia. In addition,” the Company:has a planned capital- expenditure

-3
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budget in 2008 of approximately $12,000,000 in:Georgia. The ‘exploration and development wells
currently undergoing or wailing to undergo production testing in-Georgia currently do not produce :

.+ enough commercially ‘available quantities of oil and-or gas and the Company will not have sufficient
working capital’ and may have to, delay or suspend its capital expenditure plans and possibly make
cutbacks in its operations. There are no assurances:the Company could raise additional sourceg of v
equity financing and the covenants contained in the Note Purchase Agreements to which the Company
is a party (see Note 9 of the consolidated- financial-statements) restrici: the-Company from incurring
additional debt obligations unless it receives consent from Noteholders holding at least 51% in
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the of the Notes covered by such Agreements.

Consequently, the aforementioned items raise substantial doubt about the.Company’s ablhty to continue
as a going concern. R ey o i Teae

* * '

" We currently have sufficient cish on hand to support our operations through to the thlrd quarter 2008, In
order to fund ouf planned capital expendrture program and to continue our operauons after the third quaner
2008, we need to raise, substantial funds. 'As noted elsewhere we are pursumg ralsrng additional funds through
-private placements of our equity or debt securities or a possible rlghts offenng to qhareholders We are also
actively pursuing the farmmg out a number of our eproratton pro]ects “We are requrred under the’ covenants
of our existing Convertible’ Notes' to obtain the approval of a majority of our debt holders in, order fo incur
addrtlonal mdebtedness in excess of $2.5 million, which approval we cannot guérantee. In the event we
attempt to raise funds through an equity offermg, we would miore than hkely be reqmred to offercur eqmty
securltles ata substantlal discount to the current publlc market price in order to ‘attract mvestors In the'event
that we were fo do'so, provisions in our outstandmg Convertible Notes and Warrants would cause their R
exercise prices to reset to the lower price in any offering. If low enough, this could effect a significant dilution
to current shareholders or poss:bly to a change of conlrol evem

R S U (UL R .
Then‘ can be no assurance of our success in raising these funds In the event that we are unable to raise
additional funds on térmis acceptable to-us, we will-be required to significantly curtail our operations in
Georgia and to abandon our current]y planned capital expenditure program'.' b . b '
B PR ot N v
Our Current Operanons Are Dependent On the Success of Our Georgtan Explorat:an Acttvmes and Our
Acttvrms on the Nmotsmmda Field. ‘ A o

- To.date we have dlrected substantially: all of our efforts and most-of our-available funds to the I CE
development of the Ninotsminda Field in the. Kura Basin in the eastern part of Georgia,-appraisal of the
Manavi oil discovery, and exploration in thatrarea and some ancillary activities in the Kura Basin area. This
decision is based on management’s assessment of the promise of the Kura Basin area..However, our.focus on
the Ninotsminda Field has over the past several years resulted in overall losses for us. We cannot assure
investors that the exploration and development plans for the Ninotsminda-Field -will be:successful.- For,
example, the Ninotsminda Field may not produce sufficient quantities of oil and gas and at sufficient rates to
justify the investment we have made and are planhing to make in the Field, and we may not be'abié to
produce 'the oil and'gas‘at a ‘sufficiently low cost or to market the oil and gas produced at a'sufficiently high
price to genérate a positive cash flow and'a profit. Our Georgian exploration progrdm particularty in the
Manavi and Norio areas, is an important factor for future success, and this progrim may not be successful, as
it carries substantial risk. See'“Our oil and gas activities involve risks, many of which are beyond our control”
below for a description of a number of these potential risks and losses. In accordance with customary industry
practices, we maintain insurance against some, but not all, of such risks and some, but not all, of such losses.
The occurrence of an event not fully covered by insurance could have a material.adverse effect on our
financial Conditionl ant:l results of operations. . . ' .

] - ) ]

Our Operation Of The Ninotsminda Field Is Governed By a Production Shanng Comract Which May Be
Subject To Certain Legal Uncertainties. -+ . ' ' ! . o »

Our principal business and assets are derived from production sharing contracts. in Georgia. The
legislative and procedural regimes governing production sharing agreements and mineral use licenses. in
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| Georgia haverundergone a series of changes in recent years resulting in certain legal uncertainties. Our

production sharing agreements and-mineral use.licenses, entered into prior to the introduction in 1999 of a

new Petroleumn Law-governing such agreements havé not as yet been amended to reflect or ensure compliance
with current legislation. As aresult, despite references in.the current legislation grandfathering the terms and
conditions,of our production sharing. contracts, conflicts between the interpretation of our production sharing
contracts and mineral use licenses and current legislation could arise. Such conflicts, if they arose, could cause

an adverse effect on our rights under.the preduction sharing contracts.

. o ¢ . i ‘o vt

We May Encounter Difficulties In Enforcing Our-Title To Our 'Properties.

Since all of our oil and gas ifterests are currenitly held in countries where there is currently no private

ownership of oil and gas in place, good title to our interests is dependent on the validity and enforceability of
the govemmental hcenses and producuon sharing contracts and similar contractual arrangements that we enter
into with government entmes either dlrectly or mdxrectly As is customary in such circumstances, we perform

a, mlmmal tltle mvesugatlon before acqumng our interests, which generally consists of conducting due
dlllgence revt,ews and in certam circumstances securing written assurances from responsible govemment
authorities or legal Lopinions. We believe that we have satlsfactory title to such interests in accordance with

standards generally accepted in the crude oil and natural gas industry in the areas in which we operate Our
interests in properttes are subject to royalty interests, liens incident to operatmg agreements,. liens for current
taxes and other burdens, none of Wthh we believe matenally interferes with the use of, or affects the value of
such interests. However as is dlscussed elsewhere there is no assurance that our title to our 1nterests will be '
enforceable in all cnrcurnstances due, to the uncertam nature and predlctablhty of the legal systems in some of

the countries in wh1ch we operate

. R

We Wl[ Reguire Addmanal Funds To Implement Our Long-Term 01! And Gas Develapment Plans.

1 . A

It w1ll take many years and substantlal cash expendnures to develop fully our oil and gas properties. We

generally have the principal responmblhty to provide financing for our cil and gas properties and ventures.
Accordtngly, we will need to raise additionai funds from outside sources in order to pay for project

development costs. We may not be able to obtain that additional financing. If adequate funds are not available,

‘we will be requlred to scale bhck or even suspend our operations or such funds may only be available on '

commercially unattractive terms. The carrying value of the Ninotsminda Field may not be realized unless J
additional capital expenditure’s-are incurred to develop.the Field: Furthermore, additional funds will be required

to pursue exploration activities on our existingsundeveloped properties. While expected to be substantial,

without further exploration work and evaluation the amount of funds needed to.fully develop all of our oil and

gas properties cannot at present be: quanuﬁed 1 ' -

Yt s

We May Be Unable To Finance: Our oil And Gas Projects: ~ L

1 P

Our long term, abthty to ﬁnance most of our present oil and gas pro_]ects ‘and other ventures according to

present plans. is dependent upon obtaining additional fundmg An.inability to obtain financing in the future
will require us to scale,back or abandon part or all of our future,project development, capital expenditure,
production and other plans. The avallablhty, of equity or debt financing to us or to the entities that are
developing projects in which we have interests is affected by many factors, including:

oo

. world and reglonal economic condmons

. the state of international relations; . . .

"o the stability and the legal, regulatory, fiscal and tax policies of various governments in the areas in
Whlch we have or intend to have operattons

.
I [
- . . ¢

. ﬂuctuanons in the world and regional price of o1l and gas and in interest rates; - Co

+ the outlook for the oil and gas 1ndustry in general and in dreas in which we have or intend to have
operations; and S 1 . '
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« competition for funds from possible alternative investment projects.

Potential investors and lenders will be influenced by their evaluations of us and our projects, including
their technical difficulty, and comparison with available alternative investment opportunities.

Fl

Our Operations May Be Subject To The Risk Of Political Instability, Civil Disturbance And Terrorism.

Our principal oil.and gas properties and activities are in Georgia, which is located in the.former Soviet-
Union. Operation and development of our assets are subject to a number of conditions endemic to former
Soviet Union countries, including political instability. The present governmental arrangements in countries of
the former Soviet Union in which we operate were established relatively recently, when they replaced
communist regimes. If they fail to maintain the support of their citizens, other institutions, including a possible
reversion to totalitarian forms of government, could replace these governments. As recent developments in
Georgia have illustrated, the national governments in these countries often must deal with civil disturbances
and unrest which may be based on religious, tribal and local and regional separatist considerations. Further,
relations between Georgia and the Russian Federation have involved periods of political tension. Our
operations typically involve joint ventures or other participatory arrangements with the national government or
state-owned companies. The production sharing contract covering the Ninotsminda Field is an example of such
arrangements. As a result of such dependency on government participants, our operations could be adversely
affected by political instability, terrorism, changes in government institutions, personnel, policies or legislation,
or shifts in political power, There is also the risk that governments could seek to nationalize, expropriate or
otherwise take over our oil and gas properties either directly or through the enactment of laws and regulations
which have an economically confiscatory result. We are not insured against political or terrorism risks because
management deems the premium costs of such insurance to be currently prohibitively expensive.

We Face The Risk Of Social, Economic And Legal Instability In The Countries In Which We Operate.

The political institutions of the countries that were a part of the former Soviet Union have become more
fragmented and the economic institutions of these countries have converted to a market economy from a
planned economy. New laws have been introduced, and the legal and regulatory regimes in such regions may

! be vague, containing gaps and inconsistencies, and are subject to amendment. Application and enforceability

of these laws may also vary widely from region te region within these countries. Due to this instability, former
Soviet Union countries are subject to certain additional risks including the uncertainty as to the enforceability
of contracts. Social, economic and legat instability have accompanied these changes due to many factors
which include: .

* low standards of ]i_ving;

* high unemployment;

* under-developed and changing legal and social institutions; and
+ conflicts within and with neighbouring countries.

This instability could make continued operations difficult or impossible. Georgia has democratically
elected a President following a popular revolt against the previous administration in November 2003 and has
successfully quelled a potential separatist uprising in one of its regions. Although the new administration has '
made public statements supporting foreign investment in Georgia, and has provided specific written support
for our activities, there can be no guarantee that this will continue, or that these changes will not have an
adverse affect on our operations. There are also some separatist areas within Georgia that receive support from
the Russizn Federation that may cause instability and potentially affect our activities.

We Face An Inadequate Or Deteriorating Infrastructure In The Countries In Which We Operate.

Countries in the former Soviet Union often either have underdeveloped infrastructures or, as a result of
shortages of resources, have permitted infrastructure improvements to deteriorate. The lack of necessary
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infrastructure improvements can adversely affect operations. For example, we have, in the past, suspended
drilling and testing procedures due to the lack of a reliable power supply.

We May Encounter Currency Risks In The Countries In Which We Operate.

Payment for oil and gas products sold in former Soviet Union countries may be in local currencies.
Although we currently sell our oil principally for U.S. doliars, we may not be able to continue to demand
payment in hard currencies in the future. Most former Soviet Union country currencies are presently
convertible into U.S. dollars, but there is no assurance.that such convertibility will continue. Even if currencies
are convertible, the rate at which they convert into U.S. dollars is subject to fluctuation. In addition, the ability
to transfer currencies into or out of former Soviet Union countries may be restricted or limited in the future.
We may enter into contracts with suppliers in former Soviet Union countries to purchase goods and services in
U.S. dollars. We may also obtain from lenders credit facilities or other debt denominated in U.S. dollars. If we
cannot receive payment for oil and oil products in U.S. dollars and the value of the local currency relative to
the U.S. dollar deteriorates, we could face significant negative changes in working capital.

We May Encounter Tax Risks In The Countries In Which We Operate.

Countries may add to or amend existing taxation policies in reaction to economic conditions including
state budgetary and revenue shortfalls and political considerations. Since we are dependent on international
operations, specifically those in Georgia, we may be subject to changing taxation policies including the
possible imposition of confiscatory excess profits, production, remittance, export and other taxes. While we are
not aware of any recent or proposed tax changes which could materially adversely affect our operations, such
changes could occur although we have negotiated economic stabilization clauses in our production sharing
contracts in Georgia and all current taxes are payable from the State’s share of petroleum produced under the
production sharing contracts.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting which, if not
remediated, may adversely affect our ability to timely and accurately meet our financial reporting
responsibilities.

We identified a number of material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007. Our management, in consultation with our audit committee, is continually reviewing the
most cost effective way to address material weaknesses and deficiencies identified. Our failure to complete
this remediation process may adversely affect our ability to accurately report our financial results in a timely
manner.

We currently are not in compliance with American Stock Exchange (“AMEX"’), Continued Listing Rules

On October 2, 2007, the Company announced that on September 27, 2007, in correspondence with the
AMEX, it acknowledged that it was not in compliance with the rules of the AMEX as they relate to the
requirement that there be at least a majority of independent directors and at least three independent directors
on the audit committee with the possible risk that the Company’s common stock may be delisted from such
Exchange. We have been advised by AMEX that our common stock will continue to be listed until April 4,
2008 within which period we must regain compliance with the AMEX corporate governance rules or face
delisting.

Risks Associated with our Industry.

We May Be Required To Write-Off Unsuccessful Properties And Projects.

In order to realize the carrying value of our oil and gas properties and ventures, we must produce oil and
gas in sufficient quantities and then sell such oil and gas at sufficient prices to produce a profit. We have a
number of unevaluated oil and gas properties. The risks associated with successfully developing unevaluated
oil and gas properties are even greater than those associated with successfully continuing development of
producing oil and gas properties, since the existence and extent of commercial quantities of oil and gas in
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unevaluated properties have not been established. We could be required in the future to write-off our .
investments in additional projects, including the Ninotsminda Field project, if such projects prove to be
unsuccessful. '

V7 oy s SRR

Our Oil And Gas Acnvmes Involve R:sks, Many Of Whtch Are Beyond Our Control

A "
" Our exploranon developmem and producuon acuvmes are subject to, a number of factors and nsks many
of which may be beyond our control. We must first successful]y 1denufy commercial quantmes of ol and gas,
which is inherently subject to many uncertainties. Thereafter, the development of an oil'and gas deposit can be

: affected by a number of factors which are beyond the operator 5 comrol such as:
| view CH N
| * unexpected or unusual geological condmons,

R .

* the recoverability of the oil and gas on an economic basis; °

* the availability of infrastructure and personnel to support operations;

i . . labor dlsputes

' H vy “ '
+ local and ‘global 01l prices; and ’ ot ’
« government regulalion and legal and bolitical unceﬁ;iinties T b
'Our actlvmes can also be affected by a number of hazards, such as y “, ", ' ‘ ' '
* natural phenomena such as bad weather and earlhquakesv R S

. gperaung hazards, such as f"lres, explos1ens, blow-ougs, plpe failures and casing collapses; and

« » environmental hazards, such as oil spills, gas léaks, niptures and discharges of toxic gases. * - . r

o

Any of these factors or hazards could result in damage, losses or liability for us. There is also an .
increased risk of some of these hazards in connection with operations that involve the rehabilitation of fields
where less than optimal practices and technology were employed in the past, as was often the case m the
countries that were part of the former Soviet Union. We'do not purchase insurance covering all of the risks
and hazards or all of our potential liability that are ipvolyed in oil and gas explorallon development and
productxon

-y .'_. . . . .
. N T " . A

. We May Have Conflicting Interests With Our Partners. '~ e ! L

Joint venture, acquisition, financing and other agreements and arrangements must be negotiated with
independent third parties and, in some cases, must be approved by govemmental ageneles These third parties
generally have objectives and interests that may not coincide with oufs and may conflict with Gur mterests
Unless we are able, to compromise these conflicting objectives and interests in a mutually acceptable manner,
agreements and arrangements with these third parties. will' not be consummated. We. may not have a majority
of the equity in the entity that is the licensed developer of some projects that we may pursue in the countries
that were a part of the former Soviet Union, even though we may be the designated operator of the oil or gas
field. In these circumstances, the concurrence of co-venturers may be required for various actigns. Other
parties influencing the timing of events may have priorities that differ from ours, even if they _generally share
our objectives. Demands by or expectations of governments, co-venturers, customers, and others may affect
our strategy regarding the various prolects Fallure to meet such demands or expectatlons could adversely
affect our participation in such projects or our ablllty to obtam or mamtam necessary hcenses and other
approvals ' et :

- . .
Yl . '

Our Opemnng D:rect And Indrrect Substdtanes And Joint Ventures Requ:re Gavemmental Reg:stranan.

Operatmg entities in various forelgn jurisdictions must be registered by governmental, agencnes and r
production licenses and contracts for the development of oil and gas fields in various foreign jurisdictions must
be granted by governmental agencies. These.governmental agéncies. generally have broad discretion in
determining whether to take or approve various actions and matters. In addition, the policies and practices of .
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governmental agencies may be affected or altered by political, economic: and other events occurring either -
within their own countries or in a broader international context. . . =~ T -

We Are Affected By Changes In The Market Price Of Otl And Gas

N Yooy, ' .
Prices for oil and natural gas and thelr refined products are subject to wrde fluctuations in response 1o a
number of factors which are beyond our control 1nclud1ng , e .

0"| e ’

.* global and regional changes in the. supply and demand for oil :and natural gas; .

+

* actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exportmg Countnes;

* weather conditions;
+ domestic and foreign governmental regulations; | ' B

i 1 7.

b

¢ the price and availability of alternative fuels;
1!

* political conditions and terrorist activity in the Middle East Central Asia and elsewhere and

it

* overall global and regional economic conditions. | . . i . .
A reduction in oil prices can affect the economic v1ab1l|ty of our operations. There can be no assurance

that oil prices will be at a level that will enable us 6 operate at a profit. We may also not benefit from rapid

| increases in oil prices as the market for the levels of crude oil produced in Georgia by Ninotsminda Qil

| Company Limited can in such an environment be relatively 1nela°.tlc Contract prices are often set at a.

| ‘ specified price detérinined with referénce to world market prices (often’ based on the average of a number of

quotations for a “marker” crude in¢luding Dated Brent Mediterranean or Urals Mediterranean at the time of
l sale) subject to approprlate dlscounts for transponatlon and other charges Wl’llCh can vary frorn comract to

contract. .

e, N

v v

Our Actual Oil And Gas Productioﬁ Couid Var)]! ZS'igntﬁcantlf.‘me Reserve Esri'r}iates.- . ; . .

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves and their values by petroleum engineérs are inherently uncenam.
These estimates are based on professional judgments about a number of elements:

*- the costs that will be incurred to produce the crude oil and natural gas; and
« the rate at whlch producnon will occur

- Reserve estimates are also based on evaluations of geological, engmeenng, producuon and economic data.
The' data can change over trme due to, among other thmgs : E

.. addmonal development acnvny,

. evolvmg productlon hlstory and |

. P - P o

,changes in production costs, market prices and economic condmons . .

* the amount of recoverable crude oil and natural gas present in a reservoir;

Asa result the actual amount cost and rate of production of orl and gas reserves and the revenues
derived from sale of the oil and gas produced in the future will vary from those ant1c1pated in the reports on.
the oil and gas reserves prepared by independent petroleum consultants at any given point in time. The
magmtude of those variations may be material. The rate of production from crude oil and natural gas
: propemes declmes as reserves are depleted. Except to the extent we acquire additional properties containing
proved reserves, conduct successful exploration and ‘development activities or, through engineering studies,
identify additional productive zones i existing wells or. secondary recovery reserves, our proved reserves will
decline as reserves are produced. Future crude oil"and natural gas production is therefore hlghly dependent
upon our.level of success in replacing depleted reserves. ‘
]
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Our Oil And Gas Operations Are Subject To Extensive Governmental Regulation. -~ Co

Governments at all levels, national, regional and ‘local, regulate oil ‘and 'gas activities extensively. We must
comply with-laws and regulations which govern many aspects of our oil and gas business, including: "

L
I . .o -

« exploration;

* development;

. orlﬁuction;

¢ refining;

» marketing;

. transoortation;‘ N . - o
1

* ' Lot . * : -
»» occupational health and safety; - . . . . v S Y
. Sy ' P T TRt v '

* labor standards; and . . - IR .

. en‘vironméntal matters: o e T v

" R P ‘e . - ' v
We expect the trend.towards more burdensome regulation of our business to result in increased costs and .

operational delays. This trend is particularly applicable-in developing.economies, such as those in the’countries
that were a part of the former Soviet Union where we have our-principal operations. In these countries, the
evolution towards a more developed economy'is often accompanied by a move towards the more burdensome

regulations that typlcally exist in.more. developed economies. . i .- |

- " [ S L ' ' N R B . .o
We Face Significant Competition. '

The oil and gas industry, including the refining and marketing of crude oil products, is highly competitive.
Our competitors include integrated oil-and' gas companies, government-owned oil companies, independent oil
and gas companies, drilling and income programs, and wealthy individuals. Many bftour competitors -are large,
well-established, well-financed companies. Because of our small s:ze and lack of ﬁnancml resources, we may

not be able to compete effectlveiy with these compames . '
‘ Wt

Our Prof tab:hty May Be Subject To Changes In lnterest Rates ST
Our proﬁtablllty may also be adversely affected dunng any penod of unexpected or raptd increase in
interest rates. While we currently have only limited amounts of long term debt, increases in interest rates may

adversely affect our ablltty to raise debt capital to the extent that our income from operattons will be
insufficient to cover,debt service. . . . . . et f e

1
I .., "

Risks Associated With‘ our Stock. o o
.. Limited Trading Volume In Our Common Stock May Contribute To Price Volatility.,, -

Our common stock is listed for trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange (“OSE”) in Norway. and on the
American Stock Exchange (“AMEX?”) in New York. During the year ended December 31, 2007, .the average
daily trading volume for our common stock -on.the.OSE was 2,858,528 shares and 464,611 shares on the : -
AMEX ‘both as reported by Yahoo® and the closing price of our stock-during such period ranged from a low
of NOK 1.97 and $0.35 to'a high of NOK 9.80 and $1.42 on the.OSE and AMEX, respectively, as reported.by,
Yahoo®. As a relatively small company with a limited-market capitalization, even if our shares are more
widelydistributed, we are uncertain as to whether a more active trading market in our common stock will
develop. As a result, relatively small trades may have a significant impact on the price of our comimon stock.
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The Price Of Qur Common Stock May.-Be Subject To Wide Fluctuations.- .+~ .2, »

The ‘market price of our common stock could be subject to,wide fluctuations in response to quarterly
variations in ou, results of operations,. changes-in earnings estimates.by analysts, changing conditions in the
oil and gas industry or changes in general market, economic or political conditions.

We Do Not Anticipate Paying Cash Dividends In The Foreseeable Future.

We have not paid any cash dividends to date on the common stock and there are no plans for such
dividend payments in the foreseeable future, :

We Have A Significant Number Of Shares Eligible For Future Sale.

At March 7, 2008, we had 242,120,974 shares of common stock outstanding. In addition, at March 7,
‘2008, we had 45,270 shares issuable upon exchange of CanArgo Qil & Gas Inc. Exchangeable Shares without
receipt of further consideration; 8,346,000 shares of common stock subject to outstanding options granted
under certain stock option plans (of which 7,844,333 shares were vested at March 7, 2008); 34,911,111 shares
issuable upon exercise of outstanding warrants; up to 8,378,667 shares of common stock reserved for issuance
under our existing option plans; up to 15,437,500 shares reserved for issuance in connection with certain
existing contractual arrangements, including 10,600,000 shares upon conversion of the 12% Subordinated
Convertible Guaranteed Note due June 28, 2010 ("12% Subordinated Notes’} and 4,650,000 shares upon
conversion of the Senior Subordinated Convertibie Guaranteed. Notes due September 1, 2009 (’Subordinated
Notes’). The shares of common stock issuable upon exerciserofthe stock options have been registered under ,
the Securities Act. In addition, the 29,393,881 shares issued and issuable pursudit-to-contractual arrangements,
including under the Subordinated Notes, are subject to certain registration rights and, therefore, will be eligible
for resale in the public market after registration statements covering such shares are declared effective. Sales
of shares of common stock under Rule 144 or pursuant to an effective registration statement could have a
material adverse effect on the price of the common stock and could i 1mpaxr our ability to ralse additional
capital through the sale of our equity securities.
Our Abxhty To Incur Addmonal Indebtedness Is. Restncted Under the Terms of the 12% Subordmated
Notes and the Subordmated Notes. . Lt .. a L e -y

Pursudnt to the térms of the Note Purchase Agreements entered into by and between CanArgo and the
purchasers of the 12% Subordinated Notes and the Subordinated Notes, we may ot incur future indébtedness
or issue additional senior or pari passu indebtedness, except with the prior consent of the beneficial holders of
at least 50% of the outstanding principal amount of each such Notes or ini limited permitted circumstances.”
The definition of indebtedness in each of the Note Purchase Agreements encompasses all customary forms of
indebtedness, including, without limitation, liabilities for deferred consideration, liabilities for borrowed money
secured by any lien or other specified security interest (except permitted liens), liabilities*in fespect of letters
of credit or similar instrumeénts (excluding letters of credit' which are -100% cash collatéralized) and guarantees
in relation to such forms of indebtedness (excluding parent company guarantees provided by CanArgo in '
respect of the indebtedness or obligations of any of our subsidiaries under any Basic Documenls (as defined in
each of the Note Purchase Agreements). P \ .

Our Ability To Make Futuré Stock Issuances, the Terms of the 12% Subordinated Notes and the Subordinated
Notes And The Provisions Of Delaware Law Could Have Anti-Takeover Effects.

QOur board of directors may at any time issue additional shares of preferréd stock and common stock
without any prior approval by the-stockholders, which might impair or impede-a third party from making an
offer to acquire us. Holders of outstanding shares have no right to purchase a pro rata portion of additional
shares of common or preferred stock issued by us, Further, under the terms of the 12% Subordinated Notes
and the Subordinated Notes, in the event of a “Change of Control” or a “Control Event” we are required to
offer to prepay the Notes which might also dissuade a third party from making an acquisition offer. See note 9
of the consolidated financial statements for the definition of-“Change of Control” and “Control Event”. In
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addition, the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, to which we are subject,
places certain restrictions on third parties who seek to effect a business combination with a company opposed
by our board of directors. '

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
Production History

Ninotsminda

The Ninotsminda Field was discovered and initial development began in 1979. Current average gross field
production for the month of January 2008 was approximately 425 bopd. Gross and net production from the
Ninotsminda Field for the past three years was as follows:’

Qil (Barrels} Gas (mcf)
Net Net
Year Ended December 31, Gross {PSC Entitlement){1) Gross ° (PSC Entitlement)(1)
2007. . e 162,800 105,820 17,776 11,554
2006, . ... e 178,474 116,008 20,093 13,061
2005, ... . e 184,852 120,219 71,241 46,307

(1) PSC Entitlement Volumes attributed to CanArgo are calculated using the “economic interest method”
applied to the terms of the production sharing contract. PSC Entitlement Volumes are those produced vol-
umes which, through the production sharing contract, accrue to the benefit of the contractor party after
deduction of Georgian Oil’s share which includes all Georgian taxes, levies and duties. Ninotsminda Oil
Company Limited (“NOC”) owns 100% of the contractor’s interest in the PSC. As a result of CanArgo’s
interest in NOC, these volumes accrue to the benefit of CanArgo for the recovery of capital, repayment of
operating costs and share of profit.

Samgori

Between April 2004 and February 16, 2006 we had a 50% interest in the Samgori (Block XI?) Production
Sharing Contract (“Samgori PSC”) in Georgia. We terminated our interest with effect from February 16, 2006.

The gross and net production for the period in which we had an interest in the Samgori PSC including
the period January 1, 2006 to February 16, 2006 was as follows:

Qil (Barrels)
Net CSL Net
Year Ended December 31, Gross (PSC Entitlement)(2) Share
2007 — — —
2006 {two months) 10,226 7,669 3,835
2005 166,298 124,723 62,362

(2) PSC Entitlement Volumes attributed to CanArgo are calculated using the “economic interest method”
applied to the terms of the production sharing contract. PSC Entitlement Volumes are those produced vol-
umes which, through the production sharing contract, accrue to the benefit of the contractor parties after
deduction of Georgian Qil’s share which includes all Georgian taxes, levies and duties. CanArgo Samgori
Limited (“CSL”) owned 50% of the contractor’s interest in the PSC. As a result of CanArgo’s interest in
CSL, these volumes accrued to the benefit of CanArgo for the recovery of capital, repayment of operating
costs and share of profit.

We ceased to have an interest in this project on February 16, 2006,
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Productive Wells and Acreage

Thé foll()\‘lv'ring table summarizes as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 with respect 1o NOC the
number of productive oil and gas wells and the total developed acreage for the Ninotsminda Field. Such
information has been presented on a gross basis, representing our 100% interest in NOC.

Gross
Number of
Wells Acres
2007 . e e 11 492
2006 . . o e e e e 11 492 .
2005 . e e e 11 492

On December 31, 2007, there were no other productive wells or developed acreage within the
Ninotsminda PSC area except for one gross well on the West Rustavi Field which was shut-in at that date.

The only other productive wells or developed acreage on any of our other Georgian properties were
within the Samgori PSC area on the Samgori Field. This information below as of December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005 is presented on a net basis representing our 100% interest in CSL which in turn had a 50% interest
in the Samgori PSC. Our interest in the Samgori PSC was terminated with effect from February 16, 2006.

Net
Number of
Wells Acres
2007 . e e s — —
2000 . o e e e e — —
2005 e e e e e e e e e e e 11.5 950
Reservgs

Ninotsminda Field, Georgia -

The following table summarizes net hydrocarbon reserves for the Ninotsminda Field in Georgia. This
information is derived from a report dated as of January 1, 2008 prepared by Oilfield Production Consultants
(OPC), independent petroleum consultants headquartered in London, England. This report is available for
inspection at our principal executive offices during regular business hours. The reserve information in the table
below has also been filed with the Oslo Stock Exchange.

Oil Reserves-  PSC Entitlement

Gross Volumes(1)
(Milljon (Million
(il Reserves Barrels) Barrels)
Proved Developed. . ... ..... ... ... ............. I 1.386 0.901
Proved- Undeveloped. . ... ...... ... .. . ... . . .. 0.979 0.637
Total Proven . ... ........ . .. . ittt 2.365 1.538
Gas Reserves- PSC Entitlement
Gross + Volumes (1)
{Billion Cubic {Billion Cubic
Gas Reserves Feet) Feet)
Proved Developed . . ...... ... ... 1.921 1.249
Proved Undeveloped . ... ... ... . ... . i i, 0.587 0.381

Total Proven . ... ........ ... . . @ i 2.508 1.630

(1) PSC Entitlement Volumes attributed to CanArgo are calculated using the “economic interest method”
applied to the terms of the production sharing contract. PSC Entitlement Volumes are those produced vol-
umes which, through the production sharing contract, accrue to the benefit of the respective contractor par-
ties after deduction of Georgian Oil’s share which includes all Georgian taxes, levies and duties. As a
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result of CanArgo’s interest in NOC, these volumes accrue to the beneﬁl of CanArgo for the recovery of i
capital, repayment of operating costs and share of profit. ! I R TE. Lo

. No independent reserves have been’ assessed for the West Rustavi Field. +*

N oo : S B S .

Exploration andDevelopment Wells‘ R : - B R

ey, e g ‘
! R I )

. The. following table summarizes as of December 31, 2007 the number of exploration and. development oil
and gas wells in progress. Such mformatron has been presented on a gross basrs representing our 100%

interest in these wells. - x o . Co vk by
' T Y LA ' Exploration ' ~ Development
. Ninotsminda Field. . . . . . [T RS IR A
NorioField................ ... ... T e ey e e s e e e e e e -1 e
Nazvrevi Fielo .................................... FEEE T o0 - —= ’
‘3 .

R
The following table summarizes as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the total number of dry
exploration oil and gas wells drilled. The: mformatlon has beenrepresented on a gross basis, representmg our

100% interest in this well, . R o T ! . ‘ ' ’

Ninbtsminda Field . . . . . . S ST PN DU S SR |
[ 1

The following table summarizes as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the total number of drx )
development oil and gas wells dritled. The information has been presented on a gross basis representing our
100% interest in this well. Our interest in the Samgori PSC was terminated with effect from February .16;
2006. o . L i L _ .

S 2007 2006 . 2005

Nazvrevi Field. . .- .. .. S e P AT A ‘s 0
Samgori Field* . ....... E I T R I S 1
) |

== o

* CSL 100% funded a development well drllled on the Samgorl complex in 2()04

[ e H
The following table summarizes as of December 31, 2007 2006 and 2005 the total number of completod
wells that flowed commercial quantities of oil and gas. The information has been represented on a.gross basis,’
representing our 100% interest in these wells.

Ninotsminda Field . ... ......... S g8 8

Proved reserves are those reserves estimated as recoverable under current technology ‘and existing
economic’ conditiosis from that portion of a.reservoir which can be reasonably évaluated as economically
productive on the basis of analysis of drilling, geological, geophysical and engineering data, including the
reserves to be obtained by enhanced recovery processes demonstrated to be economically and technically
successful in the subject reservoir. Proved reserves include proved developed reserves (producing and non-
producing reserves) and proved undeveloped reserves.

- Proved developed reserves.are reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with
existing equipment and operating methods. Proved undeveloped reserves are reserves that are expected to be
recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure. is-

27



required for recompletion. Reserves on undrilled acreage are “limited to those drilling: uniss offsettmg
productwe wells that are reasonably certain of production when.drilled. ~ .~ ;. . -

Uncertainties exist in the interpretation and extrapoiation of existing data for the purposes of projecting
the ultimate production of ¢il from underground reservoirs and the corresponding future net cash flows
associated with that production. The estimating process requires educated.decisions relating to the evaluation
of all available geodlogical, engineering and economic data for each reservoir. The amount and timing of cost
recovery is a function of oilrand gas prices which- can fluctuate significantly over time: The oil price used in
the Ninotsminda Field report by OPC as of January 1, 2008 was $94.00 per barrel based on the Brent spot -
price per barrel at year end less $7.50 per barrel discount, in line with CanArgo’s most recent contractual .
arrangement. The net gas price used in the Ninotsminda Field report was $0.71 per Mcf in line with
CanArgo’s contractual arrangements at the time of issuing the report. Having considered the geological and
engineering data in the interpretation process, the Company believes with reasonable certainty that the é'tated
proven reserves represent the estimated quantities of oil and gas to be recoverable in future years under:”
existing operating and economic conditions.

Undeveloped Acreage

The followmg table summarizes, the gross and net undevcloped acreage held under the Nmotsmmda
Nazvrevi/Block XIII, Norio/North Kumisi, and Thilisi production sharing contracts as of December 31, 2007."

The information -regarding net acreage represents our interest based on our 100% interest in NOC and the
subsidiaries holding the Nazvrevi/Block XIII contract, the Norio/North Kumisi and the Tbilisi Block XI%-and
C XM contracts.

Gross Net
R ' ‘ . wo Square . . : Square
'PSC , o ) _ ) ﬁcres ' “Kilott‘\etres ,Actfes Kilometres
Nmotsmmda Manavi and West . ..o e en 27,923 ¢ 1130+ 27923 113
Rustavi covering Block XIE Nazvrevi and Block XII1... 388,447 1572 388,447 1,572
Norio (Block XIC) andNorth. .. .................. 265,122 1,061 265,122 1,061
Kumisi(1) Block XIS and XI¥ ... .:......... TP 119,845 485 119,845 = 485

Total .................. e 801,337 3,231 801,337 - 3,23)

The following table summarizes the gross and net undeveloped acreage held under the Ninotsminda,
Nazvrevi/Block XIII, Norio/North Kumisi and Tbilisi production sharing contracts as of March 7, 2008. The
information regarding net acreage represents our interest based on our 100% interest in NOC and the
subsui:anes holding ithe Nazvrevu'Block XMI contract, the Norio/North Kumisi, and the Tbilisi Block XI‘:i and
XIM contracts, R .

Gross Net

. L - Square Square
PSC : Acres Kilometres Acres Kilometres
Ninotsminda, Manavi and West .. .......... o 27023 113 27923 113
Rustavi covering Block XIE Nazvrevi and Block XIII . . . 194,223 787 194,223 787
Norio. (Block XIC) and North . . ...... e e 265,122 1,061. 265,122 1,061 -
Kurnisi(1) Block XIG and x1“ e Li... 119845+ 485 119,845 485
Total e e P 607113 2,446 ' 607,113 2,446

. i . .
“ . ~! T 1 dat : B4 i ' . '

Office Space L.

We lease office space in London, England; Guernsey, Channel [slands; and Tbilist, Georgia. The leases
have. remaining terms varying from one to seven years and,nine months and annual rental charges ranging .
from approximately $48,000 to $347,000. « - . - S .. : . TN
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Processing, Sales and Customers — Georgia .. . ., P ST
N i i ¥ ; VLR D o

Georgian Oil bu:lt a considerable amount of infrastructure in and adjacent to the Samgori and
Ninotsminda_ Fields prior to entering into, the production sharing contracts for these Fields. NOC now uses that

‘mfrastructure including initial processing equipment and CSL used it during the term of the Samgori PSC. .

The mixed oil, gas and water fluid produeed from the Ninotsminda Field wells flows into a two—phase
separator located at the Ninotsminda Field, where gas associated with the’oil is separated. The oil and } water
mixture is then transported approximately seven miles (11 Km) either in a pipeline or by truck to Georglan
Oll’s cemral p: ocessmg facmty at Sartichala for funher treatment.

' ;' L . . T« . YL

+At Sartichala, the waler is separated from the 6il. NOC then sells its share of oil in this state 'to buyers at
Sartichala for local consumption or transfer it by pipeline ‘approximately 12 miles (20 Km) to a railhead at”
Gatchiani or by road tanker to Vaziani rail ,loading termmal pnmanly for export sales. At the railheads, the oil
is loaded into railcars for transport 'to the Black Sea port of Batumi; Georgla where oil can be Ioaded onto, ,
tankers for international shipment. Buyers transport the oil at thexr own risk and cost from the dehvery pomt at
Samchala L N

In 2007 NOC sold all of its oil production to international buyers. In early 2006, NOC ‘sold its oil*" -
production in accordance with the, terms of a sales agreement concluded with Primrose Financial Group -
(“PFG”) in February 2005 which included the salg of il to other customers nominated,by PEG under, this ..
agreement. Later oil was sold to third party buyers under unrelated contracts. During the year oil was '
purchased- and paid for by a total of 2 customers each representing sales greater than 10% of oil revenue:

Y . . .- Percent of
' Customer , 0Qil Revenue
e e . R A T SN R o .
Caspian ' Fradmg..._...l ....... e PR e 84.1% . .
Interchem Energy . ... ... T e e e 159% ;. . ‘

|- . - \ 1 R
" Managemem beheves thal the ]oss of any customer should not matenally adversely, affect our producuon
revenues becatse of the existence of a ready market for our. productlon and an established export route for. ‘
crude oil from the Caspian area via Georgia and its Black Sea ports. However, there can be no assurance that
such sibstitute purchaseis of our production will offer to purchase our producnon on the same terms- and
conditions as previously obtained. S L |
In 2006; NOC -sold ns 011 proclucnon to two customers of which the following cuqtomer represented sales
greater than 10% of oil revenue: '

t

. Percent of,'
Customer ot r . . S . B Oil Revenue
Interchem Energy .. .. ......... e e e SO I 91.6%-

In 2005, NOC sold-its oil productidn to four customers of which the: following two cusfomers represented
sales greater than 10% of il revenue: | i ) o : R A

. . Do ! S . o Percent-of
Customer 7 ‘ ) ’ Qil Revenue
Interchem Energy ... ......coovunnnnn..n R S SRR 74.5%
T Vwenivss o i 15.8%:

For NOC, sales during 2007 were based on the average of a 'numl_)e-r'dif quotation for Dated Brent
Mediterranean as quoted in Plarts Crude Oil Markerwire® with an appropriate average discount for transpor-
tation and other charges amounting to $7.85 per barrel, Sales in 2006 were also sold agamst a Brent quolanon
at an average discount of $8.44 per barrel. Sales in 2005 were also sold against a Brenl quotation at ‘an’
average discount of $7.50 per barrel. o <ot ST
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The average sales price and the average production cost per unit (excluding depreciation, depletion and
amomzanon) of oil and gas produced by NOC for each of the last three years was as follows

' " . ' . Ly

" Average Sales Price

o

v . '.' . T e R ¢ """ Gas  Unit Production Cost
-, Year Ended December 31,- - ' * S : ' $/boe © $/Mcf S$hboe . 1
2007. ..., BT PO 67.97 0.70* 12.20
P P 5369 | 066* T 10.94
2005, .. P W £ 0.53.. 14.83

* In 2007 and 2006, die to the uncollectibilil'y of gas reverrues the Company- decided to record gas revenues
. on a,cash basis. Average sales prices above reflect contractual prices for gas delivered and revenues from
these deliveries may not:have been collected during the year. - ) , S .

’ Jo

Prior to wrthdrawmg ‘from the Samgori PSC in Februa.ry 2006 CSL sold its share of producuon to l
customer for the penod to December 31 2006

LA ' . - . i

. . . Percent oi_‘
Customer . Qil Revenue -
Interchem Energy., .......... e R e e 100.0%

In 2005, CSL sold its share of production to four customiers of which the following one customer
represented sales greater than 10% of oil revenue for the period to December 31, 2005:

LI . D e [ o

Percent of
Customer . ' "t . : ‘ : ' Qil Revenue -
Imerchem Erergy...........ooi e 80. 0%

For the penod in which CSL was sellmg production in 2006, sales to mtemauonal markets were based on
the average of a number of quotations for Dated Brent Mediterranean with an appropriate discount for
transportation and other charges. The average discount to the price of Brent crude oil as quoted in Platts
Crude Oil Marketwire® for Brent Dated Mediterranean for all sales in 2006 was $8.44 per barrel. Sales in
2005 were 'also sold agamst a Brent quotatron at an average discount of $6.16 per barrel. The h1gher discounts
in 2006 are due to smaller quarltmes of 011 being available for sale B E !

The average sales price and the average productron cost per “unit of oil and gas produced by CSL for the
past three years were as follows: . .

) ' ‘ 1.

Average Sales Price

o ‘ . . 0il - Gas Unit Production Cost
Year Ended December 31, $/boe $/mef $/boe ,
290_7 R — _ —_
2006%*; . e e e e e 59.57 0.00 64.62
2005 ......... e e e . 46.12 0.00 18.79

* Qur interest in the Samgori PSC was terminated with effect from February 16, 2006. .
Prices for oil and natural gas are subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors including:’
. global and region:ll changes in the supply and demand for oil and natural gas;
+ actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries;
* weather conditions; -
* "domestic and foreign governmental regulations;
* the price and availability of 'alterﬁative-fuels;‘
. polkit-ica]' condltions irr' the Middle E‘ast and elsewhere; and

* overall global and regional economic conditions.

30




Other Georgt.m Production Shanng Contracts
Nazvrevi and Block X1 Praductwn Sharing Contract (“Nazvrevr PSC”)

In February 1998, our wholly owned subsidiary, CanArgo (Nazvrevi) Limited (“CNZ") entered into a -
second production sharing contract with Georgian Oil and the State of Georgta This contract covers the *
Nazvrevi (Block XIP ) and Block XIII areas of East Georgia, an approximately 496,186 acre (2,008 Km? )
exploration area adjacent to the Ninotsminda and West Rustavi Fields and containing existing infrastricture.
The agreement came into effect on February 20, 1998 and extends for twenty- -five years with the final year of
the contract being 2023. We are required to relinquish at least half of the area then covered by the, Nazvrevr ‘
PSC, but not any portions being actively developed at five-year intervals commencing in 2003 The first
relinquishment was made in 2003, followed by a further relmqulshment in February 2008 of the southern part’

of the area, reducing the area to approxlmately l94 233 acres (787 Km? . _ 4

Under the Nazvrevi PSC, CNZ pays all operating and capital costs. We first recoyer our cumulative
operating costs from productron After deducttng productton attnbutable 10 operatmg costs 50% of the
remaining production (cost recovery petroleum) considered on an annual basis, is applied to reimburse us for
our cumulative capltal costs. While cumulative capital costs remain unrecovered the other 50% of remammg
production {profit petroleum) is allocated on a %% basis between Georgian Oil ‘and CNZ Aftér all cumulatlve
capital costs have been recovered by us, remaining productton after deductlon of operatmg costs is allocated
on a Yo bais between Georgtan 0il and CNZ, respectively. Thus, while we are responsible for all of the costs
associated with the Nazvrevi PSC we are only entitled to receive 30% of production after cost recovery. The
allocation of a share of production to Georgian. Oil, however, relieves us of all obligations we would otherwise
have to pay the State of Georgia for taxes and similar levies related to activities covered by the production
sharing contract. Both Georgtan Oil and CNZ will take their respecttve shares of oil productton under the
Nazvrevi PSC in kmd but the intent is to _|01nt1y market any avarlable gas productton i

The first phase of the preliminary work program under the Nazvrevi PSC involved primarily a seismic
survey of a portion of the exploration area and the processing and interpretation of the data ‘collected. The
seismic survey has been completed, and the results of those studies have been interpreted and possible oi} and-
gas prospects and exploration drilling locations are being identified. The cost of the seismic program was
approximately $1.5 million, and met the . minimum obligatory work commitment under.the contract. The
Department for Protection of. Mineral Resources and Mining has confirmed that CNZ have met ‘the
requirements of the work program defined in the production sharing contract. The Manavi oil discovery may..
extend into the Nazvrevi PSC area and the West Ristavi 16 (“WR16") gas discovery located within the '
Ninotsminda PSC area may extend into Block XIII (the “Kumisi” prospect), and there are several identified - -
prospects, however as the Nazvrevi and Block XIIJ area is an exploration area and no discoveries have been
made to date, it is not posmble to estimate the expendrtures needed to dtqcover and, if d1scovered produce
dommercial quantities of oil and gas. i ’ £

One of the ten wells drrlled in the West Rustavi Field by Georgtan 1l was deepened 1o test the deeper
Cretaceous and Paleocene horizons. This well,-named WR16, was tested and produced at rate of over 1 Mb{lcf
{35 MCM) of gas and 3,500 barrels of water per day, thus demonstrating the ability of the Cretaceous to
produce at good rates. The WR16.well is interpreted to have tested the down dip extent of a potential N
Cretaceous gas deposit named Kumisi. We acquired and interpreted additional seismic data over this. structure ,
and identified a potentiaily large prospect extending across the Nazvrevi PSC area with the crestal part of the
structure located in the Block XIG which was subsequently secured by CanArgo as part of the Thilisi PSC
area. The structure is potentrally very large with the principal risk bemg closure on the structure to the north

and west Wthh is dependent on a downthrown fault seal v ‘ -t
! N fl

. Following an undertaking by the government to purchase any gas produced from the Kurmsr prospect on
agreed commercial terms, we drilled a well to appraise this prospect in 2007 up-dip of the WRI16 well. The
Kumisi #1 well is located within the Nazvrevi PSC area and is approximately 7.5 miles (12 Km) southeast of
Thilisi. It is close to the domestic gas transportation grid and the route of the new South*Caucasus gas.
trunkline from Azerbaijan to Turkey. The well commienced drilling in February 2007 and reached a total depth
of 11,841 feet (3,609 metres) in June in the Cretacéous. " . B L
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An extensive testing program was conducted over the Cretaceous section where six separate intervals
totalling 482 feet (147 metres) were perforated and tested. Despite elevated gas readings being recorded during
drilling, these tests resulted in no dlscemable flow from the formation and without any hydrocarbons being
detected. It is, therefore, reasonable to assume that the Cretaceous reservoir at this location is tight unlike the
rocks encountered i in other wells in_the area. This conclusion was conﬁrmed by a low pressure hydro squeeze
which was performed over two separate zones with the data obtained suggesting that these rocks are tight and
lack permeability. :

‘

" Further tests were carried out of potential reservoir units in the overlying Middle and Lower Eotene -
sequences. . Three separate tests were conducted with a total of 79 feet (24 metres) of sandstones being
perforated and flow tested. These tests produced water wiih gas flow to surface in flareable quantities, but non
commercial volimes. Each interval was flow tested for a aumber of days over which there was no increase in
the amount of gas produced and the testing was subsequently terminated.

On October. 18, 2007 we announced that the Kumlsl #1 was being plugged and abandoned The well
results, pamcularly for the Cretaceous interval, will be reviewed and incorporated into our technical evaluation
of the area in order to fully understand the remaining potennal of the Kumisi area. As part of this analysis '
conmderanon will be given to Aacid fracture stimulation techniques as a means by which to enhance
permeabnllty within the prospect ‘As no water has been recovered from the well management believes that
potenual for a large gas prospect may snll exist up-dip of the WR16 well given better reservoir quahty

Norio (Block XIC) and North Kumisi Productien Sharing Agreement ( “Norio PSA”) N

In December 2000, CanArgo, through its thén 50% owned subsidiary CanArgo Norio Limited (“CNL”)
entered into a third productlon sharing contract with the State of Georgia represented by Georgian Oil ‘and the
State Agency for Regulation of Oil and Gas Resources in Georgia. The Norio PSA covers the Norio and
North Kumisi blocks of East Georgia, an exploration area.of approximately 265,122 acres (1,061 Km 2 ),
following the first contractual relinquishment in April 2006, adjacent to the Ninotsminda and Samgori Fields.
The Norio PSA came into effect on April 9, 2001 and extends for a period of twenty-five years with the final
year of the contract being 2026. We are required to relinquish at least 50% of the remaining contract area, but
not any portions being actively developed at five-year intervals commencing-in 2011 up to 2026. There are
two existing oil fields-on the Norio PSA area, Norio and Satskhenisi which are old, small, relatively shallow
fields and which produce small quantities of oil. CNL has determined production from these fields to be
uneconomic; and the fields are currently being operated by Georgian Qil whereby Georgian Oil takes all .,

- production to compensate it for its costs.under what is effectively a social program. If CNL wishes, it could
take over field operations and production from these fields forthwith. g

The commercial terms of the Norio PSA are similar to those of the Nazvrevi PSC with the exceptlon that
after all cumulative capital costs have been recovered by CNL, remaining production after deduction of
operating costs is allocated on a 60/40 basis between Georgian Oil and CNL, respectively. Thus, while CNL is
responsible for all of the costs associated with development of the' Norio PSA, it is only entitled to receive -
40% of production -after cost recovery. On September 30, 2004 we announced that we had increased’ our’
interest in CNL., by buying out the remaining minority shareholders-who held a 25% interest in that company
CNL is how a whol]y owned sub51d1ary of CanArgo. '

The ﬁmt phase of the prelmnnary work program under the Norio PSA mvolved primarily a selsmlc
survey of a portion of . the exploration area and the processing and interpretation of the data collected. The
seismic survey has been completed, and the results of those- studies have and will continue to be interpreted. ,
In addition to the main target, which is the Middle Eccene, the potential of the license area to produce from
the Miocene, Sarmatian, Upper Eocene and Cretaceous is being assessed. The cost of the seismic program was
approx1mate1y $1.5 million. : o

The second phase of the preliminary work program under the Norio PSA commenced-in January 2002
when the: first exploration well named MK72 was spudded on the Norio prospect using the CanArgo Ural
Mash rig. Norio is a large prospect identified at Middle Eocene level and is analogous in size to the nearby
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Samgori and Ninotsminda Field complex.immediately to the south and east of the block. It has been.reported A

that the Samgori Oil Field alone has produced approxrmately 180 million barrels of oil to date. C
' r
Completion of the MK72 well was delayed as a result of technical problems encountered whilst dnllmg,

and the need to farm out.a portion of the equity in the block in order to partly fund the.drilling. In September
2003, CNL signed a farm-in agreement relating to the Norio PSA with.a wholly owned, subsidiary, of Georgian
Oil, the Georgian State Oil Company. This farm-in agreement obligated Georgian- Oil tq pay up to $2.0 miltion
to deepen, to a planned depth of 16,733 feet (5,100 metres), the MK-72 well in return for a.15% interest in .

the contractor share of the Norio PSA. Georgian Oil also had an option, exercisable for a limited period after
completion of the well, to increase its interest to 50% of the contractor share of the Norio PSA on.payment to. -
CNL of $6.5 million.. Due to, Georgian Oil’s inability to continue, to fund-the drilling of the well, operations ,
were subsequently suspended-and only resumed after May 2005 when we repaid to Georgian Oil the -
investment it had made in the MK72 well to terminate the farm-in agreement and gption.and secure a 100% -
working interest in the Norio PSA.

dier

In August 2005 the Saipem drilling rig and Baker orl-based mud system was mobrhzed to the MK72 .
exploration well as our Ural Mash rig had difficulty drilling through a highly over-pressured section of..
swelling clays above the prognosed target zone. On December 29, 2005 we announced that the MK72 well '
reached a depth of 16,076 feet (4,900 metres) in the Middle Eocene reservoir having encountered very good
oil and gas shows. Before the well could be drilled to the planned depth and tésted, the bottom' Tole assembly
{BHA) became stuck due to hole collapse. Subsequent attempts to retrieve the BHA were not successful and
we decided to abandon the lower target due to a limited chance of s1detrack1ng the well at thrs depth ina
* small diameter hole and to focus our atténtion on "the shallower oil drscovery m the overlymg Ohgocene sands
which were the secondary target for thé well. From the data obtained from the Middle Eocene (the’ primary”
target for the well) we believe that an oil dtscovery has been made at thts level, and that 'the reservoir has
exhibited both permeablhty (ev1denced by drilling miud losses whilst dnllmg) and the presence of ‘movable
light oil. As such, even ‘though the Mlddle Eocene has not been fully evaluated, the MK72'well hias
encountered the Middle Eocene YESErvoir on prognosis, and w1th hydrocarbons thus achtevmg many of the
objectives of this wildcat exploranon well. '

o A

"

A comprehensive testmg program on the oil bearing Oligocene sandstones encountered in the Nono
MK72 well commenced in mid-March 2006 when a total of 322 feét (98 metres) of net sands were perforated
over the interval ]2 096 feet (3,687 métres) to 13,622 feet (4 152 metres). These sands had good oil 'shows -
whilst drlllmg, with oil to surface and wrth hydrocarbons bemg intérpreted on the eléétric’ logs "Which also
indicated a substantial thickness of net pay sands Following an extensive testing program the well sustamed
flow on a small choke size with low average gross flu1d rates of approxlmately 13 barrels per day con51st1ng
of light 48.6°API oil, gas and water.

A number of surge clean up flows, a re—perforanon of selectéd initervals, and a “low” pressuré hydrofrac
using our own pumping unit have been attempted but these have not improved reservoir deliverability. It is’
_ believed that the current flow is limited to a thinner, less permeable interval whilst the better quality reservoir
remains isolated due to potential reservoir damage caused by the mvaswe fluid damage ‘of the drilling mud.
The lower fones in the well, which would have been in communication with the Oligocene interval through ~
the well- bore were drilled witha 1.9 to 2.2 Specrﬁc Gravity (SG). mud due to anticipated reservoir pressures .
while the results from the testmg program indicate that the mid interval reservoir pressure for the Oltgocene
whilst still over pressured ‘is lower at 1.7 SG equwalent As a result of possible mud damage the current
perforations may have not penetrated deep enough beyond the damaged zone to, allow proper commumcatton ’
between the more permeable ‘formations and the well-bore '

* N - I

We considered mob:ltsmg a more powerful fraccing unit and equipment to Georgia in order to pump a
propant and fluid into the well at high pressure and volume, but the potential for this technology is limited due
to a lack of a cement bond behind the casing and the large interval which has been perforated. The well has
been left on test production for the past several.months but there has been no discernable increase in gross
fluid production rate. As-we would appear to have exhausted ail the low cost options available to us.at this
time to bypass any damage that may exist in the near-well-bore area and establish better communication.
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between the well-bore and'the reservoir, we believe that the .only’effective option remaining is to sidetrack the
well or to drill a new well. The latter, of course, would enable us to attempt to-test both the Oligocene and
Middle Eoceng intervals both of which are considered to have significantly reduced geological risk.

‘The Norio PSA covers a large exploration area with what management believe to be good oil and gas
potential-with the presence of réservoir rocks-and moveable hydrocarbons having been confirmed by drilling.
‘We' have mapped several significant prospects at different stratigraphic levels within the area several of which
are on trend with the MK72 well. Both the Oligocene and Middle Eocene prospects as mapped are potentially
large and warrant appraising. It is planned, subject to financing being available from internal resources or

" through a farm out arrarigement, that ‘an appraisal well will be drilled to fully-evaluatethese attractive
discovefies, with the well bemg designed to enter the Middle Eocene feservoir with a larger hole size. In
2007, several compames undertook a technical review of the Norio aféa arid a number of these have expressed
an‘interest intfurther evaluating-a farm-in to this acreage : :

b
As the area in which we are currently drilling is an exploration area with no commercial discoveries
. (excluding the small shallow fi€lds curréntly operated by Georgian Oil), it is not possible to estimate the
expenditures needed to discover and, if discovered, produce comimercial quantities of oil and gas. '

* e ' v ! Lo o fr
vt

Block XI€ and X1* Production Sharing Contract (“Tbilisi PSC”) .

In November 2002 our subsrdlary CanArgo Nono lerted (“CNL”) won the tender for the oil and gas
explorauon and productlon nghts to the Tbrlrsr PSC, an area of approximately 119,845 acres (485 Km 2) in
eastern Georgia “adjacent tg the Nono Bloek XHI and West Rustaw areas. In July 2003, it was announced that
CNL, had signed a Production Sharing Contract covering these areas The Thilisi PSC came into effect on
September 29, 2003 and will continue for an initial period of ten yearq at which time it will terminate unless
" we have made a. commercial d1scovery in which case the PSC will continue in full force and effect until
September 29, 2028 The commerc1al terms of the Tbilisi PSC are similar to those of the Norro PSA with the
exception that Georgian Oil does not have an option to acquire an mterest in, the contractor party s share
following a commercial dnscovery

Under the Thilisi PSC we have a comrmtment to evaluate exlsung seismic and geological data which we
have completed and to acquire additional sersmlc data within three years of the effective date of the contract
which is September 29, 2003. This work’ was delayed until after the completion of the Kumisi #1 well which has
an impact on the future prospectlvrty of this acreage., We are in negotiation with the State Agency for Oil & Gas
Regulation in, Georgla and Georgian Qii ancl Gas Corporauon about an appropriate exploration program for this
PSC in light of the Kumisi #l results. The total commitment over the remaining period is $350, OOO

.. Following our acquisition of the minority shareholding in CNL in September 2004, our interest in the
Thilisi PSC increased from, 75% to 100% . .

-

Geophy51cal evaluauon of the Kumrs1 prospect up—dlp of the WR16 well in the Nazvrevi PSC area
showed the structure to extend across the Nazvrevi PSC area with the crestal part of the structure located in
the Block XiG in the, Tb:hs:“PSC "“The Kuinisi structure has been partly evaluated by the Kumisi #1 well
drilled in 2007 and abandoned in October 2007 followmg an ‘extensive well testmg prégram. The well results,
particularly for the Cretacedus intérval, will be revrewed and incorporated into our technical evaluation of the
area in order to fully understand the remaining potentlal of the Kumisi structure both within the Nazvrevi PSC
and Thilisi PSC. As no water has been recovered from the well, the potentral for a large gas prospect still
exists up-dip of the WR16 well given better Teservoir quallty

I } ’ . P {| " [ . L

Refinmg and Other Actwrtles

We also have engaged in other oil and gas activities in Georgia and elsewhere A discussion of
discontinued operations is incorporated herein by reference from note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere herein. = . . S ' v . e ,
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Drilling Rigs and Associated Equipment

We own se several items.of drilling equlpment and other related machinery primarily. for use in our .
Georgian operations. These include two dnllmg rigs, pumpmg equipment and ancillary machmery This ~
equipment is currently being used by our operator company to drill exploration wells and provnde support to
our development work.on the Nmotsmmda Field and:on the Manavi and Norio dxscovenes o

v [ . v T, o [

-

T I “

EMPLOYEES - ' - : o

As of December 31, 2007, we had 150 full time empioyees. Of our full time employees, t‘he"entity; acti'ng
as operalor of the Ninoisminda Field.for NOC has 124 full time employees, and substantially-all of that
company’s activities relate.to the production and devélopment of the Ninotsminda Field. We have not -
experienced any strikes, work stoppages or other-labour dlsputes and management believes the Company’s

relatlons:wuh its employees are sansfactory . S : Aeon Do il
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ITEM 3;---LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.. T T T T G T
*-On September 12, ‘!!005 WEUS Holding Tnc (“WEUS") “a subsidiary of Weatherford International Ltd
lodged a-formal Request for Arbitration with the London Court of International Arbitration against CanArgo
Energy Corporanon in respect of l]l‘lpdld invoices for work performed under the Master Service Contract dated
June 1, 2004 between the Company and ‘WEUS for the supply of under-balanced coil tubing drilling -
equipment and services during the first and second quarter of 2005. Pursuant to the Request for. Arbltranon
WEUS’ demand for relief is $4.931, 332 The Company is contesnng lhe claim and has filed a counterclalm

On July 27, 2005, GBOC Ninotsminda, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, received a claim raised by
certain of the Ninotsminda villagers (listed on pages 1 to 76 of the claim} in the Thilisi Regional Court in

: respect of. damage caused by the blowout of the, N100 well on the Nintosminda Field in Georgxa on .

September 11, 2004. An addmonal clalm ‘was received in Decerber 2005 and amended in March 2006 thus
brmgmg the relief sought pursuant to both claims to the sum of approximately 314,000,000 GEL (approx-
lmately $l‘)8 000, 000 at the exchange rate of GEL to US dollars in effect on December 31 2007) .

We beheve that we have mentonous defenses to both claims and are defending them v1gorously

The Company has been named in with a group of defendams by former interest holders of the Lelya,lU oil
field in Ukraine. The plaintiffs are seeking damages of approx 600,000 CDN"(approx $6|1 000 at ' .
December 31, 2007 exchange rates). The former ownefs of UK-Ran Oil Company dlgposed of their investment
in the field-prior to selling the Company to CanArgo. CanArgo believes the claim against it to:be meritless.

. D M AT . * o P )

Other than the foregoing, as at December 31, 2007 there'were no leéal proceedings pending involving the
Company, which, if adversely decided, would have a material adverse effect on our financial position or our .

business. From time to time we are subject to various legal proceedmgs in the ordmary course of our business.

N v

ITEM 4 SUBMISSION I)F MATTERS JO A VOTE OF: SECURITY HOLDERS L. o

No matters were submitted to a vote of our secunty holders durmg the fourth quarter of the year ended
December 31,2007, '

o 1
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PART II S Ly b Ty

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGIST RANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS'
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

CanArgo is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange in Norway (“OSE”) where our stock trades under the |
symbol “CNR"and also on the AMEX where our common stock trades under the symbol “CNR”. Until
April 21, 2004 our common stock traded on the NASDAQ Over The Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB!"y "
‘under the symbol “GUSH”

q R P . .
The: following:table sets{fonh the hlgh and low:sales prices of the common stock on the OSE ancI the AMEX
for the periods indicated. Average daily trading volume on these markets during these periods is also provided. ...
OSE and AMEX data is dertved from published financial sources. Sales prices on.the OSE were converted. frorn
Norwegian kroner into United States dollars on the basis of the daily exchange rate for buying United States dollars
with Norwegian kroner announced by the central bank of Norway. Prices in Norwegian kroner are denominated in
“NOK”. For historical price verification in Norway please see hitp://uk.table.findnce.yahto.com/k?s=cnr.oi&g=d ;"
and for exchange rate convers:on $/NOK for the corresponding dates please see www.oanda. conﬂconven/fxlustory

o . OSE " . AMEX
" Average - . " Average
wr ' e © " Daily - L - Daily "
L . e - .7, “High Low  Volume. High  Low .. Volume ., i
‘Fiscal Quarter Ended  *' o . SR Lo e e .
March 31,2006 .. ... ... "0 00 0 0 rA4 107 1,109,034 14677 103 804,198
"June 30,2006 .. ol X o) LIS 065 1,260919 120 C0.65. 691,559
September 30, 2006 . . .. . . .. LMoot LS8 0630 °7,025224 15507 0.62 ¢ 1,.278,022"
. . sy ' . t . o ' '
 Decerber 31, 2006 Cieeeiieeso N0 163 1040 2,556,167 166 105 " 752,662
March 31,2007 . ., ......". S, 15T 091 3612925 142 087 683251
June 30,2007 .....ii s ... L1000 069 2935388 112, 067 432919,
September 30, 2007 .. ... ............. (103070 2494248 102 073 353,638
Lot ., 1 N Y o ' X - Lo
December 31, 2007 e 095 036 2321990 095 035 396 655

) Ar March 17, 2008 the closmg price of our common stock _was $0 44 on the AMEX and $0 46 on the
OSE On, March 7, 2008 one u. S dollar equalled 5.13 Norweglan kroner '

O TR

On March 1, 2008 the number of holders of record of our common stock was approximately*15,000."We
have not paid any cash dividendg on our common stock. .

[
i .. [ o . ) "o Lo ' . . S f T B |
.

Dwndend Poltcy

We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, for use in our business and, therefore do not
anticipate paying any cash-dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of futuré'dividends, if any, will:
depend, among other thmgs on our results of operations and financial condition and on such other factors as
our Board of Directors may, in their discretion, consider relevant, In addition, the terms of our outstandmg
‘notes prohibit us from paying dividends and making other distributions,
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Equity Compensation Plan Information . T

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2007 with respect to shares of our common

stock that maytbe issued under our equtty compensatlon plans as of December 31, 2007: U )
b ‘ el ' R Numbét of Securities
' T, ! . o vy Remaining Available for
. Number of Securities to be Weighted-Average ,Future Issuance Under
- N . issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price per Share 'Equlty Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, . of Outstanding Options, -(Excluding Securities- ,.
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warranits and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
o . : (a) i S ) B T (.
Equity compensation’plans . " : ’ : .
approved by. security. holders .. . - 8,346,000 - 8;378,6607
i . N T G te

Equity compensation plans hot . o

|ﬁs:
I8

approved by security holder . . . — ' . i
C T | 8,346,000 $0.80 8,378,667
v ‘ . - " * ‘
" . -
S L . ’ - . T




PERFORMANCE GRAPH - ¢, . ot

. The chart set forth below shows the value of an investment of $100,on December.31, 2002 in each of the
Company’s Common Stock, the American Stock Exchange Index and a peer group. of certain oil and gas -«
exploration and development companies. The peer group consists of the following independent oil and gas
exploration- compames Aminex plc, Bow Valley Energy Ltd., EuroGas, JKX Oil & Gas plc, Lundin, Ramco
Energy ple, and Soco International plc.’As ‘the Companyis listed on the American Stock Exchange, the AMEX
Index of listed stocks has been included in the comparison table

[
4 s ‘s '|.|-

" All values assume reinvestment of the pre-tax value of d|v1dcnds paid by companies included in these
indices and are calculated as of December 31 of each year. The share price performance is weighted based on -
market capitalisation using the number of outstanding shares at the beginning of each. period.: The historical.
stock price performance of the Common Stock shown in the performance graph below is not.necessarily
indicative of future stock price performance. .
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2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Year
Year End : 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
CNR . 100 1,058 2,480 5,389 7,275 4,789
Peer Index 100 219 270 604 798 930
AMEX 100 142 174 213 249 292
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA. T SN

Reference is hereby made to the Section entitled “CAUTIONARY STATEMEN’I‘ REGARDING FOR-
WARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS” with respect to. certain gualifications regarding the following information.

- The following: selected financial data, derived from our historical audited consolidated financial state-
ments, reflect the historical results of operations and selected balance sheet items of CanArgo.and should be
read in conjunction with Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and -

Supplementary-Data” herein. et S S T L L L T
‘ . ' Year Ended December 31, e
Reported in $0(H)’s Except for per Common Share Amounts 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Financial Performance T
Operating revenues from continuing operations .. -:... . 7,208 . 6,527 + 5279 . .7.833 8105
Impairmerits of oil and gas propérties and other * *° - b ’ " S ) <
CassetS. . ... ...l T e 0 42,000 39,000 = 175 P
Operaung loss from contmumg operanons e (46,581) ‘(48 519y (11,015 (4 036) ' '(]59)
Other expense .. ......0.......... LI a8y 913y Tson @26y L .(597)
Net loss from contmumg operanons . .' Seeegn S (63 315) (54 432)_ (12,522). (6 262) (756)
Net mcome (loss) from discontinued operations, net of | , PR . o
taxes and minerity interest(1) . ... .. e P - 11,_537 ) _('6_,1‘09) , 187 .. 1,504‘ . {6,608)
Cumalative effect of change in accounting policy .. T R g o —., 4
Netloss. ..o i e (53,777) (60,541 (12,335) (4 757) - (7,323)

Net loss per common share — basic and diluted before

cumutative effect of change in accounting pnnc1ple ‘
from continuing operations ... ... ...... T {027 » . (0.24) (0.06y . + (0.05). (0.01)

Net income (loss) per common share — basic and
diluted before cumulative effect of change in~

L vt RPN K

[ " . ,

accounting principle from discontinued operations. . . 0.05 {0.03}) 0.00) - 001 "' ©07)
Net loss per common share — basic and diluted ... ... ¢ 0.22) .-027). (0.06)* (0.04) - (0,08)
Cash generated by (used in) operations. . ........... (1,763} (9,320} (8,872) (4 312) 4 431
Working capital . ... ... ... 715 11,628 ' 14808 23952 3,890
Total assets .. . .vu - . . . R S L.... 59552 136485 147,448 105,160 . 73,360
Long term obligations . .....:. ... .....: T 11,697 37264 ' 26,524 "O1,254 - -
Temporary Equity . .. ... U o a0 21200 212000 =
Stockholders” equity: .. .. . . . A DU 38,009, 79,369 105,729 - 96,821 - 56,708
Cash d1v1dends -per commnion share A T L

. . ', . ’
J.v' ad

vt

(1) In Septernber 2002,.CanArgo approved a plan to seli CanArgo Standard Qil' Products Lmuled (“CSOP“) to
- finance its Georgian and Ukrainian development projects and.in'October 2002, CanArgo agreed to sell its .
50% holding to Westrade Alliance LLC, an unaffiliated company, for $4 million in an arms-length transac-
. Hon, with legal, ownershlp bemg transferred upon receipt of final payment due in August '2003. The agreed_
" ¢onsideration to be exchanged does not result'i in an lmpalrment of the carrying value of assets held for
sale. The assets and liabilities of CSOP have béen classified as “Assets held for sale” and “Llabllmes for
sale” for all penods preserited. The results of operations of CSOP have been classifiéd as dlscontmued for
all periods presented. The minority interest related to CSOP has not been reclassified for any of the pen-
ods presented, however net income from discontinued operations is dlsclosed net of taxes and'mmor{ty
interest. . o
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

L

Qualifying Statement With Respect To Forward-Looking Informatmn and Risks

THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION CONTAINS FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION. See “Cau-
tionary -Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” above and “Forward-Looking Statements™ below. .
Our activities and investments in our common stock involve & high degree of risk. Each of the risks-in Item 1A
“Risk Factors” may have a significant impact on our future financial condition and resulis of operations. The
following should be read in conjunction with the audited ﬁnancnal statements and the notes thereto included.
herein. R T

General : _ et
«  We are an independent energy company engaged in operations located primarily in countries'comprising
the former Soviet Union involving the acquisition, exploration, development, production and marketing of
crude oil and, to a lesser exient, natural gas. Qur principal means of growth has been through the acquisition
.and subsequent development and exploitation of producing oil and gas properties by means of entering into_.
production sharing arrangements and licence arrangements with governmental or local oil companies. As a
result of our historical exploration and acquisition activities, we believe that we have a substantml 1nventory of
exploitation and development opportunities, the successful completion of which is critical to the maintenance
and growth of our current production levels. We have incurred net losses in the last five years, and there can ’
‘be no assurance that operating income and net earnings will be achieved in future periods. Our financial
results depend upon many factors, pamcularly the following factors which most significantly affect our results
of operations: . : : T :

* the sales prices of crude oil and, to a lesser extent, natural gas *

. . it o

*“o the level of total sales volumes of cruds oil and, to a lesser extent, natural gas;:  « '

+ the availability of, and our ability to raise additional, capital resources and prov1de ]1qu1d|ty to meet
,++ .., cash flow needs; and

e P

“,. » the level and success of exploration and development activity.
R

. Reserves. ana' Productwn Volumes . ‘ ' -

*  Year end gross totdl proved oil resérves at the Ninotsminda Field were 2. 365 MMbbl down 30% from
2006's 3.379 MMbbl. Over the same period, gross total proved natural gas reserves from the;Ninotsminda, ,
Field in Georgia were .2.508 Bcf down 11% from 2006's 2.807 Bef. . L o

“™" The reduction in our proved oil reserves was primarily the result of our unsuccessful completion'of the
work-over of the N52 well in the eastern part of the Ninotisminda Field and our failure to implement other .
planned operations during the year. This resulted in a reduction in total proved undeveloped reserves of
589,000 bbls. The remaining proved undeveloped reserves of 979,000 bbls could face further impairment if the
N99 well we have budgeted in 2008 is unsuccessful or in the event we_are unable to fund those expendnures

Because our proved reserves will décline as crude oil and natural gas and natural gas liquids are’
produced unless we ‘acquire add\tmnal properties containing proved reserves or conduct successful exploration
and development actlvmes oirr reserves and production will decrease Our ability to acquire or find additional
reserves in'the’ near future will be dependent, in part upon the amount of ava1lab1e f'unds for acqu1smon
explonatnon and development pro;ects

’
- '

Exploitation and Development Activity
Ninotsminda

Following the rehabilitation and development work undertaken on the Ninotsminda Field, we realised that
the performance of wells was being negatively impacted by being drilled over-balanced with conventional
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drilling methods and we decided to employ under-balanced drilling technology in order to maximise
productivity and recoverability from the field. It was planned that future horizontal wells on the field should
be drilled using this technology. In June 2004, we signed a contract with WEUS Holding Inc., a subsidiary of
Weatherford [nternational Ltd (“Weatherford™), for the supply of Under-Balanced Coiled Tubing Drilling
(“UBCTD™) services to our projects in Georgia. Under the terms of the contract, Weatherford were to supply
and-operate an UBCTD unit to be used on a program of up to 14 horizontal well-bores on our Ninotsminda
and Samgori Fields (we were party to the Samgori PSC at this time). Elsewhere in the oil industry, the use of
under-balanced drilling techniques has been shown to result in significantly less formation damage, resulting -
in higher sustained production rates and ultimate recovery. At the same time, utilisation of coiled tublng
drilting ‘'gives greaiér flexibility in the drilling process and in the control of the' horizontal section. It' was
considered that these combined drilling technologies would provide the best way to develop and produce both
the Ninotsminda and Samgort Fields. '

We planned to drlll at least five under- balancecl horizontal sidetracks on the N1notsrn1nda Field and
UBCTD operations started on the first-well in the program, the N22H well, in December 2004, but due to .
technical problems-with the equipment the under-balanced drilling was not completed until late February 2005
and then only with a much shorter than planned section being drilled, and-the well not achieving its objective,
despite flowing gas at reported high rates through the gas cap section. Subsequent operations by Weatherford
on both N100OH2 and-N49H wells also proved unsuccessful, with Weatherford failing to drill any horizontal
section in these wells: Progress was hampered by multiple failures of the downhole motors other equlpmem
malfunctions and the loss of bottom hole assembhes in the wells.

Following the failure of Weatherford to successfully complete any horizontal sidetrack development wells
on the Ninotsminda Field using UBCTD technology, Weatherford demobilized its equipment and left Georgia
in July 2005. Despite this lack of success, which we attribute mainly. to multiple equipment failures, we still
believe that under-balanced technology is an appropriate technology for the development of this type of
reservoir. However, as we withdrew from the Samgori PSC in February 2006, it would be prohibitively
expensive to mobilise an UBCTD unit to Georgia solely for a drilling campaign on the Ninotsminda Field. and
we are considering other ways in which to most efficiently produce the remaining,reserves of the field.

In the meantime, ‘we have contmued with our jointed pipe drlllmg operations usmg our own rtgs and .
equipment and the dtrectlonal dnllmg services of Baker Hughes International to drill ‘horizontal srdetrack wells
on the Ninbtsminda Field. In October 2005 we completed the N100OH2 sidetrack which tested at a rate of up
to 13.07 MMcf (370 MCM) of gas per day plus '301 barrel§ of condensate per day (a total’ of 2,480 ‘barrels oil
equivalent') on 'a 63/64 inch (25 mm) choke w1th a flowing tubmg head pressure (FTHP) of 70 atmospheres .
(1,000 psig). The well is currently producing at a steady rate of approxnmately 1.4 MMcf (40 MCM) of gas
per day and 60 barrels 'of oil per day (bopd)

’ -
i
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The {atest horizontal sidetrack well to be drilled on the field ‘was the N97H well which we completed in
March 2006. It targeted oil volumes un-drained from previous offset area wells and’ was put on’ production test
following the instaliation of a slotted liner over a 1,509 feet (460 metres) interval furthest from the heel of the
well. The weli produced initially with a h1gh waler cut, approximately 70%, and an oil rate which peaked at
385 barrels of oil per dy (bopd) before declining. Subsequem pressure surveys run with downhole gauges
suggested that the N97H well was in communication with the offset N4H well. The most likeély assumed
scenario was then some of the fracture sets encountered at the end of the N97H well were drained by the N4H'
well and were hence water filled. Once a very high permeability connection is established with the aqu1fer .
water will flow in prefenence to any oil ﬁlled fractures or matrix of lower permeabtllty Pt

On the basis of the test data and due to the fact that the N97H well is approximately 36, feet (11 metres)
structurally higher than the N4H well which is still producing oil, we decided to attempt to conduct remedial .
water isolation. The slotted liner deployed in the horizontal section limited mechanical options for shutting off
the toe end of the horizontal section. Previous experience in the field has shown that pulling a liner once set 1.
has a very low chance of success due to formation collapse around the liner. Also, a traditional cement

— ‘ N . 4 : . t

! using- 6,000 cubic feet of gas equals 1 barrel of oil/condensate.
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isolation was considered to-have a low chance of success in a horizontal section, so we opted for a coiled
tubing deployed chemical shut-off. Water isolation operations have been performed but subsequent productlon
testing showed that the treatment was not successful.

e .o ) .

We plan to _set;ﬁa cement retainer in the solid liner section of the N97H well in order to isolate and
abandon the slotted liner. part and then perforate the liner in the build up and heel section of the well where
there,is potentlal to re-complete this well as a gas producer, This operation Wlll be subject to havmg a suitable
gas off take agreement in place v Y

Our only rehable gas sates to date from. the Ninotsminda Field were dunng the winter seasons of 1999
and 2001 when we supplied gas to AES Gardabani (a subsidiary of AES Corporation) who: operated a number
of units at the Gardabani thermal power plant in eastern Georgia at that time. Gas sales since then have been
erratic and payment has been unreliable. In June 2006, our subsidiary company, Ninotsminda Qil Company
Limited (“NOC”) concluded a gas sales agreement with the State of Georgia for the sale of gas to the State
run power-units at Gardabani once the State had completed repairs to the 25 mile (41 kilometres) pipeline
between Ninotsminda and Gardabani..The initial planned quantity of gas to be supplied under the agreement
was up to 7.06 MMscf (200 MCM) per day with initial delivery expected in the fall of 2006. However, due to
the pipeline being much more extensively damaged than originally anticipated and issues over the comimin-
gling. of 'gas, the State decided not to proceed with these repairs. As an alternative, the-State proposed to
connect the region of Georgia within which the Ninotsminda- Field is located to the Georgian domestic gas
grid. This work was completed in February 2008 and tmay eventually provide NOC with an alternative market
for its gas producuon w1th potential for higher prices and regular sales.

For the past couple of years; NOC has supplied the gas produced from the Ninotsminda Field (mainly
associated gas)-at a low price to local villages as pait of a social program rather than flare this gas. Despite
the price being approximately $0.71 per Mcf ($25 per MCM) there is a significant outstanding debt to NOC
for gas supplied. Tt was not possible for the Company to terminate supply in order to force payment as these
villagés did not have access to an alternative supply of gas. With the connéction of these areas to the domestic
gas grid, both NOC and Georgian Oil and Gas Corporation (“GOGC”), who is also the State representative in
the Production Sharmg Contract and sells its share of the gas together with NOC, believe that we are now in a
better posmon to enforce payment and commercialise gas sales. Féllowing the completion of the gas '

' connection, the exnstmg gas sales agreement between NOC, GOGC and the local gas supply company has
been amended to increase the’ pnce for gas to an average of approximately $2.72 per Mcf ($97 per MCM).
The new price is based on a quantity of gas being set aside for domestic household consumption at $0.71° per’
Mcf ($25 per MCM) ‘with the balance supplied to the gas distribution company at $4.73 per Mcf ($167 per
MCM). Thé amendment is effective from February 1, 2008 and the gross quantity of gas to be supplled under
the agreement is approximately 2.12 MMcf (60 MCM) per day. At present, the local gas distribution
companies are State entities, but plans are in place to privatize all gas distribution companies in the near
future. This is also expected to help with the payment for gas.

In an attempt to increase producnon at the field in 2007, we contmued to perform workover operations
on the N52 well using our own Rig #1 and crew to extract a complex fish (approximately 9 300 feet (2,843
metres) comprising drill pipe, tubing and a milling .assembly) from the well. N52, which is-a Soviet era well,
has never produced from the reservoir due to the fish with the well subsequently being abandoned. The fishing
operation was further complicated due to the inclined nature of the well which-has a number of severe dog
legs and the potential for the tubing to have deformed when dropped. Although the operation was always
considered to present a considerable technical challenge, we did succeed in recovering approximately 7,155 feet
(2,181 metres)of 2%" and 2% tubing. However, we have now reached the pulling capacity of Rig #1 and are
unable to progress further with this unit. We are re-evaluating the operation and if we deem the chances of
success to be reasonable, we will consider moving our larger ng to the site once it'has completed operations .
on Manavi. .. . :

Further to an ongoing technical re-evaluation of the field, we believe that there are significant potential
reserves remaining both within and surrounding the main field area and we are working on a production
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enhancement strategy 1o increase the level. of production subject to financing being available. Such production -
enhancement strategy might include: - s

'
L]

. Drllhng a new well into the undeveloped eastern part of the field. ThlS would be a hlghly
deviated well from the vicinity of the N98H surface location with up'to two honzontal secuons being
completed in the Middle Eocene reservoir interval. The eastern part of the Nmotsmmda Fleld has not
been exploited because most of the area falls within an environmental protectwn zone where drilling is
prohibited. The N98 horizontal well is the most easterly producing well on the field and, although not
oriented in an optimal direction so as to best encounter- the sub vertical fractures which are important for
production, the well has produced approximately 510,000 barrels of oil-to date and continues to, produce
at a steady rate of approximately 200 barrels of oil per day (bopd) with less than1% water cut. More ...
optimally oriented horizontal wells such as N4H and N100OH! initially tested;at rates of approxnmately
2, 000 b()pd

I * Wl
2:, The use of new technology such as radial drilling o produce trapped 011 from shallower reservoirs
_overlymg the main Middle Eocene reservoir. Previous attempts to produce these zones using perforations,
were largely unsuccessful. due to near.well bore reservoir damage caused by unsuitable drilling fluids .
used in Soviet times. We believe that radial drilling could have the ability to reach beyond this damage-
and we are currently in discussion with a service provider both on the suitability and availability of this

technology. ' _ b .o K e et e

3. General workover activity such as the applieation of perforations to anproduced reservoir intervals
and the use of water isolation techniques to. suppress water flow and increase oil .production. -, ..

4: l*ollowmg 'the completion of testing operauons at M12 consnderauon may be given to moblhsmg
CanArgo fig #2 to the N52 well to complete 'the fishing operatlon add perforauons to the reservorr
'mterval and, if successful put the well into production. o

.. 5. On the,northern flank of the Ninotsminda Field is a potenually Iarge accumulauon of oil in Lhe L
Oligocene interval which has been established by the N78 well. This well, drilled_several years ago,
initially tested oil at a rate of 1,074 bopd, but never produced at this high rate due to the incursion 'of
water due to what is believed to be a poor cement bond behind the casing. A new vertical well to the .
west of N78 is being considered in order to better exploil Lhis accumulation. .

i VI Vet

If crude. oil and, to a lesser extent natural, gas prices return to depressed levels or if our production from
our development program does not deliver a significant production increase, our revenues, cash flow from
operations and financial condition will be materially adversely affected For more mformauon see “‘Liquidity
and Capltal Resources”. . . - ; L R 3

Exploration and Appmisal ‘o, P v e . "

PR . . . .
4 . - J . - . I . Lo

Manav:

¢ - . . , , "

The ﬁrst exploranon well dn]led on the Manavi structure, Manavi 11 (*M117), reached a total depth -
(“TD™) of 14,765 feet (4,500 metres) in“the Cretaceous’'in September 2003. The well encountered:the - , ...
Cretaceous lirnestone target at 14,265 feet (4,348 metres) with over 490 feet (150 metres) of hydrocarbons' - ..
indicated on wireline togs and with-no evidence of an oil-water contact present. On test the M11 well flowed -
light sweet 34.4°API oil at a visibly significant rate and at a high pressure prior:to the test being términated " . :
due to the mechanical failure of the production tubing. Oil was also discovered in the shallower Middle
Eocene sequence but was not tested.

Attempts to recover the damaged tubmg from the, Ml 1 well were unsuccessful. The ‘well, was: prepared
and subsequently sidetracked using a Saipem S.p.A. (“Saipem™) Ideco E-2100Az drilling rig equipped with a .
top-drive drilling system and an oil based mud system provided by Baker-HughesrInternational (“Baker”y to .
control the swelling clays which had proved difficult to drill in the original well. A - 1o

The Manavi.M11Z well reached a TD of 14,994 feet (4,570 metres) in the Cretaceous in October 2005.
The well was completed in the Cretaceous using slim-hole drilling technology due to the small size of the . :
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casing from which the well was sidetracked. The primary Cretaceous’ limestone target was encountered ‘at.
14,032 feet (4,277 metres) some 230 feet (70 metres) higher than in the original M11 well while the. secondary
Middle Eocene target zone was penetrated at 13,009 feet (3,965 metres) again significantly hlgher than in the
MIil well. The carbontate sectron itself was proven fo, be approx1mately 980 feet (#300 metres) thick. Drilling
data and’ shm hole wrrelme logs md:cated the presence of hydrocarbons in both the Cretaceous and Middle
Eocene target zones Agam no oil water contact was 1dennﬁed

[ .
PRY]

*As initial flow testing only"produced small amounts of oil and ga$, it quickly became apparent that the
reservoir needed to'be stimulated in order to.properly complete the testing operation. Considering the small
diameter of the hole'which would limit-our ability to-optimally test this well, and the fact that the specialist
equipment required for this job is both difficult to source and expensive to mobilise for a single operation, we
decxded toidelay completion of-this test iintil after-the completion of'the -planned M12-appraisal well

The M12 well is located approximately 1.25 miles (2 Km} to the west of the original dlscovery well This
well was drilled using the Saipem rig and an,oil based mud capability with Baker providing mud engineering
services. Oil based mud'was used-in an attempt to control the swelling clays above 'the target horizon' which
had proved difficalt to drillin the original well A TD-of 16,762 feet (5,109 metres) was reached in -

mid = December 2006 with a total  thickness of 1,827 feet (557 metres) of Cretaceous. carbonates.and - - -
voleanics having been-encountered. The significant hydrocarbon shows observed during the drilling process
and the data obtained from wireline logs indicated a potentially significant hydrocarbon column in the well
with no obvious presence of a hydrocarbon-water contact.

Prior to testing the‘well, an 886 feet (270 mietre) 5 pre-perforated production liner was run over the
potentig] reservoir interval and a production testing string set to test the Cretaceous _carbonate and interbedded
units. Durmg setting of the test string, the well began ﬂowmg and it was necessary to increase the mud weight
to control the well whilst the test string” ‘was set. Despite the flow and gas observed at surface during drrllmg
operations, the initial testing operations resulted in a pressure increase at surface but with no discernable flow.
Subsequert re-perforating of parts of the:test interval has'resulted in minor flow with gas being flared and
black 40.50 API oil collected at surface. However it is considered-likely that formatidn damage has occurfed,
probably whilst controlling the well dunng the settmg of the test stnng wrth mud penétrating and blockmg the

formation. Y- W b ' 4

We concluded that stimulation te'chniques using acid fo clean the wel] antl crez'ue conductive pathwz'ays
from the reservoir to°the well-bore -and hence bypass any reservoir damage would be required to fully
production test the potential of the well. Acid stimulation is a fairly common procedure tequired to stimulate
flow in carbonate reservoirs of the same’age in the North Caucasus and indeed elsewhere. .However, prior to .
going to the expense of mobilizing a full acid fracturing spread, it was decided first to conduct a simple acid
wash to ensure the effectiveness of acid stimulation under the reservoir conditions encountered in M12,
FracTech Ltd., a UK company providing independent well completion and stimulation ‘laboratory testing, -
design and consultancy services, and Schlumberger well completions experts provided advice on the chemicals
and the stimulation program. The stimulation itself was performed through coiled tubing over a 564 foot (172
metres) ‘interval consisting primarily 6f Cretaceous limestone where the best hydrécarbon shows were observed
during dritling: On stimulation, involving a:low pressure acid squeeze, the well. flowed back unaided and ~
produced liquids at rates of up to 46 barrels.per hour (1,104 barrels per day) and a sizeable gas flare..Over a '
12 hour period; the well produced a total of 402 barrels of liquids consisting of pumped fluid and chemicatls,
polymer drilling mud refeasedifrom the reservoir, oil and gas. The maximum 0il cut observed was in excess of
50%. N Tt .o - .

The well, however, did not sustain flow, and it was concluded that the extent of the formation damage
was beyond.-that which could be cleaned using a simple. acid stimulation process, and as such a proper
hydraulic: fracturing of the formatién with-acid was required. The results of the initial treatment suggested that
ac:d was the correct approach to openmg this formation up. to flow while at the same time provmg the v
presence of oil in the reservoir. e e A v -

‘On August '13; 2007 we announced that Schlumberger had been contracted-to provide pun:rping ’
equipment, chemicals and services to the Company- in order to perform a hydrauli¢ acid fracturing treatment
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of the!Cretaceous reservoit interval in‘the Manavi 12 well. In order to prepare the well for the fracture . .
stimulation, our operating company, CanArgo Georgia, replaced the 2% inch production string with a 5 inch
fraccing string, -and set d temporary plug to reduce the treatment mterval in order to glve the operation the
best chance of success. ' . . : P

¥

] 1 1

On January 29, 2008 we announced that the acid fracturing operatnon at the Manavi 12 well had been
successfully completed by Schlumberger The acid fracturmg stimulation, was conducted using a multi- stage
treatment conprising the pumping of a fracture initiating gel followed by hydrochlonc acid st1mulatu_1g' fluids
and diverter agents. This process was repeated a number of times for maximum efficiency. Approximately .
2,700 barrels of treatment fluids were pumped at a maximum rate of up- 1o 15 barrels per minute. An. mterval
totalling 227 feet (69 metres) across "the Cretaceous carbonate reservoir section in the well from 15,354 feet .
(4,680 metres) to 15,581 feet (4,749 metres) was isolated for the treatment. Pressure readmgs recorded dunng
the operation indicate that fractures were successfully created.

Following the lracturlng operation, the well commenced to flow unaided with spent acid and chernicals
bemg ﬂowed foa surface pit. During this tlme “the effectweness of the fracture sttmulatton in opening ‘the
reservoir up to flow and the potential delwerablluy of the reservoir itself was demonstrated by the ﬁow back
rate Wthh reached a maximum. flow-back “of 223 barrels per hour (5,352 barrels per day). However desprte '
the initial encouragmg oil and gas shows (30 1035 foot (10 to 11 metre) gas flare) observed during th’e flow-
back or clean up phase the oil cut did not exceed % of the total flow from the well followmg the clean up
process. It would appear that the well was producmg excess water, but without further testmg and data |
collection 1t has not to date been possrble 10 dscertain where thlS water was coming from. As part of the
planned testmg program 1t is mlended to run a production long in the we]] to determine the’ ongm of this .
water. . i,

" A ! . . o P Ll [ P

In order to proceed with the testing program, it was necessary to replace the 5 inch frac string required -
for the stimulation operation with 2% inch production grade tubing. Attempts to set a blanking plug in the
lower completron in the well (to isolate 'the reservoir interval) using coil tubmg were abandoned following a
meehamcal failure of the ln_}CCIOI‘ head on the coil tubing unit causing damage to the ‘coil tubmg plug and”
upper completion string. A wireline unit was mobilised from' Baku to reset the plug This was successfully
completed, but-on extraction of the fric string by CanArgo Georgia it became apparent that damage had also '
been caused to the complétioni which resulted in a modification to the final weil completron Being tequired. *
The productlon tubing is now in place and pressure tested, however operations to retrieve the mechanical plug
have encountered further.complications and additional equipment will neéd to bé mobilised 6 Georgid to >’
complete the operation. Once. the plug is removed, well testmg operations will continue. As part of the planned
testing program a wireline- conveyed producuon logging 100l will be run in thé ‘well to help locate fluid entry
points to the well and prov1de downhole flow raté and pressure dita’ during the test. This data will assrst in the
evaluatlon of well condltlonq and reservonr performance and help assess the overall potent1a1 of the well ‘

¥ iy
Fn- order to-fully evaluate the potential of the Manavi prospect as'a whole significant additional drilling*
and analysis will be requiréd -As part of this analysis, we are also evaluating the technical feas1b|l|ty of -
acquiring a 3-D seismic data sutvey’over the Manavi structure: All these exploratory activities are, however‘
dependent upon the Company :>ecur1ng additional fundmg - ’ P!
. . v Mt o, .
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If commerc1al productlon can be established at M 12,‘the well would be put into longterm test -
production and consideration would be gwen to performmg a similar acid fracture stimulation of the M11z
well which remains suspended . " | T -
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Norro s 7
T L) ' L ‘1.
.'The second ‘phase of the preliminary work program under the Nono PSA commenced in January 2002 -
when the. first.exploration well named MK72 was spudded on the Norio prospect using the CanArgo Ural .
Mash rig. Norio is a large prospect identified at Middle Eoceneilevel and is analogous in size to the nearby -
Samgori and Ninotsminda Field complex immediately.to the south and east of the block. It has been reported

that the Samgzori Qil Field alone has produced approximately' 180 million barrels of oil to. date.
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Completion of the MK72 well was delayed as a result of technical problems encountered whilst drilling,
and the need to farm out a portion-of the equity in the block in order to partly fund the drilling.. In -
September 2003, CNL signed a farm-in agreement relating to the Norio PSA with a wholly owned subsidiary
of Georgian Oil, the Georgian State Oil Company. This farm-in agreement obligated Georgian Oil to-pay up to
$2.0 million to deepen, to a planned depth of 16,733 feet (5,100 metres), the MK-72 well in return for a 15%
interest in the cortractor share of the Norio PSA. Georgian Oil also had an option, exercisable for a limited
penod'after completion of the well, to increase its intetest to 50% of the contractor share of the Norio' PSA on
payment to CNL of $6.5 miilion. Due to Georgian Oil’s inability' to continue .to fund the drilling of the well,
operations were subsequently susperided atid only resumed after Mdy 2005 when we repaid to Georgran Oil '
the investment it had made in the MK72 well to terrnmate the farm-in agreement and option and secure a
100% workmg interest in the Norro PSA !

t

In August 2005 the Salpem dnllmg rig and Baker orl based mud system was mobilized to the MK72
exploration well as our Ural Mash rig had drfﬁculty drrllmg through a hrghly over-pressured section of
swelling clays above the prognosed 'target zone. 'On December 29, 2005, wé announced that the MK72 well
reached a depth of l6 076 feet (4, 900 metres) in the Middle Eocene reservoir having encountered very good
oil and gas shows, Before the well cold be drllled to the planned depth and tested, the bottom. hole assembly
(BHA) became stuck due to hole collapse. Subsequent attempts (o retrieve the BHA were not successful and
we dec1ded to abandon the lower target due to a limited chance of srdetrackmg the well at this depth in a
small diameter hole and to focus our atteption on the shallower oil d1scovery in the overlying Ollgocene sands
which were the secondary target for the well, From the data obtamed from the Middle Eocene (the pnmary
target for the’ well) wé believe that an oil drscovery has been made at this level, and that the reservoir has
exhibited both perméability and the presence of movable light oil. As such, even though the Middle Eocene
has not been fully evaluated, the MK72 well has encountered the Middle Eocene reservoir on prognosis, and
with hydrocarbons thus ach1ev1ng many.of the objectrves of this wrldcat exploratron well. .

1 ! R e '

A comprehenswe testmg program on the 011 bearing Olrgocene sandstones encountered in the

Norio MK72 well commenced in m1d-March 2006, when a total of 322 feet (98 metres) of net sands were .

. perforated over the mterval 12,096 feet 3, 687 metres) to 13, 622 feet (4, 152 metres}. These sands had good orl

shows wh1lst dnllmg, with oil to surface and with hydrocarbons bemg interpreted on.the electric logs which
also, 1ndrcated a substantlal thlckness of net pay sands. Following an extensive testing. program, the well
sustamed flow, on a small cholge size with low average gross fluid rates of approximately 13 barrels per day
consrstmg of hght 48, 6°API oil, gas and water. " L C . .

"A number of surge clean up ﬂows a re- perforatlon of selected 1ntervals and a “low” pressure hydrofrac
using our own pumping unit, have been attempted but these have not 1mproved reservoir delrverablhty Iti is,
belreved that the current flow is lrmlted to a thinner, less permeable, mterval whilst the better quality reservo1r
remains isolated due to potential reservorr damage caused by the invasive fliid damage of the drilling mud.
The lower zoneg in the well, which would have been in communication with the Oligocene interval through
the well-bore, were drilled with a 1.9 to 2.2 Specific Gravity (SG) mud. due 'to anticipated reservoir pressures
while the results from.the testing program indicate that the mid interval reservoir pressure for the Oligocene
whilst still over pressured, is lower-at 1.7 SG equivalent: As a result of possible mud damage, the current
perforations may have not penetrated deep enough beyond the damaged Zone to allow proper commumcatlon
between the more permeable formations and: the well—bore "

e, - o . [T

We considered mobilising a more powerful fraccmg unit and equipment to Georgia in order to pump a'
propant and fluid into the well at high pressure and volume, but the potential for this technology is limited due
to a lack of a cement bond behind the casing and the large interval which has been perforated. The well has
been left on test production for the past several months but there has been no discernable increase in grogs
fluid production'rate. As we would appear to have exhausted all.the low cost’ options available to us at this
time to bypass.any damage that may. exist in the near-well-bore area and establish better communication _
betwéen the well-bore and.the reservoir, we believe that.the only effective option remaining is to sidetrack the
well or to drill a-new well: The latter, of course, would enable.us to attempt to test both-the Oligocene and
Middle Eocene intervals both of, which are considered to have significantly reduced geological risk.
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We plan, subject to financing being available from internal resources or through a farm out arrangement,
to drill an appraisal well to fully evaluate these attractive discoveries, with the well being designed to enter the
Middle Eocene reservoir witha larger hole size. In 2007, several companies undertook a technical review:of
the Norio area and-a number of these -have expressed an interest in further evaluatmg a farm—m to this acreage
We will continue to progress our negotiations with potential-farm-in partners. - * '

Kumisi

B e,

Followmg an Undertaktng by the govemment to purchase any gas produced from the Kumm prospect on’
agreed commercial terms, wé drilled a well to appraise this ‘prospect in 2007 up-dip of the' WR16 well. Thé -
Kumisi #1 well is located within the Nazvrevi PSC area and is approximately 7.5 miles (12 Km) southeast of
Thilisi, It is close to the domestic gas transportation grid and the route of the new South Caucasus gas
trunkline from Azerbaijan to Turkey. The well commenced drilling in February 2007 and reached a total depth
of 11,841 feet (3,609 metres) in June in the Cretaceous. -

An extensive testing program was conducted over the Cretaceous section "where'six separate intervals
totalling 482 feet (147 metres). were perforated and tested. -Despite elevated gas readings being recorded during
drilling, these tests resulted in no discernable flow from the formation and without any hydrocarbons being
detected. It is, therefore, reasonablé to assume that the Cretaceous reservoir at ‘this location is tight unlike the
rocks encountered in other wells in the area. This conclusion was confirmed by a low pressure hydro squeeze
which was performed over two separate zones with the data obtained suggesting that these rocks are.tight and
lack permeability, Cy . . : Lo “n

Further tests were carried Gut of potential reservoir units-in the overlying Middle and Lower Eocene
sequences. Three, separate tests were conducted with a total of 79.feet (24 metres) of.sandstones being -
perforated and flow tested. These tests produced water with. gas flow to .surface in flareable quantities,.but-non
commercial volumes. Each interval was flow tested for a number of days over. which there was no increase in
the amount of gas produced and the testing. was subsequently terminated. . R R T

On October 18, 2007 we announced that the Kumlst #1 was bemg plugged and abandoried. The well
results, particularly for the Cretaceous interval, w111 be reviewed and incorporated into our. techmcal evaluanon
of the area in order to fully understand the remalmng potenna] of the Kumisi area. As part ‘of this’ analy51s
consideration will be given to acid fracture stimulation techniques as a means by which'to enhance |
permeability within the prospect. As no water has been recovered from the well, management believes that
potential for a large gas prospect may still exist.up-dip of the.WR16 well given better reservoir quality.

Tn 2008, we have buttgeted aep;roxirahlely' $12.0 million for our exploration and appraisal werk'in‘ .
Georgia, prlmanly for the testing and appraisal of the Manavi discovery and a short term productlon
enhancement program at the Nmotsmmcla Fteld subject to avallab]e ﬁnancmg

To pursue existing projects beyond our immediate development plan and to pursue new opportunities; we
will require additional capital. While expected to be substantial, without further exploration work and
evaluation the exact amount of funds needed to fully develop all of our oil and gas properties cannot at present
be quantified. Potential sources of funds include additional sales of equ1ty securities, project ﬁnancmg, debt
financing {subject to certain restrictions under our Convertible Loan agreements) and the participation, of other
oil and gas entmes in our prOJeets Although we have been successful in the past in ralsmg cap1tal there can
be no assurarice that we will be successful in secunng the necessary fundmg or if such fundmg is avallable ‘
that it will be offered on attracttve or acceptable terms. Should.such funding not be forthcormng and wé are
unable to sell some or all of our non-core assets, or, if sold such sales realize insufficient proceeds we rnay
have to detay or abandon such projects.

Development of the oil and gas properties and ventures in which we have interests 'involves multi-year
efforts and substantial cash expenditures. Full development of our oil and gas properties and ventures will
require the availability of substantial additional financing from external sources. We may also, where '
opporturities exist, seek-to transfer portions of our interests in oil and gas properties and ventures to entities in
exchange for such financing. We generally have the principal responsibility for arranging financing for the .oil
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and-gas properties and -ventures in which we-have an interest.. There can be no assurance, however, that we or
the entities that are developing the oil and gas. properties and ventures will be able to arrange the financing-
necessary to develop the projects being undertaken or to support our corporate and other activities. There can
also be no assurance that such financing-as is available will be on terms that are attractive or- acceptable to or
-are deemed to be in the best interest of CanArgo, such entities and their respective stockholders or -,
participants.

Ultimate realization of the carrying value of our oil and gas properties and ventures will require production of
oil and gas in _sufﬁciem quantities and marketing such oit and gas at sufficient prices to provide positive cash flow
to us. Establishment of successful oil and gas ‘operations is dependent upon, among other factors, the fol]owing:

+ mobilization of equnpment and personnel to implement effectively dnllmg, comp[etlon and production
activities; gL . . . "

B o

. rajsing of additional capital; ‘ . oy
* achieving significant production at costs that provide acceptable margins;

* reasonable levels of taxatlon OF -€CONOMIc arrangements in lieu of taxation in" host countries; ‘and
. r

. lthe ab111ty to, market the ‘oil and gas produced at. or near world prices.

. - Subject to our ability to raise 'additional capital, we have plans to mobilize resources and achieve levels
of production and profits sufficient to recover the carrying value of our oiland gas properties and ventures.
However, if one or more of the above factors, or other factors, are different than anticipated, these plans ‘may
not be realized, and we may not recover the carrying value of our oil and gas properties and ventures.

Commencing in September 2009 through June 2010 an aggregate of $15,250,000 million in indebtedness
under the Company’s Subordinated Notes and the'12% Subordinated Notes (collectively, the/*“Notes”)} will*
come-due and be payable. Unless such Notes are converted into shares of common stock in accordance with -
their respective terms, the Company will be required to repay or refinance such- outstanding indebtedness. * -
There can be no assurance at this time that Company will have the resources to repay, such Notes or if it will
beina posmon to refinance’ such indebtedness. Repayment of the Notes has been guaranteed by various
subsndranes of the Company Wthh hold substantlally all of the assets of the Company ona consohdated basis.

' ot 1

Availability af C_'apital
As described more fully under “Liquidity and:Capital Resources™ below, our sources of capital are ..
pnmanly cash on hand cash from operaung activities, project financing, debt financing (subject to certain
restrictions under our Converttble Loan agreements), the participation of other oil and ‘gas entities in our’
projects, and the proceeds from the sale of certain assets. We may also attempt to raise additional capital
through the issuance of debt or equity securmes although no assurances can be madeé that we will be
successful in any such efforts. :

As of March 7, 2008, the Company had an aggregate of 242,120,974 shares of coramon stock lssued and
outstanding”and 500, 000,000 authorized shares of common stock. During 2007 we issued 4,975,000 shares of
our common stock of which 1,000,000 shares were in connection with the exercise of warrants,

1,475,000 shares were in connection w1th exercise of stock options and 2,500,000 shares were in connéction
with a private placement Dirring 2008, we have to date issued no shares of our common stock. As of March 7,
2008, an aggregate’ of 67,119, 215 shares are reserved for issilance undér various stock optlon plans, warrants
and other contractual commltments me]udmg the Semor Secured Notes, the Subordlnated Notes and the
12% Sibordinated Note. . : ’
Liquidity and Capital Resources - .
General ‘ ‘ 7 : ‘ v _ ‘

* We currently have sufficient cash on hand to support our operations through to the third quarter 2008. In
order to fund our planned capital expenditure program and to continue our operations after the third quarter .
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2008, we need to raise substantial funds. As noted elsewhere we are -pursuing raising additional funds through
private placements of our equity or debt securities or a possible rights offering to shareholders. We are also
actively pursuing the farming out a number of our exploration projects. We are requ1red under the covenants
of our existing Convertible Notes to obtain the approval of a majority of our debt holders in order to incur
additional indebtedness in excess of $2.5 million, which approval we cannot guarantee. In the event we
attempt to raise funds through an equity offering, we would more than likely be required to offer our equity
securities at a substantial discount to the current public market price in order to attract investors. In the event
that we were to do so, provnsrons in our outstandmg Convertible Notes and Warrants would cause their
exercise prices (o reset to the lower price in any offenng If low enough, this could effect a significant dlluuon
to current shareholders or possrbly toa change of conlrol event.

o
"

- .There can be no assurance’of our success in raising these funds. In the -event that we are unable to raise
additional funds on terms acceptable.to us; we will-be required to significantly curla:l our operations in 7
Georgia and to abandon our currently planned capltal expendlture program S

.The crude.oil and natural gas mdustry is a hlghly capltal mtenswe and cyclical busrness Our’ current
capltal requtrements are drwen pnnc1pally by, our obhgatlons to fund the followmg costs;

* the development of exrstmg propertles mcludmg dnllmg and compleuon costs of wells and o

1 I tany

. acqumt;on of 1nterests m crude oil and natural gas propemes _ . ‘ ..

" The amount of capital available to us will afféct our ability to continue to grow the biisiness through the
developmem ‘of exrstmg properties and thé acquisition of new properties and, possibly, our ability to service
anly-future debt obligations, if any. Our sources of capital are primarily cash on hand, cash from operating +
activities; project financing, debt financing, the participation of other oil and gas ‘entities in'our projects, and -
the sale of certain assets Our ovérall liquidity depends heavily on the prevailing prices of crude oil and -
natural gas and our production volumes of crude oil and natutal gas. We'do not hedge our crude oil '™
production. Accordingly, future crude oil and, to a lesser extent, natural gas price declines would have a '
material adverse effect on our overall results and-therefore our liquidity. Low crude oil and natural gas pnces
could also negauvely affect our'ability to raise capital on terms favorable to us and could also reduce our  *'
ability to borrow in the future, If the volume of crude oil we produce decreases, our cash ﬂow from operations
will dectease. Our production volumes will decline as reserves are produced. We sold properues in 2003 and
2004 which reduced potential future reserves and, in the funire, we may sell additional properties and other "
assets, which could further réduce oui production volumes and i income from oil well drilling and servicing. To
offset the'loss in' production volumés resulting from natural fizld declines and sales of producing properties,
we must conduct successful exploration, exploitation and development activities, acquire-additional producmg‘
properties as.we did with our acquisition of a 50% interest in the Samgori Field in 2004 or. identify additional
behind-pipe zones or secondary recovery reserves R . . C g

Should our current exploration, exploitation and development wells in Georgia prove unsuccessful and we
were unable to raise additional debt or equity finance, we might have to cut ‘back on our capnal spending
plans and or modlfy our operatmg plans to conserve cash .

.

As of December 31,2007; we had ‘working capital of $715 000 compared 10 workmg capltal of ’

~$11,628,000 as of December 31, 2006. The:$10,913,000 decrease in ‘working' capital from December 31, 2006

to December-31, 2007 is principally due to expenditures in the period to fund the cost of development .
activities at the Ninotsminda Field, our appraisal activities at the Manavi oil discovery and the Kumisi |
appralsal well in Georgm and ‘net cash used by’ operating .activities partially offset by cash received pursuant to
a private placement and lhe matunng of a deposit previously recorded as reslnc{ed cash.

Certain Asset Sales . S oo C

On May 28, 2004, we announced that pursuant to a'signed agreement between CanArgo® Acquisition
Corporation, our wholly owned subsidiary, arid:Stanhope Solutions Ltd.; we had completed a transaction to
sell our interest in the Bugruvativske Field in Ukraine through the disposal of our wholly owned subsidiary, .
Lateral Vector Resources, for $2,000,000. We received $250,000 as an initial payment and should receive the
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remaining '$1,750,000 based upon certain production-targets being achleved on the project. ' As of December 31,
2007, no additional payments have been made. . ; , . . -

In December 2007, we disposed of CanAr‘gq‘ Rig #1 for $500,000..

‘ e
. ot . S A

Financing . . TN

On February 11, 2004, we entered into a Standby Equtty Distribution Agreement (“SEDA”) that allowed
us, at our option, perlodleally to issue shares of our common 9tock to US- baséd investment fund Cornell
Capital Partners, LP' (“Cornell Capital”) up to a maximum value of $20,000,000 (“Cornell Facility”). Under
the terms of the SEDA, Comell Capital provnded us with an equity line of credit for 24 months from the
Effective. Date (as defined in the SEDA). The maximum aggregate amount of the equity placements pursuant
to the SEDA was $20,000,000. Subject to-this.limitation, we could draw down up to $600,000 in any' -
seven-day trading period (a “Put”). The Comell Facility .could be used.in whole or in part entirely at our
discretion, subject to effective registration of the shares under the Securities Act. Shares issued to Cornell
Capltal were priced at a 3% discount to the lowest daily Volume We1ghted Closmg Bid Price (“"VWAP") of
CanArgo common shares traded ‘on the Oslo Stock Exchange (“OSE”) for each of the five consecutive trading
days immediately following a draw down notice by CanArgo. For each share of common stock purchased
under the SEDA, Cornell Capital received a substantial discount to the current market pnce of CanArgo
common stock. The level of the total discount varied depending on the market priceé of our stock and the
amount drawn down under.the SEDA. On the basis of the average high and low price for common stock as
reported on the Amencan Stock-Exchange on January 27 2005 of $1.37, Cornell Capital received a total
discount of 13.87% to the -market price of our stock. Such discount compnsed (l) 3% discount to, the lowest
volume weighted average price of our common stock; (2) 5% of the proceeds that we received for each .
advance under the SEDA; and (3) a commitment fee of 5.87%. The commitment fee, which was paid, +
consisted of $10,000 in cash (paid in two tranches) and 850 000 shares of our common stock (issued in three
tranches). The 850, 000 shares of common. stock issued in respect of the commitment fee represented nearly .
4% of the estimated 23 million shares of common stock that,could have been 1ssued by us under the SEDA. In
February 2004, we engaged Newbridge Securities Corporation, a registered broker dealer, to advise,us and 0
act as our excluswe placement agent in connection with the Cornell Facility pursuant to the Placement Agent
Agreement dated February 11, 2004, For its services, Newbndge Securities Corporation received 30,799
restricted shares of our common. stock which were included in the Registration Statement on Form S$-3
(Reg. No. 333-115261) filed on May 6, 2004. On February 3, 2005, the SEC declared effective the registration
statement on,Form S-3 (Reg No. 333-115261) ongma}ly filed by us on May 6, 2004 in respect of the shares
issuable under the Cornell Facnllty

On February 21, 2005, ‘we ‘sold 380,836 shares of CanArge common stock’ at $1.31 per share under the

Comnell Facility. The proceeds of this sale of $500,000 were used to reduce the promissory note to Corell "
Capital from $1,500,000 to $l 0oo,000. . . _ .

On February 28, 2003, we sold 335,653 sharés of CanArgo common stock at $1 .47 per share under the |
Comell Facility. The proceeds of this sale of $500,000 were used 'to reduce the promissory note to Cornell
Capital from $1,000,000'to $500,000. The proceeds included additional proceeds attributable to 5,179 shares
of CanArgo.common stock issued pursuant-,to the takedown under the Equity Line completed on February 21,
2005 proceeds of which should have been credited to us under the February 21,2005 draw down. :

On March' 7, 2005, we sold 344,758 shares of CanArgo common stock at $1.54 per share under the
Cornell Facility. The interest owed on the note of $32, 548 was'included in‘the proceeds The proceeds of this
sale of $500,000 were iised to reduce the Promissory note to Cornell Capital frorn $500,000 to $0.

On March 14, 2005, we sold 370,599 shares of CanArgo common stock at $1.62 per share under the
Cornell Facility. This provnded net proceeds of $6OO 000 to CanArgo

]
On April 26, 2005 we signed a promissory note wnth Cornell Caprtal wheréby Comnell Capital agreed to .
advancé us the sum of $15 million {“Promissory Note”). Pursuant to the terms of the Promissory Note the .
$15 million and interest at a rate of 7.5% per annum was repayable either in cash or using the net proceeds of
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drawdowns under the SEDA, within-270 calendar days from the.date of the Promissory Note. Pursuant to the
terms of the Promissory Note, we escrowed 25 requests. for advances under the SEDA each in an amount not
less than $600,000 and one advance of $289,726.03 (representing estimated interest) together with

16,938,558 shares of CanArgo common stock. As at the agreement ¢ date, 664, 966 shares were already in’
escrow. The escrow agent released requests evéry 7 chlendat days from May 2, 2005 provided we ‘had not "
previously made a payment to Comell Capital in cash. We had the abrllty at our sole discretion upon 24 hours
prior written notice to Cornell-Capital to repay all and any amounts due under the Promissory Note in
immediately available funds and withdraw any advance notices yet to be effected..

On August 1, 2005, we made a‘payment.of $7,422,410.96 being-the outstanding principal'and accrued
interest amount payable to Comnell Capital under the terms "of ‘both the SEDA and the Promissory Note.
Furthermore, all escrowed advances were cancelled and 7,260,647 shares of CanArgo common stock were
returned fromeescrow and .duly cancelled on Qctober 5, 2005. In accordance with Section 6 of the. Promrssory
Note, upon receipt of such outstandinig sums. the Promissory.Note was deemed cancelled. On July 25, 2005 -
notice was grven to Cornell. Caprtal to terminate the SEDA with effect as of August 24 2005. R

We recewed $12 332, 548 proceeds net of $285 749 of discounts (excluding t the cornmrtment fee of
$10,000 and. 850,000 shares of common, stock previously paid to Comnell Capital) pursuant to twenty one
takedowns under the SEDA in which we issued a total of 13,012,945 shares of our common stock to Cornell. »
Capital at an average price of $0.9477 per share. From these proceeds, $1,532,548 was used to repay the
promissory note of $1,500,000 plus accrued interest on the. note, of $32,548 to Cornell Capital and partially '
repay the promissory note of $15,000,000.

o

i ' w LIV PO

On-July 25, 2005, we announced that we had-closed the private placément of a $25,000,000 issue of
Senior Secured Notes. due Tuly 25, 2009 (’Senior Secured Note’ ) with a group of investors arranged through
Ingalls & ‘Snyder LLC of New- York City. T e . »

The _proceeds of this ﬁnancrng, after the payment of all professronal and placmg expenses and fees had
been used to redeem short term debt and accrued interest in the amount of approximately $7,400,000 under
the Promissory Note with Cornell Capital, to fund the appraisal of a new gas project in Georgm to fund the
development of the Kyzyloi Gas Field in Kazakhstan dnd adJacem exploratlon areas,-ang for additional'
worKing ‘capital for our development, appraisal and.exploration activities in- Georgia. In addition; we’' T v
terminated the SEDA which we had- with-Cornell Capital ‘with effect as of August 24 2005 o

See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements included herein for a descnpnon of the terms and
conditions of the Senior Secured Notes. . A T

N

ta

On March 3, 2006, we finalised a private placement with a’limited group of:investors arranged by
Ingalls & Snyder LLC of New York City of a $13,000,000 issue of Senior Subordinated Convertible
Guaranteed Notes due September 1, 2009 (ihe “Subordmated Notes”) and warrants 10 purchase an aggregate
of 13,000,000 shares of our common stock (“Subordmated Note Warrant Shares™) at an exéréise prtce of .
$1.37 per share, subject to adjustment, and expiring on March 3, 2008 or sooner under certain circumstances
(“Subordinated Note Warrants”). R P e Lt s

The proceeds of this financing, after the payment of all placing expenses'and profeséional fees were used
exclusively to fund the development of the Kyzyloi Gas Field in Kazakhstan-and on the' commitment ' -
exploration programs in Kazakhstan through Tethys Petroleum Limited (“Tethys™), a. former sub51d1ary of
CanArgo. CanArgo disposed of its entire interest in Tethys on August 3, 2007 and no longer ‘has any
Kazakhstan assets. . . o .

See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements ‘included herein for 4 descnptlon of the terms and

conditions of the Subordinated Notes and assocrated Subordmated Note Warrants o e
On June 28, 2006, we announced that we had entered into the private placement with Persistency of a .
$10,000,000 issue of a 12% Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed' Note-due June 28, 2010 (the “12% Subordi-

nated Note™) and warrants.to purchase an aggregaté of 12,500,000 shares of :CanArgo common stock
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(“12%Note Warrant Shares™); at an-exercise price .of $1.00 per share, subject to adjustment, and expiring on
June 28, 2008 or sooner under certain circumstances (the “12% Note Warrants™). .

The proceeds of tlns ﬁnancmg, after the payment of all placmg expenses and professmnal fees were used
to fund our appraisal and development acttvmes in Georgia tncludmg further development of the Nlnotsmmda

Field and appratsal of the Kumisi_gas d1scovery ‘ :

See Note' 9 to-the consolidated financial statements included herein for a description of the terms and '
conditions of the 12% Subordinated Note and associated 12% Note Warrants. *

. On October 13, 2006, we. announced the completion of 4 private. placement. in Norway by way of the
issue of an apgregate-of. 12,263,368 shares of common stock-at a purchase price of NOK 9.10 per share (the
“Reg. S Shares™) for aggregate gross proceeds of NOK 111,596,239 ($16,687,039 equivalent based upon.a .
conversion‘rate of NOK 6.6876 per dollar) before placing fees and expenses estimated at NOK 6,695,774
($1,001,022). The shares were issued in a transaction intended t6 qualify for.the exemption from registration
afforded by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Regulation S promulgated thereunder. CanArgo agreed to
register the Shares for resale under the Securities Act and the Company filed a Registration Statement on
Form S-3 with the SEC on'October-13, 2006, which included ‘these shafes. The Registration Statement on
Form S-3 was declared effective on January 19, 2007. As a result'of the delays incurred in registering the’
Shares we have paid subscribers a cash liquidity’ penaity of 5% of the subscription price of their Shares in the
aggregate amount of NOK 5,579,812 ($834,352 equivalent). The net proceeds of the placement will bé used
by the Company for working capital; future capitdl expenditures in Georgta, 1ncludmg, without limitation,
securing drilling equipment; and other retated activities. ‘

On-August 10, 2007, we entered into a subscription agreement with three accredited investors in terms of
which we issued those investors by way of a private placement 2,500,000 shares of CanArgo common stock at
$1.00 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of $2,500,000. In consideration for the investors agreeing to-make:
the subscription, we also issued to the investors warrants to subscribe for an aggregate of 5 miilion shares of
common stock ‘of CanArgd. The warrants have an exercise pnce of $1. 00 per share, subject io adjustment and
are exercisable up to the end of Auigust 2009.

v ’ . '

Durmg 2007 we contmued 1o progress our exploratlon,.appralsal and development plans: in our core area

. of operation in Georgia, Up until the end of July, operations also continued on our interests in Kazakhstan, but

our Kazakhstan assets. were discontinued with our, disposition of our interest in Tethys Petroleum Limited,
which held such assets, on Augusl 3, 2007.

3 b [ '

' The Next Twelve Months . - B

We. currently have sufficient cash on hand to' support our operanons to the third quaner of 2008.

o In order to contmue w1th alt of our curTently planned development activities in Georgia on Ol.ll' )
Nmotsrnmda Flﬁ:ld and the appramal of our Manavi oil dlscovery, we w:ll need to raise addmonal funds’ Vla
debt or equity ﬁnancmg

. ' ' ] o o i | ' Kl
While a consnderable amount of infrastructure for the Nlnotsmlnda Field has already been put in place,.”
we cannot provnde assurance that:

[
™ * * q r

. fundmg of afi eld development plan will be timely; « . -, D AR

= our development plan will be successfully completed or will mcrease productlon or

« field operatmg revenues after completton of the development plan w:ll exceed operatmg costs

‘Under the terms of each of the Note issues, we are restricted from incurring future indebtedness and from
issuing additional senior or pari passu indebtedness, except with the prior consent of the Required Holders or
in limited permiited circumstances. The definition of indebtedness encompasses all customary forms of
indebtedness-including, without liinitation; liabilities for the deferred consideration, liabilities for borrowed
money secured by any lien or other specified security interest, liabilities in respect of letters of credit or +°
similar instruments (excluding letters of credit which .are 100% cash collateralised) and guarantees in’relation’
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to such forms of indebtedness (excluding parent company guarantees provided by the Company in-respect of
the indebtedness or obligations of any of the Company’s subsidiaries under its Basic Documents (as defined in
the respective Note Purchase Agreements) Pursuant to the terms of the Noté Purchase Agreements, permitted
future indebtedness is (a) indebtedness outstandmg under the Notes; (b) any additional unsecured mdebtedness
the aggregate amount outstanding thereunder at any time not excéeding certain specified amounts and;

{c) certain unsecured intra-group indebtedness (in the case of the Subordinated Notes and the 12% Subordi-
nated Notes this is limited to the indebtedness of a CanArgo Group Member (as defined in the relevant Note
Purchase Agreements) to a direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company which is not deemed to be a Material
Subsidiary (under the Note Purchase Agreements the aggregate amount outstanding under the particular
indebtédness shall not exceed certain specnﬁed levels at any ume) See Note 9 to the consolldated ﬁnanc:lal
statements included herein. ’ S

oy, ' L v

To pursue existing projects for our immediate appraisal and development plans, pay operating expenses
and to pursue new opportunities,"we will require additional capital in 2008. While expected to be. substantial,
without further exploration work and evaluation the exact amount of funds needed to fully develop all of our
oil and gas properties cannot at present, be quantified. Potential sources of funds include additional sales of
equity ‘securitiés, project financing, débt financing and the participation of other oil and gas entities in our
projects. Based on our past history of raising capital and continuing discussions, we believe that such required
funds may be available. However, there is no assurance that, such funds will be available, and’if available, will
be offered on attractive or acceptable terms. Should such funding not be forthcoming, we may not be able to
pursue proy.,cts beyond our current appraisal and developmem plans or to pursue new opponumues -As
discussed above, under the terms of the Noles we i are resmcted from 1ncumng addmonal mdebtedness

o : ,
.Development of the ml and gas properties and ventures in whxch we have interests involves multi- year .- .
efforts and substantial cash expenditures. Full.development’ of our oil and gas properties and ventures may - '
require the availability of substantial additional financing from external sources, We may also, where - . ..
opportunitics exist, seek to transfer portions of our-interests in oil and gas properties and.ventures to entities in
exchange for such financing: We generally have the.principal responsibility for arranging finaricing for the oil
and gas properties and ventures in which’ we have an interest. There can be no assurance,“however,.that, we or ~
the entities that are developing the oil and- gas'properties and ventures will be able to arrange the financing -
necessary to.develop the projects being undertaken or to support the corporate and other activities of CanArgo.
There can also be no assurance that such financing will be available on terms that are attractive or acceptable. -
to or are deemed to be in the best interest of CanArgo, such.entities and their respective stockholders or "
participants.

.
R

LI
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' .

~ Ultimale realization of the carrying value of ouf oil ahd ‘gas properties and venturés will require
production of oil and gas in sufficient quantities and marketing-suchoil and gas at sufficient prlces to provnde :
positive cash flow to CanArgo. Estabhshment of successful oil and gas operanons is’ dependent upon among
other factors, the followmg ‘ ‘ : '

. - . : ) . oo

. . B . ] [l PV . LD

« mobilization of equipment and per‘;onnel to implement, effectwely drilling, completion and producuon
activities; . ., o

* raising of additional capital; . i L PO DA 3

U ) N - - i -
s achieving significant production at costs that provide acceptable margins;

* reasonable levels of tixation, or economic arrangements in lien of taxation in host countries; and
I3 . - N . A s ' St o
» the ability to market the oil and gas produced at or near.world prices. |

. ‘ . N ! i . . N - . .

Sabject té our ability to raise additional capital, we have plans to mobilize resources and achieve levels
of production and profits sufficient to recover the carrying value of our oil and gas properties and ventures.
Howeveér, if one or more of the above factors; or other factors, are different than anticipated, these plans may
not be realized, and we may not recover the carrying value of our oil and gas properties and ventures. -
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Working Capltal ; . ‘ o o1

.

At December 31 2007 our current assets of $8 173 ,000 exceeded our current llabllmes of $7, 458 000
resultmg ina workmg capitai surptus of $715,000. This compares to a working capital. surplus of S, 628,000
as of December 31, 2006. Current llabxhues as of December 31, 2007 consisted of trade payables of $482, 000,
accrued labilities of $6,640,000 and llabllmes to be dlsposed of $336,000.. .

.

Capltal Expend:tures : , ' . e . r

1 ~

Capital expendltures m cash in 2007 2006 and 2005 were $11 710,000, $24 339 000 and $29, 957 000
respectively. The table below sets forth the components of these capital expenditures for the three years. ended .
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

: ' ' December 31, :

- 'Expenditure Category: B STt 2007 - 2006 2005
DEVElOPMENt . ...« $ 85827] S 1998556 $12.976,649
Exploration ... .......... e 7509999 19,130,777 11,872,694
Facilities and Other . . .. ..o it 3341904 . 3209541 , 5,107,998 °

. Total .. ... AU S S YLLTIONTE 24338874 29957341

. During 2007 2006 and 2005 capltal expend1tures were pnmanly for the development and exploratlon of
existing properties. We currently have a contingent planned minimum capital expenditure budget of $12.0 million
subject to financing being available for 2008, all of which is allocated to our Georgian development and
appraisal projects.. During 2008, we plan to participate in the workover of two wells on the Ninotsminda Field
and complete the testing of the Manavi appraisal well, M12, Further drilling at Norio will be subject to securing
financing for this project which may be by way of a-farm-out of part of our interest in the PSA in exchange for,
the drilling of an appraisal well. We have no material long-term capital commitments and are consequently able
to adjust the levei. of our expenditures as circumstances dictate. Additionally, the level of capital expenditures’ .
will vary during future periods depending on the results of our-development and appraisal programs, market
. conditions and other related economic factors. Should the prices of crude oil and natural gas decline from current
levels; our cash flows will decrease which may result-in a reduction of the capital expenditures budget. If we
decrease our capital expenditures budget, we may,not be able to offset crude oil and natural gas production S
volume decreases caused by natural, field declines.and,sales of producing properties.)

Commencing in September 2009 through June 2010 an aggregate of $15,250,000 in indebtedness under
the Company’s Subordinated Notes and the 12% Subordinated Notes (co]lecuvely, the “Notes™) will come due
and be payable Unless such Notes are. converted into shares of common stock in Aaccordance with thejr |
respective terms, the Company will be required to repay or refinance such outstandmg indebtedness. There can
be no assurance at this time that Company. will have the resources to repay such Notes or if it will be in a ‘
position to refinance such indebtedness. The Notes are secured by all the assets of the Company.

[ - - ! ) o ! ' PR '

Sources of Capital

The net funds provided by and/or used in each of the operating, investirig and financing activities ‘are”
summarized in the following table and discussed in further detail beloxlv:

..
M . . L .o Lt . . N

December 31,

; ' .. .. Lt . . 2007 2006 2005 A
Net cash used in operating activities . . RREN $(L,762,730)  § (2,516,083 § (9,7’_“,682)
Net cash provided (used) in investing activities . . . . . . (9,521,847) " (25,395,262)  (26/952,117) -

. Net cash provided (used) in financing ... . ... ........  .3,560,600 * 38,885,118 35,888,797

Net cash flows from assets and habllmes he]d for - - v
sale and to be dlsposed e e e +-(1,859,192) .« (13,061,781) (5,241,488) . -

Total ........... .. ..., e L.: .- (9,583,169) (2,088,008) (6.076,489) =




Operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2007 used $3,461,000 of cash. Investing activities
provided us $11,952,000 during 2007. Financing activities used $16,314,000 during 2007. These funds were:-
used primarily to continue to fund and develop our Georgian projects. Inr2007, cash used in operating -
activities was used principally for producuon purposes on the Nmolsmmda Fields in Georgra and to fund
selling, general and administrative ‘overhead. In 2007, cash pr0v1ded in mvestmg activities was mamly due o
the disposition of our investment in Tethys ($21,340,000) partially offset by capital expenditures pnncrpally in
Georgia ($11,077,000) and prepaid expenditures relating to our Georgian_projects ($1,688,000).

Future Capital Reiources
. Ve N ¢ FLE . V! ' P ' T,

We will have four principal sources of liquidity going forward: (i)' cash on hand, (ii) cash from operating.-,
activities, (iii) industry participation in our projects, and (iv) sales of producing properties. We-may also
attempt to raise additional capital through the issuance of additional debt or equlty securities in public
offerings or through further private placements, however our ability to seciire additional debt ﬁnancmg is
restricted under the terms of our Subordmated Notes’ and 12% Subordmated Notes. - ' )
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Balance Sheet Chaugeé - . e . o

Al batances represent results from continuing operations, unless disclosed otherwise.
. ' . a7 ; L s ’ L '
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Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended December'.?ll 2'006

Cash and cash equrvalents decreased $7 820 000 from $14 689,000 at Deccmber 3, 2006 to $6,869, 000 :
at December 31, 2007. The décrease was due t& expendnures in the perlod to pnmarrly fund the cost of -
development activities at the Nmotsrmnda Fle]d and our appraisal activities ‘at the Manaw oil d:scovery ‘and
Kumisi gas discovery in Georgla and | net cash used by operating actwmes pamal]y offset by cash recerved '
from the maturing of deposits prevrouqu recorded"as restficted cash i

‘ Resmcted cash decreased to $0 at December 31, 2007 from $300,000 at December 31 2006 due to the
maturing of 'a deposit fundmg a letters of credit as requrred under a drilling service contract we emered into
with Baker Hughes lntemauonal

. . . .
LI . L " o ' . ¢

Accounts receivable decreased from $504,000at” December 31, 2006 to $379;000 at December 31, 2007
primarily due to the settlement in January of this year of an insurance claim in connection with our Georgian"
exploration activities partially offset by a partial amount due from a December oil sale and some general and
administrative costs owed by Tethys. The amounts owed for the sale of oil.and | by Tethys were settled in full
in the first quarter of 2008. . . o

o P

Crude oil inventory decreased to $374,000 at December 31, 2007 from $453 000 at December 31 20{)6
primarily as a result of increased sales from storage in the period. R ‘

13

Prepayments to oil and gas eqmpmem supp]rers decreased from $2,255,000 at December 31, 2006 to

© $312,000 at December 31, 2007 as a result of ;timing differences in respect of prepayments for materials and
services related to our appraisal activities at the Manavi oil discovery and Kumisi gas discovery. Upon receipt
of the materials and services, those amounts will.be transferred to capital assets. This increase is mcluded in v,
the statement of cash:flows as an investing aclrvrty .: - - : Ve

Capital assets net, decreased o $51,305, 000 at December 31 2007 from $87 308 000 at December 31
2006, due to an impairment of $42,000,000 on our capital assets as a result of the Company performmg 1ts
annua! assessment of costs classified as unproved property to determine if they should be transferred to the
cost pool. After evaluating a number of factors including the length of time that these costs remained classified
as unproved property, the Company determined that approximately '$49,100,000 of costs principally relating to
the drilling of exploration wells should be moved to the cost pool.«The quarterly ceiling test determined: that
thé net capitalized costs in the cost«pool exceeded the.10% net present value of cash flows generated from the
Company’s proved reserves resalting in an impairment of $42,000,000 million in 2007. ~ ' S
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Accounts payable decreased to $482,000 at December 31, 2007 from $3,673,000 at December 31, 2006
primarily due to timing differences-in respect of payments to suppliers.in connection with our appraisal
activities at the Manavi oil discm’rery and Kumisi gas discovery. . . S . R

Deferred revenue of $485, 000 at December 31, 2006 related to the recelpt of a deposn in December 2006
for the sale of 011 in Georgia that was dellvered in 2007. . .

Accrued liabilities decreased from $6,918,000 as at December 31, 2006 to $6,640,000 at December 3]
2007 due primarily to a decrease in non cash loan interest at the end of the period as a result of the various
long term debt repayments partially offset by increased accrued professional fees and an amount of
approximately $396,000 owed to Tethys for our pro rata share of the Tethys IPO costs. Approximately
$4,931,000 relates to the disputed Weatherford mvmces referred to in Notes 11 and 12 of these consohdated
financial statements. » S Cor d

Long term debt net of discounts decreased from $37 264,000 at December 31 2006 to $1 1 697 OOO due’
to the repayment of $19,875, 000 of long term debt from the sale of CanArgo s remaining Tethys shareholdmg,
the exchange/conversion of $15,000,000 of long term debt into 6, 000,000 shares of Tethys previously held by’
CanArgo partially offset by the amortization of debt discounts associated with the detachable warrants and
beneficial conversion features in connection with the issuance of the $13,000,000 in Subordinated Notes in
March 2006 and the $10,000,000 issue of the 12% Notes in June 2006 and the issue to the Noteholders of
further Notes of $2,125,000 aggregate principal amount on June 30, 2007 in substitution of the aggregaie
amount of interest of $2,125,000 due and payable to the Noteholders on June 30, 2007. The repayment
comprised a repayment of the remaining’ $16,125,000 in aggregate' principal amount of the Senior Secured
Notes (together with interest thereon) and the repayment of $3,750, 000 in aggregate principal amount of the
Subordinated Notes. The exchange/conversion compnsed the exehange/conversmn of $10,000,000 in aggregate
principal amount of the Senior Secured Notes and exchange/conversmn of $5,000,000 i in aggregale principal
amount of the Subordinated Notes. The further Notes 1ssued eompnsed $1,125,000,in aggregate pr1nc1pal
amount of Senior Secured Notes, $400,000 in aggregate principal amount of Subordmated Notes and $600 000
in aggregate principal amount of 12% Notes.

Other non current liabilities decreased to $38, 000 at December 31, 2007 from $1, 260 000 at December 31,
2006 as a résult of reducmg the effective interest amount due to the debt répayments and exchangefconversmns
on the $25,000,000 in Senior Secured Notes and the $13,000,000 in Subordinated Notes and amortizing some
of the difference in computing interest usmg the actual interest rate-and the effective interest rate due.on, both
of these notes. o :

Provision for future site testoration increased to '$230,000 at- December 31, 2007 from $205,000 at -
December 31, 2006 due to changes estimates for the provision for future site restoranons in our oil and gas
properties in Georgia and accretion. ’

Results of Conbnumg Operatlons

Year Ended December 31 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006

We recoided operating revenue from continuing operations of $7,209,000 durmg the yéar ended * :
December 31,2007 compared with $6,527,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 The incréase is
attributable to a higher price per barrel -for oil realized-by the Company in 2007 partially offset by lowér sales
volumes of oil achieved from the Ninotsminda Field in 2007.'Ninotsminda Qil Company Limited (“NOC”)
sold 105, lll barrels of il for the year endecl December 31, 2007 compared to 120 /413 barrels of oil for NOC
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

C ‘ ' 't
NOC generated $7,209,000 of oil and gas revenue in the year ended Deeember 31, 2007 compared w1th
$6,527,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 due to a higher average net sales price partially offset by
lower sales volumes. Its net share of the 162,800 bbls (446 bopd) of gross oil production for sale from the
Ninotsminda. Field in the period amounted to 105,820 bbls. In the period, 709 bbls of oil were added to .
storage. For the year ended December 31, 2006, NOC s net share of the 178,474 bbls (489 bopd) of gross oil
productlon was 116,008 barrels. , '

' L
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NOC’s entire- share of production was sold under international contracts or added to storage. Net sale
prices for Ninotsminda oil sold during the year ended December 31, 2007 averaged $67.97 per barrel as
compared with an averdge of $53.69 per barrel during the year ended December 31, 2006. NOC’s net share of
the 17,776 Mcf of gas delivered was 11,554 Mcf at an average net sale.price of $0.70' per Mcf of gas for the
year ended- December 31, 2007. However, due the uncertainty of collectibility of gas revenues under these -
contracts, the Company has decided in accordance with its revenue recognition policy, to record gas revenues
on a cash basis. Gas revenues recorded for the year ended December 31, 2007 were $65,000 compared with
$61,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. For the year ended. December 31, 2006, NOC'’s net,share of
the 20,094 Mcf of gas delwered was 13, 061 Mcf at an average net sale price of $0.66 per Mcf of gas

The operating loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 amounted to
$46,581,000 compared with an operating loss of $48,519,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. The - .,
decrease in operating loss is attributable to increased oil and gas revenues and decreased field operating .
expenses, direct project costs, selling, general and administration costs, depreciation, depletion and amortiza-,
tion partially offset by an increased impairment charge in 2007 of our oil and gas properties, ventures and

other assets.
Tal )t . . ’ -

Field operating expenses decreased to $1,370,000 for the year énded December-31, 2007.as compared t0
$1,703,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. The decrease is pnmanly a.result of lower operaung costs
in- Georgra in 2007 compared to 2006. to - S

Direct pro;ect costs decreased 10 $662 000 for the year ended December 31 2007 from $812, 000 for the -
year ended December 31, 2006 pnmanly due to reduced costs d1rect]y associated with non operatlng activity
at the Ninotsminda Field. g o . - -

Selling, general and admmlstrative costs decreased to $7, 164 000 for the year ended December 31 2007 '
from $9,732,000 for the iyear ended December 31, 2006, The decrease is mainly attributable to reduced travel ,
costs, office costs, professional”fees; insurances and non cash stock compensation expense. in 2007 compared
to 2006. ' .

The decrease in deprecnauon depletlon and amomzanon expense to $2, 593 000 far the year ended
December 31, 2007 from $3,799,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 is attributable pr1nc1pally to
decreased production in 2007 compared to 2006 and from the reduction in our amortization base resulting
from the impairment at year end 2006 of $38, 400 000 . G o "o

The increase in lmpament of oil and gas properties, ventures and other assets to $42, 000 000 for the
year ended December 31, 2007 from $39,000,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 is as a-result of the .
Company performing-its annual assessment of costs classified as unproved property to determine, if they should
be transferred to the cost pool. After evaluating a number of factors including the length of time that these.
costs remained classified as unproved property, the Company determined that approximately $49,100,000 of
costs principally relating 'to the drilling of exploration wells stiould be moved to the cost pool. The quarterly
ceiling test determined that the net capitalized costs in'the tost pool exceeded the 10% net present value of
cash flows generated from the Company’s proved resefves fesulting in‘an impairment of $42,000,000 million
in 2007

.

1t or

. . .. .
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The increase in other éxpense to $18,734,000 for the’ year ended December 31, 2007, from $5,913,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2006 is primarily a result of the loss on debt extinguishment of $12,127,000
arising from the issue of an aggregate of 37,777,778 compensatory warrants to the Noteholders in connection
with the repayment of $18,750,000 of long term debt and the exchange/conversion of $15,000,000 of long
term debt into Tethys shares and the write off of the portion of debt discount related to the repayment of
$3,750,000 and $5,000,000 of the debt exchangelconversron These are partially offset by the reduced effective
interest amount as a result of the debt extinguishment, increased levels of debt discount amortisation, the
commission paid to the brokers on the sale of the remaining Tethys shareholding and reduced interest income
partially offsét by lower interest expense as a result of the debt exchange/conversion, reduced foreign exchange
losses and the realised gain recorded on selling the remaining holding-of Tethys shares in August 2007.
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The loss from continuing operations of $65,315,000 or $0.27 per share for the year ended December-31,
2007 compares to a net loss from continuing operations of $54,432,000 or $0.27 per share for the year ended
December 31, 2006. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding was higher during the year
ended December 31, 2007 than during the year ended December 31, 2006, principally due to the issue of
shares in respect a warrants exercise in 2007, the exercise of share options in 2007 and a prl\rate placement in
2007.- S .. . . .

4, "

Year Ended December 31 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2005

We recorded operaling revenue frorn continuing operations of $6,527,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2006 compared with $5,279,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase is .
attributable to a higher price per barrel for oil realized by the Company in 2006 and higher sales volumes of
oil achieved from the Ninotsminda Field in 2006. Ninotsminda Oil Company Limited (“NOC”} sold
120,413 barrels of oil for the year ended- December 31,2006 compared to 118,268 barrels of- orl for NOC for
the yvear ended December 31, 2005. - ' T

NOC generated $6,527,000 of oil and gas revenue in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared with
$5,279,000 for the year ended December 31,-2005 due to ahigher average net sales price and higher sales
volumes. Its net share of the 178,474 bbls (489 bopd) of gross oil production for sale from the Ninotsminda
Field in the period amounted to 116,008 bbls. In the period, 4,405 bbls of oil were sold from storage: For the
year ended December 31, 2005 NOC s net share of the 184 952 bbls (507 bopd) of gross oil production was
120;219 barrels e L

C : . ‘ B .
NOC’s entire share of preduction was sold under international contracts or added to. storage. Net sale |
prices for Ninotsminda oil sold during the year ended December 31, 2006 averaged $53.69 per barrel as
compared with an average of $44.78 per barrel during the year ended December 31, 2005: NOC's net share of
the 20,094 Mcf of gas delivered was 13,061 Mcf at an average net sale price of $0.66 per Mcf of gas for the-’
year ended Decémber 31,.2006. However, due the uncertainty of collectibility of gas revenues under these -
contracts, the Company has decided in accordance with its revenue recognition policy, to record gas revenues
on a cash basis. Gas revenues recorded for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $61,000. For the year
ended December 31, 2005, NOC’s net share of the 71 241 Mcf of gas delivered was 46 307 Mcf at an average
net sale price of $0. 53 per Mcf of gas. e

The operalmg loss from contmulng operations for the year ended December 31 2006 amounted to -
$48,519,000 compared with an operating loss of $11,015,053 for the year ended December 31, 2005. The
increase in operating loss is attributable to increased field operating expenses, increased depreciation, depletion
and -amortization, an impairment of our oil and gas properties, ventures and other assets, partially offset by ~
increased oil and gas revenue, increased sellmg, gerieral and administration costs, and reduced direct project

costs. ’ e , i
.

Fleld-operating expenses increased to $1,';103,000 for the year ended December 3 1, 2006 as compared to
$1,110,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase is primarily a result of increased oil
processing fees in the period and costs attached to o:l sales from storage in the period. ..

Direct project costs decreased to $812,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $1,084,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to reduced costs directly associated with non operating
activity at the Ninotsminda Field. C

Selling, general‘and administrative costs decreased to $9,732,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006
from $10,824,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005. The decrease is pnmanly as a result of reduced non
cash stock’ compensatlon expense pamally offset by a general increase in corporate acuwty

The increase in deprec:auon depletlon and amortization. expense 10 $3 799 000 for the. year ended
December 31,.2006 from $3,276,000 for the year ended December 31,-20035 is primarily attributable to a
downward revision-in proved developed oil reserves from the Ninotsminda Field following the 2006

assessment by the Company’s-independent Petroleumn Engineers.
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The impairment of $39,000,000 of oil and gas properties, ventures and other assets for the year ended
December 31, 2006 was primarily attributable to a downward revision in proved developed oil reserves from
the Ninotsminda Field followmg the 2006 assessment by the Company s 1ndependent Petroleum Engmeers and
also an lmpamnent to the 3 megawatt generator held for sale.

W Lt o 1

“The increase in other expense to $5,913,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $1,507,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2005 is primarily a result of lower interest incomie'received due to having lower’
amounts of surplus cash available to place on term deposit, h1gher loan interest payable and amortised debt
discount and expense, h:gher foreign. exchange losses and fees incurred i in respect of a private placement in, -
2006.

The loss from continuing operations of $54,432, 000 or $0.27 per share for the year ended December 31,
2006 compar( s 1o, a net loss from continuing operatlons of $12,522,000 or $0 06 per share for the year ended ,
December 31, 2005. The welghted average number of common shares outstanding was higher during the year
ended December 31, 2006 than during the year ended December 31, 2003, principally due to the issue of
shares in respect of the forced conversion of a convertlble Loan with Detachable Warrants in 2006, the
exercise of share Opt10ﬂS in 2006 and a private, placement in 2006.

Results of" Dlsc(mtmued Operatlons c T . -

A ". PR 1

" Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006 - o R

On August 1, 2007 we announced that we sold our entire shareholding of 8 million shares in Tethys for
gross proceeds before commissions, expenses and paynient:of a pro rata share of the Tethys IPO costs to '
Tethys of C$23,600, 000 Net proceeds of approxlmately $20, 800 000 were used to repay outstandmg v
indebtedness. , . e

of . ! . . . +
On Febmary 17, 2006 we issued a press release announcing that our subsidiary, CSL, was not proceeding
with further investment in the Samgori {Block X1 B) Production Sharing Contract (“Samgori PSC”) in Georgia
and associated farm-in which became effective in April 2004, and accordingly we terminated our 50%, lnterest .

. in the Samgori PSC with effect from February 16, 2006.

The net income from dlsconunued operatlons net of taxes and mmonty mterest for the year ended .
December 31, 2007 of $11,537,000 compares to a loss,of $6,109,000 for the year ended December 31 2006
due to the actlvmes of Tethys and CSL and the $15 567,000 of reahzed gains on securities held for sale.

CSL genemted no oil and gas revenues for the year ended December. 31, 2007 compared, w1th $l 003 000,
for the year ended December 31,2006 due to the withdrawal of our interest in the Samgori PSCon . .,
February 16, 2006. CSL‘s entire share of production was either sold locally in Georgla in.2006 under e
international (ontracts or added to storage. , . .,

.. K ] ‘ S

CanArgo recorded an equtty loss of approxlmately $4,000,000 from its mvestment in Tethys dunng the
year ended December 31, 2007. CanArgo’s ownership of Tethys diluted dunng the period from ]00%
ownership on December 31, 2006 to approximately 67% on February 15, 2007 due to a Tethys pnvate
placement, to approximately 52% on May 9, 2007.due to a Tethys share exchange for the 30% minority -
interest in BN Munai LLP, a subsidiary of Tethys’. wholly owned subsidiary Tethys Kazakhstan Limited, to.
approx1mately 30% on June 13, 2007 due to a CanArgo debt exchange/conversion and to approximately. 18%
on June 27, 2007 due to the Tethys initial public offering. On August 3, 2007, we sold our remaining interest
in Tethys. We no longer have any shareholding in Tethys. A realized gain on Tethys securities held for sale of
$15,567,000 was recorded during the penod through to the Tethys 1mtlal pubhc offering date of June 27,
2007. C . : ‘ -

' . . i . e |

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005.: RN

-On Augost 1, 2007 we announced that we sold our entire sharcholding of 8 million shares-in Tethys for
gross proceeds before commissions, expenses and payment:of a pro rata share of the Tethys IPO costs to
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Tethys of C$23, 600 000. The net proceeds of approxlmately $20,800,000 were used to repay outstanding
indebtedness, - . B : o ' o

& -

" On February 17,2006 we issued a press release announcmg that our subsidiary, CSL, was not proceeding
with further investment in the Samgori (Block XI ®) Production Sharmg Contract (“Samgori PSC”) in Georgia
and associated farm-in which became effective in April 2004, and accordingly we termmated our 50% interest
in the Samgori PSC with effect from February 16, 2006. . . T T . o

The net loss from dtsconunued operations, net of taxes for the year ended December 31, 2006 of
$6,109,000 compares to'an income "of $187,000 for the year ‘ended December 31, 2005 dué to the activities of
Tethys and CSL.

, CSL generated $1.,003,000 of ol and gas revenue in the year ‘ended December 31; 2006 compared with
$2,303,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 pnmanly due fo a higher average net sales price achieved in .
the year ended December 31, 2006 offset by lower sales volumes. lts net share of the 10,226 bbls (218 bopd) of
gross oil producuoa for sale from'the Samgon Field in the period up 1o February 16, 2006, the date of '
withdrawal, amounted to 3,835 bbls. In the period, 5,141 bbls of oil Were added to storage. For the year ended
December 31, 2005, CSL’s net share of the 166,298 bbls (436 bopd) of gross oil production was 62,362 bbls"

CSL’s entire share of production was either sold locally in Georgia under international contracts or added
to storage. Net sale prices for CSL oil sold during the period up to February 16, 2006, the date of withdrawal,
averaged $59.57 per barrel as compared. with an average of $46.12 per barrel for the year-ended December 31,
2005. iy . L Lo

Tethys recorded a loss from operations of $6,782,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to
$416,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005. The increased loss in 2006 is mainly attributable to ‘
consolidating the results of Tethys for the full year in 2006 compared to consolidating the results of Tethys for
the last six months only of 2005 and increased levels of professnonal fees and interest expense in 2006
compared to 2005 : : SR - ‘ T b

.o - - o - '
. ‘l.. - U

. -
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Terms T

Our principal business and assels are denved from production sharmg contracts in Georgia. The
legislative and procedural regimes govemmg productton sharing contracts and mlneral ‘use ]lcenqes in Georgla
!

have undergone a senes of changes in recent years resultmg in certam legal uncertalnues e

wh- I b Y

Our producuon sharing contracts and mmeral use llcenses entered into pnor 1o Lhe mtroductton in 1999
of a'fiew Pelroleum Law governing such agreéments have not, as yet, been amended io reflect-or ensure
compliance with current legislation. As a'result, despite references in'the current legislation grandfathermg the
terms and conditions of our production sharing contracts; conflicts'between the interpretation 'of our productton
sharing contracts and mineral use licenses and current legislation could’arise. Such conflicts, if they arose,
could cause an adverse effect on our rights under the, production sharmg contracts. However, the Norio PSA
and the TblllSl PSC were concluded after enactment of the Petroleum Law and under the terms and condmons
of this leglslanon )

. 1 * " T

To confirm that the Ninotsminda PSC and the minéral- usage license issued prior to-the introduction in
1999 of the Petroleum Law were validly issued, -in connectton with its preparation of a convertible loan *
agreement with us, the International Financ¢e Corporation, an affiliate of the World Baitk recetved in November

[

1998 confirmation from' the State of Georgia, that among other thmgs S B

3
CEE I i 1+

* The State of Georgla recogmzes and conﬁrms the vahdlty and enforceablllty of the productlon shanng
contract and the ficense and all undertakings the State has covenanted with NOC thereunder;

* the license was duly authorized and executed by the State at the time of its lssuance and remamed in

’ 4

full force and effect throughout its termyand - . - : e Aot

« the license constitutes a valid and duly authorized grant by the. State, being and remaining: in full force
and-effect as of the signing of this confirmation and the benefits of the license fully. extend to NOC by
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virtue of its interest in the license holder and the contractual nghts under the production sharmg
contract. ‘ : S . t,

Despite this confirmation and the grandfathering of the terms of existing production s:haring contracts in
the Petroleum Law, subsequent legislative or other governmental changes could conflict with, challenge our
rights or otherwise change current operations under the production sharing contract, No challenge has been

e

made to date. . . .

]

In 2002, a participation agreement for the three well exploration program on the Ninotsminda / Manavi
area with AES was terminated without AES  earning any rights to-any of the Ninotsminda / Manavi area '
reservoirs. The Company therefore has no present obligations in respect of AES. However, under a separate
letter of agreement, if -gas from the sub Middle Eocepe is discovered and produced from the exploration area

covered by the paruc:lpanon agreement, AES with be entitled to recover at the rate of 15% of future gas sales
from the sub Middle Eocene, net of operating costs, approxlmately $7.,500.,000, representmg lhexr pnor fundmg
under the participation agreement. ' t " : ;

Under the Prodiiction Sharing Contract for Blocks XI° ‘and X1 (the “Tbilisi PSC")'our ‘subsidiary
CanArgo Norio Limited had a commitment to acquire additional seismic data within three years of the
effective date of the contract which is September 29, 2003. The State Agency for Oil & Gas Regulation in*™*
Georgia (the. “Agency”) has consented to an.extension to the period within which the data should be acquired
and we.are working with the Agency to amend ‘the Tbilisi PSC accordmgly The total’ commltment over the §
remamlng period is $350 000

) v f . ' '

We have contingent obhganom and may incur additional ‘obllgatlons absolute or contingent, w1th respect

‘ to the acquisition.and-development of oil and gas-properties and ventures in which we have interests,that

require or may require us to expend funds' and to issue shares of our common. stock. .

[

Upon <omplenon of the acquisition of an interest in the Samgori PSC we had a contractual obhganon to ,
issue four million ‘'shares of CanArgo common stock to Europa Oil Serv1ces Limited (“Europa™), an
unaffiliated company in connection with a consultancy agreement with Europa in relation to this acquxsmon
On April 16, 2004 Europa was issued with four, million restricted shares of CanArgo common stock.in an
arms length transaction. A further 12 million shares of CanArgo common stock are issuable;upon certain
production targets being-met from future developments under the Samgori PSC. As we have withdrawn from
the Samgori PSC effective February 16, 2006, we have no continuing obligation to issue further shares of
CanArgo common stock to Europa. On March 14, 2006, we signed an agreement with Europa formally
terminating the consultancy agreement. . . . , . ‘

At December 31, 2007, we had a contingent obligation to issue a maximum of 187,500 shares of common
stock to Fielden Management Services PTY, Ltd (a third party management services company) upon -,
satisfaction of conditions relating to the achievement of specified Stynawske Field project performance . ;
standards an oil field in Ukraine in which we had a previous interest. " e .

In September 2004, a blow-out occurred’at the N100 well on the Ninotsminda Field.-Our ‘insurers w1ll
cover 80% of the costs associated with the blow out up to a maximum cover of $2,500,000. We received
$800,000 from our insurers in the second quarter of 2005 and $560,000 in the third quarter of 2006, in respect
of costs incurred to date

o
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The following table sets forth information concerning the amounts of payments due under specified
contractua} obligations for periods of less than one year, one to three years, three to five years and more than
five years as at December 31, 2007:

- . . Duein Less DuemltoS Duein3to5  Duein More
Contractual Obligations L ) Than 1 Year. Years Years ' Than 5 Years

Opéraling lease obligations e $ 461,655 654,029 134,188 117,415 .,
Long termdebt ... ... ... e — . 15,250,000 - ,—
Long term debt interest . ... .. e . 1,737,000 2,207,400 - ' "_
Other long-term liabilities(l) ... ... e —_— — — . 230.720.

, v . $2,198,655 18,111,429 _ 134,188 348,135

(1) Other long—fem liabilities represent costs provided for future site restoration. .
(2) CanArgo has no contractual olj:ligations in respect of capital leases or purchase obligations.

L « .

Related Party Transactions ‘ e : R . .

Céh‘Argo’s _ownershi'p of Tethys was diluted in stages ‘during the year ended December 31, 2007 from
100% ownership on December 31, 2006 through to disposing of its remaining shareholding on August 3,
2007. On June 27, 2007 Tethys announced that it had completed its initial public offering through the issuance
of approximately 18.2 million shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange reducing the Company’s ownership to
approximately 17.7% and Dr. David Robson stepped down from the position of Chief Executive Officer of the
Company but remained as Chairman of the Company. Dr David Robson is Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Tethys. CanArgo’s former Corporate Secretary, Elizabeth Landles, is Administration
Director of Tethys CanArgo and Tethys shared some common resourccs in 2007 mcludmg corporate
secretanal and 1nvestor relations serv1ces i "

i N N

Dr. David Robson, Chief Executive Ofﬁc’er of CanArgo until June 27, 2007, provided all of his services "
to CanArgo through Vazon Energy Limited, a corporation organized under the‘laws of. the Bailiwick of -
Guernsey (“Vazon™), of which he-is:the sole owner and Managing Director: In addition a management services
agreement exists between CanArgo and Vazon Energy whereby the services of Mrs, Landles (former Corporate
Secretary and Executive Vice President), amongst others, are provided to CanArgo. Approximately $775,000
was paid to Vazon in 2007 in respect of these services which included ’flow through’ costs for employees and
consultants

Lg e, - | =

On February 7; 2008, we announced that Dr. David Robson had tenderéd’ his resignation from the
positions of Non:Executive Chairian and Non-Executive Director of the Board ‘of CanArgo with immediate
effect. Vazon received a payment of approximately $60,000 in settlement of the remaining six month advance
notice period, required under Dr. Robson’s service agreement. In addition, the expiration of Dr. Robson’s
outstanding stock options was extended until December 31, 2008.

© Effective February‘ 11, 2008, Elizabeth Landles, resigned from the position of Corporate Secretary and
Executive Vice President of the Company. In accordance with the terms of her service agréement, Ms Landles
will continue to work with the Company throughout a three month notice period at her current salary but in
the capacity of Assistant Corporate Secretary,

Mr. Russell Harmmond, a non-executive director of CanArgo and Tethys, is also an investment advisor to
Provincial Securities Limited who became a minority shareholder in the Norio PSA through a farm-in
agreement to the Norio MK72 well. On September 4, 2003 we concluded a deal to purchase Provincial
Securities Limited’s minority interest in CanArgo Nerio Limited by a share swap for shares in CanArgo.
Provincial Securities Limited received 2,234,719 shares of CanArgo common stock in relation to the
transaction. Provincial Securities Limited also had an interest in Tethys Petroleum Limited which was sold in
Tune 2005 to us by a share exchange for shares in CanArgo, Provincial Securities Limited received
5,500,000 shares of CanArgo common stock in relation to the transaction. Mr Hammond did not receive any
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compensation in connection with these transactions and disclaims any beneficial ownership of Provincial
Securities Limited or any of the Company’s common stock owned by Provincial Securities Limited.

Transactions with affiliates or other related parties including management ‘of affiliates are to be
undertaken on the same basis as third party arms-length transactions. Transactions with afﬁlrates are reviewed
and voted on solely by non-interested directors.’ : : :

Critical Accounting Policies

Natural Gas and Oil Propem'es

We utilize the full cost method of accountmg for costs'related fo our fatural gas and oil propertres We
review the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties under the full cost accounting rules of the SEC.
Under these rules, all such costs excluding significant acqmsmon explorauon and development costs related
to unproved properues are capitalized and amortized on an aggregate basis over the estimated lives of the
properties using the units- of-production method. These capitalized costs dre subject to a cellmg test, however
which lrmrt such pooled costs to the aggregate of the present value of future net revenues attributable to
proved gas and oil resérves discounted at 10 percent plus’the lower of cost or market value of” unproved
properties. If the net capitalized costs of natural gas and oil properties exceed the ceiling, we will record a
ceiling test write-down to the extent of such excess. A ceiling test write-down is a non-cash charge to ;
earnings. If required, it reduces earnings and impacts shareholders’ equity in-the period of occarrence and
results in lower depreciation, depletion and amortization expense in future periods. The write-down may not
be reversed in future periods, even though lugher natural £as | and oil prices may subsequently mcrease the
ceiling.

’ "y

The risk that we wrll be required to write-down the carrying value of our natural gas and oil propertres
increases when natural gas and oil prices are depressed’ or if there are substantial downward révisions in’ ‘
estimated proved reserves. Appllcatron of these rules dunng -periods of relatively low natural ga% or oil pricés
due to seasonality or other feasons, even if temporary,-increases the probability of a-ceiling test write-down.
Based on natural gas and oil prices in effect oh December 31, 2005, the unamortizéd cost of our natural gas-
and oil properties did not exceed the ceiling of proved natural gas and'oil reserves. Natural gas pricing has
historically been unpredictable and any significant declines could result in a ceiling test write-down in ™ *
subsequent quarterly or annual reporting periods.. :

1 .o
’ & *

Natural gas and oil Teserves used in the full cost method of accountmg cannot be measured exactly. Our
esumate of natural gas and oil reserves requires extensive judgments of reservoir engmeermg data and is
generally less precise ‘than other estimates made in connection wnh financial’ dreclosures Assrgmng monetary
values to such estimatés does not reduce the subjectmty and changmg nature of such resei've estimates, The
uncertainties inherent in the dmclosure are compéunded by applying addltlonal estimates of the rates and 8
timing of production and the costs that will be incurred in developlng and producmg the reserves We engage
the services of an independent petroleum consulting firm to calculate reserves. ' *

ot IS :

Use of Estmzares m the Preparanon of Fmancral Statements - ' St -
¢ - '

The pre paratton of f'mancml statements in conformity with- generally accepted accountmg prmcrples
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and' , °
liabilities and disclosure of contingent. assets and liabilities-at the date of the financial statements and. the -
reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the repomng period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. N N e e : ’

Management believes that it is reasonably possible the following material estimates affecting the financial
statements could significantly change in the coming year: (1) estimates of proved oil and gas reserves,
{(2) estimates as to the expected future cash flow from proved oil and gas properties and (3) estimates of future

L]

dismantlement and festoration costs. - . N . . Ty

e
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Concentration of Credit Risk oL . v } . o

. . . - te + . -
Although our cash and temporiry investrients and accounts receivable are exposed to potential credit loss,
we do not believe such risk to be significant. Even though a substantial amount of funds were in accounts at
financial institutions which were not covered under bank guarantees, management does not believe that , -
mamtalmng balances in excess of bank guarantees resulted in a significant risk to the Company.. .

Faretgn Operations

s Lo

Our future operations and earnings will depend upon the results of our operatrons in Georgta There can
be no assurance that we will be able to successfully conduct such operations, and a failure to do'$0 would
have a material adverse effect on the our financial posmon, results of operatlons and cash flows, Also the
success of our operatlons will be subject to numerous contmgencxes some of Wthh are beyond management
contrql These cont1ngenc1es 1nc1ude general and reglonal economic condltlons prices for crude oil and natural
gas, competltton and changes in regulatlon Smce we are dependent on ‘international operations, speerﬁcally
those in Georgta we will be subject, to vapous add1t1onal political, economic, and other uncertainties. Among
other risks, our operattons may be’ subject to the risks and restrictions on transfer of funds 1mport and export
duties, quotas and embargoes, domesuc and 1nternatlonal customs and tariffs, and changing taxation pohctes
foreign exchange restrictions, poht:cal conditions and regulatlons Coe
' ' Ve, e .} L PR v v . . B

Reeenﬂy Issued Pronouncements: , R . : ) b L

In September 2006 the FASB 1ssued 'SFAS No. 157 Falr Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 1577 Wthh
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in ‘accordance with’ accountmg pnnmptes ’
generally accepted in the United States, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157
is effective for financial assets and liabilities for fiscal years beginning after. November 15, 2007. In February
2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2, Effectwe Date of FASB Statement No. 157 FSP 157- -2 delays the
effective date of SFAS No. 157 for all non-ﬁnane1al assets and non-financial liabilities that are not re- ,, ... -
measured at-fair value on a recurring. ba51s unti} ﬁscal years beginning after November. 15, 2008 Any amounts
recognized,upon adoptton of this rule as a cumulanve effect adjustment will be recorded to the, opening
balance of retained earnings in the year, of adoption. The Company has evaluated SFAS No. 157 and has
determined that it will not have a material impact on its, Consohdated_ Financial Statements. - | .., -

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issticd SFAS No. 141(R),
“Busmess Combinations™ (“SFAS 141(R)”) which replaces SFAS 141.. SFAS 141(R) establishes pnnc1ples and
requtrements for how an acquirer recogmzes and measures in its ﬁnanc1a] statements the 1dent1ﬁable assets
) acqutred the liabilities assumed, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the goodw1ll acqulred The.. !
Statement also estabhshes dlsclpsure reqturements which will enable users to evaluate the_ nature and financial
effects of the busmess combination. SFAS ]41(R) is effectlve for fiscal years beglnnmg after December 15,
2008. The adoptlon of SFAS 141(R) w111 have an 1rnpact on accountmg for busmess combmatlons once .
adopted, but the effect is dependent upon ﬂth.IIS]tl()nS at that ttme '

e t
.), N

" In December 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrollmg Interests in Consolidated Fmanc1al
Statements — an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No, 517) (“SFAS.160”), which, establishes .,
accounting and reporting standards for ownership intérests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent,
the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest,.changes in
a parent’s ownership interest and.the valuation of retained non-controlling equity investments whena -, .
subsidiary is deconsolidated. The. Statement also establislies reporting requirements that provide,sufficient
disclosures that cleatly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests-of the non-
controlling owners. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company.
has not determined the effect that the apphcatton of SFAS ]60 w11] have on its Consolidated Fmancnal
Statements.’ : ' ‘ ‘ s oo

1 * * t . : '1 H ) o L 1 - 4 A A
-The Company has rev1ewed all other reeent]y 1ssued but not yet adopted accountmg standards .in. order
to determine their effects, if any, on its consolidated results of operations, financial. position and cash- flows.
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Based on thatreview, the Company believes that none of these pronouncements will have a significant effect
on current or-future earnings or operations. : S ST : © “

o
-
.
L}

e
oty i

Forward-Looking Statements . - o T

The for\vardQlooking statemenis contained in this Trem 7 and elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K are subject to various risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ
matertally from the results anticipated in such forward-looking statements. Included among the important risks,
uncertainties and other factors are those heremafter discussed.

n ' CET R 4 .

Few of the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report deal wnh matters that are w1t.h1n our
unilateral control. Joint venture, acquisition, financing and other agreements and arrangements must be.
negotiated with independent third parties and, in some cases, must be approved by govemmental agencies.
These’ thlrd parties generally have Ob_]eCIIVBS and interests that may not coincide with ours and may confhct
with our 1nterests Un}[ess we are ablé 10 compromlse these conflicting Ob_]eCthCS and interests in a mutually
acceptable manner agreements and arrangements with these third partles w1ll not be consummated

P ‘e Y r [

Operauog entitics .in’ various foretgn Junsdlcttons must be regtstered by govemmental agencres and
production licenses for development of oil and gas fields in various foreign jurisdictions, must be granted by
governmental agencies. These governmental agenciesgenerally have broad discretion in determining whether
to take or approve various actions and matters. In addition, the poltcnes and practices of governmental agencies
may be affected or altered by polmcal economlc and other events occumng either within their own countries
or in a broader internatiofial context. Finally, due to the ‘devéloping nature of the legal regimes in many former
Soviet Union counmes where we operate our contractual rrghtsr and remedles may be sub]ect to certam legal
uncertamtles - R M

I

' ] l"T‘; L e . ' - n SR
Our ability to ﬁnance all of its present oil and gas projects and other ventures accordmg to present plans
is dependent upon obtaining additional funding. An inability to obtain financing could require us to scale back
or abandon part of all of our project development, capital-expenditure, production and other plans. The.
availability of equity or debt financing to us or to the entities that are developmg projects m Wthh we have

interests is affected by many fictors, including: *. - 4o ' ‘
= world economic eonditions; . e E e -
» the state international relations; ) S S | CTe

» the stability and policies of various governments located in areas in which we currently operate or
intend to operate; '

+ fluctuations in the price of oil and gas, the general outlook for the orl and gaq 1ndustry and competltton
for available funds; and S T - P - .

P

+ an evaluation of us and specific projects in which we have an interest. . -

. Rtsmg intefest rates mtght affect the feasrblhty of debt ﬁnancmg that is offered Potenttal mvestors and
lenders’ wnll be mﬂuenced by thetr evaluatlons of Us 4nd’ our pl‘O_]eCtS and compansons w1th altemattve
mvestment opportumues ' ‘

R . P .
) ‘ : P M P s

ITEM 7A. N QUANTITATI VE AND QUALITATI VE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

1
QOur principal'exposure to market risk is due to.changes in-oil and gas prtces and-currency fluctuations. .
As indicated elsewhere in this Report, as a producer of oil and gas we are exposed to changes in oil and gas »:
prices as well as changes -in supply and demand which could affect our revenues. We do not engage in any -
commodity hedging activities. Due to the ready market for our production in Georgia, we do not believe that
any current exposures from this risk will materially affect our financial position.at this time, but there can be
no assurance that changes in such market will not affect us adversely in the future.

RO . I . : R

Also as mdrcated elsewhere-m this Report; because all of our operations are being ¢onducted in Lhe .
former, Soviet;Union, we-are potentially exposed to the market risk of fluctuations in the relative values, of the
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currencies in areas in which we operate. At present we do not engage in any currency hedging operations
since, to the extent we receive payments for our production and marketing -activities in local currencies, we are
utilizing such currencies to pay for our local operations. In addition, our contracts to sell our preduction from
the Ninotsminda Field in Georgia is denominated in US dollars with all export contracts providing for payment
in dollars, a}though we may not always be able_to, continue to demand paymen_t in U.S. dollars.

We had no matenal interest in investments subject to market risk dunng the penod covered by this .
Report. ' O SRR T . ,

Because the majority of all revenue to us is from the sale of production from the Ninotsminda Field a
change in the price of oil or a change in‘the productnon rates could have a substantlal effect on this revenue
and therefore proﬁts e e Yo b . " -

-

Assuming the same producuon in 2008 as 2007 but decreasmg the net oil price we receive from sales by,
$5.00 and $IO 00 respectwely would change the total annual revenue from oil sales as follows. The total
annual revenue from oil sales for 2007 based on an average net oil prlce received of $67.97 was approx1mate]y
$7,144,000. If the average net oil price received was $5.00 less at $62.97 then the total annual revenue from

. oil sales would be reduced by approximately $526,000 to approkimately $6,618,000. If the average’ net oil

price received was reduced by-$10 per barrel then the total annual revenue from oil sales realised would be
reduced by approxnmately 81, 051 000 to approximately $6 093,000, assummg all other factors are constant.

Assummg constant 011 pnces a reducuon in annual producuon by 20% and 50% would have the followmg
effect on total annual revenues. In 2007 total oil sales were, 105,111 bbls of oil producing revenue of
apprommately $7,144,000. If this was reduced by 20% then the annual revenue from oil sales would be
reduced to approximately $5,715,000. If the total annual oil sates were reduced by 50% or 52,555 bbls then
the total annuai revenue from oil sales would be approxlmately $3,572,000, assummg all other factors are
constant : b Y - .

v ' - . .

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. -

‘

The Financial Slatements requlred to be filed in this Report begm at Page F—] of this Report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None. S AR S, U LT S

ITEM 9A, CONTROLS AND PROCE:D'URES.
Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements

Our management is responsible for the:integrity and objectivity of all information presented in this
Annual Report. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United Statcs of América and include amounts based on management’s best estimates
and judgments, Management believes the consolidated financial statements fairty reflect the fonn and
substance of transactions and that the financial statements fairly represent the Company s financial posmon
and results of operations. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of
independent directors, meets regularly with the mdependem auditors, L J Soldmger Associates LLC and
representatives of .management to review accounting, financial reporting, internal control and audit matters, as
wellas the nature and extent of the audit effort. The Audit Commitiee. is responsible for the engagement of
the 1ndependent auditors. The independent auditors have. free.access to the. Aucht ‘Committee.

Evaluat:on af Disclosure Cantrals and Procedures

e

Under the supervision and w1th the parucnpauon of our management, including our chief executive officer
and chief financial officer, we evaluated. the effectiveness of ‘our disclosure controls and procedures as of*
December:31, 2007. Based on that-evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have
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concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures -are not effective’to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (VExchange
Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s
rules and forms and to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file’ or
submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including chief
exécutive officer and chlef ﬁnancnal ofﬁcer as appropnate to allow tlmely decisions regardmg reqmred
dtsclosure

' - A B B
9 " - N N
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reportmg L CRVRE P
Our management is responsible for estabhshmg and mamtalmng adequate mtemal control over ﬁnancml

reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in the rules promulgated under the Exchange Act
as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal
financial officers and effected by the Company’s Board, management and other personnel.to provide. I
reasonable assurance regardmg the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes'in accordance with generally accepted accountmg procedures (“GAAP”) and includes

those pol1c1es and procedures that; ‘ . 3
- o P Ny v Coat

* pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fa1rly -reflect the -, .

. transactions and dispositions of the assets .of the Company, . L

v

' . R oong

. prowde reasonable assurance that transactions’ are recorded as necessary to perm1t preparatton of v
financial statements in accordance with US GAAP and that receipts and expendltures of the Company '
are being made only in accordance with authonzauons of management and Dlrectors of the

Company; and st

(8 . e . -
v . , ] a . . ¢ A e

. T . ey h .
* provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized ;acquisition, use. .
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. .

A control system, no matter how well conceived and’ operated can prov1de only reasonable not absolute,
assurance that the objectivés of the control system are met. Further the design of a control system must reflect
the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their’
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no évaluation of*controls can provide absolute’
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our Company have been detected. These
inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision- makmg can be faulty and that breakdowns
can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can ‘be circumvented by the individuat
acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The
design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions; over time, control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a
cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive,
financial and accounting officers, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 based on the framework in “Internal Control — Integrated
Framework™ issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been
audited by L J Soldinger Associates, LLC, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report as set forth at the end of this section.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or
interim financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As of December 31, 2007,
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we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was ineffective as of December:31; 2{]07
and that we have material. weaknesses.in each of-the following areas: Lo !

N ol SN S P A . . .

L DtsclosureControls R I T T T ‘-, Cm g

+

The Company 3 drsclosure controls Jand procedures were not effecuve to. ensure “thiat mformauon requrred
to be disclosed by us’ ifi the reports that We file or subinit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms and to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including chief éxecutive officer and: chief financial
officer, as appropnate to allow timely decisions. Inadequate controls include the lack of procedures used for
identifying, determmmg, and calculatmg requ1red dlsclosures and other supplementary mformatron
requlrements : . R - e

. . Y " K E

2 Informatmn Technology: =~ '~~~ - ' "-” R
; ey L . P v s o
The Company dld)l'l()t adequately 1mplement certain controls over mformatlon technology, 1nclud1ng

certain spreadsheets, used in its core business and financial reporting. These areas included logical access
security controls to financial applications, segregation of duties and backup and recovery procedures. The
Company’s. controls.over the completeness;.accuracy, validity, restricted,access,.and the review of certain -
spreadsheets used in the period-end financial statement preparation and réporting process was not designed
appropnate]y This material weakness affects the Company $ ab1llty to prevent lmproper access and changes to
its accountmg records and misstatements in the financial statements could occur and not be prevented or

1

detected by the Company s controls m a tlmely manner. = © - -
. W
As a result, mlsapproprlatlon of assets and rmsstatements in the financial statements could occur and not
be prevented or detected by the Company’s controls in a timely manner. In light of the review, Management,
in consultation with the Audit Committee,. is reviewing the most cost effectlve way to address the 'issues

raised.. .. i “ e -l . - ‘ oL Ch

CEO and CFO Certifications — The Certifications.of our CEQ and CFQ which are attached as
Exhibits 31(1) and 31(2) to this Report include information about our disclosure, controls and procedures, and.
internal control. over financial reporting. These Certifications should be read in conjunction with the
mformatron contamed in this Item 9A for a more complete understanding of the matters covered by the
Certrﬁcatrons_. PO =

il
o ' SRV ! . : T
.o Voo P - L

Changes in Intemal Control over Financial Repoﬂing , Y L : ‘;

There were 1o changes in our interrial control in the fourth quarter. R

. .o . . - . . . . .
i . ’ L, R . ' TR
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ‘ PRI |
To the Board of Directors and  *~ ' L N Con
Stockholders of CanArgo Energy Corporatlon ' ' ‘ " -

We have audited CanArgo Enérgy Corporation’s internal control over “financial’ repomng as of 31 Decerfi-
ber 2007' based on'criteria established in Internal Control = Integratéd Framework issued by the Comnuttee'
of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission (COSO). CanArgo Energy Corporanon s marnage- "
ment is responsible for maintaining”effective mtemal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internial coiitrol over financial’ reporting, included in the'accompanying Management’s ' -
Report Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company.- ’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.,, . . N A - S

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight -
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit-to obtain reasonable !
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material +
respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists and testing and evaluatmg
the de51gn and operalmg effecuveness of internal control based on the assessed nsk and perforrmng ‘such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We belleve that our audlt prov1des a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

. . . - - T C
1 . . it . . b

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnzmcnal reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company,
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparatlon of firiancial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements. :

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect.
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
conirols may become inadequate because of changes in condmons or that the degree of compllance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or
interim financial statements wili not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material
weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s assessment.

Information Technology

The Company did not adequately implement certain controls over information technology, including
certain spreadsheets, used in its core business and financial reporting. These areas included logical access
security controls to financial applications, segregation of duties and backup and recovery procedures. The
Company’s controls over the completeness, accuracy, validity, restricted access, and the review of certain
spreadsheets used in the period-end financial statement preparation and reporting process was not designed
appropriately. This material weakness affects the Company’s ability to prevent improper access and changes to
its accounting records and misstatements in the financial statements could occur and not be prevented or
detected by the Company's controls in a timely manner.
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Disclosure RN et

The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective in providing reasonable assurance
that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under The Securities Exchange Act of o
1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specnﬁed in the SEC’s rules
and forms and to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files
or submlts under The SeCUntles Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated and communicated to management
mcludmg the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Inadequate controls include the lack of procedures used for identifying,
determining and ca]cul_aung required disclosures and other supplementary information requirements. ...

"We have-also ‘audited, in accordance- with thé standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
' Board {United States), the 2007 consolidated financial statements of CanArgo Energy Corporation and our
report dated 13 March 2008 expressed an unquallﬁed oplnlon

¥

These material weaknesses were con51dered in determining the nature, tlrmng, and extent of audit tests
apphed in our audit.of the 2007 financial statements, and this report does not- affect our report dated 13 March
2008 on those financial statements.

. B + 1 Lo

In our opmlon becausé of Lhe effect of the matenal weaknesses descnbed above on the ‘achievement of
the objectives of the conitrol crllena CanArgo’ Energy Corporatlon has not mamtamed effective internal control
over financial reporting-as of 31 Décember 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Conirol — Imegrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission: (COSQ).

e B o ! Lo - e oo . L

T . ) . ' : L } Sqldinger' Associates I:LC
Deer Park, Illinois USA o SV "
13 March 2008 ‘

L * e

3 ' . - .. . ! . LT . L
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 14, 2006, we entered into an agreement (“Termination Agreement”) with Europa Qil Services
Limited (“Europa”), an unaffiliated company, formally terminating the consiltancy agreement between
CanArgo and Europa dated January 8, 2004. Under the terms of the consultancy agreement, CanArgo-had-an
outstanding obligation to issue up to 12 million shares of CanArgo common stock to Europa upon certain
production targets being met from future "developments under the Samgori PSC. With effect from February 16,
2006, we have withdrawn from the Samgori PSC. Pursuant to'the terms of the Termination Agreement the
parties accordingly agreed that the consultancy agreement had terminated with effect from February 16, 2006.
CanArgo has not incurred any matenal early termination penalties as a result of the termination of the

consultancy agreement. t ol
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ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Management of the Company T T L S
The. members of the Board of Dlrectors and the Executwé Ofﬁcers of the Company are 1dent1ﬁed below
Name L e : .. Ce . égg et + " =y Positions Held, . -+ &, EURE R

- Vmcent McDonnell ...... AN [ 'Actlng Chaifiman of the Board, President, Chiéf- = "~ * -
S e ¢ . Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chlef
Commercial Officer and Director + + AT

Jeffrey Wilkins . ........ e 45  Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary and
Director

Michael Ayre(1)(2) ........... e 51 Director

Russ Hammond(1)(2) .............. 66 Director

Anthony Perry(1). ... .. o e 72 Director

(1) Member of Audit Committee.
(2) Member of Compensation Committee.

. Executive Officers and Directors

Vincent McDonnell, a resident of the United Kingdom, was elected a Director of the Company on May 2,
2003. He served the Company as Chief Financial Officer from September 23, 2002 to May 6, 2005; since
May 6, 2005 he has held the position of Chief Operating Officer; since August 1, 2006 he has held the _

“position of President and since February 7, 2008 he has held the position of Acting Chairman of the Board."
Prior thereto, he served the Company as Chief Commercial Officer from April 2001 and Commercial Manager
from December 2000. Prior to joining the Company, he was an independent oil and gas consultant from May
1999 until October 2000. From 1994 until April 1999, Mr. McDonnell served as Commercial Manager of JKX
Oil & Gas plc working in countries of the former Soviet Union including Georgia. Prior to 1994,

Mr. McDonnell worked in various business, commercial and technical roles with a number of companies,
including Mobil North Sea Limited and Britoil plc. He holds a B.Sc (Hons,) degree in Geology, a M.Sc,
degree in Geophysics and an MBA.

Jeffrey Wilkins, a resident of the United Kingdom, was appomted Chief Financial Officer on August 1,
2006. On September 24, 2007, he was elected a Director and since February 11, 2008 has held the position of
Corporate Secretary. Mr. Wilkins had served as the Company’s Financial Controller from April 2001 unti! his
appointment as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. Prior to his appointment as the Company’s Financial
Controller, he held various European finance positions for Fisher-Rosemount, part of Emerson Electric
Company, between 1995 and 1999 and then up to joining the Company was European Financial Accountant
for Dialog, a business of The Thomson Corporation. Mr. Wilkins is a Chartered Management Accountant with
a joint degree in Economics and Politics from the University of Bath.

Michael Ayre, a resident of Guernsey, was elected a Director of the Company on March 5, 2004, He is
currently Managing Director of Mees Pierson Reads, a trust management and financial advisory company. He
was previously employed from 1983 to 1987 in the London office of Touche Ross & Co (now Deloitte), and
the Guernsey office from 1981 to 1983 of Peat Marwick Mitchell (now KPMG). Mr. Ayre is a member of the
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants and the Chartered Institute of Taxation. He was formerly a
non-employee director of Woolwich Guernsey Limited and is currently a non-employee director of the
Guernsey subsidiaries of Unigestion, a Swiss fund management group and also CPC Group Limited, a
privately owned Guernsey Company, engaged in property development where he is the non-employee
Chairman.

Russ Hammond, a resident of the United Kingdom, was elected a Director of the Company on July 15,
1998. He has also served as a Director of the Company’s subsidiary, CanArgo Oil & Gas Inc., since June
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1997. Although retired, Mr. Hammond has over the past five years been an investment advisor to Provincial
Securities Limited, a private investment company. Mr. Hammond has been Chairman of Terrenex Acquisition
Corporation, an oil and gas and joint venture company, since 1992 and a Non Executive Director of Questerre
Energy Inc., an oil and gas exploration and producnon company, since 2000. In June 2003, Mr. Hammond was
awarded with the' Order of Honour for services to the Georgian hydrocarbon extraction mdustry

v

Anthony Perry, a resident of the United Kingdom, was elected a Director of the Company on April 1,
2008. He is a Chartered Engineer and a Distinguished Member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE)
and is a Board Member and former Chairman of the London section of thé SPE. Mr. Perry began his career as
a Petroleum Engineer with Ultramar and a subsidiary of Gulf Oil Company in Venezuela. From 1970-t0 1978,
he worked for a subsidiary of British Petroleum in Abu Dhabi, ultimately as Chief Petroleum Engineer. During
the period 1970 to 1983, he held the position of Manager of Petroleum Engineering at BP Petroleum
Development (UK) Ltd. which was a period of major expansion for BP in the North Sea. Later he went on to
become Manager of Operations at Texas Eastern North Sea Inc. before taking up senior management positions
at Mobil North Sea Limited as 'commercial co- ordinator; joint venture co-ordinator and secretary of the Mobil
North Sea management council. From 2000 tb 2005, Mr. Perry was Chairman of Oilfield Production
Consultants {OPC) Limited, a Petroleum and Reservoir Engmeenng Consultancy Mr. Perry has a B.Sc. degree
in Geology from Bristol Umversny and a Dlploma of Imperial Collcge London m Petroleum Rescrvmr
Engmeenng . ' - )

' . f R S LV w’

1 The current term of office of all of - the Company ] dlrectors expires at the 2008 annual meeting of
stockholders (“Annual Meeting™).. A majority of the independent directors has-nominated all five persons to-be
elected directors at the Annual Meeting: to hold office until the annual meeting of stockholders in 2009 and
until their successors are elected and qualified. All directors will hold office.until the annual meeting of :
stockholders at whlch their terms expire and the elecnon and qualification of their successors. 3

There are no famlly relanonshlps among any of the Company s directors or, executive ofﬁccrs

Director Nomination - . ‘ . : S

General, The Board does not have a nonunatmg committée. The functions of the" nominating commlttee
are performed by a majonty of the independent directors who consider candidates for Board membership
suggested by Board members, as well as management and stockholders and make recommendataons for the
Board’s selection. The Board may also retain a third-party executive search firm from time, to time if it
believes such engagement is adv1sable in order to identify suitable candldatcs

Stockholder Nominees.. A stockholder who wishes to recommend a prospéctive nominee for the ‘Board
should nonfy any independent director in writing with whatever suppomng material the stockholder consrders
approprmte including (a) all information’ relaung to such nominee that is required to'be disclosed pursuant to
Regulatlon 14A under the Securities Exchange’ Act of 1934 (including such person ’s wntten cohsent'to being '
named in the Company $ proxy ‘statement for its annual meeting of stockholders‘as a nomine¢ and to serving
as a director (if elected)); (b) the names and addresses of the stockholders making the nomination and the

number of shares of the Company s Common Stock which are owned' bencﬂc1ally and of record by such
stockholders; and (c) appropriate biographical mformatlon and a statement as'to lhe qualification of the
nominee. A stockholdér nomination should be subm:tted in the timeframe descnbed in the Bylaws of the
Company. "

Process for Identifving and Evaluating Nominees. - Once the independent directors have identified a
prospective nominee, the' Board-makes an initial determination as to whether to conduct a: full evaluation of
the candidate. This initial determination is based on the information provided to the Board with the: - ..
recommendation of the prospective candidate, as well as the Board’s. own knowledge of the prospective’ ~
candidate, -which may be supplemented by inquiries to the person making the recommeéndation or others. The
preliminary determination is based primarily on the need for additional Board: members to fill vacancies»or to.
expand the size of the Board and the likelihood that the prospective nominee can satisfy the evaluation factors
described below. If the Board determines, in consultation with the independent directors and other Board
members as appropriate, that additional consideration is warranted, it:may'request a third-party search firm to

-
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gather, additional information about the prospective nominee’s background and experience and to.report its - .
findings to the Board, The Board then evaluates the prospective nominee,against the followmg standards and

4

quahﬁcanons meludmg . “ ' : -

’
ot

* the extent to whtch the prospecuve nommee contributes to the range of talent skill and expertn;e - '
appropnate for the Board

[
N i ' N

* the prospecttve nominee’s abthty to dedicate sufﬁc1ent time, energy and attention to the drhgent
performanee of hi$ or her ‘duties, mcludmg the prospective-nomine€’s service on other. public company
' boards; - 0! : . < : S o
- . - . ) vt " . - . Lo
. the prospecuvef nominee’s standards of 1ntegr1ty, commitment and independence of thought and
judgment -and o : ‘ . ; . : A L
1

-+ the extent to which, the prospect]ve nornmee helps the Board reﬂect the dlvers1ty of the Company’s
stockholders ernployees customers and communmes in which the Company operates

The Board also constders such other ‘relevant factors as it deems approprtate mcludtng the current
composition of the Board the balance of management and independent directors, the need for Audit”
Committee and technical expertise and the evaluations of other prospective nominees. In connection with this
evaluation, the Board determines whether to interview the prospective nominee, and will conduct an interview,
if warranted, with one or more members of the Board, and others, including members of management, as » .
appropriate. After completing this evaluation and interview, the Board determines the nominees after. -
considering :the recommendations and views of the directors and others as appropriate. The Board has adopted
resolutions addressing the nominations process and such related matters as may be required under U.S. federal
securities laws and the rules of The American Stock Exchange, Inc (the “AMEX") and the Oslo Stock
Exchange A’copy of the resolutions is ‘available on the Company’s website {www., canargo com).

To date, the Company has never received a proposal from a stockholder to nominate a'director. Although''
the Company has not adopted a formal policy with respect to stockholder nominees, the directors expect that
the evaluatron process fora stockho]der nomrnee would be snmllar o the process outhned above

Procéss’ for'Determining which Directors are'Considered Indepéndent. On April 21, 2004, the '
Company’s Common Stock began trading on the AMEX. In connection with its Common Stock listing, the
Company became subject to the listing standards adopted by the 'AMEX. The full text of the AMEX
requirements can be found on its website (www.amex.com). - .

0

Pursuant to AMEX and Secunnes and. Exchange Cornrmssron (*SEC”). requirements, the Board undettook
its annual review of director 1ndependence in April 2008. Dunng this review, the Board cons1dered trangactions
and relatronsh1ps between each director or any member of hlS 1mmedlate family and the Company and its
subsidiaries and afﬁhates mcludmg those reported under “Certam Relauonshtps and Related Transacaans
below. The Board also_examined transacttons and relat1onsh1ps between directors or their affiliates and |
members of the Company $ senior managernent or their affiliates. As provided in the AMEX and SEC .
requirements, the purpose of this review was to deterrmne whether any such relattonshlps or transactions were
inconsistent with a determination that the director is 1ndependent

As a result of this review, the Board affirmatively determined that, other than Vincent McDonnell and
Jeffrey Wilkins, all of the.directors. nominated for election at the Annual Meeting are independent of. the
Company and its management under the standards set forth in the requirements of the AMEX and the SEC. In
addition, as further required by the: AMEX listing standards, the Board has.made an affirmative determination
as to each independent director that no material relationships exist between any non-employee director and the
Company which, in' the opinion of the Board, would interferc with the exercise of their independent judgment.
Vincent McDonnell and Jefirey. Wilkins are. considered inside.directors because of their role as senior .
executives of the Company. We provide additional-information regarding Mr. Hammond under “Certain
Relationships-and. Related Transactions” below. . '
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! _ within the meaning of SEC and AMEX regulations and the Board has determined, in the exercise of its - - ¢

executive officers and beneficial owners of more than 10% of any class of equity security are required to file

Communications with Directors o . o : "

.

Slockholders and other partms interested in commumcatmg dlrectly with the non—employee directors as a
group may do so by writing to: MlChael Ayre clo Corporate Secretary, CanArgo Energy Corporation,
PO. Box 291, St. Peter Port, Guemsey, GY1 3RR British Isles in an envelope marked “Conﬁdentlal" The
Corporate Secretary of the Company will promptly forward to Mr. Ayre all such correspondence In addmon '
if you wish to communicate generally with the Board you may do so by writing to: Corporate Secretary,
CanArgo Energy Corporation, P.O. Box 291, St. Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3RR, British Isles. The Corporate
Secretary of the Company reviews all such non-confidential correspondence and regularly forwards to' the
Board a summary of all correspondence as well as copies of all correspondence that, in the opinion of the
Corporate Secretary, deals with the functions of the Board or its Committees or that he otherwise determines
requires their attention. Directors may at any timé review a log of all correspondence received by the
Company that is addressed to members of the Board and request copies of any such non-confidential , -
correspendence. ' - - . . ol

" Any shareholder may submit at any time a good faith complaifit fegarding any quesuonable accounting,” *
internal controls or auditing matters concerning the Company. All such coinplaints are in the first instarice
reviewed by the audit committee and if necessary forward to the Company’s accounting staff and handled in
accordance with procedures established by the Audit Committee with respect to such matters. Confidential,
anonymous reports may be made by writing to the Chair of the Audit Committee, Michael Ayre,

c/o P.O. Box 119, Martello Court, Admiral Park, St. Peter Port Guemsey, GY1 3HB, British Isles in an
envelope marked “Conﬂdenual" a : '

H "

The Company has a policy of encouraging all directors to atlend the annual stockholder meetings,

The Company operates a “whistleblowing” policy for its employees allowing them to submit at any time
a good faith complaint regarding any questionable accounting, internal controls or auditing matters concerning
the Company without fear of dismissal or'retaliation of any kind. * = - S
Audit Committee. o .

~The Audit Committee is currently comprised of Messrs. Ayre, Hammond and Perfy. All of the members
of the Audit Committee are independent within the meaning of SEC regulations and the listing standards of
the AMEX. Mr. Ayre, the Chairman of the Committee, is qualified as an “audit ¢ommittee financial expert”

business judgment, that he has accounting and related financial management expertise within the meaning of
the listing standards of thé AMEX. The Audit Committee, which operates under a charter, among other
responsibilities, recommends the hiring of our independent auditors, reviews the functions of management and
our independent auditors pertaining to our audits and the preparation of our financial statements and performs
such other related duties and functions as are deemed appropriate by the Audit Committee.

‘) ‘ . L. . . T

Sectlon 16(A) Beneﬁcnal Ownershlp Reportmg Comphance
Under Sectlon 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rules, the Company s directors,

periodic reports of their initial ownership, and changes in that ownership, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.- Reporting persons are required by SEC Regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all
forms they file pursuant to Section 16(a). Based solely on its review of copies of such reports received by the
Company and written representations of such reporting persons, the Company believes that dunng ﬁscal year
2007, all of our directors and executive officers complied with such SEC filing requrrements

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics . - -

The Company has adopted a written Code of Business Conda‘tc.r -and Ethics, which sets forfh_ the
Company’s standards of,expected business conduct and which is applicable to all employees, including the
Chief Executive Officer, the principal Financial Officer, principal accounting officer or controiler, and persons
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performing similar functions (each a “Principal Officer”), as well as the directors of the Company.. This Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics is filed as Exhibit 14.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended 2004, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commlssmn A copy of the Company 5
Code of Business Canduct and Ethics is available on the Company’s website (www.canargo.com). Thé’
Company intends to post amendments to or waivers from its' Code of Business Conduct and Erhzcs (to the

~ extent appltcab]e to or affectlng any Principal Ofﬁcer or director) at this locauon on its website.
4

Lo
- . [N

ITEM 11. EXECUTIl/'E COMPENSATION. = . S

i

L Compensation Discussion and Analysis L

The purpose of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis is to provide information about the
Company’s philosophy, objectives and processes regarding compensation for the named executive officers of -
the Company. It explains how the Compensation Committee makes executive compensatlon decisions and the
reasoning behind the decisions that,are made.. For fiscal year 2007 we had the foilowmg four named executtve
officers:

¢ Vincent McDonnell — Presndent and Chief Executive Officer effective June 27, 2007 and Chief -
Operating Officer and Chief Commercnal Officer and Dtrector DR ', '

L3

* David Robson — Chatnnan and fonner Chief Executive Officer who stepped down as Chief Executive -
Officer on June 27, 2007 and former Director. Dr. Robson became Chairman and a non-employee
Director effective June 27, 2007; :

» Jeffrey’ thkms — Chief Financial’ Ofﬁcer and Dlrector effecttve September 24, 2007 and

. Ehzabeth Land[es — Corporate Secretary and, former Executtve Vice Pre31dent who stepped down as .
Executive Vice President effective September 22, 2007.

Effective February 11, 2008, Elizabeth Landles resigned from her position as Corporate Se'dretary and
Jeffrey Wilkins was simultaneously appointed Corporate Secretary. The Company therefore currently has two
- named executive officers; Mr. McDonnell and Mr Wilkins. - ; _ . , ’ N

Executlve Summary C T . . . - S

The following provtdes a brtef overvnew of the more detatled disclosure set. forth,in 'this Compensatton
Discussion and Analys1s

: FEREN PN f Ly

+ The ob_]ecttve of our compensatlon program is to ahgn the interests of our executives with those of ouf
shareholders, to' motivaté executives to achieve business goals set by’the Company, to pay for
performance and to recruit, retain, and mottvate talented executlves

: 1 : A .
* All compensation decisions regarding our chtef executive officer are made by the Board after the Board
* first'considers the recommendation of the Compensation Committee. All compénsation dec151ons for

our other named executlve officers are made by the Compensatlon Commtttee C .
N L | " i i . : B [
¢ The Compensanon Commtttee reviews -peer group data‘a$ part of its process in deterrmnmg compensa-
tion recommendations. for the named executive officers. : A

N

« Thé Compensation Committee applies a degree of dsscretlon as part of 1ts process in determmmg
compensation recommendations. '

» The Company provides our executive officers with the following types of compensation: ,base salary,
tong-term incentives and other personal benefits.

.+ The market price -for our common stock decreased significantly during 'fiscal year 2007. This-negatively
impacted the value of our executives’ accumulated equity-based incentives during fiscal year 2007,
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+ Each of our named executive officers has an employment service agreement or provided services under
a management services agreement. o

Compensation Committee - Da o . ' L

.+ The Compensation Committee had two members up to September 24, 2007, when. one member resigned,
and one member thereafter. The Compensation Committee- met four times during fiscal-year 2007. The
Compensation Committee is comprised solely of non-employee Directors,. all of whom the Board has , ., -
determined are independent pursuant to AMEX rules. A charter for the Compensation Committee hag been
compiled although this charter is currently subject to internal review and has not been formally adopted by the
Board in the last three fiscal years, .o Wt e, 7 .

. ) * e Lo

The Compensation Committee is responsible for setting and administering policies that govern the
Company § executive compensation programs, mcludmg stock compensation plans, although these policies are
in the process of mtemal review and have not been fonnally adopted by the Board, The Compensatton
Committee’s responsxbtltttes mclude among other duties, the respons1b1hty to:

+ establish the base salary, incentive eompensatton and any other compensation for'the Company’s elected
and appointed executive officers;

’

exercise oversight with respect to and to supervise the compensation scheme for the other employees of
the company;

administer and grant awards under any stock option plan 'adopted by the Board;

+ ‘administer and grant awards under the Corporanon S secunt:es compensatron plan adopted August 16
1995 by'a predecessor by merger to 'this Corporauon

e . v h
++» recommend to the Board any addmona] compensation, rettrement or other employee benefit plan; and

. perform other functlons or duues deemed appropnate by the Board. r o

Compensation dec1s1ons for ali four named executive ofﬁcers of the Company, which meluded the
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer up until June 27, 2007 and the Chief Executwe Ofﬁcer
thereafter, are made by the Compensation Committee.

D

The agenda for meetings of the Committee is determined by the Chairman of the Compensation
Committee with the assistance of the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer up until June 27,
2007 and the Chief Executive Officer thereafter. Compensation Committee meetings were regularly attended
by the Chairman of the Board'and Chief Executive Officer up to Juné 27; 2007 and the ‘Chief 'Executive’
Officer thereafter. The Compensation Committee’s Chairman reports the Committee’s rebommendations on
exécutive compensation 1o the Board. The Chairman of the Board and.Chief Executive Ofﬁcer'up to June 27
2007 ‘and the-Chief Executive Officer thereafter may be delegated authomy to fulfill-certain administrative
duties regarding the compensatlon programs.' The Compensation Committeé,-under its proposed charter, has
authority to retain, approve fees for and terminate advisors, consultants and 'agents as it deems’nécessary to
assist in-the fulfillmént of its responslbtllttes although daring fiscal year 2007 it did not seek éxternal )
assistance. - ST - O o

[ 3 - -

Role of Executive Officers in Compensation Decisions ‘ . B

The Compensation Committee makes all compensation decisions for all executive officers,of the
Company and approves recommendations regarding both equity and-non-equity compensation. The Chairman
of-the:Board and Chief Executive Officer up to June 27, 2007 and.the Chief Executive Officer thereafter -+
regularly attends meetings. of the Compensation Committee, The Chairman of 'the Board and Chief Executive
Officer up to June 27,°2007 and the Chief Executive Officer thereafter. annually reviews.the performance of
each executive officer. (other than the Chairman of Board and Chief Executive:Officer up to June 27,2007 and
the Chief Executive Officer thereafter whose performance is reviewed by tie Committee): The conclusions
reached and recommendations. based on ‘these reviews; including with respect-to salary adjustments and annual
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award amounts, are presented to-the Committee. The Committee can exercise its discretion in adoptlng or
modifying any recommendations or awards to executive officers. :

Employment Agreements with the Named Executive Officers : o : Tt

We have entered into written employment agreements’ with our named executive officers. A number of
the elements of compensation, such as initial base' salary and other personal benefits, are specified in the
agreements. For a description of these agreementsw see the section entitled, “Employment Agreements and :
Other Arrangements below R . LA ]

' - 0
' \ M Co ! . ‘- ! ' Lt

" Setting Executive Compensation o v

Based on the foregomg Ob_}eCthCS the Compensauon Comn‘uttee has structured the Company’s annual
and long -term incentive based executive compensanon to motivate executives to achieve business goals set by
the Company. In furtherance of this, the Compensation Committee reviews data from annual reports and proxy
statements issued by competitors to assess the'Company’s competitive position ‘with respect to the following
three components of executive compensation: . .o .

* base salary;
s short-term incentives; and

* long-term 1ncent1ves

! g ', ! : ' ! el

In making compensauon decisions, the Committee reviews each element of total compensanon against a
peer group of publicly traded oil and gas companies, This peer group, which is periodically reviewed and
updated by the Compénsation Committee, consists of companies that the Committee believes are of similar
size and ‘stature to CanArgo Energy Corporation in terms of geographiéal operating environment and industry
profile. The information derived from the peer group provides an indication of what executives might
command from companies operating in a similar environment to that of CanArgo Energy Corporanon The
companies compnsmg the peer.group are ‘as follows .

H ey s . R A :
« IKX Oil and Gas plc; . i S .
. Rcvus.Energqiry‘.AS; and | R S '

. Lundm Petroleum.

The Compensanon Commmee does not Larget a spemﬁc percenule in the range of comparatlve data for ’
each individual executive or for each component of compensation. Instead, the Compensation Committee |
structures a total compensation package in view of;the compdrative data  and such other factors specific to the
executive, including level of responsibility, prior experience and expectatigns of future performance. The -
Compensation Committee uses peer group data and also information contained from a review of a.wider .
selection. of publicly available annual reports for oil and gas companies to test for reasonableness and , -
competitiveness of its compensation package as a whole, but exercises subjective judgment in allpcating
compensation among executives and within each individual’s total compensation package.

2007 Compensation Committee Activity S U - .

The Compensation Committee met four times during. fiscal year 2007. The Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer up to June 27, 2007 and the Chief Exécutive Officer thercafter attended all four
meetings to provide their recommendations .in respect of variots.elements, of compensation to named officers
reporting to them: During 2007, the Compensation Committee reviewed and recommended, for each named
officer, the level of compensation 'for.each individual executive compensation componerit. The Compensation
Committee did not adopt any new compensation plans or programs during the year nor did it introduce any
new compensation policies during the year. The Company is.in the process. of developing its general- . ' . ..
compensation policies and to date no general policy has been adopted by the Board. However, terms-and +

78




conditions relating to each named officer are contained in their specific service agreements. All named officer
service agreements are publicly available through previous SEC filings. T

2007 Executive Compensation Components .

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, the principal components of compensation for named
officers were:

* base salary,

. long—term mcenuve compensatlon and L. "

P—

«-other personal benefits.

Base S'ala_tz

- e st Coe ) L

Base salaries for executives were determined based upon job responsibilities,. level of experience,
individual performance, comparison$ to the salaries of executives in similar positions obtained from compet-
itive data from the peer group and also information contained from a review of a wider selection of publicly -
available annual reports for oil and gas companies. The goal for the base pay component is to compensate:
executives at a level which approximates the median salaries of individuals in comparable positions with
comparable companies in-the oil and gas industry. The Compensanon Commlttee approves all salary incréases
for executive officers. - - : :

During the coursé of fiscal year 2007, the Compensation Committee approved base salary increases as
follows: :

Annual Base Salary as at  Annual Base Salary as at ‘Annual Base Salary as at.

31, December 2006 31, Decer;:ber 2007 1, Apr‘i:] 2008
* . N £ N [ s . i
Vincent McDonell(1) . ... .- 180,000 S 195000 195,000
David Robson(2) .-..... - 225,000 B " Not applicable - Not applicable
Jeffrey Wilkins(3) . ... .. 120,000 o 130,000 © 130,000
. Elizabeth Landles(3) 105,000 . 30 000 Not apphcable

(1) In 2007, Mr. McDonnell was appomted Chlef Exccunve Ofﬁcer effecnve June 27, 200‘7 in addition to hlS-
duties as President, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Commercial Officer and Director. In connection with
, this appointment Mr. McDonnell’s salary was increased from £180,000 to £195,000.

(2) Dr. Robson stepped down from the position of Chief Executive Officer and employee Director effective
June 27, 2007. Dr. Robson resigned as a Director effective February 7, 2008.

(3} In September 2007, Mr. Wilkins was appointed Director in addition to, his duties as Chief, Financial Offi-
cer. In connection with this appointment Mr. 'Wilkins’s salary was increased from £120,000 to £130,000.

(4) Ms. Landles stepped down from the position of Executive Vice President effective September 22, 2007.
Following the spin out of the. Company’s former subsidiary Tethys Petroleum Limited onto the Toronto -
Stock Exchange (“TSX") on June 27, 2007, Ms. Landles devoted 30% of her time to the Corporate Secre-
tary position. Ms. Landles’ salary was reduced from £105,000 to £30,000 to reflect these changes in
responsibility. Ms. Landles resigned from her position as Corporate Secretary effective February 11, 2008.

Long-Term Incentive Compensatmn

-

The Compensatlon Committee has structured: long-term incentive compensauon to provide for an
appropriate balance between rewarding performance and encouraging employee retention. Long-term incen-
tives are granted primarily in the form of stock options. The purpose of stock options is to align compensation
directly with increases in shareholder value, The number of options granted is determined by reviewing
competitive data from the peer group and also information contained from a review of a wider selection of -
publicly available annual reports for oil and gas companies to determine the compensation made to other
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execitivés and management employees in comparable positions with comparable companies in thé oil and gas
sector. In determining the number of opticns‘to be awarded, the: Compensation Committee also considers the
grant recipient’s qualitative and quantitative performance, the size of stock optmn awards i n the past, and

- expectations of the grant recipient’s future performance. - PR FERLIURNE I S A

Duting 2007, ‘stock options were*awarded to ond naméd officer from 'thé Corripafiy’s 2004 Long Term
Stock Incentive Plan (“2004 Plan™) in recognition of being appointed Director of the Company during the '
year. See the additional information regarding such grants appearing elsewhere in this Report. No stock .
options were awarded to the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer up to June 27, 2007 and the
- Chief Executive Officer thereafter. Stock options are granted at a price'détermined by the “Commiitteé, but not
less than 100% of the fair market value of the stock on the date of the grant of the, option. The Committeg
determined the price of granted options during the year at a 5% premium to the average price calculated over
three days of the AMEX's closing price of the Company’s common stock prior to the date of grant. The
Committee did not and has never granted options with an exercise price that is less than the closmg price of
the Company’s-common stock onthe grant date. Options granted by. the-Committée during. 2007 have a term
.of 7 years. fromtdate of.issue .and.vest. s for each year over 3 years beginning:immediately: Vesting and .
exercise'rights cease:three months after termination of.employment: except in the case of death, retlrement or ..
pennancntdlsablhty e N Y A dOTE e o ;

s - P T ni‘; L ' R * T. o *! doa - * . . 1
- .+, The market price for-our common stock decreased significantly decreased durlng the fiscal. year, 2007,
“This negatlvely impacted the value of our executives’ accumnulated equity-based incentives, during the fiscal 2

year 2007

rEU T b HOL T NI o G Doy,

Other Personal Benefits: o
%, 1 ! 7 T BRI, [T Y [
The Compény provided named officers with the followmg other personal benefits that the Company and

the Committee believe are reasonable:and consistent with its overall compensation program to better enable
~ the Company o attract- and retain, supegior employees for key,posumns The Committee perjodically reviews
" the levels of other pereonal benefits provxdsd to named ofﬁcers

IE 2 TTTLE TR R

For ‘¢ach ofthe*named officers, in‘c]uding the Chairman 6f the'Board and Chief Executive Officer up to
June 27, 2007 and the Chief Executlve Officer thereafter, the Company makes. a monthly contnbunon of 9%
of base*salary to the' named ofﬁcer 's individual personal pensmn plans 'scherhes « or arrangements. " Additionally,
each named officer is prov1ded with llfe assurance ‘with ‘death coverage of fOl]r'tlmBS ‘theif’ anhual salary,
permanent health, critical iliness; indome’ protecnon and famﬂy healthcare idsurance: The Company does not
maintain.or sponsor any: Company,-pensmn plans. 5.5 T - o T T

St s BT A N S %
. bl .'- R Lt 3 et .". S . 1 ot P -
Potiennal Paymfénts_upan Te:;mmatwr;- or Change of anﬂol
R e e dee

We_believe that thé interests of shareholders are best served if the interests of.our senior management are
aligned with-them, and that the.change of control arrangements. for our named: exeeutive officers create
incentives for,our executive; team to build stockholder value and to obtain-the highest value possible should
there be a possibility of our being-acquired in the*future; despite .the risk that the acquisition could result-in

the executives losing their jobs.. . © . > A )

1

The tables below reflect the amount of compensatlon to each of the named executive officers of the.
Company in the event of termination of such executive’s employment. The amount” of ‘compensation payable
to each narméd‘executive officer-ipon voluntary termination, retiremerit, involuntary not-for-cause termination,
for cause tefmination, termination following a change of control and'in the event of disability or death of the -
executive'is shown below. Theétamounts ‘shown assume that such. termination was effective’ds’ of December 31,
2007, and thus includes amouits earned through such time and are estimates of 'the amounts which would be
paid out to thé executives upon their termination. The actual amounts to be paid out can only be determmed at
the time of executive’s separation from the Company. - " et . : :

.
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Payments Made Upon Termination

Regardless of the manner in which a named executive officer’s employment terminates, he may be
entitled to receive amounts earned durmg hlS term of employment under the terms of the Company’s stock
based compensatlon plans . Y

' . P 4 i

- + Lo 7 a . 1 »nt 1 v

Payment" Made Upan Retirement Eo oo ‘.

» . -t

In the event of the retirement of a named executive officer, he or she may be entitled to recelve amounts
earned during his term of employment under the terms of the Company’s stock based compensation plans. The
Company does not maintain or sponsor any pension or retirement plans for executives. Instead, the Company
makes a monthly contribution of 9% of base salary to the named officer’s 1nd1v1dual personal pension plans,
schemes or arrangements. . .

[ ' :

Payment.s Made Upon Death or Disability '

o I S

In the event of the death or dlsabzhty of a named executive officer, in addition to the benefits listed under
the headings “Payments Made Upon Termination” and “Payments Made Upon Retirement” above, the named
executive officer will receive benefits under the Company s life i msurance plan cntlca] illness coverage or
income protection pian, as appropnate

Payments Made Upon Change of Control Ce g '

As our named executive ofﬁccrs have all recelved awards under the Plan all options issued under the
2004 Plan contain provisions whereby the award recnplent may -put back those option shares for cash, equal to
the intrinsic, value of the option shares on the date of exercise, to the Company in ‘the event of a change of
control, as,defined in the 2004.Plan. The following table presents the 2004 Plan.options held by our directors
and executive officers and their intrinsic value as of December 31, 2007, which amounts are reflected in
Column (f) of the succeedmg Table for the named officers:

.
- . ks \‘ - . ’
o 7 S L [

O " 2004'Plan Options - [ntrinsic Value of 2004

= Vot I T I B Exercisable as of Plan Options Exercisable
' December 31, 2007 as of December 31, 2007
n . . L L ot o - DR
Vmcent McDonnell. g ey e l ..., L510000 . $234 000
. Jeffrey Wilkins . . . ... FRRERRRER e . 456, 000 $ 21 400
Liz Landles(l) e e 600000 CT S132600

(1) Ms. Landles resigned as Corporate Secretary effecuve February 11 2008 and her options will expire in
accordance with their terms on May 11, 2008.

The market price for our common stock decreased significantly during the' fiscal year 2007. This
negatively affected the intrinsic value of the 2004 Plan options exercisable as at December 31, 2007 compared
to December 31, 2006 that would potennally be paJd on the event on a change of controf to our named )
CXCCU"VBS W B B L L P SN ‘» RET c M s

+ . R . . ' ot - l"r ot S o




(a) » (c} ) ey n ® @) -
. Involuntary
I LN [P Lo ..~ lnvoluntary oo+ for Geod ’
R . Not for Reason
N [ Executive Benefits Voluntary Cause For Cause  Termination
and Termination Termination Termination (C In .
Payments Upon “oi 123172007 on 123172007 on 1/31/X007 Control) on  Disability on ~ Death on
Name and Principal Position Separation ) 8 ($) 123112007 {§) 125312007 () 12512007 (5)

Vincent McDonnell . ... ... Compensation - ‘ .
President, Chief Executive Notice Period(1) 212,263 212,263 212,263 — — —
Officer, Chief Operating " Stock Options - 234,000 234,000 234,000 —_ _— —
Officer; Chief Commercial | Cash Election . . ' —_ . . - —. 234,000 — —_
Director Officer and, . . . e .

(Principal Executive Officer) ' ! o
t *  Benefits & Perquisites . o C . ’
Income Protection(2) — — — — 1440580 | —
Critical Iliness(3) ' -— — — —_ 958,704 —_—
Life Assurance(4) — — — — — 958,704

Jeffrey Witkins . . ... ... .. Compensation '

Chief Financial Officer and Notice Period(1) . 141509 141,509 141,509 — — -

Diréctor Stock Optioas * ) 21 400 © 21,400 2l 400 - —_ —

: v : Cash Election ' . —_— - — 21400 - — —

P Benefits & Perquisiles : : I P . . .

Iiicome Protecnon(Z) — — .= - . .=, —_
Critical Illness(3) — — —r - 830,877 -’
Life Assurance(4) — —_ — — - ¢ — 830,877

LizLandles. . . .......... Compensation I P N .
Corporate Secretary Notice Period(1) 32,656 32,656 32,656 —_ — —
i S -~ " . Siock Options ©s 132,600 132,600 132,600 T T —
.* .. Cash Election” | o o= —_ T o— 132,600 = —
Benefits & Perquisites L o L
_ Income Protéction(2) ' — — — . — 986962 —
! * © Critical Illness{3)- ~ ’ Ve _ D= b 838,866 - - —
Life Assurance(d) . oo — —_, = — — 838,866
(1) Notice periods. are as follows: 6 months for Mr. Vincent McDonnell and Mr. Jeffrey Wilkins and 3 months

for‘Ms Liz Landles ‘Ms. Landles resigned, as Corporate Secretary effective February 11, 2008,

(2) Reﬂects the estlmated lump sum present value of all future amounts payable to the executive officer under
the Company 5 Income Protecuon Pian until the executive officer reaches the age of 60. :

3) Reﬂects the esumated amount payable to the executive officer under the Company’s Cnllcal Illness Plan.

4) Reﬂects the estimated amount payable to the executive officer’s beneficiaries under the Company s Llfe
Assurance Plan., e . . : e . ‘ .

" - - . . - . '

Tax and Accountmg Implications o T ,

Compl‘mnce with Sectwn I62(m) of the Internal Revenue Code : . B

P [ ‘ [

Under Sectlon l62(m) of the United States Internal Revcnue Code of 1986 as amended the Company
may not deduct annual compensation in excess of $1 million paid to certain employees; generally its Chief
Executive Officer and its four other most highly compensated executive officers, unless that compensation
qualifies as performance-based compensation. While the Compensation Committee intends to structure
performance-related awards in a way that will preserve the maximum deductibility of compensation awards,
the Compensation Committee may from time to time approve awards which would vest upon the passage of
time or other compensation which would not result in qualification of those awards as performance-based
compensation. It is not anticipated that compensation realized by any executive officer under the Company’s
plans and programs now in effect will result in a material loss of tax deductions.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

For the year ended December 31, 2007 the Company accounted for its stock option program in '
accordance with the requirements of FASB 123 (Revised).
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table summarizes the total compensation paid or earned for services rendered to the
Company and its submd:anes by each of the named executive ofﬂcers for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2007 :

@, . _ ®) © @) © _®

. . . Option Al Other
' £, - n R Salary Awards Compensation Total
Name and Principal Position . ° a? Year $)1) $)X2) ($)(3) (%)
Vmcenl McDonnell(4). . . ............ . ..... 2007 367,004 169,989 50,923 | 537,9i5

Presidént, Chief Executive Officer, Chief ‘
Operatmg Officer, Chief Commercial Officer and -
« Director {Pnnc1pal Executive Officer effective ' e
June 27, 2007) : o .
David Robson(4) ................. el + 2007 262,146 48,453 45, 879 356 478
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer g Ce '

and Director (Principal Executive Officer up to
June 27, 2007)

. . i
.. . N - .

]

Jeffrey Wllkms(S) ...... FE o 2007 244,669 93,322 33,010 371,001
Chief Fmancml Officer and Director ' ) ' S Sy

LizLandles. ... ................... I 2007 141,475 14,536 25,782 181,793
Corporale Secrelary :

(l) Salanes are set and payments are made to the Company’s executive officers in Pounds Sterling (£). Col-
«* umn (c) reflects these amounts converted :into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of £1= $1.9973 on Decem-
ber, 31, 2007 as reported on www.oanda.com.

{2) The amounts. in-column {d) reflect the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting ‘purposés
: +for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, in accordance with FAS 123(Revised) of awards pursuant to
the Stock Option Program and thus include amounts from awards granted in and prior to 2007. Assump-
" ‘tions used in-the calculation of this amount for fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 are -
included in footnote 20 to the Company’s audited ﬁnanc1a1 statements commencing at page F-1 of the
. Report. - . - .
(3) The amounts'shown in columin (e) reflect for each named executive officerr - -

x, TR [

. the Company 8 conmbuuon of 9% of basic salary to thelr personal pensmn schemes

* permanent health insurance (1nclud1ng family healthcare insurance) premiums; K “w
* life assurance premiums;

» critical illness premiums;

* income protection premiums.

{4) Mr. McDonnetl was appointed Chief Executive Officer on June 27, 2007. On the same date Dr. David
Robson stepped down from the position of Chief Executive Officer and became Chairman and non-
employee¢ member of the Board for the remainder of the year. Dr. Robson subsequently resigned from the
Board effective on February 7, 2008.

(5) Jeffrey Wilkins was elected a director on September 24, 2007 in addition to his duties as Chief Financial
Officer.
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Grants of Plan Based Awards - - ~ . *+ o T
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End : ; R "
R . (a) o R (b) - €y = (VIR (e} -
' Number of
Number of Securities
- . . : Securities Underlying .
vt Underlying Unexercised Option
B, . h Unexercised Options (#) Exercise Option
- . ! . Options (#) Unexercisable Price Expiration
Name and Principal Position : Exercisable mn % Date
Vincent McDonnell . . . . .. PP 100,000 '50,000 .. . 1.00.. ~ 8/14/2013
President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating o 300,000 ., . — - 142 1_1/30/2012
Officer, Chief Commercial Officer and Director 210000 | . — 1000 - 772672012
(Principal Executive Officer effective June 27, 2007) 900,000 — 065 . 9/23/2011
David Robson(2) =. . . ... .. v 300,000 — 1.00 7/26/2012
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer 1,500,000 — , 065 . 972372011
and Directer (Principal Executive Officer up to . : L
June 27, 2007) : )
Jeffrey Wilkins . . ... ............. e 80,000 160,000 0.86 9/25/2014
Chief Financial Officer and Director ' 100,000 ' 30,000 v 1.00 8/14/2013
. _ 60,000 — 0.88 5/5/2012
- ' : 126,000 — 120 "t 1/9/2012
30,000 — 095 - 11/2372011
: 60,000 — 0.65 942372011
] ¥ ' R T 35,000 C—t 7060 "8/1/2009
- ' : " S 55,000 — '0.60-, 8/1/2009
24,000 . . — 0:69 °  3/4/2008
Liz Landles(3). . : . .:. o oo o n e . 90,000 » - — - 1,00 . 772612012

Corporate Secretary - . . ¢ -+ -+ 510,000 C 0.65 - 9/23/2011

(1) All opnons llsted above have a term of 7 years from date of issue and vest-1/3 for each year w1th the ﬁrst
1/3 vesting immediately. . e . S . ;

(2) Dr. Robson subsequently resigned from the Board effectxve on February 7, 2008. In settlemem of the six-
month notice provisions under his Service Agreement the Company, paid Dr. Robson £30,000 and extended
" the expiration date of his options to purchase 1, 800 000 shares of CommOn Stock to December 31, 2008

(3) Ms. Landles’ opuons expire on May 11, 2008 in accordance with their terms three momhs after she terrm-

¥

nated employment with the Company. =~ =~ * ¢ ) . I .
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Option Exercises . ' : ' +

Stock options exerc:sed by the Company 5 named executlve officers. during the ﬁscal year ended
December 11 2007 wére as follows:. \ .
4 4

L w@. ® . @

. Number of .
‘ Shares Acquired  Value Realised
on Exercise on Exercise
Name and Principal Position  ,. = . . ' . ($)
Vincent McDonnell . . . .. .. N S N . — . —
President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief- . : . Co
Commercial Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer “
effective June 27 2007)
~ David Robson ....... .. .. F SR cootoooreoA- 0 1L,000,000 0 T 638621
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director I . !
(Principal Executive Officer.up-to June 27, 2007) - =~ -+ "+
Jeffrey Wilkins (1). . ... ... ... .. . i 20,000 —
. Chief Flnan(:lal Officer and D1rec:tor
LizLandles.... .00 .0 00 L S0 1000000 T 63,862

Corporate Secretary

(1) Mr. Wilkins acquired 20,000 Shares on exeiise at $0.14 ‘per share and retained these shares as at
December 31, 2007.

Pension Benefits

\ .
. (ST . . Voo e Y e ’ "

The Company makes a contribution of 3% of the executive officers’ basic salary to their individual
perSOnal pension schemes. The Company does nol mamtam or sponsor a Company pensron plan for dlrectors
executives, ofﬁcers or employees :

»

L N o T ’ v,
Emplny'ment Agreements and othér Arrangements fe o
Management Services Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporation and Vazon Energy Limited in
relation to the provision of services by Dr. David Robson pre June 27, 2007.

In’ 2007 Dr. David Robson served as Chairman and Chlef Executwe Ofﬁcer of the Company pursuanl to
an agreemenl with Vazon Energy Limited (“Vazon”) of which Dr. Robson is the sole owner Chairman and
Managing Director. Dr. Robson through Vazon signed a comprehensive Management Services Agreement with’
a rolling six-month termination notice period and a two-year non-competition clause effective from the date of
termination of the agreement, Dr. Robson stepped ‘down from the position of Chief Executive Officer of the
Company effective June 27, 2007 Dr. Robson effectively became Chairman and non- employee Drreclor and a

new Management Services Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporanon and Vazon Energy Limited .
relating to the provisions of the services of Dr. David Robson in the capacity of Chajrman and non-employee
Director was effective June 27, 2007.

Under the ‘terms of the Managemem Services Agreement up’to June 27, 2007, Dr. Robson recelved dunng
2007 ‘a base salary of £225,000, which was payable on a monthly basis. Dr. Robson’ was further entitled to a’
drscrenonar) cash bonus payable at'the discretion of the Compensation Commmee (or failing that the '
Company $ Board) The Management Servnces Agreement dlcl not contam any provnsmns in relatron o stock
options. ’ ' '

aro- no,on LN [ ‘ ' .

The Managemenl Serv:ces Agreement became effective on June 30, 2000 and could be termmated by
either party upon 6 months written notice. Other grounds for termination were the liquidation or dissolution of
the Company, mutual agreetnent of the parties to terminate and the occurrence of an Event of Default as

* defined in the Management Services Agreement. In the event of a-“change of control” of the Company, the

Company would have. been required to give Dr.. Robson not less than 12 months written notice to terminate . .
the Management Services Agreement. The Management Services Agreement contained a covenant, undér- + *

v
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which Dr. Robson would not, for a period of two years following the termination of the agreement, directly. or.
indirectly induce any consultant of the Company to terminate their employment, hire by direct approach any
consultant of the Company, or in any way interfere with the relationship of the Company and any consultant,
agent or representative. Furthermore, Dr. Robson is prohibited from directly or indirectly soliciting, diverting
or attempting to divert business or related business.from the Company for a period of two years from the date
of termination of the Management Serv1ces Agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, Dr. Robson had a duty not to disclose any confidential information of
the Company and to use such information solely for the benefit of the Company. Dr. Robson had a contractual
obligation under this agreement to disclose and deliver to-the Company for its exclusive use and benefit any
inventions as a direct result of work performed for the Company. . e

In terms of benefits, in 2007 the Company made a monthly contribution of 9% of base salary for
Dr. Robson’s pension provision. Dr. Robson was also provided with life assurance with death coverage of up
to four times his base salary (excluding any bonus), permanent heaith insurance and family healthcare
insurance. o L T

The Management Services Agreement did not contain any *“‘gross-up” provisiorts for “excess parachute”
payments, severance provisions or provisions requiring Dr. Robson’s nomination to qle Board of the Company.

This Management Services Agreement was terminated June 27, 2007.

Management Services Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporation and Vazon Energy Limited in
relation to the provision of services by Dr. David Robson post June 27, 2007. Lo

Dr. Robson stepped down from the posmon of Chlef Executtve Officer of the Company on June 27, 2007
and effectwely became Chairman and non-employee Director for the Company. A new Management Services
Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporation and Vazon Energy Limited relatmg to the provisions of the
services of Dr. David Robson in the capacity of Chalrman and .Jon-employee Director was effective June 27
2007

M foate o - . N . ' v
Pursuant to an agreement with Vazon Energy Limited of which Dr. Robson is the sole owner, Chairman
and Managing Director, Dr. Robson through Vazon signed a comprehensive Management Services Agreement
with a six-month termination notice pertod and a one- year non-competttlon clause effective from the date of
termmatton of the agreement - . ) . . '

Under the terms ‘of the Management Services Agreenmient, Dr. Robson receiveda base salary of £75,000
per year paid on a monthly basis and this was reduced to £60,000 per year paid on a monthly basis after two -
month of the agreement being effected as Dr. Robson’s responsibi]ities' reduced. The Com'pany madea ©
monthly contribution of 9% of base salary to Dr Robson s personal pensnon requtrenients for two months only

after the agreement being effected. oot .
. . .

Dr. Robson was further entitled for bonuses at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors of CanArgo but did not receive any during the year. Dr. Robson, was further be provided |
with life assurance with death coverage of up to four times his base salary (excludmg any bonus), permanent
health insurance, family healthcare i insurance and comprehenswe BUPA travel i msu.rance The Agreement
contained customary confidentiality provisions. The Agreement did not contain any “gross-up” provisions for
“excess parachute” payments, severance prov1snons or provmons requmng Dr. Robson s nomination to the
Board of the’ Company ' T ST A

o : L. T o Lo ey, ,
Dr. Robson subsequently resigned from the Board effective on February 7, 2008. In settlement of the
six-month notice provisions under the Management Services Agreement the Company paid Dr. Robson
£30,000 and extended the expiration date of his options to purchase 1,800,000 shares of Common Stock to"
December 31, 2008. : . A . "o . oa
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Service Agreement between CanArga -Energy Corporation and Vincent McDonnéll v
d e, . .
Vincent McDonnell serves as Chief Operatmg Officer of the Company pursuant to a Servnce Agreement ‘
dated December 1, 2000. The Service Agreement became effective on December 1, 2000 and’ may be
terminated by either party upon § months written notice. The Company is entitled to make a payment to -
Mr. McDonnell in lieu of notice. The Service Agreement contains “garden leave” provisions; whereby the
Company has the right to suspend certain duties and powers of the executive during the notice period.

Under the terms of the Seryice Agreement, Mr. McDonnell received during 2007 a base salary, of
£195,000 which was payable on a monthly basis. The Setvice Agreement does. not contain any provrslons in
relation to bonus payments and entitled Mr. McDonnell to a one-time grant of 100, 000 share options when it
when it was originally signed in.2000. . :

F_— f .
13 .- 4 “«a .o -1

The Service Agreement contains a restrictive covenant, under which Mr. McDonnell will not during his
employmént or for a period of 12 months followrng the termination of his employment'(without the prior
written consent of the Company) dtrectly or indirectly compete with the ‘Company in the Restricted Area (as
defined'in the Service Agreement) solicit or induce any critical employee “of the Company to terminate their
employment employ or otherwise engage any critical employee in any compettng business with the Comphny
or solicit or induce any government body or agency or any third party in the Resmcted Area 10 cease to deal
with the Company ) '

1 . l Lo
Under the terms of the Service Agreement Mr McDonnell hasta duty not tor d1sclosc any conﬁdenttal
informatton of the Company and must use such information solely for the benefit of the Company. -
Mr. McDonnell has a contractual obligation under his Service Agreement.to disclose and deliver to, the‘ N
Company for its exclusive use and benefit any. inventions as a direct result of work performed for the. .. .
Company. . X . pe e oo 1 :

In terms of benefits, the Company will contribute 9% of Mr. McDennell’s basic salary for his perSOnal

- pension provision. Mr. McDonnell is also provrded with life assurance with death coverage of four times his

annual salaty, permanent health insurance and family health care msurance The Servrce Agreement does not
contain any “gross-up” provisions for “excess parachute” payments, severange payments or prov:srons
requiring Mr, McDonnell’s nomination to the Board of the Company

R |

Service Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporation and Jeffrey Wilkins . o
Jeffrey Wilkins serves as Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to a Service ‘Agreetnent dated
August 22, 2006. The Service Agreement became éffective on August 22, 2006 and may be terminated by
either party upon 6 months written notice. The Company is entitled to make a payment to Mr. Wilkins in lieu
of notice. The Service Agreement contains “garden leave” provisions whereby the Company. has the right to -
suspend certain duties and powers of the executive during the notice period.

Under the terms of the Service Agreement Mr lekms feceivéd dunng 2007 a base salary of £130 000
which was payable on a monthly basis’ commencmg on. August 1, 2006 The Serv1ce Agreement does not, :

contain any provisions in relation to bonus payments..
E LI

The Service Agreement contains a restrictive covenant, under whtch Mr. Wilkins w1ll not during his
employment or for a period of 12 months following the termination of his employment (without the prior .
written consent of the Company) directly or indirectly compete with the Cmpany in the Restricted Area (as
defined in the Serwce Agreement), solicit or induce any critical employee of the Company to terminate their
employment, employ or otherwise engage any cnttca] employee in"any competmg business with the Company
or solicit or induce any government body or -agency or any, third party in the Restncted Area-to cease to. deal
with the Company

ey oo EE B L

Under the terms of the Service Agreement, Mr. thkrns has a duty not to disclose any conﬁdentral
information of the Company and must use such' information solely for the benefit of the Company. Mr. Wilkins
has a contractual obligation under his Service Agreement to disclose and deliver to the’ Company for its
exclusive use and benefit any inventions as a direct result of ‘work performed for the Company. .
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In terms of benefits, the COmpany'will contribute 99 of, Mr, Wilkins’s:basic salary for his personal, , ,*
pension provnuon Mr. Wilkins is also provided with life assurance wnth death coverage of four tlmes lllS
annual salary, pennanent health msurance “and famlly health caré 1nsurance - -

L ‘ M v

The Serv1ce*Agreement does not contain any gross-up prov1sxons for “‘€xcess parachute” payments;’
severance payments or prov1s1ons' requmng Mr. Wllkms s nom1nat1on to the Board of the Company
. I : . . . ' - R
Mauagement Services Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporatton and Vazon Energy lelted m
relatwn to the prav:swn of services by Liz Landles : . B .
. L i} .

In 2007 Liz Landles provided all of her services to the Company as Execiitive Vice President and * ¥
Corporate Secretary through Vazon, of which she is an employee pursuant to a Service Agreement dated
February ]8, 2004 between Ms. Landles and Vazon, Vazon provided management services o the Company in
accordance with an evergreen Management Services Agreement dated February 18,. 2004 subsequently
amended June 27, 2007. Ms. Landles’ Service Agreement became effective from January 1, 2004 and was - '
termmable upon three months prior notice, unless sooner terrmnated for cause. In 2007 pursuant to the Service
Agreement Ms. Landles recelved a base salary of £105,000 per year payable on a monthly basis up to June 27,
2007, reduced to £40,000 per year payable.on a monthly basis based on the amended agreement effectively.
stating that 30% of the total hours worked by Ms Landles would be attributable to CanArgo, and further
reduced to £30,000 per year payable on a monthly basis when she stepped down as Executive Vice President
on September 22, 2007. The Company made a monthly:contribution of 9% of base salary for Ms. Landles’
personal pension provision. The Service Agreement did not contain any contractual bonus provisions -although
Ms. Landles was eligible for bonuses at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. -Ms. Landles was
provided with life assurance with death coverage of four times her annual salary, permanent health insurance
and family healthcare cover.

v S L) IR N .o
The Agreement conta.med customary conﬁdenttahty prov1s:ons The Agreement did not contain any

“gross-up” prov151ons for “excess parachute” payments severance pI'OVlSl()nS or prowsmns requmng Ms Land-
les’ nomination to theé Board of the Cornpany ‘ : :

~ Ms. Landles terminated her employment by the Company as Corporate Secretary. In settlement of the
termination notice provisions under her Service Agreement the Company agreed to keep Ms. Landles on for
three months as an Assistant Corporate Secretary at her prior salary. In accordance with the terms of her stock

optlons hér unexermsed opuons will expire on May ll 2008
‘ 4

L S " W R A . t .
Director Compensation Ty . ‘ w
ot -t -t he * - - . B "}‘
The Company uses a combmatlon of cash and stock—based incentive compensatlon to atiract and retain
qualified candidates to serve on the Board In settmg d1rect0r compensatlon the Company cons1ders the |
significant amount of time that Directors expend in fulﬁllmg 'their dutles to the Company as well as the skill-
level requ1red by the Company of members of the Board.
. Gy
e C T, S SN

Cash Compensati'on) Paid to Board Nlembers

S . et : .

In 2007 the Company paid dll’ecl()l's fees io’the Chalrman and non employee director (m UK Pounds
Sterling) on an adjusted, monthly ba51s at a rate Jof $149 798 per year for 2 months and $119, 838 for 3 months
The Compa.ny paid all other non-employee directots (in UK Pounds Sterling) on an adjusted quarterly basis at
a rate of $99,865 per year plus $1,997 for each meeting of the Audit Committee that they attend (using an
exchange raté of £1 = $1.9973:as-at December 31,-2007 (as ‘quoted on www.oanda.com). The Company also
reimburses ordinary out-of-pocket expenses for attending'Board ‘and Committee meetings, Directors-who are
also employées of the Company receive no additional compensation for service as a cllreetor The Company
does not provide retirement benefits to directors under any current program ot
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" .

Director Summary Compensation Table .« .« ., <« . . a0

The following table shows the compensation paid to all rptarsons who' weré hoh-empld)?bé ‘directors,
including their respective affiliates, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007:

M) LI PO (-) RESCERNERY (- SN C |5 (e)
Fees Earned
I N RO e o - tor Paidjin: - Optioh - . All Other.,, . ." !
s . . .o . - . 7 . Cash  Awards Compensation Total ..
' Name . SO P B O K O K (s)'
L o -] PR o ] ol
David ROBSO(L), - o+ e eiereel o L. same " Il 5500 60516
‘Nils Trulswk(?.) et ey e eaeew.. . 80891 . — — .. 580891, .
Russ Hammond " : ;.. ... .. e L. 107,854 - Y 107,854 .
Mlchael AYre el .f.'. oo DML ) 107,854 ) — 1T s - 107 85471
. o " . e - ' , L S ' & '-,-,, W LY

(4))] Effecttve June 24, 2007 Dr. Robson stepped down as Chtef Executwe Officer of the Company and became
Chairman and non-employee member of the Board for the remainder of the year. Dr. Robson subsequently.
resigned from the Board on February 7, 2008, )

(1) Effective September 24, 2007, Mr. Trulsvik resigned from the Board.

[ I | T R R I Y

' v
Non-Employee Director Service Agreements

In settlement of the.notice provisions under his Service Agreement the Corrtpany paid Dr. 'Robson“
£30,000 and extended: the expiration date of his options to purchase 1,800,000 shares of Common: Stock to
December 31, 2008. § . . . . . LA N

. s
ot Wl e i,

. ' [T I A

Compensatmn Cummlttee Interlocks and Insider Participation . I

During 2007 the Company's Compensation Commitiee.consisted of, Russ Hammond, Land unal Septcm-
ber 24, 2007 when he resigned from the Board, Nils Trulsvik.‘On. April:1, 2008, Michael Ayre was ‘appointed
a member of the Coriipensation Committee. Both Mr. Hammond and Mr. Ayre are non-employee mdependent
directors. : ol ;
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND REIATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

P R | ' ’

i

SECURITY OWNERSHIP BY CERTAIN BENEFICIAL HOLDERS

+

The following table sets forth mformatlon regardlng ownership of the Comumon Stock as of the most recent _
practicablé date or éarlier date for information based on filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission by
(a) each person known to the Company to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of the
Common Stock of the Company, (b) each director of the Company, (c) the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and each other executive officer named in the compensation tables appearing later in this Proxy Statement and
(d) all directors and executive officers as a group. The information in this table is based solely on statements in
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission or other reliable information. Unless otherwise indicated,

~each of these shareholders has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned.

" Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

Amount and
U Nature ‘Percentage.
of Beneficial of
Security Ownershipof Management Name of Beneficial Owner Ownership Class(12)

N r

Non-Employee Directors
Riiss Hammond -, . .. ... .. S e e st e o e 430,00000)
Michaelb:Ayre © 0. o u e P E 670,000(2)

Anthony Perry ,............... e e e e : —(3)

Named Executive Officers ]

Vincent McDonnell. .. ............... et et ey s 1,710,000(4) *
Jeffrey Wilkins . . . ... ... ... T 606,000(5) *
"All' Directors and Exécutive.Officers as a Group (5 persons). e 3,416,00006) - 1.41%

- Security Ownershlp of More Than 5%: Shareholders - o

Persistency. .o e oo e i + 28,100,000(7) :11.61% -

. P.O. Box 309 - .

Ugland House ‘ .
South Church Street - *
George Town
Cayman Islands
British West Indies

; Persxstency Capital, LLC ... ... e e e e 28,100,000(8) 11.61%
850 7™ Avenue '
Suite 701
New York
New York 10019
US.A .

Andrew MOITIS. . ... ... 28,100,00009) 11.61%
c/o Persistency o ' : ' :
Capltal LLC

. 850 7" Avenue
, . Suite 701
New York
New York 10019
US.A
BlackRock, INC. . . ..ot e - 21,692,200010) 8.96%
40 East 52" Street :
.New York
NY 10022 :
. Ingalls & Snyder LLC ............ S 12,160,678(11) 5.02%
61 Broadway .
New York, NY 10006
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* less 1% ‘ ) ‘ R

(1) Includes 330,000 shares underlying presently exercisable options. Does not include 190,000 shares,
subject to unexercised stock options awarded to Mr. Julian Haromond, a former emp]oyee of_the Com-
pany and Mr. Russ Hammond $ son. Mr. Hammond disclaims ownershlp of hlS son's sha:es

(2) Includes 580 000 shares underlying presently exerc1sable options. - ., . . S L

{3) Mr Perry was elected to the Boardon April I, 2008.

(4) Inclides 1,510,000 skares underlying presently ‘exercisable options.

(5) Includes 546,000 shares underlying presently exercisable options.

(6) Includes 2,966,000 shares underlying presently exercnsable options held by directors’ and executive’
. officers as a group

7 Securlty ownershlp 1nformat10n for the beneﬁ(:lal owner is taken from the Forms lSG/A dated April 17,
2008.

{8) Security ownershlp Informatlon for the beneficial owner is taken from the Forms 13G/A datéd Apnl 17,
2008. ' :

9) Sccunly ownership information for ihe beneficial owner is taken from the Forms 13G/A dated Aprit 17,
2008.- : oo oL :

(10) Security ownership information for the beneficial owner is taken from the Form 13GIA filed on Febru-
ary 8, 2008.

(I Securlw owner%hlp information for the beneficial owner is taken from the Form 13GIA f' le on February 8,
2008. . . 0

(12) The Class represents common stock outstanding as at April 18, 2008, This exc]udes any conveniblé
. shares and.warrants attached to outstanding convertible loans at lh:s date.although these shares are
included in Forms 13G filed by convertible note- holders

" ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND REL.ATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIREC TOR ‘

INDEPE NDENCE.

Mr. Russ Hammond, a non- emp]oyee chrector of the Company, is also an Investment Adv1sor 10
Provincial Securities Limited who became a mmonty shareholder in the Norio and North Kumisi (Block
XIc) Production Sharing Agreement through a farm-in agreement to the Norio MK72 well. On September 4
2003 the Company concluded a deal to purchase Provincial Securities Limited’s minority interest in CanArgo
Norio Ltd. by a share swap for shares in the Company. The purchase was achieved by issuing 6 million
restricted shares of common stock in the Company to the minority interest holders in CanArgo Norio Ltd. Of
the interests in CanArgo Norio Ltd., Provincial Securities Limited owned 4% and received 2,234,719 shares of
the Company’s common stock.

Provincial Securities Limited also had an interest in Tethys Petroleum Limited (formerly named Tethys
Petroleum Investments Limited) (“Tethys”), a Guernsey company, established to develop potential projects in
Kazakhstan, in which the Company had a minority interest until June 2005 when the Company acquired the
remaining 55% interest in Tethys which it did not own. Pursuant to this transaction, Provincial Securities
Limited received 5,500,000 shares of the Company’s commen stock in exchange for its interest in Tethys.
Mr. Hammond did not receive any compensation in connection with these transactions and disclaims any
beneficial ownership of Provincial Securities Limited or of any shares of the Company’s common stock owned
by Provincial Securities Limited. In August 2007, the Company disposed of its interest in Tethys. Mr. Julian
Hammond, Mr. Hammond’s son, was employed as a Vice-President of Tethys, at an annual salary of £96,000
Pounds Sterling (£) and was awarded an aggregate of 190,000 options to purchase shares of common stock
under the Company’s Stock OpllOl‘l Plans at a weighted average exercise price of $0.82. Mr. Hammond
disclaims ownership of his son's shares.

Transactions with affiliates or other related parties including management of affiliates are to be
undertaken on the same basis as third party arms- Iength transactions. Transactions with affiliates and other
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related parties are reviewed and voted on by the Board with any potential related parties absent from such -
discussions or votes. :

The Co'mptmy is in the‘brocess of 'reviewmg its policy with respect to the'review, approvzil or fatification
of related person transaction's and to datea formal policy has not been adopted by the Board However, the
Company follows the rules “adopted by the AMEX in respect of related party transactions and is annually
required to review related person transactions. Further, on an annual basis, each Director and executive officer
is obligated to complete a Director and Officer Questionnaire which requires disclosure of any transaction with
the Company in which the Director and executive officer, or any member of his or her immediate family, have
a direct or indirect material interest, ‘ ’ ' '

ITEM 14. -PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

. In accordance with the rules of the SEC, the following chart outlines fees pertaining to the years ended
December 31,2007 and December 31, 2006 by L J Soldinger Associates LLC:

_ Services Performed . 2007 2006
Audit Fees(1)............. ... ... R l $799,000  $1,018,000
Audit-Related Fees(2). . ....... P SRR FETTRIUP ... $ 2000 $ 21,000
Tax Fees(3) ............. S $ 27,000 $ 50,000
AW Other Fees(d) . oo v ev e e = —

Total FEeS . o o et et e e e e $828,000  $1,089,000

Notes To Preceding Table

(1) Audit fees represent fees billed for proféssional services provided in connection with the- audit of our
annual financial statements.reviews of our quarterly-financial statements and audit services provided in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings for-those years. ot ! e

(2) Audit-related fees represent fees billed primarily for assurance and related services reasonably related o, ' I
the performance of the Ell.ldl[ or reviews of our financial statements of registration statéments.

(3) Tax fees pnnc1pally represenl fees bilted for tax preparation, tax advice and tax planning services.

(4) All other fees prmc:pally would include fees billed for products and services provided by ‘the accountant ) .
other than the sérvices reported under the thrée’ capuom above. :
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PART IV

% ' i.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES y
(a){1) Financial Statements ' C et o
"The followmg financial statement$ and related notes of the Company contatned on pages F-1 through

F-60 are filed as part of this Report ‘ ,

it . L . .
Reports of Independent Audltors . Co S T
- Consolrdated Balance Sheets — December 31, 2007'and 2006

Consohdated Statements of Operattons — Years Ended December 31,.2007, 2006 and 2005, . ;
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 ‘and 2005.

*

I 5,‘ ¥l

Conisolidated” Stdtements of Stockholders Equtty-—- Years ended December 31, 2007 2006 and
2005.

O e o . o f . - U . R '

- Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements‘ T SRR

(2) .Financial StatementsSchedules; e S T S T

K " LA LT K P A D W LT

‘None .\ L e

“"All;other schedules are omitted becausé’ of the absence of condmons under which they are required or
because the required information is included in the-consolidated. financial statements or notes thereto.

 (b) Exhibits ‘ A R, .
‘ LA S . f v " PR ¥ ' "

' Management Contracts, Compensatton Plans and’ Arrangements are 1dent1ﬁed by an asterrsk (*y
o . Documents filed herewnh are identified by a’¢ross (1). :

I(l) Engagement Agreement with Sundal Collier & Co ASA dated August 13 "2001. (Incorporated herein by
i , reference from Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to Form S-1 Regtstranon Statement File No. 333- 851 16
vt ﬁled on September 10, 2002)). " o oot

1(2)° Placement Agent Agreement dated September 22, 2004 by and between ABG Sundal Collier, Norge
'ASA and CanArgo Energy- Corporatlon (Incorporated herein by reference from Amendment No 2 to
' * ' Registration Statément on Form S$:3 filed August 31, 2004 (Reg.'No. 333-115645)).

1(3) Placement Agent Agreement dated September 22, 2004 by and between ABG Sundal Coltier Inc. and
CanArgo Energy Corporation (Incorporafed herein by reference from Amendiment'No 1 to Regtstratlon
. Statement on Form S-3 filed July: I, 2004 {Reg. No. 333-115645))." ««

1(4) Engagement'letter' between ABG Sundal Collier Norge' ASA 'and CanArgo Energy Corporatlon dated
March 23, 2004 (Incorporated herein by reference from September 30, 2004 Form 10-Q).

1(5) Mandate Agreement dated September 19, 2006 by and among CanArgd Energy Corporanon Terra
¢ Securities ASA and Orign Securities ASA as amended by Addéendum No!'l dated September 21, 2006.
(]ncorporated herein by reference from December 31, 2006 Form 10-K).

2(4) Memorandum of Agreement between Fielderi Management Service$ Pty, Ltd.,’A.C.N. 005 506 [23 and
" Fouritain Oil Incorporated dated May 16, 1995 (Incorporated herem by reference from’ December 31,
oo 1997 Form 10-K/A). . R TR . S
3(1) Reglstrant s Certificate of Incorporation and amendments thercto (lncorporated by reference from the
Company’s Proxy Statements filed May 10, 1999 and May 9, 2000 and Form 8-K filed July 24, I998 and
' -May 23, 2006 and; March 31,.2004 Form 10-Q filed on May 17, 2004). - t

3(2) Registrant’s Amended and Restated Bylaws as amended (Incorporated herem by réference to Form &K
dated March 2, 2007). - B T S B S, . SR

3(3) Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporanon as filed with the Office’of the Secretary of
- ). State of the State of Delaware on June 5, 2007 (Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K dated
June 11, 2007). . & SR . " 3 ;e ' !

]
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*4(1) Amended and Restated 1995 Long- Term Incentlve Plan {(Incorporated herein by reference from
September 30, 1998 Form 10-Q).

*4(2) Amended and Restated CanArgo Energy Inc Stock Option Plan (Incorporated herein by reference from
March 31, 1998 Form 10-Q). .

. *4(3) CanArgo Energy Corporation 2004 Long Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated herein by reference from
Form 8-K dated May 19, 2004.arid Company’s definitive Proxy Statement filed March 17, 2006)

4(4) Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated March 3, 2006 among CanArgo Energy Corporation and
the Purchasers party thereto (Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K.dated March 8, 2006).

4(5) Registration Rights Agreement dated March 3; 2006 among CanArgo Energy Corporation and the
Purchasers party thereto (Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K dated March 8, 2006).

4(6) Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated June 28, 2006 among CanArgo Energy Corporation and the
. Purchaser party thereto.(Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June 28, 2006).

4(7) Registration Rights Agreement dated June 28, 2006 among CanArgo Energy Corporation and the
Purchaser party thereto (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June 28, 2006). -

4(8) Form of Subscription Agreement dated as of September 19, 2006 by and between CanArgo Energy
Corporation and the Purchaser named therein (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated
October 12, 2606).

4(9) Subscription letter agreement dated as of August 10, 2007 to offer the rightto subsctibe for an aggregate
of 2,500,000 shares of common stock, of the Company andan aggregate of 5,000,000 common stock
purchase warrants. (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated August 14, 2007). '

10(1) Production Sharing Contract between (1)-Georgia and (2) Georgian Qil and JKX Ninotsminda Ltd. dated
February 12, 1996 (Incorporated herein by reference from Fonn S-1 ‘Registration, Statement, File
No. 333-72295 filed on June 7, 1999),

*10(2) Management Services Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporation -and Vazon Eﬂergy errted
relating to the provisions of the services of Dr. David Robson dated June 29, 2000 (Incorporated herein by
reference from September 30, 2000 Form 10- Q). As amended by Deed of Variation of Management
Services Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporation and Vazon Energy letted dated May 2,
2003 (Incorporated herein by reference to Forrn 8-K dated May i3, 2003).

10(?;) Tenancy Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporatton and- Grosvenor West End Propemes dated
September §, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference from September 30, 2000 Form 10- -Q).

10(4) Production Shanng Contract between (1) Georgra and (2) Georgian. Oil and CanArgo Nono Limited .
dated December 12, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference from December 31, 2000 Form 10-K).

_¥10(5) Service Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporation and Vincent McDonnell dated December 1,
2000 (Incorporated herein by reference from December 31, 2001 Form,10-K).

10(6) Sale agregment of CanArgo Petroleum Products Limited between CanArgo Limited and Westrade
Alliance LLC dated October 14, 2002. (Incorporated herein by reference from September 30, 2002
Form 10-Q) |

10(7) Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 24 2003 regardrng the sale, of all of tthe issued and
outstandmg stock of Fountam oil Boryslaw (Incorporated herein by reference from March 31, 2003
Form 10-Q) .

10(8) Agreement between CanArgo Samgori Limited and Georgian Oil Samgon Limited.dated January §,2004
(Incorporated herein by reference from Form S-3 filed May 6, 2004 (Reg. No. 333- 115261)).

10(9) Agreement dated March 17, 2004 between CanArgo Acquisition Corporation.and-Stanhope Solutions
. Ltd for the sale of Lateral Vector Resources Ltd. (Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K dated
May 19, 2004). . , . )

1()( 10) Master Service Contract dated June 1, 2004 between CanArgo Energy Corporauon and WEUS Holding
Inc. (Incorporated herein, by reference. from Form 8-K dated June 1, 2004). ,

10(11) Agreement - betwaen Nlnotsmmda Oil Company Limited and Saipem. S.p.A. dated January 27, 2005
{Incorporated herein by reference from ,Form 8-K dated January 27,.2005). . s

10(12) Agreement between Ninotsminda Oil Company Limited and anrose Financial Group dated February 4,
2005 {Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K dated February 4, 2005). :

LT
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10(13) Subordinated Subsidiary Guaranty dated March 3, 2006 by and-among Ninotsminda Oil Company
Limited, CanArgo (Nazvrevi) Limited, CanArgo Norio Limited, CanArgo Limited, Tethys Petroleum
Investments Limited, Tethys Kazakhstan Limited and CanArgo Ltd for the benefit of the holders of the
Subordinated Notes (Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K dated March 8, 2006).

10(14) Subordinated. Subsidiary Guaranty dated June 28, 2006 by and among Ninotsminda Oil Company
Limited, CanArgo (Nazvrevi) Limited, CanArgo Norio Limited, CanArgo Limited, Tethys Petroleum
Investments Limited, Tethys Kazakhstan Limited and CanArgo Ltd for the benefit of the holder of the
12% Subordmated Note (Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K dated June 28, 2006).

10(15) Waiver, Consent and Amendment Agreement dated March 3, 2006 by and among CanArgo Energy
Corporation and the Purchasers party thereto (Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K dated
March 8, 2006). . c

10(16), Waiver, Consent and Amendment Agreement dated June 28, 2006 by and among CanArgo Energy
” Corporation .and the Senior Secur_ed Noteholders party . thereto (Incorporated by reference from
September 30, 2006 Form 10-Q).

10(17) Waiver, Consent and Amendment Agreement dated June 28, 2006, by and among .CanArgo Energy
Corporanon and the Senior Secured Noteholders party thereto. (Incorporated by reference. from
September 30, 2006 Form 10- Q)

10(18) Conversion’ Agreement dated June. 28, 2006, by and among CanArgo Energy Corporatton "the
Subordinated Noteholders and Persrstency (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June 28,
' 2006). ' ‘
10(19) Memorandum of Understandmg dated as of March 2, 2006 by and between the Mipistry of Energy of
Georgia and CanArgo (Nazvrevi) Limited (Incorporated herein by reference from Form 8-K dated
March 8, 2006)

10(20) Form of Management Serv1ces Agreement for Elizabeth Landles Executive Vice Presrdent and
Corporate Secretary dated February 18, 2004 (Ineorporated by reference from Form 10-K dated
" March 16, 2006).

10(21) Service Contract between CanArgo Energy Corporation’ and Jeffrey thkms dated August 22, 2006
' (Incorporated by reference from September 30, 2006 Form 10-Q).

10(22) Amendment, Consent, Waiver and Release Agreement dated February'9 2007 by ‘and among CanArgo ' |
Energy Corporation-and the Purchasers party thereto (Incorporated by reference from Fonn 8-K dated
January 24, 2007). '

10(23) Certificate of Discharge dated February 9, 2007 between Ingalls & Snyder LLC and CanArgo Limited
{Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated Jahuary 24, 2007). ¥

10(24) Security Interest Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2007, among Tethys Petroleam Limited, Ingalls &
. Snyder LLC and the Secured Parties, as defined herein (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated
~ January 24, 2007). . : o

“10(25) Amendment, ‘Consent, Waiver and Release Agreement dated February 9, 2007 by and among CanArgo
Energy Corporatton and the Purchasers party thereto {Incorporated by reférence from Form 8- K dated
January 24, 2007y, R

- 10(26) Amendment, Consent, Waiver and Release Agreement dated February 9, 2007 by and among CanArgo
Energy Corporatton and Persistency (lncorporated by reference’ from Form 8-K dated January 24, 2007).

10(27) Tethys Shareholders Agreement dated as of January 24, 2007 by and among CanArgo Limited, the
“Investors paity thereto and Tethys Petroleum L1m1ted (Incorporated herein by reference from
" December 31, 2006 Form 10-K).

10(28) Share Exchange Agreement relating to BN Munat LLP between Com lnvestments Limited, Tethys
Petroleum Limifed and Tethys, Kazakhstan Limited (Incorporated herein by ‘reference from
December 31, 2006 Form 10-K). . : : : s .

10(29) Consent and Conversion Agreement dated as of. June 5, 2007 by and among CanArgo Energy
Corporation, CanArgo. Limited and the Purchasers party thereto, including the form of the Senior
Compensatory Warrants to purchase up to 11,111,111 shares of CanArgo common stock issuable
thercunder (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June 11, 2007).

10(30} Reglstratlon nghts Agreement dated as of June 5, 2007 by and among CanArgo Energy Corporatton and
the Purchasers party thereto (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June L1, 2007).
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10(31) 'Conversion Agreement dated as of Juné 5, 2007 by and among CanArgo Enkrggy Corporation, CanArgo
« + " Limited and Persistency, including the form of the Persisténcy Compensafory Warrants to purchase up to
5 million shares of* CanArgo common stock . issuable thereunder (Incorporated by reference from
Form 8-K dated June 1152007). TN
* 10¢32) Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 5, 2007 by and among CanArgo Enérgy Corporatron and
Persistency- (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June 11, 2007) -

- 10(33) Amendment Conseént, Wawer and Reléase Agreement ‘dated Jone 5, 2007 by and ‘among CanArgo
*  Energy Corporatlon and the Purchasers party thereto ([ncorporated by reference from Form 8 K dated
' Junell 2007). Cee T b R
- 10(34) Certificaté of Drscharge dated June 5, 2007 betweén Ingalls &'Snyder LLC Tethys Petroleumn Limited
and CanArgo errted (lncorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June 11, 2007).
. 10(35) Amendment, Consent Waiver #nd Release Agreément‘ ‘dated ‘June 5, 2007 by and among CanArgo
" Energy Corporation'and the Purchasers party ‘tHereto (lncorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated
June 11, 2007).
10(36) Aimendmént, Consent, Waiver and Release Agreement dated June 5, 2007 by and among CanArgo
Energy Coipbration and Persistency'(Incorporated by t‘eference frorn Form 8-K dated June 11, 2007).
10(37) Amendment, Consent and Waiver Agreement dated June 13 2007 by and among CanArgo Energy
Corporation and the Purchasers party thereto (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June 18,
to00m ot
10(38) Amendment, Consent and Waiver Agreement dated June 13, 2007 by and among CanArgo Energy
- Corporatron and the Purchasers party thereto (Incorporated by reference from Form 8- K dated June 18
¢ 2007). e
10(39) Amendment, Consent and Waiver Agreement dated June 13, 2007 by and among CanArgo Energy
' Corporatron and Persrstency (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated June 18, 2007)
10(40) Agency Agreement dated June 18,2007 (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated J une 27, 2007).
¥10¢41) Management Services Agreement between CanArgo Energy Corporation and Vazon Energy Limited
relating to the provisions of the services of Dr. Davrd Robsen dated June 27, 2007 (lncorporated by
reference from Form 8-K dated July 3, 2007). .,
*10(42) Amendrnent No 1 to the Statement of 'I'erms and Condrtrons of Employment between Vazon Energy
Limited and Elizabeth Landles (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated July 3, 2007).

» 10(43) Letter-Agreement With Agents (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated July 11, 2007)

10{44) Placement Agreement dated July 22, 2007 by and between CanArgo Limited and Jennings Caprtal Inc
‘. . (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated July 27 2007)

v 10(45) ‘Amendment, Consent and Waiver Agreement dated as of August 9, 2007 by and among CanArgo Energy
Corporation, Ingalls & Snyder LLC, and the Purchasers party thereto, including the form,of the Senior
Note Compensatory Warrants to purchase up to 17, 916,667 shares of CanArgo common stock issuable

o thereunder (lncorporated by 1 reference from Form 8- K dated August 14, 2007).

10(46) Amendment Consent and Waiver Agreement dated as of August 13, 2007 by and among CanArgo
) - Energy Corporation, Ingalls & Snyder LLC and the Purchasers party thereto, including the form of the
. Subordlnated Note Compensatory Warrants. to, purchase certam shares of CanArgo common stock

1ssuab]e thereunder (Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated August 14, 2007) ’

10(47) Transfer Agency and Service Agreement dated’ December i8, 2007 by and among CanArgo Energy
Corporatron Computershare Trust Company, N.A. and Computershare, Inc (Incorporated by reference
from Form 8-K dated December 28, 2007). .

14 Code of Ethics (Incorporated herem by,reference from December 31 2004, Form lO -K). ..
21 List of Subsidiaries (Incorporated herein by reference from September 30, 2007 Form 10- Q)
< 123(a) Consent of,LJ Soldinger Associates, LLC, Independent Public Accountants.
+23(c)- Consent of Qilfield Production Consultants (OPC) Limited, Independent Petroleum: Consultants
" $31(1) Rulé i3a-14(a)/ 15d l4(a) Certification ‘of Chlef Executive Ofﬁcer of CanArgo Energy Corporatton.
T3l(2) Rule 13a—14(c)/ 15d l4(a) Certlﬁcauon of Chtef Fmanelal Officer of CanArgo Energy Corporatlon
132 Secuon 1350 Certrficanons '_ . o " .
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o . 7 SIGNATURES: . ..**" ¢ !

Pursuant to the requirements of ‘Section 13ror I5(d) of the Secuiritics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

[ T A . .

CanArgo Energy Corporation ) R R L S T P R

(Regisrram) . N . [ . - [ L Rhg t- ' '

By: /s/ Jeffrey Wilkins - . L T T ‘..., :  Date: April, 23, 2008
Chief Financial Officer and Director, . . R P L TP A
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) R T

Pursuant to the fequirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this répoit his been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By: /s/ Vincent McDonnell ' Date: April 23, 2008

Vincent McDonnell, Acting Chairman of the Board,
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
{Principal Executive Officer) .

By: /s/ Michael Ayre ' Date: April 23, 2008
Michael Ayre, Director

By: /s/ Russell Hammond Date: April 23, 2008
Russell Hammond, Director

By: /s/ Anthony J. Perry 7 ~ Date: April 23, 2008
Anthony J. Perry, Director -

97.




CANARGO ENERGY CORPORATION

st e . *+ +~'. INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .- - . .. ' !
- r . -‘_'<'< ) . LRt — " 3 V e e B vt . * .
Report on Management’s Responsibilities. . . ... ... ... . o i e F-2
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .. .............. e e oo " F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets . ... ... .ttt e e e s F4
Consolidated' Statemeénts of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. . . . . . e PP SR ... F5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows . . ................ R R e St F6
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity . ....... . ..........= Ll .0l 00 FT
NotestoFinanqialStgtemcqts R A R fe e R R RS F-10
ST ‘ N , L w e
' 4 [ '
o - + of boa ".':l A ! '
. ' i )
4 R
. . _ . .
. ‘)
H [ ]
-l
F-1




C REPORT ON MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES = '

In

To the Stockholders of CanArgo Energy éomoration'

CanArgo’s management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial mformauon ¢ontained
in this Annual Report. The financial statements included in this report have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted’in the United States and, where necessary, reﬂect the informed
judgements’and esnmates of management A f . - !

Management mamtams and is responsxble for systems of internal accountmg control designed to provrde
reasonable assurance that all transactions are properly recorded in the Company s books and records that
procedures and pollc1es are adhered to, and that assets are safeguarded from unauthorized use.

The ﬁnanc1al statements for 2007 and 2006 have been audlted by the mdependent accounung ﬁrm of c
LI Sold1nge1 Associates LLC, as 1nd1cated in their report. Management has made available to its outside .
auditors all the Company $ financial records and related data and mmutes of dlrectors and audit commlttee
meetmgs

e . ‘ . : 1 e

CanArgo’s audit committee, consnstmg solely of directors who are not employees of CanArgo, is responsible
for: reviewing the Company’s financial reporting; reviewing accounting and internal control practices;
recommending to the Board of Directors and shareholders the select1on of 1ndependent accountants; and
momlonng comphance w1th apphcable laws and company pollcxes The mdependent accoumams have full and
free access to the audit committee and meet with it, with and w1thout the presence ‘of management, to dlscuss
all appropnate matters. On the recommendauon of the audlt commlttee the consohdated financial statemenls
have been approved by the Board of Directors. '

-

fs/ Vincent McDonnell : s/ Jeffrey Wilkins
Chief Executive Officer ., .0 Chief Financial Officer
March 13, 2008 Sk : ) STy
" t ) P -
' ! .t 1 i IR ) ! FLN







CANARGO ENERGY CORPORATION

. T Consolidated ‘Balance Sheets Y
' .. ve December 31,
s i 2007 2006
ot o ‘ . ' {Expressed in United States dollars)
Lo P ASSETS |
Current Assets I A o
Cash and cash equivalents. . . . .. e e e $ 6869381 § 14,689,289
Restricted cash. ... ............... S hiaraaiiaeiiiaaa i —_ 299777
Accountsreceivable . ... ... ... .. Lo 379,268 503,953
Crude 01l INVENIOTY . . . ottt e e e e 373,770 7 452,500
Prepayments. .. /.o o o 311,537 .- . 2,254,563
Assets to be disposed .. ....... i e e 71,294 . .. .5,965341
Other current assets . ..................... e e . 167,404 163,561
Total current assets ... ...... P e $ . 8,172,654 - $.24,328984
Non Current Assets . S - o
Prepaid financing fees. .. .................... [N 74804 288,632
Assets to be disposed ... ..... ... e e — 24,560,166
Capital assets, net (inchiding unevaluated amounts of $9,444,742 and
$55,097,099, respectlvely) ....... Bis e e n s e s e et 51,304,619 . 87,307,700
Total Assets. . ... ... ....... PP P s 59552077 . $ 136,485,482
_ ' LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ~ . ' "' 7
Accounts payable —trade. ........... A e $ 491,665 % 367273
Deferred revenue . ............... Yoo, S P ot “484.515
Accrued liabilities <, . ......... L S 6,639,887 ' . " '6,918 468
Liabilities to be disposed . .. .. N 336,446 1,625,282
Total current liabilities . . . . .. e e $ 7457998 . § 12,700,996
Longtermdebt.............. e e e e 11 697,231 , 37,264,270
Other ton current liabilities .. ... ... e e SR 37,778 ' . l 260,079
‘Piovision for future site restoration ¥ ... . /.. .. .. S Ch Lt e T 2307206 205,200
Llablhtles to be dlsposed ....................................... —_ 3,566,055
Total Llabllltles. bt e T e e B e e e e .. § 19423727 5 54,996,600
Temporary Equity. .. ................ e Lt 8 S 2,109,530 5 2,119,530
Stockholders’ equity: . 7 ' . _ e
Common stock. par value '$0.10; authorlzed — 500, 000 000 shares at . e
December 31, 2007 and 375,000,000 at December 31, 2006; shares '
issued, issuable and outstanding — 242,120,974 at-December 31,.2007 , . ..+t . "
.. and; 237,145,974 at December 31 '2006 e e . 24,212,096 23,714,596
Capltal in excess of par' value .. ... S o 245,316,295 233,397,113
Accuinulated deficit .. .. ... .. PP LU e e e (231,519,571)  (177,742,357)
Total stockholders’ ecjuily .......................... Voo 1 $7 38,008,820 1St 79,369,352
Total Liabilities, Temporary Equity’and Stockholders’ Equity. .. ... ... $ 59 552,077" '$ 136,485,482
o) o " -t . RN e
1 ] 'I \ L] v. L] . L N
’l' ¢ " i . L' i
- o - 1 f o 4 [ '

The accompanying: notes are an’ integral part of the ‘consolidated financial statements
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CANARGO ENERGY CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

For Year Ended December 31,
December 31,
006

Operating Revenues from Commumg Operations:
Qil and gas sales

Operating Expenses:
Field operating expenses
Direct project €osts ... ... ... i i
.Sellmg, general and admlmstratlve
Depreciation, depleuon and amortization
Impairment of 011 and gas properties, ventures and other
assets ......................................

Operé_ting Loss from Co’ntinuing Operations ..........
Other Income (Expense):
Interest income

- . . D '
Interest and amortization of debt discount and expense . . .

Loss/Cost on debt extinguishment. .. ................
- Foreign exchange gains (losses) .

Loss from Contmumg Operations Before Taxes
Income taxes

Loss from Continuing Operations
Net Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations, net of

BAXES . . ... e
NetLoss...................... .... FETTT
Weighted average number of common shares outstandmg
T—Basic .. L.

— Diluted . . . .. ...... SO

Basic Net EIncome (Loss) Per Common Share
— from continuing operations
— from discontinued operations . ... ................

Basic Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Diluted Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share
— from continuing operations
— from discontinued operations . . . . ... .............

Diluted Net (Income) Loss Per Common Share. . .......

December 31,
2007

December 3,

2005

{Expressed in United States dollars)

3

5,278,912

$ 7208666 $ 6526660
7,208,666 6,526,660 5,278,912
1,370,153 1,702,679 1,109,588
662,798 811,795 - 1,084,330
7,163,951 9,732,142 10,824,494
2,592,531 3798727 3,275,553
42,000,000 _ 39000000 " '
53,789,433 © 55,045,343 16,293,965
(46,580,767)  (48,518,683) " (11,015,053)
315302 426,816 829,895
(6,208,660) (5.112,471) _ (1,899,522)
(12,127,494) — R
(73,863) (314,853) (230,176)
(639,104) (912,506) (52,618)
— — (155,016)
(18,733819) _ (5.913014)  °_(1,507,437)
(65,314,586)  (54,431,697), (12, 522 490)
(65,314,586) .  (54.431,697) - (12,522,490)
11,537,372 (6,109,154) 187,176
$(53,777,214)  $(60,540,851) $(12,335,314)
239,442275 - 227,001,672 - 211,586,953
239,442,275 227,001,672 211,586,953

’ PRV . .

$ (0.27). .$ 0.24) $ .., (0.06)
$ 005 § 003) § 0.00
$ 0.22) $ 027 $ (0.06)
$ 027 3 024) $ (0.06)
$ 005 § 0.03) $ _0.00
$ 0.22) $ 027 $ (0.06)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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CANARGO ENERGY CORPORATION
« Consolidatéd Staternents of Cash Flows -

. L For Year Ended December 31,
v e 2007 2006 2005
© . reon . ' * (Expressed in United States dollars)
Operating activities: + ; . i "f = . .

NetLoss.............. P TR S TR U SN B e e . (53,777,214)  (60,540,851)  (12,335,314)

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, get of ta.xes and minority interest. ... .. 11,537,372 (6,109,154) 187,176

Loss from continuing operations . . . . ... ... ... ... (65,314,586). ., (54,431,697 ° (12,522,490)

Ad_]ustmems to reconcile net loss from contineing operations to net cash used by . P RS

- operating activities: - v t- - : ' a
Non-cash stock compensation eXPense . .. . ... v e inn v ettt iaaannre o 627,791 . 1924076 .. 2,374,578
Non-cash interest expense and amortization’of debi dlscoum N e 4,445,716 3,543,938 1,277,878

' Non-cash debt extinguishment expense . . . . . .. e R, o 12,127,494 =
+ Commen stock issued for services . . . ... ... e e Vet Ve — —_ 53,600

Non-cash miscellanous expenses . .. ............ e e e -4 -, = 193,000

Depreciation, depletion and amortizalion . . . .. ... ... ittt i i e 2,592,531 . 3,831,472. 13,275,553

Impairment of ol and gas ventures and other assets .. . . ..., .. .. ....... .o 42,000,000 39,000,000 S T —

Equity loss (income) from investments . . .. .................. e — — 155,016

Gain on dispesition of assets. ., . . ............ e e e 138,157 e [ R T WY

Allowance for doubiful accounts . ... ....... B A Lt —_ — ¢ . 145829 |

Trading gain on SeCUMIIES. . . . . . ...ttt it ittt i e 1,624,732 <. —_ . - : .

Changes in assets and liabilities: . vea o Rt !

"Restricted cash . ... .................. S e L 299,777 2,881,895 ° (1,781:672)

Accountsreceivable . . ........... ... ... ... e e 124,688 . . (892,782) :« 1,299,761
IBVENMOTY . - v vttt e IR Caeeee e, 787300 ¢ T-433750. _ (632,392)

. Prepayments. . . . .. e P S 254,699 12911~ '(262,801) |
Oher CUMMENT ASSELS . . v v v v v v e s v enen e s S S . (3,843) (12,849) °  (178,323) |
Accounmts Payable . . ... ... . L e e e e e e ' (703,498) - 785,178 40Q.540 |
Deferred revenue . . .. ... ittt i i e e KRR - (484,515) " © - 484,515 - i (3,081,367} i
Accrued fabilities .. ... ... o e ’ 429,400 (76,450) (548,391) |

Net cash used by continulug operating activities . . . .. .. .................. 762,730 (2,516,083} *_(9,771,681) |
Investing activities: ' : T s i

Capital expenditures . . .. ... ..., i e A - {(1,710,714) - (24,338,874) .(29,957,341) I

Proceeds from disposition of assets. , . . ... ... ... .. o e 500,000 . ¢ = C =

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ... ....... o e A — - —i " 609,553

Proceeds from disposition of security investments . . ... .. e T e

Change in oil and gas supplier prepayments . . .. ..................... e 1,688,327 . (l 056 388) 2,395,671

Net cash used in investing activitles. . . . ... .. Sl PP L. OS84T (25395262) (26952.117)
Financing activities: ) . oL

Proceeds from sale of common stock . .. ... ... ... ... ... e . 3560600 - 17,267,280 , 4,429,303

Share I35 COSIS. . . . it i e e e —. . (1,146,237} (191,876)

Proceeds from loans . .. . ... ... ... e — . 23,000,000 . - 39,237,000

Repaymentof loans. . . ................ A TS . — . — - (7,200,000)

Deferred loan €osts . . . .00 ittt e e e e e e : — . (235925) . {(385,630)

Net cash provided by financing activities . . . . .. e e 3,560,600 38,885,118 '35,888,797
Discontinued activities: ’ ) o .- ’ ) I

Net cash generated by operating activities . . . .. ..., . .. ... ..., e I8 T (6225.099) 1 302,892

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . .......,. L. e g e e (1,761,409)  (11,783,380) - (6 74-4 ,380)

Net cash provided by financing activities. . . .. .............. e — . 4,046,692 —

Net cash flows from assets and liabilities held for sale and fo be dlsposed ...... o (1,859,192} (13,061,781)  (5,241,488)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . ........ PRV :".‘. . ¥ (9,583,169} (2,088,008) (6,076,489)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period .. .................... ... 16452550 - 18,540,558°1° 24,617,047

Amounts reclassified to discontinued operations’ . . .. ... ... A, A0 (0,763,261 {438,751) T

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period asstated . . . ... .............. 14,689,280 18,101,807 ' 24,617,047
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period. . . . ... VT P _'$ 6869381  § 16,452,550 , §18,540,558
c o,
ca oL < LI |
The accompanying notes are an'integral part of the consolidated financial statements « ..
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CANARGO:ENERGY. CORPORATION
Consolidated:Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

- Taae oo Common Stock
" c £ Number of
ek s LT " Shares Additional Deferred . Total
- Issued and Paid-In Compensation Accumulated Stockholders’
Issuahble Par Value Capital Expense Deficit Equity.

r LA ' - g
. ' ‘. . P Expressed in United States Dollars .
Total; December 31,2004, . . .- " ©*. '195,212,089  §19,521,208 ~ $183,418,338  $(1,976,102) _"3(104,866,192) $ 96,097,252
Shares Issued pursuant to StandBy-~ - . “

Equity Distribution agreement . “ o S W a .. . o

(Comell Capital) ............. 380,836 38,084 469,514 -507,598
Shar'es Issued pursuant to Standby -~ : o o I

Equity Distribution agrcernent W . R P ' no :

(Comell Capital) . ..., ...:.... . 335653 33,565 . 458,837 ; v 492402
Exercise of stock options. . . . ...... 1,067,833 106,783 255,850 R L - 362,633
SharéstIssued pursuant to Standby ° LR P

Equity Distribution’ agreemen[ HT el . N

{Comell Capital) . ceotahat L 344,758 34,476 498,072 - ] ' e 532,548
Shares Issued pursvant to Sta.ndby— co

Equity Distribution agreement” , - . L : ! L

(Comell Capital) .. ........... 370,599 37,060 562,940 P 600,000
Shares Issued pursuant to Standby ™ - 1y,

Equity Distribution agreement ‘ ..

_{Cormell Capital) ,......... RCI 381,170 g nz 561,883 600,000
Sharcs Issued pursua.m to Sla.ndby N R ; |

. Equity Distribution agreement . ;o . : L N .

" {Comell Capual) .......... 495,745 49,574 550,426 600,000
Exercise of stock options. . . . . R 1,570,000 157,000 11,000 . 168,000
‘Shares Issued pursuant to Standbyr |, )

1 . Equity Distribution agreement: ~z_ . ‘

{Comell Capital) ............: 552,639 35,264 544,736 , 600,000
Shares Issued pursuant to Sla.ndby, e . . ,

" Equity Distribution agreement *- " &'~ . - . 4N .

{Comell Capital) ............. 473,634 47,363 552,637 -, 600,000
Shares Issued pursuant to Standbyf¥ © .F . K

Equity Distribution agreement '™+ n.* . . ‘

oo {(Comell Capital) ............. 837,054, 83,705 . 516,295 ' ' 600,000
Shares Issued pursuant to Standby "

-Equity Dlsr.nbutlon agreement .%.. i wooy -

" (Cornell’ Cap:tal) ........ '.',,_. e 813,670 81,367 518,633 ) . . 600,(_)00
Shares Tssued pursuam 1o Standby "~ -

Equity Distribution agreement

(Comcll Capltal) T S B72,854 87,285 512,715 600,000
Sha.res Issued pursuant to Standby : ' : ! to

Equiity ‘Distribution agreement . - .

(Comell Capital) ............. 847,458 84,746 515,254 ' 600,000

 Shares Issueable pursuant o e . ' T
, -consultancy agreement: " . - \ e ,

(CEOCast) ... ol ... ... SOl 80,000 8,000 45,600 ) 53,600
Shares Issued pursuant o Standby _ . ,

Equity Distribution agreement” o K : - ! :

(Comell Capital} r. P JooaTen 801,068 80,107 519,893 - 600,000
Shares Issued purSuant to Standby- - - :

- Equity Distnibution agreement '+ v ‘ peotar et v 1 o .

(Ccmcll Capital) ......... ;; ..... '812,348 Bl,?.35 518,763, . . ..500,00
Shares Issued pursuant tg Tethys A . i o o y o

buy-out . ... - - 11,000,000 1,100,000 7,260,000 . -y 8,360,000
Shares Issued pursuam to Standby, U T ros. " '

Equny Distribution agreement < - . , . .
. ‘tComéil.Capital)-.~. ... :. . 1.0 i 639,591 63,959 536,041 ] R ' 600,000
Shares Issued pursuant to Standby

Equity Distribution agTeement )

(Cornell Capital}s. . . o ... 0 50759642 -~ 59,6421 :540,358 - P . 600,000
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CANARGO ENERGY: CORPORATION )
Consolidated Statements of-Stockholders’ Equity, — continued

Cornmon Stock

IR T
Number of .
Shares | Additional Deferred Total
. ' “ Issued and Paid-In { Compensation Accumulated Stockholders®
Issuable 1. Par Value Capital . Expense Deficit Equity
: s . Expressed in United States Dollars ‘
Shares Issued pursuant to Standby . ! ' o
Equity Distribution agreement ' "
(Comell Capital) ............. 613,246 61,325 538,675 , BOO'LOOO
Shares Issued pursuant to Standby pre " ) “
Equity Distribution agreement
(Cornell Capital) ............. 630,120 63,012 536,988 l" * ‘ _ 600,000
Shares Issued pursuant to Standby ) ‘
Equity Distribution agreement ‘.
(Comnell Capitaly .. ........... 669,568 66,95? . 533,043 . . 600,000
Shares Issued pursuant to Standby )
Equity Distribution agreement . )
(Comell Capitaly ............. 761,325 76,133 523,867 : o 600,000
Shares Issued pursuant to Standby bt v, v Lom s
Equity Distribution agreement . . .
(Comell Capital) ............. 783,188 78,319 521,681 o - , 600'.000
Exercise of stock options. . ... .. ... 360.000 36,000 481,320 s . L 317,320
Exercise of stock options, . . ... .... 284,000 28,400 352,950 ) . + 381350
Stock based compensation under e B .07
SFAS 148 . . .. ... ... ... — — " 1,222,625 - (244,297) e N 978,328
Share issuecosts . . .. ........... — —_ (1,186,633) . e (1,1861633)
NEULOSS + v vveee e — — — | (12.335314), " (J2,335.314)
Total, December 31,2005 . .. ... .. 222,586,867 ~$22,258,685  $202,892,303  $(2,220,395) - $(117,201,506) $105,729,083
Total, December 31,2005 . . ... ... 222,586,867 $22,258,685 $202,892303  $(2,220,399) $('li_-7,201',506)‘ $10§,729,083
Shares Issued pursuant to amended et ’
" loan agreement dated August 27, - e
2004, (Salahi Ozwrk) ... . ...... 1,521,739 152,174 897.826 — — 1,050,000
Adoption of FAS 123R stock. based - Cr o . 4 I T My voar 8"
-compensation on effective date . .". . - — - - (2,220,359)- --2,220,399 — —
Discount recorded for Beneficial
conversion feature and Issue of
warrants to purchase 13 million
shares persuant to a convertible :
loan agreement . ......_........ — — 10,166,000 — — 10,166,000
Discount recorded for Beneficial
conversion feature and Issue of
warrants to purchase 12.5 million
shares persuant to a convertible
loan agreement . ............. 2,700,000 ) 2,700,000
Stock based compensation under "
SFAS123R. ... .. ... ... ... —_ — 1.924.076 — — 1,924,076
Discount recorded for [ssue of warrants
to purchase 5 million shares persuant
to a loan agreement ... ........ — — 2,220,600 - — 2,220,000
Exercise of stock options. . .. .. .... 774,000 77,400 511,700 — _ 589,100
Shares Issued persuant to private
placement Qctober 2006 . ... .. .. 12,263,368 1,226,337 15,451,843 16,678,180
Share issuance cosls. . .. ... ...... (1,146,236) (1,146,236}
NetLoss .................... — — — — (60,540,851) (60,540,851}
Total, December 31, 2006 ... ... .. 237,145,974  $23,714,596 $233,397,113  § 0 $(177,742,357) - § 79,369,352
Total, December 31,2006 ........ 237,145,974  $23,714,596  $233,397,113  §. 0 $(177,742357) $ 79,369,352
! :‘ P + i e dnl v v L (- e
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CANARGO ENERGY CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders"Equity — continued

Stock based compensation under

SFASI23R.................

Issue of shares under Exercise of

Additional discount recorded for issue
of warrants to purchase 5 miliion
shares persoant to a loan

agreement. . .............unn
Exercise of stock options. . . ... ... ..

Discount recorded for Issue of
compensatory warrants to purchase
5 million shares persuant to the

modification to a loan agreement . . .

Discount recorded for Issue of
compensatory warrants to purchase
11,111,111 shares persuant to the

- modification to a loan agreement . . .

Shares Issued persuant to private

placement August 2007 . .. ... .

Discount recorded for Issue of
_ compensatory warrants to purchase
17,916,667 shares persuant to the

modification to a loan agreement . . .

'Discoqnl recorded for Tssue of \
-compensatory wasrants to purchase
3,750,000 shares persuant to the

moddification 1o a loan agreement . . .
Netloss . ................. -

Total, December 31, 2007 . . ... ...

Common Stock

Number of .
Shares Additional Deferred Total
Issued and Paid-In t Compensation Accumulated Stockholders’
Issuable Par Value * Capital Expense Deficit Equity
' Expressed in United States Doltars
— — 627,791 — C— 627,791
1,000,000 100,000 530,000 — ¢ — 630,000
237,875 237,875
1,475,000 147,500 283,100 430,600
1,283,500 1,283,500
2,953,333 - 2,953,333
2500000 250,000 2,250,000 22,500,000
3,180,208 3,180,208
573,375 . 573,375
— — — — (53,777,214) (53,777.214)
242,120,974 $24,212,09¢  $245,316,295 0 $(231,519,571) $ 38,008,820
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NOTE 1 — NATURE OF.OPERATIONS AND GOING~CONCERN T . P

CanArgo Energy Corporatlon headquanered in Guemsey, Bntlsh Isles and its consolidated submdranes
(collectively “CanArgo”, “we”, “our s”), is an 1ntegrated oil and gas company operating predommately_
within Georgia. Our principal activity is the acquisition of i interests in and development of crude oil and

natural gas fields.

3 “

3 L : ' ¢

Our ability to continue to pursue our principal activities of acquiring interests in and developing oil and
gas fields is dependent upon generating funds from internal sources; external sources and, ultimately,’
maintaining sufficient’positive cash flows from‘operating activities. Oui financial staternents-have been
prepared in accordancé with U.S. GAAP, which contemplates ¢ontinbation of the Company as a going concern.
The Company incuirred net losses from continuing operations to' common stockholders of approximately
$65,315,000 $54,432/000 and-$12,522,000 for the years ended Decéimber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 R
respectively. These net losses included non-cash charges related to depreciation and depletion, impairments,
lean interest, amortization of debt discount, extinguishment of debt and stock-based compensation of " -
approxrmatt,ly $61,936, 000 $48 213,000 and 37, 175, 000 for the years ended December 31, 2007,,2006 and
2005 respectrvely

o T . by _-' N ! L . NER v - Lhees T

In the vears ended-December 31, 2007 and "2006; the’Company’s revenues from its Georgiah:operations'
did not-cover the codts of its opefations. At December 31, 2007 thé Company had unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents available for general corporate use or for use in the Georgian operations' of approximately = '
$6,869,000. In 2007 the Company expérienced a net cash outflow from operations of approxrmately
$1,800,000 in Georgia. In addition, the Company has 2 planned tapital-expenditure budget in 2008 of -
approximately, $12,000,000 in Georgia. The exploranon and development wells currently undergoing or
waiting to undergo producuon testing in Georgra currently do not produce enough commercmlly available
quantities of oil and or gas and the, ;Company, will not have sufﬁcrent workmg capital and. may have to delay
or suspend, its capltal expend:ture plans and posmbly make cutbacks in its operations. There are no assurances
the Company could.raise addmonal sources, of equity ﬁnancmg and the covenants contained i in the Note
Purchase Agreemems to Wthh the Company is a,party (see Note 2 of the consohdated ﬁnancml statements)
restrict the Company from i incurring additional debt obl1gat10ns un]ess it receives consent from Noteholders
holding at least 51% in aggregate outstanding pringipal amount of the of the Notes covered by such
Agreements.

o ) ' T L .
. Consequently, the aforemennoned 1tems l‘aISE: subqtanual doubt about the Company 5 ablluy 1o conunue ‘
as a goipg- concern.

M b 1 L S - ey e . .o .

We currently have sufficient cash-ort hand to support our operatlons thrdugh to the third quarter 2008 In
order to fund our planned capital expenditure program and to continue our operations after the third quarter
2008, we need- to raise substantial funds. As noted elsewhere, we are pursuing raising additional funds through
-private placements of our,equity or debt securities or-a possible rights offering to shareholders. We are alsp -
actively pursuing the farming out a number of. our exploration projects. We are required under the covenants
of our existing Convertible Notes to obtain the approval of a majority of our debt holders in order to incur
additional indebtedness in excess of $2.5 million, which approval we cannot guarantee. In the event we
attempt to raise funds through an equity offering, we would more than likely be required to offer our equity.
securities at a substant:a] drscount to the current public market price in order to atiract investors. In the event
that we were to do so, provisions in our outstandmg ‘Convertible Notes and Warrants would cause their’

. exercise prices 10 reset to the lower price in any offering. If low enough, thlS could effect a srgmﬁcant dilution
to current shareholders or possibly to a change of control event. ) '

* There can be no assurance of our sacéess in rdising thise funds In the event that we ‘are unable to raise
additional funds on terms dcceptable’ to us, we will be requ1red to 51gmﬁcantly curtail our operatlons in
Georgla and to abandon our currently planned capnal expend1ture program

The“Company 8 ablhty {0 continu€ as A going concem is dependent upon raising capital through debt and
equity financing on terms.desirable to the Company. If the Company is unable to obtain additionai funds when
they are required.or if the funds cannot be obtained on terms. favorable to the Company, management will be
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‘required to delay, scale back or eliminate its well developmeént program or license third parti€s to develop or -

market products that the Company would otherwise seek to develop or market itself, or even be requnred 1o
reltnqmsh its mterest in'the properttes ‘or in the extreme snuatton cease operations. ‘The financial statements
do not include any adjustments that mtght result from the outcome of this uncertamty '

. i Vo

.- - v LT

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

o

‘Basis afPresematwn - S "" SRUE U
N . LR | K .

The consohdated f nanmal statements- and notes thereto are prepared in accordance with accountmg
principles generally accepted in the, United, States. All amounts are in U.S. dollars.,Certain items for prior
years in the consolidated, financial statements have been, reclassified to.conform to the current year’s "
presentation.-Fhere was no effect on_the reported.net loss as a result of these reclassifications. S

R C R TR o R - L on . IS ey

Comtolidation e e . L i . . T

* The consolidated fifianéial stafements include the accoudts of CanArgo Energy Corporatton and its
majority owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated.
Investments in.less than majority owned corporations and corporate like entities in which we exercise
mgmﬁcant mfluence are, accounted for using the equity method. Entities in which we do not have 51gmﬁcant
influence are accounted for using the cost method. o e e e

Equt{yMethod P NI e : RO ) R o ey e

L . P

Under-the guidande of Emergmg‘lssue Task' Force D-46, E‘Accountmg—for Limited Pannershtp Invest-
ments the Company uses the equity method to_account for all of its limited parthership interest§ in’ 6il and
gas ventures that exceed 5% and is tess than 50% "Under the'equity method of accounting, the Company £
proportionate share of the irivéstees’ net income’ or lossis includéd in'“Eduity Iicomé from Investments” ;
the consohdated statements of operations. Any excess of the'; carrytng value of the investment and loan '
advances over the underlymg net eqmty of the investee is evaluated each reportmg penod for tmpatrrnent :

u ' 1y . BACAEN - - at

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements sl o o
..' DL
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles .
requires management to'make estimates, judgements and ‘assumptions that affect the reported- amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statement$
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses durmg the repomng perlod Actual results could differ

from those, esttmates L .. . .

-Management believes that it i§ reasonably possible the fol]owmg material estimates affecttng the financial
statements could,significantly change in the coming year: (1) estimates of proved.oil and gas reserves; '
(2) estimates as to-the expected future cash flow from proved 01] and gas properties anﬂ (3) estimatés of future
dismantlement and’ restoratton ‘costs,” ' o Co e T se b

3 T . : .

' + B T '

Cash and Cash Eqmvalerits o ’ ’ IR

R

Cash and cash equtvalents mclude all liquid 1nvestments w1th an ongmal matunty of three months or less.

e . . r ' P " . 1

Fair Value of Finam:ial Instruments . . t

The carrymg amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and equivalents, short-term
receivables and short- term payables approxtmate thelr fair value due to the short matunty of the mstruments
For the balances in 2007, the carrying value of $11,697, 231 of long-term debt reflects discounts for the value |
of.detachable warrants and beneficial conversion features, net of amortization, of $3.552,769. The face amount
of long-terin debt outstanding as of December 31, 2007 was $15,250,000. For the balances in 2006, the
carrying value of $37,264,271 of long-term debt reflects discounts for the value of detachable warrants and .
beneficial conversion features, net of amortization, of $10,735,729. The face amount of long-term debt  _.°
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outstaniding as ‘of December 31, 2006 was $48,000,000. Please refer to Note 9 Loans Payable and Long Term
Debt for a more detailed discussion of the accounting treatment .of the long-term debt. e

T T . . : i

Concentration of Credit Risk ‘ e ‘ - !

Although our accounts receivable are exposed to potential credit loss, we do not belleve such risk to be
significant, ' . : ‘ s

During 'the year ended December 31, 2007, oil produced in’ Georgla was sold Lo two customers ‘with ‘sales
to each of thése customers representing more than 10% of revenues. During the year ended Deceinber 31,
2006, oil produced in Georgia was sold to two customers with sales to one of these customers represemlng
more than 10% of revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2005, oil produced in Georgia- was sold to
four customers with sales to two of these customers representing more than 10% of revenues.

*As an independent oil dnd gas producer, our revenue, profitability and future rate of growth are
substantially dependent upon prevailing price$ for oil and gas, which are dependent-upon numerous factors
beyond our control, such as economic, pOllthdl and regulatory developments and competition from other
sources of, energy The energy markets havé historically been very volatile, and there can be no assurance that
oil arid gas pnces will not be subject to wide fluctuations in the futire. A substantial or extended decline in oil
and gas prices could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, resulis of operations, cash flows
and our access to capital and on the quantities of oil and gas reserves that may be economically produced.

- ' . ‘ . P

bl LI
Reclassification -

- . ' e

Certain itemns in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the currént
year presentation. There was no effect on reported net loss as a result of these reclassifications.
o ' . HEEN T -

Accounts Recewable and Allowance for Doub{fm' Debts

Accouma recelvable are carried at the amount owed by customers, reduced by an alIowance for estimated
amounts that may not be collectible in the future. The allowance for doubtfil accounts is estimated based upon
historical write-off percentages, known. problem accounts, and current economic conditions: Accounts are
written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts when we determine that amounts are not collectable. .
and recoveries of previously wntten off accounts are recorded when collected.

y f . . . . e P

Inventories

e L . . . .
-+ Inventories of crude 011 are valued at lhe lower of average cost or net reahzab]e value. lnventory costs -
include expenditures and other charges (including,depreciation, .depletion and amortization} directly and
indirectly, incurred in bringing the inventory to its existing condition and location. Selling expenses and general
and admlmstranve expenses are reported as period costs and excluded from inventory cost. -

tr [ . 1

Capital Assets e e - ) e L

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated provisions for dépreciation, deplétion and amortiza-’
tion unless the carrying amount is viewed as not recoverabie- in which case the carrymg value of the assets is
reduced to the estlmated recoverable amount. See “lmpalrment of Long-Lived Assets” below. Expendltures for
major renewals and betterments which extend the ongmal est:mated economic useful hves of applicable
assets, are capitalized. Expenditures. for normal repairs and mamtenance are charged to expense as incurred.
The cost and related accumulated depreciation of assets sold or retired are removed from the accounts and any
gain or loss thereon is reflected in operations. Unproved properties are not deemed to be impaired until the
right to drill on those propernes is loqt and/or planned development has ceased

Ozl And Gas Propernes — CanArgo accounts for oxl and gas propeme% and mteresls under the fu]l cost
method. Under the full cost method, all acqmsmon, exploration-and development costs, including certain
directly related employee. costs incurred for the, purpose of finding oil and gas are capitalized and accumulated
in pools on a country — by — country basis. Capitalized costs include the cost of drilling-and equipping
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productive wells, including the estimated costs of dismantling.and abandoning these assets, dry hole costs,
lease acquisition costs, seismic and other geological and geophysical costs, delay rentals and costs related to
such activities. Employee costs associated with production and other operating activities and general corporate
activities are expensed in the penod incurred. . _—

- Where proved reserves are established, capitalized-costs are*limited on a country — by — country basis
(the ceiling test). The ceiling test is calculated as the sum of the present value of future net cash flows related -
to estimated production of proved reserves, usmg end — of — the-current-period prices, discounted at 10%,
and takes into account expected future costs to develop proved reserves and operating expenses and i mcome
taxes. Under the ce111ng test, if the capitalized cost of the full cost pool exceeds the ceiling hmuanon the
excess is charged as an impairment expense.

! ' ¢ . r

Unit-of-production deprec'iation is applied to capitalized costs of the full cost pool. Unit-of-production
rates are based on the amount of proved developed reserves of;, oil, gas and other minerals. that are estimated to
be recoverable from exrstmg facilities using current operaung methods. . . .

* :

We utilize a smgle cost center for each country where we have operanonb for amortization purposes Any
conveyances of properties are treated as adjustments to the cost of oil and gas properties with no gain or loss
recognized unless the operanons are suspended in, the entire cost center .or the conveyance is mgmﬁcam in
nature.

The costs of investments in unproved properties and portions of costs associated with major development
projects are excluded from the deprecrauon depletion and amortization (“DD&A”) calculation until the project
is evaluated. . . P ‘ , .

exploration phase. In areas where proved reserves are established, significant unproved properties are evaluated
periodically, but not less than annually, for impairment. If a reduction in value has occurred, these property
costs are considered impaired and are .transferred to the related full cost pool. Unproved properties whose
acquisition costs are not individually signiﬁcant are aggregated, and the portion of such costs estimated to be
ultimately nonproductive, based on experience, 18 amomzed to the full cost pool over an average holding .
period.

Unproved prop'erty costs include leasehold costs, seismic costs and other costs incurred during the ' ‘
|

_ G N g o
In countries where the existence of proved reserves has not yet been determined, leasehold costs, seismic
costs and other costs incurred during the exploration phase remain capitalized in unproved property cost .,
centers until proved reserves have been established or until exploration activities cease or impairment and
reduction in value occurs. If exploration activities result in the establishment-of a proved reserve base, amounts
in the unprovéd-property cost center are reclassified as proved properties’and become subject to depreciation,
depletion and amortization and the application of the ceiling test. If exploration efforts in a country- are
unsuccessful in establishing proved resetves, it may be determined that the value of explordtory costs incurred
there have been permanently diminished in part or in whole. Therefore, based on the impairment evaluation
and future exploratlon plans, the unproved property cost centers related to the area of interest could be
impaired, and accumulated costs charged agamst earnings.’

E T
f K .

* Property and Equipment — Deprecranon of property and equ1pment is computed using the straight-line
method ‘over the'estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from three to five years for office furmture and
equnpment to three to ﬁfteen years, for orl and gas related equlpment :

4 . * . L h L R . . . . 3
Revenue Recognition . | . o - i N . ] . ,
: ‘ l

Continuing operations — We recogmze revenues when hydrocarbons have been produced and dehvered
and payment is reasonably assured Tt . .

' K e, ' . . .

Drscontmued operatrons — We recognize revenues when hydrocarbons have been produced ‘and-delivered
and payment is reasonably assured. :
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Foreign Operations

Qur future operations and eamings will depend upon the results of our operations in the Georgia. There
can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully-conduct such operations, and a failure to do so would
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Also, the success
of our operations will be subject to numerous contingencies, some of which are beyond management control.
These contingencies include general and regional economic conditions, prices for crude oil and natural gas,
competition and changes in regulation. Since we are dependent on.international operatxons specifically those
in Georgia, we will be subject to various additional political, economic and other uncertainties. Among other
risks, our operations may be subject to the risks and restrictions on transfer of funds, import and export duties,
quotas and embargoes, domestic and international customs and tariffs, and changing taxauon pollc1es foreign
exchange restrictions, political conditions and regulations.

Foreign Currenc'y Translation L,

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for, c;ur upstream operaiions and the Lari is the functional |
currency for marketing operations. All monetary assets and liabilities denommated in foreign currency are
translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date and the resulting
unfealized translation gains or. losses are reflected in operations. Non-monetary assets are translated at
historical exchange rates. Revenue and expense items (excluding depreClatlon and amortization which are
translated at the same rates as the related assets) are translated at the average rate of exchange for the year.

ot

Income Taxes v

s

We'recognize deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected'future tax consequeénces of events that
have been, included in the ﬁnanclal statements or tax retumns. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined .
based on the difference between the financial statement ‘and the tax bases '6f assets and liabilities usmg enacted
rates in effect. for the years m whlch the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are
established, when appropriate, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

! . . Gt [

.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets ,

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment using the guidance of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard ({'SFAS”) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.
SFAS No. 144 establishes a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and
requires that those long-lived assets be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell,
whether reported int continuing operations 9r in discontinued operaticns. . - _ , , -

oot

Dismantlement, Restoration and Enviror;menial Costs - )
Effective January 1, 2003, we recognize liabilities for-asset retirement obligations associated with _tangible
long-lived assets, such as producing well sites, with a corresponding increase in-the related long-lived asset.
The asset retirement cost is depleted along with the property and equipment in the full cost pool. The asset
retirement obligation is recorded atfair value and accretion expense, recognized over.the life of the property,
increases the liability to its expected settlement value. If the.fair value of the estimated asset retirement
obligation changes, an adjustment is'recorded for both the asset retirement obligation and the asset retirement
cost. As.at December 31, 2007 and December. 31, 2006, the asset retirement obligation, which is included on
the consolidated balance sheet.in provision for future site restoration, was $230,000 and $205,000;
respectively. . o . ‘ . : . '

.
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2007 2006
Beginning balance, January 1 ........ e e e $205,000,  $167,000
..  New obligations incurred in 2007, . ... .. .. e e e .o — ., 21,000
:Liabilities settled in 2007' 0., oo L S R ot Cr— —
Accrettonofexpense....:.'.-..."....-.‘.'.' ..... ot i 2200000 0 220000
Rev151on in esumates mcludmg tlmmg ...... T AV A 5000 ' . (5,000)
| Balance at DeembEr 31 v . v v v sttt 230,000 205000

- . _ AN , . . [ 1

Stock-Based Compeizsaulo'n Plans L e S
Effective Jannary 1, 2006 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accountmg Standard (“SFAS”)
No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123(R)”). Generally, the fair value approach in
SFAS No. 123(R) is similar to the fair value approach described in SFAS No. 123. In-2005, we used the
Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted to employees. We
adopted SFAS No. i23(R) using the modified- prospectivé method, beginning January 1, 2006. We also élected
to continue to esumate "the fair value of stéck éptions usmg the Black-Scholes- opuon pricing model. Total -
compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recogmzed Was approximately '$140,950 as of
December 31, 2007 and the welghled average penod over which thlS cost w1ll be recogmzed is approxnmately

oot

6 months. ' - ¥
T N i . TI St e

fu

Recently Issued Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”) which
defines fair value establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the: United States, and expands dlsclosures ‘about falr value measurements. SFAS No. 157
is effectlve for financial assets and llablhues for fiscal years begmmng after November 15, 2007. In February
2008, the FASB |ssued FSP FAS 157 2, Effectlve Date of FASB Statement No. 157 FSP 157-2 delays the
effective date of SFAS No. 157 for all non-financial assets and non-finaricial liabilities that ire not re- .
measured at fair value on'a recurrmg basis until fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. Any amounts
recognized upon adoption of this rule as a cumulative effect adjustment will be recorded to the opening
balance of retained earnings in the year of adoption. The Company has evaluated SFAS No. 157 and has
determined that it will not have a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements. ~

" Tn December 2007, the Findncial ‘Accbunting Standdrds Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141®, “Busi-
ness Combmauom” (“SFAS 141‘3”) whtch replaces SFAS 141. SFAS 1419 establishes’ principles and
requrremems for how an acqurrer recogmzes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets”’
acquired, the liabilities assumied, any ‘non-controlling interest in the acqulree and the goodw:ll acqmred The
Statement also establishes disclosure requirements, which will'enable users to ‘evaluate the nature’ and financial
effects of the business combination. SFAS 1412 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2008. The adoption of SFAS 141%® will have an impact on accountmg for busmess combmatxons once adopted
but the effect is dependent upon acquisitions at that time.

In December 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Nontontrolling Interesis in Consolidated Financial
Statements —- an amendmentiof-Accounting Research Bulletin No. 517 (“SFAS 160”), which establishes
accounting:and reporting standards for ownership interests in‘subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent,
the -amount of ‘consolidated net income attributable. to the parent and to the rioncontrolling interest, changes in
a parent’s ownership intérest and the valuation of retdgined non-controlling equity investments when a
subsidiary is ‘deconsolidated. The Statement also establishes reporting requirements that provide sufficient
disclosures.that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-
controlling owners. SFAS.160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company
has not determined the effect that the application of SFAS 160 will have on its Consclidated Financial
Statements,
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The Company has reviewed all other recently issued, but not yet adopted, accounting standards in order
to determine their effects, if any, on its consolidated results of operauons financial posmon and cash flows.
Based on that review, the Company believes that none of these pronouncements 'will have' a srgmﬁcam effect
on current or future earnings or operations.

NOTE 3-- RESTRICTED CASH -

Restricted cash consisted of the following at December 31:

12007 2006
S T, T
Restm ted Cash — Secured deposrts ................................... $—  $299,777
K G . t . AR TIEN . W N Y . 1 ey — -

b

In the I:hn'd quarter of 2005 we deposrted approximately $300,000 to secure the issuance of a letter of
credit as requlred under the drilling contract we entered into with Baker Hughes International. ThlS deposrt
became unrestricted in January 2007. R ‘

.. .
J '_. Yao ‘. e . B P L - -t

NOTE 4 —|'A'CCOUNTS RECEIVABLE =

Accounts_ receivable consisted of the following. at December 31: " .

SR S : LU 20070 2006
Trade receivables, before allowance for doubtful debts UL '$2'08,'73‘2 ' -
I'nsurancerecelvable..‘..'..."..._'...br..;I ..... R g '474,665
Other rct.elvables. e T 170,536 29,288

T ° *

U o  $379,268  $503,953

T YT, w a N sy . o
Bad debt expense for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was nil, ml and $145 829 respectively, and is- reflected under’
other income in the stalement of operanons
,.,.
The trade receivable of $208,732 at December 31, 2007 related to a partial amount owed from an oil sale
and was received in full in Janvary 2008,

.

Included in other recelvables of $170 536 is, an amount of $106 585 due from Telhys Petroleum Limited
("I‘elhys") for Tethys selling, general and admmlstratwe expenses paid by the Company after we sold our
entire Tethys shareholding. The amount owed. by Tethys was settled in full in February 2008.

In the second quarter of 2006 we filed a claim with our insurance carrier, for recovery of dnllmg
equipment lost in the Manavi 12 well. As of December 31, 2006, $474, 665 was ! técorded as a feceivable in
connection with this claim. This claim was settled in full by our insuranée carrier in February 2007

A . -

NOTE S—INVENTORY L o

. Iuventory of crude oil consrsted of the following at December 3I . ST . .
Crude oil ©.... .0, B L Lt Woe $373,770 ¢ $452,500
' :l. L S T BB $as2.500




NOTE 6—PREPAYMENTS " v e, T

Prepaymenls consmted of the followmg at Decernber 31 ) )
2007 2006 .

T T Pt -
Drilling CONtractors . .. ....... vttt ie i i an e a $161,297 $l,8_49,624
Financing Fees . . . ... ... ... o i IEEREEEN 46, 721 (157,372
o . 03,519 247,567"
i G . $311,537 52,254,563

NOTE 7= CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets, net of’ accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization (“DD&A”) and 1mpa1rment
include the following at December 31, 2007:

Accurnulated Net
N Do + + . DD&A - . _ Capital
L s, , e ] o _ Cost . And lmpa'irmentl “A‘ssets
Qil and Gas Properties : : ot
Proved properties . . . ..... .. e e $145983,558  $(111,567,391) 334,416,167
Unproved properties. . . ................... 9,444,742 ‘ — 9,444,742
155428300  (111,567,391) 43,860,909
Property and Equipment o A '
Oil and gas related equipment .............. 10,938,820 (3,816,173) 7,122,647
Office furniture, fixtures and eqmpmem and . . . _ .
cother ... oo 01,125,733 (804,670) 321 063
, ' ' 12,064,553 (4,620.843). _ 7.443, 710
' $167,492,853  $(116,188,234) $51,304,619

+f L |

Capnal assets, net of accumulated depletion, depreciation and amoruzauon and impairment (“DD&A”),

include the following at December 31, 2006: P E Vi .
) + Accumulated T Net
Depreciation Capital
L . . e RO . Cost B Audln}pairmeqt A_gsets_

Oil and Gas Properties : woe . oy
Proved propemes ........... e .. 891,539 624_ $(67,608,087)  $23,931,537
Unproved properues. ! .'".:: Sl : S 55 097 099‘ ot = 155097.099

L R C I46 636 723 (67,608,087) 79,028,636

Property and Equipment

, Oil and gas related equipment .. S T 13474027 (5,598,712) NI T.875415
Office fumlture ﬁxturcs and eqmpmenl and . . . " L o
other ©.. ... . . . 1,027,289 (623,640) ' 403,649

14,501,416 (6222.352) 8,279,064
$161.138,139  $(73,830439)  $87,307,700°

We expensed $2,592,531, $3,798,727 and $3,275!553 in rcspect of &eplelio'n, depreciation and amottiza-
tion for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20035, respectively.

Depletion per Barrel of Qil Equivalent on a Units of Production basis was $1,959,304 ($18.04), .
$3,l7_4,_586 ($45.57) and $2,651,053 ($18.67) for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.. All production in the periods presented related to Georgia. Production from our Samgori Field
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attracted depletion from the date of acquisition in April 2004 to December 31 .2005. Production from our
Ninotsminda Field attracted depletion for all years presented. : . , "

Dunng 2007 we transferred apprommately $3,800, 000 of capltal asset costs into the fuIl cost pool from _
unproved properttes relatmg to the plugging and abandomng of the Kumisi #1 well drilled and tested in 2007,
As a result of performmg our annual assessment of costs classified as unproved property to determine if they
should be transferred to the cost pool we determined that approximately $49,100,000 of further costs
principally relating to the drilling of exploration wells at the Manavi and Norio Fields should be moved to the
cost pool..We considered a number of factors in our evaluation including' the length of time that these costs
remained.classified as unproved property . ' :

Oil and Gas Propemes o

, Ultimate realization of, the carrying value of our oil and gas properties will require production, of oil and
gas in sufficient quantities and marketing.such oil and gas at sufficient prices to provide positive cash flow to
CanArgo, which is dependent upon, among other factors, achieving significant production at costs that provide
acceptable margins, reasonable levels of taxation from local authorities, and the ability to market the oil and
gas produced at or near world prices. In addition, we must mobilize drilling equipment and personnel to
initiate drilling, completion and production activities. If one or more of the above factors or other factors, are
different than anticipated, we may not recover our carrying value. " -

As a result of application of the ceiling test limitation, CanArgo recorded a write-down of oil and gas
properties, relating to Georgia, of $42,000,000 in 2007 and $38,400,000 i 2006. Tn 2005, CanArgo did not
need to write-down oil and gas properties due to the ceiling test.

We, generally have the principal responsibility for arranging financing for the oil and gas properties and
ventures in which*we have an interest. There can be no assurance, however, that we or the entities that are
develobing'.the oil'and gas properties and ventures will be able to arrange the financing necessary to develop
the projects being undertaken or to support our corporate and other activities or that such financing as is
available will be on terms that are attractive or acceptable to or are deemed to be in the best interests of the
Company, such entities or their respective stockholders or part1c1pants . . S iy

.The consoltdated ﬁnancral statements of CanArgo do not gtve effect to any addlttonal impairment in the
valug of our investment in oil and gas propemes and ventures or, other adjustments that would be necessary if
financing cannot be arranged for the development of such properttes and ventures or if they are unable to’ )
achieve proﬁtable operations. Failure to arrange such ﬁnancmg on reasonable terms or fa1lure of such’
properties and ventures to achieve profitability would have a material adverse effect on"our ﬁnancral position,
including realization of assets, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

Unproved property additions. relate to our exploratron activity in the period. -

R . v . O t . .

We' plan to test a' portion of our-unproved properties for oil and gas in 2008. In the event that we do not

find oil'and gas, we could incur substantial impairments were the amounts to exceed-our ceiling test. *

Costs Not Being Amortised

Oil and gas property costs not being amortized at December 31, 2007, for both Georgla by year that the
costs were incurred are as follows:

Total
Year Ended December 31: Exploration Acquisition Capital
2007 .. e $3,620,091 $ —  $3,620,091
2006 .. — — —
2005 L e — —_ —
Prior ... L. 2,299,003 3,525,648 5,824,651

$5,919,094  $3,525,648  $9,444,742
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During 2007 wetransferred $3,841,159.of capital asset-costs, into the full cost pool from unproved .
properties, relating to the plugging and abandoning of the Kumisi #1 well drilled and tested in 2007. As a
result of the performmg our annual assessment of costs classified as unproved property to determine if they
should be transferred to the cost pool, we determined that approxrmately $49,100, 000 of further costs '
pnncrpally relating to the drilling of exploration wells at the Manavi and Norio Flelds should be moved to the
cost pool We con51dcred a number of factors in our evaluatron 1nc1udmg the length of time that these costs '

remained classrﬁed as unproved property ,
. s

Unevaluated costs as. at December 31 2007 mclude $5 620 091 for the Nmotsmmda Freld 52, 000 OOO
was allocated to the Cretaceous on acquisition prior to 2003. An appraisal well, M12, was drilled in 2006,
tested in 2007 and now awaits further testing after the successful acid fracturing operation.

Unevaluated costs as at December 31, 2007 include $22,500 for the Norio Field.

Unevaluated Costs as at December 31, 2007 include $3,802,151 for the Nazvrévi Field. $2,695,145 was
allocated to the Field on acquisition prior to 2003. It also includes the: srgmﬁczmt Kumisi Cretaceous gas
where we commenced dnllmg in February 2007

B 4

Property and Equrpment

“Property and Equrpment Oil and gaq related equrpmem includes related ‘equipmentrcurrently in use by
us in the development of the Ninotsminda Field.
} 1. \ . . . ]

NOTE 8 — PREPAID FINANCING FEES o ' T ' - A

Prepaid financing fees at December. 31:
t e S ’ T oo 2007 2006

Commrssron and Professronal fees. ... ..t e e rne $74 804, $288, 632
$74 804 $288 632

Prepaid ﬁnancmg fees as at December 31, 2007 are. corporate ﬁnance fees mcurred in respect of a
$13,000,000 issue of Senior Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Notes due September 1, 2009 and a
$10,000, 000 issue of a 12% Subordinated Convertrble Guarantecd Note due June 28, 2010, with a group of
investors, discussed in 'Note 9, whlch are fo be amortrzed as intereét payable over the term &f the loans.
Professional fees of $135,948 weré amortized on a strarght -line basis in 2007 in connection with the Notes '
There ‘was addrtronal amortiZation incurred in 2{)07 when one of the notes was retired.

Prepald ﬁnanemg fees as at December 31, 2006 are corporate finance fees incurred in- respeet of the
private placement of a $25,000,000 issue of Senior Convertible Secured Notes due July 25, 2009, a
$13,000,000 issue of Senior Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Notes due September 1, 2009, and a’
$10,000,000 issue of a 12% Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Note due June 28, 2010 with a group of
investors, discussed in Note-9 and which.are to be amortized as interest expense over the term of the loans.
Professional fees of $133,238 were amortized on a straight-line basis in 2006 in connection with the Notes.

"w
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NOTE 9 -~ LOANS PAYABLE-AND LONG TERM DEBT o :

! ¢ * - . ‘ . . ‘ W

Loans pgy'able at Decerrtber! 3 cpnsiéted of the fgll,o":vin'g:

T L 007 . 2006,
Long term debt e e ‘ R -
Senior Secured Convertible Loan Notes. .. .. . .. * SR S8 © —  '$25,000,000 -
Senior Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Loan Notes .. .. ... ... 4,650,000 - 13,000,000
12% Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Loan Notes ;. ......... 10,600,000 - 10,000,000 -
Unamortlzed debt dlscoum N PR (3 552 769) (10,735,730)
: T T T T T ) Y
Long termodebt. .. ‘ $11,607,231  $ 37,264,270

A '-' 1 <0 A

X The matuntles of long- term borrowmgs at December 31 2007 was as, followq

[
[— -
-
[ 5

Can e : A 42008 . 2009 12010, 2011 2012
Repayments due.". . . .. Vol s $4650,000° $10,'600,000 B
$—

$—  $4,650000 $10,600.000 $—

';". Ly S 7 - i . 1

In-order to ensure timely procurement of long-lead items- for-our drilling program in'Georgia and for
working capital purposes, we have entered into a‘number of loan agreements of which those outstanding
during 2007 are described below. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and December-31,-2006 we paid .
mterest in re‘pect of these loans of §1, 762 944 and $3 426,167 respectwely

Senior Secured Convemble Notea On July 25 2005, CanArgo completed a pnvate placemem of
$25,000,000 in aggregate pnncrpal amount of our Senior Convertible Secured Loan Notes due. July 25, 2009
(the “Senior Secured Notes™) with a group of private investors (the “Purchasers™) all of which qualified as
“accredited investors” urider Rule 501{a) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended, (the
“Securities Act”) arranged: through.Ingalis & Snyder LLC. of New York City, as Placement Agent, pursuant to_.
a Note Purchase Agreément of even date (the “Senior Note Purchase ‘Agreement™) The Compary paid
approximately $100,000 of legal fees for the Purchasers and a $250,000 arrangement fee to Orion Securities in
connection with the Senior Secured Notes.

.. The unpaid principal balance under,the Senior Secured Notes bore interest (computed on the,basis of a
360-day year of twelve 30-day months) (a) at increasing rates ranging from 3% from the date of issuance to
December 31, 2003; 10% from January 1, 2006 until December 31, 2006; and 15% from January 1, 2007 until
final payment, payable semi-annually, on June 30 and December 30, commencing December 30, 2005, until
the principal shall have become due and payable, and (b) at 3% above the applicable rate on. any overdue
payments of pnnc1pal and interest, . . S : Co.

Pursuant to the provrs1ons of Emergmg lssue Task Force $6-15: “Increacmg Rate Debt” the Company
recognized interest expense using “the effectrve mterest rate method which resultecl in the use of a constant
interest rate for the life of the Senior Secured Notes. The effective interest rate whs approxrmate]y 12.3% per
annum.

The Company amomsed the professional fees 1ncurred in relation to the Senior Secured Notes over the
term of the: Semor Secured Notes ' o

The Semor Secured Notes were conveitible any time, in whole or in part at the option of the Note .
holder, into shares of CanArgo common stock (the “‘Conversion Stock™) which was subject to (a)-customary .
anti-dilution adjustments and (b) -adjustment.if CanArgo issued any equity,securities: (other than pursuant to
the granting of employee stock options pursuant to shareholder approved employee stock option_plans or .
existing outstanding options, warrants and convertible securities), at a price per share of less than $0.90 .
per share, as adjusted (the “CanArgo Conversion Price™), determined net of all discounts, fees,.costs and
expenses incurred in connection with such issuance; in which case the CanArgo Conversion Price would be
reset to such lower price. i
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We could have, at our option without the consént-of Note holders, upon not Iess than 90 days and not
‘more than 120 days prior written notice, prepaid at any, tlme and from time to time after July 31, 2006, all or
any part of the Senior Secured Notes, in a prlnc:lpal amount of not less than $100,000 at the followmg
Redemption Prices (expressed as percentages of the principal amount so prepaid): 105% after July 31, 2006;
104% after January 1, 2007; 103% after July 1, 2007; 102% after January 1, 2008; 101% after July 1, 2008,
and IOQ% after.January 1, 2009, together with all accrued and unpaid interest.

The Senior Secured Notés were subject to mandatory 'prepaymerit due to'a change in coiitrol of the *
Company, as defined By the Senior Note Purchase Agreement. ot v sTa LT

In connection with the exécution and delivery of the Senior Note Purchase Agreement, CanArgo entered
into a’Registration Rights Agreement with the Purchasers pursuant to which it agreed to registér the - e

~ Conversion Stock for resale under the Securities Act and indemnify the Purchasers in connection with the
registration. Under the terms of a Registration Rights Agreement the Company providéd the Purchasers with
. - certain registration rights with respect to the Conversion Stock. On July 27, 2007 the Conversion Stock was no

longer restricted, provided the Noteholders were not affiliates, and no longer need to be covered by a .
Registration Statement. '

fe ’ [

The Senior Secured Notes were secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and its
subsidiaries and contained certain negative and affirmative:covenants and also restricted the ability of the
Company to pay dividends to its common stockholders until the loan and all accrued interest -had been paid or
the Note holders elected to convert their loans to common stock- . - o USSR

-

The Company evaluated the embedded conversion feature in this debt and determmed it did not meet the
criteria for bifurcation Under SFAS No 133 “Accountmg for Denvauve Instruments and’ Hedglng ACthltleS
during the quarter. - SR

P! . . . ' o Fa [

Canversron/Exchange of Senior Secured Notes and issue of Senior Secured Note Conversion Compensa-
tion Warrants: On June 5, 2007, the Company .entered into a consent and.conversion agreement (the '
“Consent.and Conversion Agreement') with the holders of the Senior Secured Notes and with CanArgo
Limited that became effective on June 13, 2007. S S : Co ST

Pursuant to the Consent and Conversion Agreement certain holders of Senior Secured Notes agreed to
convert/exchange $10 million in aggregate principal amount of the Seniot Sécured Notés intd Tethys common
stock. The conversion/exchange was satisfied by the transfer by CanArgo lelted to the convertmg note
holders of 4 million shares of Tethys common stock: : !

As an inducement for those note holders to exchange $10 million in aggregate principal amount of Semor
Secured Notes into Tethys common stock, the Company agreed to issue to those converting note holders -
L 111,111 warrants (the “Senior Secured Note Conversion Compensation Warrants™) to purchase CanArgo
common ‘stock at an exercise price of $0.90 per common share in transactions intended to qualify for an
exemption from reglsl.rauon under the Securities Act pursuant to. Secuon 4(2) thereof and Regulauon D
promulgated thereunder.

All of the Senior Secured Note Conversion Compensation Warrants expire on the earlier of: (i} Septem-
ber 1, 2009; (ii) or such sooner date at the election of the Company and upon at least thirty. (30) days prior
written notice to the Registered Holder in the event that: (a) the Manavi M12 well indicates, by way of an
independent engineering report, sustainable production, if developed, in excess of 7,500 barrels of oil per-day
or (b) all warrants originally-issued under that certain Note and Warrant Purchase Agreemént dated as of
March 3, 2006 by and among the Company and the purchasers listed therein are exercised by the holders’
thereof and the average closing price for the Company’s Common Stock on the American’ Stock Exchange or,
if the Common Stock is not then listed for trading on the American Stock Exchange (“AMEX") then the Oslo
Stock Exchange, is above $2.00 (or its equivalent in NOK, and in any case adjusted for any stock dividends,
stock splits, reverse splits, recapitalizations or reorganizations) for a period of five consecutive trading days
(the “Expiration Date”).
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We .used the following assumptlons to determine the fair value of the Semor Secured Note Conversion

Compensatlon Warrants: -~ i Vo Coot T
S . .o < oL .‘.’ T L R ‘ ". Addrtlonal Loan
Stock pnce on date of grant. ... ... e e e e e $0 74
Risk fi free rate of interest :.. ... ... '._‘.' . Y el SERREE ' - 2 . ce ‘.5..0r8|%
,Expected life of warrant-—-months TS R o R P -, 25,
Dl\fldendrate..-.ﬂ .............. L T L
Historical volatifity.. . ... .. .. S U S S I SRR 70.4%

The Company has accoumed for the modlﬁcauon a;d extmgurshment of $10 mllhon of pnncrpal of the
Senior Secured Notes under Emeérging lssues Task Force (“EITE") 06-16 “Debtor 5 Accountmg for a
Modification {(or Exchange) of Convertible Debt Instruments “ and EITF 96-19 “Debtor’s Accounting for a
Modification or Exchange of Debt Instruments”. The Company determined that the fair value of the Tethys
shares, issued as consideration paid in-satisfiction of the principal balance, was $2.50 per share or $10-million
based on sales of shares to outside investors, and 'thus no gain’ or-loss was recorded. The Company accounted
for the issuance. of the 11,111;111 Senior Note’Conversion ‘Compensation Warrants issued'as additional-
compensation to, mduce the conversion of the debt to Tethys shares under SFAS 84 “Induced Conversions of
Convertible Debt, an Amendment of APB 26” and determrped the farr value of the warrants using t)he Black
Scholes model to be approximately $2.95 million and has recorded that expense under the line item “Loss/

Cost on Debt Extinguishment”. In addition, the Company feversed long-term accruals made under EITF 86-15 -

noted above in the amount of approxrmately $270 000 assocrated with the debt extmgurshed agamst the loss
on extinguishment. T

Issue: of'furrher 31,125,000 Senior Secured Notes in connection with restructuring of short term interest
payments:  On June 13, 2007, the Company entered into an amendment, consent and waiver (the “Senior
Secured Note Amendment, Consent and Waiver”) with the holders of the Senior Secured Notes in terms of -
which the holders of the Senior Secured Notes agreed to receive certain interest payments *due on the Seior
Secured Notes as of June 30, 2007 by payment in kind of additional Senior'Secured ‘Notes. As ‘a result, the
Company issued a further $1,125,000 in aggregate.principal amount of Senior Secured Notes.. These additional
Senior Secured Notes carried the same rights (including as to conversion into shares of common stock of the
Company) as the original $25 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Notes which were
previously u;sued (see the sectlon above enutled “Semor Secured Convemble Notes”) ol

i = T

Amendmem Consent and Waaver to Note Purchase Agreement dated July 23, 2005: ' On July 31, 2007 .
CanArgo Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) sold its remaining interest in Tethys for.. . -
CDNS$23,600,000 (before expenses and commission). On August 3, 2007 the sum of $21,340,397 was remitted
to Ingalls and Snyder’'LLC (the “Escrow Agent™ to be held in an escrow account (the “Escrow Account”™) and
released from the Escrow Account pursuant to.an Escrow Agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”’) dated 4s'of .
August 3, 2007 among CanArgo, CanArgo Limited and the Escrow Agent..On August 9, 2007, CanArgo
entered into an Amendment, Consent and Waiver Agreement with the holders of the' Senior ‘Secured Notes
(the “Senior Noteholders™), pursuant to which: - T R T S A o

*» CanArgo agreed: to ise part "of the net proceeds receivéd by CanArgo Limited (after commission -and
-+ certain expenses, including CanArgo Limited’s pro rata ‘share of the cost§-and expenses'incurred ‘in

++ relation to the recent initial 'public offering of shares'in’ Tethys, which pro rata share of cosis and  « *

expenses of not more than $500,000) to repay to’thé Senior Noteholders all arhousts’ outstanding on the
= Senior Secured Notes {and accordmgly on or about August 9, 2007 the-sum of '$16, 864 063 was -
“released from thé Escrow Account-i in full repayment of the Semor Secured Notes) S

'
i . . LB
‘ o S i wd P

* the Senior Noteholdere agreed to waive the nouce penod which the Company would otherwrse have .
requrred 10 g1ve the Semor Noteholders on early répayment of the Senior Notes

. . I t st * W
. the Senior Noteholders agreed that notw1thstand1ng the date of the. Amendment,rConsent and. Waiver
Agreemenl, interest on the Senior Notes would cease to accrue as of (but including) August 8, 2007;
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v the parties dgreed that following releasé from the Escrow 'Account of the.monies necessary to repay all
amounts owing on the Senior Secured Notes the Escrow Agent would disburse such amounts to-the
Senior Noteholders in accordance with the respective entitlements of the Senior Noteholders to receive
repayment of the Senior Secured Notes;

* by waiving the notice penod which the Company would otherwise be required to give the Senior
Noteholders of an early repayment of the Senior Secured Nofes and by agreeing to a variation of the '
interest provisions attaching to the Senior Secured Notes the Senior Noteholders effectively ‘gave up
(a) certain rights-to convert their Senior Secured Notes into common stock of CanArgo as an alternative
to accepting repayment of their Senior Secured Notes and (b) the right to receive interest on their- -
Senior Secured Nptes in respect of the penod between, on the one hand, the date on which CanArgo
would othermse have served notice of early repayment arid, on “the other hand the date ¢ on Wthh
repayment (ot conversnon) would otherw1se have taken place '

[V ARE PN . EIR I P ' RS .
* in order to compensate the Semor Noteholders for giving up the aforesaid‘rlghts CanArgo issued'to the
Senior Noteholders in the aggregate -warrants-to purchase up to 17,916,667 shares of common stock, .
~par value $0.10 per share, at an exercis¢ price of-$1.00 per share, subject to adjustment, expiring at the,

close of business on December-6, 2007 (the“‘Semor Note Compensatory Warrants™); and ;

‘e accordmgly, CanArgo and the Senlor Noteholders amended the Note Purchase Agreement and the ‘
’ Semor Secured Notes to gwe effect to the foregomg

IS M r ot %) - ‘ '

* the, wa.rrants to purchase up to 17, 916 667 shares of coimmen stock expired on December 6, 2007. ‘ 2

N

We used the followmg assumpnons o detenmne thie faif value of the Senior Note Compensatory
Warrants: '

e C e L e ¢t '+ Additional Loan
Stock pricé on daté of " grant. :' I - o - l' .‘.;l".'f. St Lo S _— - $0.89 '

;.Rlskfreerate ofmterest "-‘,"t":.;;'.".'.'_".‘.".-‘".J‘"""f"'-":""l‘, ..... . 4.64%
Expected llfeofwarrant—months R TIPSR Gagme g e e : 5,
Dividend rate },....‘.n....'.'i';..:...,:..,."..n. T L L T I | —_—
Historical'volatility ..% .. ... T e ' 2% .. .

The Company has accounted for the exunguxshment of. the remammg $15 mllhon of pnnc1pal of the
Senior Secured Notes under Emergmg Issues Task Force (“EITF") 06-16 “Debtor’s Accountmg for a '
Modification (or Exchange) of Convertible Debt Instruments™ and EITF. 96-19 “Debtor’s Accounting for a
Modification or Exchange of Debt Instruments”. The Company accounted for the issuance of the 17,916,667 .
Senior Note Compensatory Warrants issued, as compensation.to the Senior Noteholders for giving up the .
aforementioned rights, under SFAS .84 “Induced Conversions of Convertible: Debt, an Amendment of APB 26”
and determined the fair value of the warrants-using the Black Scholes model to be approximately $3,180,000 .
and has.recorded that expense under the line item “Loss/Cost on Debt Extinguishment”. In addition, in the .
third quarter 2007 the Company reversed long-term accruals made under EITF 86-15 noted above in the . - »
amount of approximately $794,000 associated with the debt extinguished against the loss on extinguishment.

Senior Subordinated Convemble Guaranteed Notes:, . .On March '3, 2006, we finalised a private placement
with a limited group of investors. arranged by Ingalls & Snyder LLC of New York City of a $13,000,000 issue
of Senior Subordmated Convertible Guaranteed Notes due September 1, 2009 (the “Subordinated Notes™} and
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 13,000,000 shares of our common stock par valoe $0.10 per share
(“Subordinated Note Warrant Shares™) at an exercxse price of $1 37 per.share (which exercise price, has, as
noted below, now been reset to $1,00 per share), subject to adjustment as defined below, and expiring on'
March 3 2008 or sooner under certam c1rcumstances (“Subordmated Note Warrams”)

L

The proceeds of thls ﬁnancmg, after the paymem of all placmg expenses and profess:onal fees of
approximately $150,000, have been used to fund the’ development of the Kyzyloi Gas Field in Kazakhstan and
on the commitment exploration programs in. Kazakhstan through Tethys, the former wholly owned subsidiary
of CanArgo which held CanArgo’s former.Kazakhstan. assets. See Note 17, -
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Pursuant to the provisions of Emerging Issue Task Force 86-15: “Increasing-Rate Debt”, the Company
recognizes interest expense using the effective interest rate method, which results in the use of a constant .
interest rate for the life of the Subordinated Notes. The effective interest rate is.approximately 8.3% per .

* annum.: The difference between the interest computed using the actual interest rate in effect (3% per annum.to

December 31, 2006 and 10% from January 1, 2007) and the effective interesvrate (8.3% per annum) totailed ,
$114,328 as of December 31, 2007 of which $76,550 has been. included as an accrued lrablltty and.$37,778 .
has been accrued as a non-current liability,

P ' - it

We éntered mto a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of March 3, 2006 (“Subordmated Note

Purchase Agreement ) with a limited' group of private investors’ (the “Purchasers ) all of whom qualified as
accredlted investors’ "under Ru]e 501(a) promulgaled under the Sécurities Act. Pursuant to the Subordtnated

Note Purchase Agreement we :ssued the Subordinated Notes, one of which was issued to Ingalls & Snyder i
LLC as nomtnee for certain Purchasers and the Subordmated Note Warrants, one of which was also issued to
Ingalis & Snyder LLC as'nominee for certam Purchasers in 4 tranaction mtended to qualify for an exemptton
from reglstrauon under thé Securities Act pursuant {o Section 4(2) thereof and Regulation D prornulgated . '
thereunder. "For purposes hereof each of the Purchasers for whom Ingalls & Shyder LLC acts as nomihee is”’
deemed a b(.l'leﬁClal holder ‘of the Subordinated Notes and Subordmated Note’ Warrants issued in Ingalls &
Snyder LLC’s name and such Purchasers may each be assigned thelr own Subotdinated Note and Subordmated
Note Warrant as provrded in ‘the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreernent Coe

Y s

The principal terms of-the Subordmated Note Purchase Agreement and related agreements include the -
following: o T ' . . L e

Interest. The unpaid principal balance under the Subordinated Notes bears interest (computed on the
basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) payable semi-annually on June 30 and December.30 in cash
at the rate of 3% per annum until December 31, 2006 and 10% per annum thereafler and (b) at the rate of
3% per annum above the applicable rate. on any overdue payments of principal and interest. ' i ;

e ]

Opnona! Prepayments. CanArgo may, at its’ opt:on upon at least not léss than' 60 days ‘ind not mére
than 120 day( prior written notice, prepay at*any time and from time to time after March 1, 2007, all or any
part of the 'Subordinated Notes, in a principal amount 6f not less than $100,000 at the following
Redemption Prices (expressed as percentages of the prmcrpal amount so prépzud) 105% after March 1, 2007;
104% after September 1,'2007; 103%"after March 1, 2008; 102% after- September 1,2008; 101% after’ '
March 1, 2009, and 100% after September 1, 2009, together with all accrued and unpald interest,. ' '

- Mandatory Prepayment. CanArgo will not take any attion to consummate a Change of Control (or .
Change of Centrol contemplated by a Control Event) unless it shall offer to prepay all, but-not less than all, of
the Subordinated Notes, on not less than 15 business days. prior written notice, in the-event of an occurrence-
ofia Change of Control or Control Event. Mandatory prepayment of the Subordinated Notes shall be in an
amount-equal to 101% of the outstanding principal amount of such Subordinated Notes, together with interést:
on sich Subordinated Notes accrued to the date of prepayment. " Change in Control” is defined to mean (a) if»
CanArgo shall at any time cease to be a publicly held company or cease to have its capital stock traded on an
exchange or (b} a transaction or series of related transactions pursuant to which (i) at least ﬁfty-one percent
(51%) of the outstanding shares of CanArgo’s common stock or, on a fully diluted 'basis, shall subsequent to
March 3, 2006 be owned by any person which is not related-to or affiliated with CanArgd, (ii) if CanArgo *
merges into or with, consolidates with or effects ‘any plan of share excharige or éther combinaticn with any *
person which is not related t6 or affiliated with CahArgo, or (iii) if CanArgo disposes of all-or substantially all
of its assets other than in the ordinary course of busmess and “Comrol Event” is defined to mean (i) 'the
execution by CanArgo or any material subsidiary of CanArgo which has guaranteed the indebtedness ‘-
evidenced by the Subordinated Notes (a “CahArgo Group Member”) of any agreement or letter 'of intent with
respect to any proposed transaction or event or series of transactions or events which, individuatly or in thé -
aggregate, may reasonably beé’ expected to result in a Change in Control or (ii} the execittion® of any writtén '

agreement which, when fully performed by the parties thereto would result na Change in Control:

[ [
vt

~Conversion.; The Subordmated Notes are convemble -in whole or in part mt0rshares of CanArgo .,
common stock (“Conversion Stock™) at a conversion,price per share. of $1.00 (the “Conversion Price”) {the -
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original exercise price of $1.37 having been reset to $1.00), which is subject to adjustment if CanArgo issues
any equity securities (other than pursuant to the granting of employee stock options pursuant to shareholder
approved employee stock option plans or existing cutstanding options, warrants’and convertible securities at a
price per share of less than $1.00 (formerly $1.37, the original $1.37 exercise price having been reset to $1.00)
per share, as adjusted, detérmined net of all discounts, fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with
such issuance, in which case the Conversion Price will be reset to such lower price. The Conversion Price
shall also be adjusted in connection with any stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassification,
recapitalization, combination, merger, consolidation or any similar transaction, in which case the Conversion
Price and number of shares of Conversion Stock will be appropriately adjusted to reflect any such event, such
that the holders of the Subordinated Noles will receive upon conyersion the identical number of shares of
commion stock or other consideration ar property to be received by the holders of the common stock as if the
holders had converted the Subordinated Notes immediately prior to any such event as such amount would then
be adjusted by reason of such stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassnﬁcauon recapitalization,
combination, merger, consolidation or other similar transaction; provided, however, in no event shall the '
number of shares of common stock issuable to the Purchasers upon conversion cause the Purchasers to
collectively own in excess of '19.9% of the shares of CanArgo common stock outstanding as of March 3, 2006
absent shareholder approval in accordance with applicable stock exchange requirements. No fractional shares
of common stock shall be issued upon any conversion; instead the Conversion Price shall be approprlately
adjusted so that holders shall receive the nearest whole number of shares upon any conversion. As a result of
entering into the private placement in respect of the 12% Subordinated Notes, the Subordinated Note Purchase
Agreement and related agreements dictated that the Conversion Price and the exercise price of the
Subordinated Note Warrants be reset to $1.00 from $1.37.

In connection with the execution and delivery of the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement, CanArgo
entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with the Purchasers pursuant to which it agreed to register the
Conversion Stock and the Subordinated Note Warrant Shares for resale under the Securities Act. Pursuant to
the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement the Company provided the Purchasers with certain registration
rights with respect to all shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of the Subordinated
Notes and all shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon exercise of the Subordinated Note
Warrants. Under the Registration Rights Agreement the Company had agreed to use all commercially
reasonable efforts to file a Registration Statement on Form $-3 or Form S-1 in respect of the CanArgo
Conversion Stock by December 31, 2006.

Security. Payment of all amounts due and payable under the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement,
the Subordinated Note and all related agreements (collectively, the “Loan Documents™) is secured by
subordinated guarantees from each other CanArgo Group Member (the “Subordinated Subsidiary Guaranty™).
If CanArgo forms or acquires a Material Subsidiary (as defined in the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement)
it shall cause such Subsidiary to execute a Subordinated Subsidiary Guaranty (other than for certain excepted
companies and legal entities) and thereby become a CanArgo Group Member subject+to the prov1s:ons of .the
Subordinated Note Purchase Agreemem : '

Covenams Under the terms of the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement,CanArgo is subject to .
certain affirmative and negative covenants, which can be waived by the beneficial holders of at least 51% of
the outstanding principal amount of the Subordinated Notes (the “Required Holders”), including the followmg
affirmative and negative covenants, respectively: (a) providing current information regarding CanArgo and
rights of mspectlon compliance with laws; maintenance of corporate existence, insurance and properties;
payment of taxes; adding new material subsidiaries.as additional guarantors under the Subordinated Subsidiary
Guaranty; payment of professional fees for the Purchasers (not in excess of US$75,000), and (b} restrictions
on: transactions with affiliates; mergers, consohdatmns and sales of all of CanArgo’s assets; liens (except for’ _
certain permitted liens); the issuance of additional senior indebtedness; changes in CanArgo’s line of business;
certain types of payments; sale-and leasebacks; sales of assets other than in the ordinary course of busmess
future Indebtedness, as defined in the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement (other than certain permitted
indebtedness); cancelling, terminating, waiving or amending provisions of, or selling any interests in (other
than under certain circumstances) any of the.Basic Agreements (as defined in the Subordinated Note Purchase
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Agreement); and adopting any anti-take:over defences except as permitted by the Subordinated Note Purchase
Agreement. CanArgo is notsubject to any financial ‘covenants, such as the’ maintenance of minimum net worth
or coVerage ratios, othér than the restrlcuon -on 1ts ablllty to incur additional Indebtedness.” - o

aEvemr of Default, An “Event of Default™ shall exist |f one or more of the followmg occurs and is™
continuing: (i) failure to pay when due: any- principal and, after 5 business days, any interest, payable under the
Subordinated Note or any Loan Document; (ii) default in the performance of certain enuimerated covenants;
(iii) default in the performance or compliance with any other terms which remains unremedied for 30 days
dfter the earlier-of a Responsible Officer ﬁrst obtaining actual and-not constructive' knowledge -of the default or
the receipt of notice; (iv) any répresentation or warranty made in writing on behalf of CatiArgo or any other -
CanArgo Group Member proves to have been false or incorrect in any material respect; (v) customary events
involving bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization; (vi) the eniry of a final judgment or judgmients in excess
of $2,500,000 (uncovered by insurance), which is not discharged or settled; (vii) violations of ERISA or the -
Internal Révenue Code of 1986, as amended, under funding of accrued benefit liabilities and other matters -
relating to empldyee benefit plans subject to ERISA or Foreign Pension Plans; (viii) any Loan"Document
ceases to be in full force and effect (except in accordance with its terms) or its validity is challenged by
CanArgo or any affiliate; (ix) CanArgo or any other CanArgo Group Member modifies its Charter Document
which results in a Default or Event of Default or -will adversely affect the rights.of Note holders; or {(x) a
change occurs in the consolidated financial condition of CanArgo or in the phyﬁlca] operatlonal or financial
_ status of the Properties (as defined in the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement), which change has a
Material Adverse Effect (a5 defined in the Subordinated'Note Purchase Agreement).’
" Other than for certain Events of Default that will result in an automatic accelerationi without notice, such *
as bankruptcy, if an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Required Holders may at any time at its or
their option, by notice to CanArgo, declare all outstanding Subordinated Notes to be immediately due and *
payable and holders of the Subordinated Note may proceed ta enforce their rights under the Loan Documents
at Jaw or in equlty CanArgo is rcspons;ble for the payment of all costs of collecuon mc]udmg all reasonable
legal fees actually incurred in connection therewith.

Warrams. The Subordinated Note Warrants were to expire on March 3, 2008 or such sooner date at the
election of the Company and upon at least 30 days prior written notice in the event that the Manavi M12 well
indicated, by an independent engineering report, sustainable production, if developed, in excess of 7,500 barrels
of oil per day, and were exercisable at an exercise price of $1.00 per share (“Exercise Price’ ") (this exercise
price having been reset to $1.00 from $1.37 following the issue of the 12% Subordinated. Notes) SubjECt to
adjustment in connection with any stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassificatibn, recapitaliza-
tion, combination, merger, consolidation or any similar transaction, in which case the Exercise Price and
number of Subordinated,Note Warrant Shares were to be appropriately adjusted to reflect any such event, such
that the holders of the Subordinated Note Warrants would receive upon exercise the identical number of shares
of common stock or other consideration or property to be received by the holders of the common stock as if
the holders had exercised the Subordinated Note Warrants immediately prior to any such event as such amount
would then be adjusted by reason of such stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, réclassification,
recapitaliZatibn, combination, mergér, consolidation or other similar transaction. If CanArgo issues afy equity
securities (other than pursuant to-the granting of employee stock dptions pursuant to shareholder approved
employee stock option plans or ex1stmg outstanding options, warrants and convemble securities at a price
per share of less than $1.00 per share, as adjusted determined net of all discounts, fees, costs and expenses
incurred in connection with such issuance, the Exercise Price wauld have been reset to such lower price;
provided, however, in no event shall the number of Subordmated Note Warram Shares issuable upon exercise
cause Subordinated Note Warrant holders to collectively own, in excess of 19.9% of the shares of CanArgo
common stock outstanding as of March 3, 2006 absent shareholder approval in accordance with applicable
stock exchange requirements. No fractional shares of common stock would have been issued upon any
exercise; instead the Exercise Price would have been appropriatély adjusted so that holders shall receive the
nearest whole number of shares upon any conversion. The Subordinated Note Warrants expired on March 3
2008. - foe
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Miscellaneous. ‘The execution of the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement was condmonal upon. the »
consent, which-was obtained, from 51% of the holders of-the Seniot Secured Notes pursuant to a Waiver,
Consent and Amendment dated: as of March 3, 2006 (“Waiver, Consent and- Amendment Agreement”). Under '
the terms of the Waiver, Consent and Amendment Agreement, the holders of the Senior Secured Notes further
consented to certain amendments to the Note Purchase Agreement dated July 25; 2005 among. the Company
and Ingalls & Snyder Value Partners, L.P together with the other purchasers listed therein to provide for the
amendment or termination of the Company’s or any of.the Subsidiaries’ interests in the Production Sharing. -
Contract dated May 2001 among the State Agency of Georgia, Georgian Oil and National Petroleam Limited-:
(the “Samgori PSC™), a Basic Document as-defined in the Senior Note Purchase -Agreement, including without
limitation, a waiver of, the negative covenants set forth in Section 1].10 of the Senior Note Purchase
Agreement and an increase in the authorized capital stock of the Company to 380 million shares of which -

" 375 million shares shall constitute common stock and 5 million shares shall constitute preferred stock. The

Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement, the Subordinated Note, the Subordinated Subsidiary, Guaranty and the
Registration Rights Agreement are all governed by New York.Law and the Warrants are governed by the laws
of the State of Delaware; the CanArgo Group Members party thereto subject themselves to the jurisdiction of
New York Courts and waive the right to jury trial. _ Tt

The Company evaluated the embedded 'conversion feature in this debt and determined it did not ‘meét thé
criteria for bifurcation under SFAS No 133 “Accountmg for Derivative Instrumcnts and Hedgmg Activities”
during the quarter:

Pursuant to EITF 98-5 “Accounting for Convertible Securities with Beneficial Conversion Features or
Contingently Adjustable Conversion Ratios” and EITF 00-27 “Application of Issue No. 98-5 to Certain
Convertiblé Instruments”™, the Company had initially recorded a discount to the Senior Subordinated Note in
the amountof approximately $6,483,000 based on the relative fair value. of the beneficial conversion feature
and warrants of $2,245,000 and $4,238,000, respectively. , "

. We used the following assumptlons to determine lhe fair value of the Subordlnated Notés and a
Subordinatéd Note Warrants: '

A'dditional L;Jan

Stock price on date of grant. . ... .. e e e il © 116
Risk free rate of'interest .. ... ... e e RN T 4.72%
Expécted life of warrant — months . . . S e P I e - 24-
DIVIAENd TAE ..o oo et et e e L. —
Historical vplatility .. ............... ST T 68.6%,

Converwon/Exchange of Subordinated Notes and issue of Subordinated Note Conversion Compensatron
Warrants:  On June 5, 2007, the Company entered into a conversior agreement (the “Conversion Agreemem”)
with' Pcrsastency (one of the then holders of the Subordmated Notes) and w1th CanArgo Limited that became
effectwe on' June 13, 2007 : '

’

Pursuant to the Conversion Agreement Pcr51stency agreed to convert/exchange its holding of $5 000,000 .
of the Subordinated Notes into Tethys common stock. The conversion exchange was satisfied by the transfer, .
by CanArgo Limited to Persistency of 2 million shares of Tethys common stock. | S :

As an inducement for Persisiency 1o convéit its $5 million in aggregate principal amount of Subordinated
Notes into Tethys common stock, the Company agreed to issue to Persistency 5 ,000,000 warrants (the *
“Subordinated Notes Conversion Compensatiorl Warrants™) to purchase CanArgo common stock it an exercise
price of $1 per comimon share in tranisactions intended to qualify for an exemption from registration under the
Securities Act pursuant 1o Sectlon 4(2) thereof and Regulatlon D promulgated thereunder :

All of the Subordmated Notes Conversrcm Compensauon Warrants expire on the earlrer of: (1) Septemben 1,
2009; (ii) or such sooner date at the election of the Company and upon at least thirty (30) days prior written. -
notice o the Registered Holder, in the event that: (a) the Manavi M12 well indicates, by way of an independent
engineering report, sustainable production, if developed, in excess of 7,500 barrels of oil per day or (b) all
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Subordinated Note Warrants originally issued under the Subordinated Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement
are exercised by the holders thereof and the average closing price for the Company's common stock on the
American Stock Exchange or, if the commeon stock is not then listed for trading on the American Stock:
Exchange (“AMEX") then the Oslo Stock Exchange is above $2.00 (or its equwalent in NOK, and in any
case adjusted for any stock dividends, stock sphts reverse splits, recapnahzat:ons or reorgamaatlons) for a
penod of five consecuuve trading days (the “Expxranon Date™). O ' ,

We used the following assumpnons t0 determme the fair value of the Subordmated Notes Conversmn '
Compensation Warrants i ‘ " ’ :

" ' . - CEP .

Additional Loan

[ . Lt Lo, . “ oL Y
Stock price on date of grant. .. . ... ... e T L SPEPE A Vo $0:74
Risk free rate of interest ... ......................... AR SRS '5.08%
Expected life of warrant —months . ............ ORI R S S .26
Dividend rate . .. .. e b e L ' —_
Hnstoncalvolat:hly.......". .......... . S 723%

The Cornpany has accounted for the modification and extinguishment of $5 million of prmc:pal of the
Senior Subordinated Notes under Emerging lssues Task ‘Force (“EITF”) 06-16 “Debtor’s” Accounting for a
Modification (or Exchange) of Convertible Debt Instruments™ and EITF 96-19 “Debtor’s Acéounting for a
Modification or Exchange.of Debt Instruments”. The Company determined that the fair value of the 'I‘ethys
shares issued as consuderanon paid in the satisfaction of the pnncxpal batance, was $2.50 per share oF -
$5 million based on sales of shares fo outside investors and recorded a loss on extinguishment of $2, 942 468
which is equal to the $5 million in Tethys common shares less the carrying value of the loan on the date of
extinguishment of $2,057,532. The Company accounted for lhe issuance of 5,000,000 Subordinated Notes
Conversion Compensation Wairants issued as additional compensation to induce the conversion of debt to
Tethys shares under SFAS 84 “Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt, an Amendment of APB 26” and
determined the Tair value of such Warrants using the Black Scholes model to be approximately $1.28 million
and has recorded that expense under the line item “Loss/Cost of Debt Extinguishment™ In addition, the
Company reversed long-term accruals made under EITF 86-15 noted above in the amount of approximately
$152,000.associated with the debt extinguished against the loss on extinguishment. .

Issue of further $400,000 Subordinated Notes in connection with restructuring of short term interest
payments:  On June 13, 2007, the Company entered into an amendment, consent and waiver (the. “Subordi-
nated Note 1l\mendment Consent and Waiver”) with the holclers of the Subordmated Notes in terms of which
the holders of the Subordmated Notes agreed to receive certam interest payments due on the Subordmaled
Notes as of June 30, 2007 by payment in kind of additional Subordmdted Notes. As a result, the Cornpany
issued a further $400,000 in aggregate principal amount of Subordmated Notes. These additional Subordinated
Notes carry the same rights (mcludmg as to conversmn into shares of common stock of the Company) as the
original $]3 million in aggregate, prmc1pa] amount of Subordmated Notes which were prev1ou§1y |ssued (see,
the section above entitled “Senior Subordinated Convertible Guammeed Notes’ )

Amendinent, Cohsent and Waiver to Note and Warrant Pirchase Agreemeni dated March 3, 2006: On
August 13, 2007, CanArgo entered into an Amendment, Consent and Waiver Agreement wnh the ho]ders of
the Subordinated Notes (the “Subordinated Noteholders™), pursuant to which: '

* it was agreed that the balance standing to the credit of the Escrow Account (referred to above in the
section entitled “Amendment, Consent and Waiver to Note, Purchase Agreemeni dated July 25, 2005) as
at the relevant repayment date would be used to repay part of the outstanding Subordinated Notes;

"+ the aggregate principal amount of the’ Subordinated Notes 10 be tepaid pursuant to the Amendment,
Consent and Waiver Agreement would be calculated in accordance with the terms of that agreement
+(such amount of Subordinated Notes.the “Repayment Subordinated Notes™); | .

o, 1 )
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- » the Subordinated Noteholders' agreed. that, notwithstanding the date of the Amendment, Consent and
Waiver Agreement, interest on the Repayment Subordinated Notes (but not the remammg Suhordmated
Notes) would cease to accrue as of (but including) August 14, 2007;

* by walvmg the notice penod which CanArgo would otherwrse be requnred to give the Subordinated
| " Noteholders of an early repayment of the Repayment Subordmated Notes and by agreeing to a variation

of the interest provisions attaching to the Repayment Subordtnated Notes the Subordinated Noteholders

_effectively gave up (a) certain rights to convert their Repayment Subordinated Notes into common stock
of CanArgo as an alternative to accepting repayment of the Repayment Subordinated Notes and (b) the
right to receive interest on the Repayment Subordinated Notes in respect of the period between, on the
one hand, the date on which CanArgo would otherwise have served notice of early repayment and, on
the other hand, the date on which actual repayment (or conversion) of the Repayment Subordinated
Notes would otherwise have taken place;

* in order to compensate the Subordinated Noteholders for giving up the aforesaid rights, CanArgo agreed
to issue to the Subordinated Noteholders warrants to purchase certain shares (subsequently agreed upon
as warrants to purchase 3,750,000 shares) at an exercise price of $1.00 per share, subject to adjustment,
of CanArgo's common stock, par value $0.10 per share, expiring at close of business on November 13,
2007 (the “Subordinated Note. Compensatory Warrants™), the aggregate number of all such Subordinated
Note -Compensatory. Warrants being calculated in accordance with the terms of the Amendment,
Consent and Waiver- Agreement; and. ., o . o LT

. accordmg]y CanArgo and the Subordmated Noteholders agreed to amend the ‘Subordinated Note
Purchase Agreement and the Repayment Suborcltnated Notes to give effect to the foregomg

* The warrants to purchase 3,750,000 shares expired on November 13 2007

We used ‘the followmg assumpttons to determine the fatr value of the Subordinated Note Compensatory

Warrants:

o L L Additional Loan,
Stock price on-date of grant. . . ... ... e e - $0.89.
Risk free rate of interest .. .0 .......500 . ..., EPPTUROUUU U S 14.39%
Expected life of warrant -— months .......... I e, ' 4
Dividend rate .. ... e e e e e [ e e .o—-

-Historical volatility . .. .. e e e e e e . 91.7%

The Company has accounted for the modification and exttngmshment of $3,750,000 of principal of the
Senior Subordinated Notes under Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF’) 06-16 “Debtor’s Accounting for a
Modification {or Exchange) of Convertible Debt [nstruments” and EITF 96-19 “Debtor’s Accounting for a
Modification or Exchange of Debt Instruments”. The Company accounted for the issuance of the Subordmated
Notes Compensatory Warrants issued, as compensatton to the Subordinated Noteholders for giving up the
aforementioned rights, under SFAS 84 “Induced Cohvefsions of Convertlble Débt, an Amendment of APB 26”
and determined the fair value of the warrants using the Black Scholes model to be approximately $573,375
and has recorded that expense under the line item “Loss/Cost of Debt Extinguishment”. In addition, in the
third quarter the Company reversed long- -term accruals made under EITF 86-15 noted above in the amount of
approxrmately $127,000 associated with the debt extinguished against the loss on extinguishment. |

On June 28, 2006, we announced that we had entered into the private placement with Persistency, a
Cayman Islands company, of a $10,000,000 issue of a 12% Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Note due
June 28, 2010 (see “12% Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Note” below) and warrants to purchase an
aggregaté of 12,500,000 shares of CanArgo common stock (*12% Note Warrant Shares”), at an exercise price
of $1.00 per share, subject to adjustment and expiring on June 28, 2008 or sooner under certam cucumstances
(the “12% Note Warrants”) which is descnbecl more fully below

As a result of entering into this private placement we issued the 12% Note Warrants at an exercise price
below $1.37 and therefore the terms of the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement and related agreements
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dictated that the conversion and warrant exercise prices under the Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement be
reset to $1.00 per share as described above.

The Company therefore recorded an additional debt discount of $3,683,000 to the Subordinated Note,
increasing the total debt discount to approximately $10,166,000 based on the relative fair value of the
beneficial conversion feature and warrants of $6,123,000 and $4,043,000, respectively, Debt discount of
$1,705,098 has been amortised to interest expense in 2007.

We used the following assumptions in our Black Scholes model to determine the fair value of the
Subordinated Notes and Subordinated Note Warrants: :

Additional Loan

Stock priceondate of grant. . . ......... ... .. ... $ 0.74

Risk free rate of Interest . . . ... 53%
Expected life of warrant —days ............... ... ... .. . . [ 1,161

Dividend rate . . ... .. e e e e e e e . —_
Historical volatility . ... ... ... 0. e . 643%

12% Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Note:  On June 28, 2006, we entered into a $10,000,06000
private placement with Persistency (the “Purchaser’) of a 12% Subordinated Convertible Guaranteed Note due
June 28, 2010 (the “12% Note”) and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 12,500,000 shares of CanArgo
common stock (“12% Note Warrant Shares™), at an exercise price of $1.00 per share, subject to adjustment,
and expiring on June 28, 2008 or sooner under certain circumstances (the “12% Note Warrants™).

The proceeds of this financing, after the payment of placing expenses and professional fees of
approximately $168,000, was used to fund our appraisal and development activities in Georgia including
further development of the Ninotsminda Field and the appraisal of the Kumisi gas discovery.

" We entered into a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of June 28, 2006 (“12% Note Purchase
Agreement”) with the Purchaser which qualified as an “accredited investor” under Rule 501(a) promulgated
under the Securities Act. Pursuant to the 12% Note Purchase Agreement, we issued the 12% Note and the
12% Note Warrants in a transaction intended to qualify for an exemption from registration under the Securities
Act pursuant to Section 4(2) thereof and Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

The terms of the 12% Note Purchase Agreement and related agreements include the following:

Interest. The unpaid principal balance under the 12% Note bears interest (computed on the basis of a
360-day year of twelve 30-day months) payable semi-annually on June 30 and December 31, commencing
December 31, 2006, in cash at the rate of 12% per annum and (b) at the rate of 15% per annum on any
overdue payments of principal and interest.

Optional Prepayment. CanArgo may, at its option, upon at least not less than 60 days and not more than
120 days prior written notice, prepay at any time and from time to time after June 28, 2007, any part of the
12% Notes up to an aggregate of $5,000,000 in aggregate principal amount, in multiples of not less than
$100,000, and at any time after June 28, 2008 the remaining outstanding principal amount at the following
Redemption Prices (expressed as percentages of the principal amount so prepaid): 105% after June 28, 2007
and 103% after June 28, 2008, together with all accrued and unpaid interest.

Mandatory Prepayment. CanArgo will not take any action to consummate a Change of Control (or
Change of Control contemplated by a Control Event) unless it shall offer to prepay all, but not less than all, of
the 12% Note, on not less than 15 business days prior written notice, in the event of an occurrence of a
Change of Control or Control Event. Mandatory prepayment of the 12% Note shall be in an amount equal to
101% of the outstanding principal amount of such 12% Note, together with interest on such 12% Note accrued
to the date of prepayment. “Change in Control” is defined to mean (a) if CanArgo shall at any time cease to
be a publicly held company or cease to have its capital stock traded on an exchange or (b) a transaction or
series of related transactions pursuant to which (i) at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the outstanding shares of
CanArgo’s common stock or, on a fully diluted basis, shall subsequent to June 28, 2006 be owned by any
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person which is not related to or affiliated with CanArgo, (ii) if CanArgo merges into or with, consolidates
with or effects any plan of share exchange or other combination with any person which is not related to or
affiliated with CanArgo, or (iii) if CanArgo disposes of all or substantially all of its assets other than in the
ordinary course of business; and “Control Event” is defined to mean (i) the executien by CanArgo or any
material subsidiary of CanArgo which has giaranteed the indebtedness evidenced by the 12% Note (a
“CanArgo Group Member™) of any agreement or letter of intent with respect to any proposed transaction or
event or series of transactions or events which, individually or in the aggregate, may reasonably be expected to
result in a Change in Control, or (ii) the execution of any written agreement which, when fully performed by
the parties thereto, would result in a Change in Control. :

Conversion.” The 12% Note is convertible, in whole or in part, into shares of CanArgo common stock
(“CanArgo Conversion Stock™) at a conversion price per share of $1.00 (the “CanArgo Conversion Price”),
which is subject to adjustment if CanArgo issues any equity securities (other than pursuant to the granting of
employee stock options pursuant to shareholder approved employee stock option plans or existing outstanding
options, warrants and convertible securities, including without limitation the Senior Secured Notes and Senior
Subordinated Notes) at a price per share of less than $1.00 per share, as adjusted, determined net of ali
discounts, fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with such issuance, in which case the CanArgo
Conversion Price, will be reset 10 such lower price. The CanArgo Conversion Price shall also be adjusted in
connection with any stock splu stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassification, recapitalization, combina-
tion, merger consolidation or any similar transaction, in which case the CanArgo Conversion Price and ‘
number of shares of CanArgo Conversion Stock will be appropriately adjusted to reflect any such event, such
that the holder of the 12% Note will receive upon conversion the identical number of shares of CanArgo
common stock or other consideration or property to be received by the holder of the CanArgo common stock
as if the holder-had converted the 12% Note immediately prior to any such event as such amount would then
be adjusted by reason of such stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassification, recapitalization,
combination, merger, consolidation or other similar transaction; provided, however, in no event shall the
number of shares of CanArgo Common Stock issuable to the Purchasers upon conversion cause the Purchasers
1o collectively own in excess of 19.9% of the shares of CanArgo common stock outstanding as of June 28,
2006 absent shareholder approval in accordance with applicable stock exchange requirements. The 12% Note
is subject to mandatory conversion under certain circumstances. No fractional shares of CanArgo common
stock shall be issued upon any conversion; instead the CanArgo Conversion Price shall be appropriately
adjusted so that holders shall receive the nearest whole number of shares upon any conversion.

In connection with the execution and delivery of the 12% Note Purchase Agreement, CanArgo entered
into a Registration Rights Agreement with the Purchasers pursuant to which it agreed to register the CanArgo
Conversion Stock and the 12% Note Warrant Shares for resale under the Securities Act. The Registration
Rights Agreement gives the holders of the [2% Notes and 12% Note Warrants both demand and piggyback
registration rights. In addition the Registration Rights Agreement required us to use our best efforts to have a
registration statement declared effective by December 31, 2006 and to maintain that effectiveness for a period
of two years in the event that we use a Form S-3 and at least 90 days in the event we use a Form S-1 to
register the shares. The conversion stock was registered for resale under the Securities Act and the Company
is reqmred to maintain the registration effective until July 2008. There is no penalty associated with our failure
to perform under the Registration Rights Agreement,

Security. Payment of all amounts due and payable under the 12% Note Purchase Agreement, the
12% Note and all related agreements (collectively, the “Loan Documents”) is secured by subordinated
guarantees from each other CanArgo Group Member (the “12% Subordinated Subsidiary Guaranty™). If
CanArgo forms or acquires a Material Subsidiary (as defined in the 12% Note Purchase Agreement) it shall
cause such Subsidiary to execute a 12% Subordinated Subsidiary Guaranty {other than for certain excepted
companies and legal entities) and thereby become a CanArgo Group Member subject to the provisions of the
12% Note Purchase Agreement.

Subordination. Payments on the 12% Note and under the 12% Subordinated Subsidiary Guaranty is
subordinated and junior in right of payment to the prior payment or conversion in full of CanArgo’s Senior
Indebtedness in the event of the bankruptcy, insolvency or other reorganization of CanArgo. Under the terms

F-31




of -the subordination, holders of the 12% Note agree for the benefit of the holders of the Senior Indebtedness
to.certain limitations on their right to accelerate or demand payment.under the 12% Note or otherwise realize
under the 12% Subordinated Subsidiary Guaranty in the event of a default under the Senior Indebtedness.
“Senior Indebtedness” is defined to mean (i} all indebtedness under the Senior Secured Notes (which have . 7'
now been repaid), the Senior Subordinated Notes, or anyrelated agreements; (ii) certain permitted indebted-
ness now existing or hereafter arising, and (iii) all renewals, refinancings, extensions, modifications and
replacemenis of the then outstanding principal amount owing under any of the foregoing. » o

Covenanfs. Under the terms, of the 12% Note Purchase Agreement CanArgo is subject to certain
affirmative and negatwe covenarits, which can be waived by the beneficial holders of at least 51% of the
outstandmg prmc1pal amount of the 12% Notes (the “Required Holders™), mcludmg the following affirmative
and negative covenants, respectively: (a) providing current mformanon regarding CanArgo and rights of
mspectlon complrance with laws; maintenance of corporate existence, insurance and properties; payment of "
taxes; adding new material subsidiaries as additional guarantors under the 12% Subordinated Subsidiary
Guaranty; payment of professional fees for the Purchaser (not in excess of $75,000), ‘and (b) restrictions on:
transactions' with affiliates; mergers, consolidations and sales of all of CanArgo’s assets; liens (except for
certain pérmitted liens); the issuance of additional senior indebtedness; changes in CanArgo’s line of business;
certain types of payments; sale-and-leasebacks; sales of assets other than in the ordinary course of business;
future Indebtedness, as defined in the 12% Note Purchase Agreement (other than certain permiited indebted-
ness); cancelling, terminating, waiving or amending provistoris of, or selling any interests in {other than under
certain circumstances)'any of the Basic Agreements (as defined in the 12% Note Purchase Agreement); and
adopting any anti-take-over defences except as permitted by the 12% Note Purchase Agreement. CanArgo is
not subject to any financial covenants, such as the maintenance of minimum net worth or coverage ratios,
other, than the restriction on rts abll:ty to incur additional Indebtedness. -

Events of Default. An “Event of Default” shall exist lf one or more of the following occurs and is )
continuing: (i) failure to pay when due any prmcrpal and after 5 business days, any interest, payable under the .
12% Note or any Loan Document; (i1) default in the performance of certain enumerated covenants; (iii) default '
in the performance of compliance with any other terms which remains unfemedied for 30 days after thé earlier
of a Responsible Officer first obtaining actual and not constructive knowledge of the default or the receipt of
notice; (iv) any represemanon or warranty made 'in writing on beha]f of CanArgo or any other CanArgo Group
Member proves to have been false or incorrect in any material respec! v) customary events mvolvmg
bankruptcy, insolvency or reorgamzauon (vi) the entry of a final judgment or judgments i excess of
$2,500,000 (uncovered by lnsurance) which i§ not discharged or settled; (vii) violations of ERISA or the
Internal Revenuz Code of 1986, as amended, under funding of accrued benefit liabilities and other matters
relating to employee benefit plans subject to' ERISA or Foreign Pénsion Plans; (viii):any Loan Document’
ceases to be in-full force and effect (éxcept in accordance with its terms) or its validity is challenged by
CanArgo or any affiliate; (ix) CanArgo or any other CanArgo Group Member modifies its Charter Document
which results in a Default or Event of Default or will adversely affect the rights of 12% Note holders; or (x) a
change occurs in the consolidated financial condition of CanArgo or in the physical, operational or financial
status of the Properties (as defined in the Note Purchase Agreement), whlch change has a Material' Adverse
Efféct’ (as deﬁnecl in the Note Purchase Agreement).* T ‘

il

Other lhan for certain Events of Default that will result in an automatic acceleranon wrthout notlce such
as bankruptcy, 'if an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Required Holders may at any time at its or
their option, by notice to CanArgo, declare all outstandmg 12% Notes to be immediately due and payable and
holders of the 12% Note may proceed to enforce their rights under the Loan Documents at law or in equity.
CanArgo is respons1ble for the payment of all costs of collection, mc]udmg ‘all reasonable legal fees actually
mcurred in connection therewith.

12% Note Warrants. The 12% Note Warrants may be‘exercised at an exercise price of $1.00 per share, -
subject to adjustment (the “Exercise Price”) in whole or in part at any time during the period (the “Exercise
Period™) commencing on the first Business Day six (6) months after the date of issuance and terminating at
the close of business on June 28, 2008 or shall be exercised on.such sooner date at the election of the
Company (a “Mandatory Exercise”) and upon at least thirty (30} days prior written notice to the Registered
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Holder (the “Mandatory Exercise Notice™) in the event that: (i) the Manavi M12 well indicates, by way of an
independent. engineering report, sustainable production, if developed, in excess of 7,500 barrels of oil per day-
or (ii) all the warrants originally issued under that certain Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of
March 3, 2006 by and among the Company and the holders of the Senior Subordinated Notes are eXercised by
the holders thereof and the average closing price for the CanArgo Common Stock on the American Stock
Exchange or, if the CanArgo Common- Stock is not then listed for CanArgo’s trading on the AmericansStock -
Exchange then the Oslo Stock Exchange, is above $1:25 (or its equivalent in NOK, and in any case adjusted ’
for any stock dividends, stock spht its reverse split, recapitalization or reorganization) for a.period of five
consecutive trading days (the “Warrant’ Expiration Date™); except that (a) in the case of a Mandatory
Conversion (as defined in the 12% Note Purchase Agreement), any and all outstandmg 12%, Note Warrants
issued under the 12% Note Purchase Agreement and held by Purchaser shall automancally and srmultaneously
become 1mmedrately exercisable on receipt of the Mandatory Conversmn Notice, and (b) in the case of a
Mandatory Exercise, any and all outstanding 12% Notes issued under the 12% Note Purchase Agreement and
held by Purchaser shall automatically and simultaneously become immediately convertible on receipt of the
Mandatory Exercise Notice. The Exercise Period may also be extended by the Company’s Board of Directors.
The Exercise Price is subject to adjusiment in connection with any stock split, stock dividend, reverse.stock
split, reclassification, recapitalization, combination, merger, consolidation or any similar transaction, in which
case. the Exercise Price and number of 12% Note Warrant Shares will be appropriately adjusted to reflect any,
such event, such. that the holders of the 12% Note Warrants will receive upon exercise the identical number of
shares of CanArgo common stock or other consideration or property to be received by the holders of the
CanArgo common stock as ifi the holders had exercised the ,12% Note Warrants immediately prior to any such:
event as such amount would then be adjusted by reason of such stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split,
reclassification, recapitalization, combination, merger, consolidation or other similar transaction. If CanArgo
issues any equity secunnes (other than pursuant to the granting of employee stock options pursuant to
shareholder approved employee stock option plans or extstmg outstanding options, warrants and convemble
securities, including without limitation the conversion of the Senior Subordinated Notes) at a price per share
of less than $1,00 per share, as adjusted, determined net of all discounts, fees, costs and expenses incurred in
connectron with such issuance, the Exercise Price will be reset to such lower price; provided, however, in no
event shall the number of 12% Note Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise cause 12% Note Warrant holders
to collectwely Own in excess of 19.9% of the shares of CanArgo common stock outstanding as of June 28,
2006 absent shareholder approval in accordance with applrcable stock exchange requirements. The 12% Note .
Warrants may be converted at the election of the holders and with the concurrence of the Company into

12% Note Warrant Shares on a net basis based upon the then spread between the Exercise Price and the .
market price of the 12% Note Warrant Shares. No fractional shares of CanArgo common stock shall be issued
upon any exercise; instead the Exercise Price shall be appropnately adjusted so that holders shall receive the
nearest whole number of shares upon any conversion. ., '

Miscellaneous. The execution of the 12% Note Purchase Agreement was conditional upon the consent,
which was obtained, from 51% of the holders of the Senior Secured Notes and from 50% of the holders of the
Senior Subordinated Notes each pursuant to Waiver and Consent Agreements each dated.as of June 28, 2006.
Under the terms of their Waiver and Consent Agreement, the holders of 51% in aggregate principal amount of
the Senior Secured Notes further agreed to issue to the Purchaser an option to purchase their Senior Secured
Notes at par in the event of Default and acceleratton of the Semor Secured Notes provided that the’ Purchaser
concurrently offers to purchase the remammg outstandmg Senior Secured Notes on identical terms and
conditions. The 12% Note Purchase Agreement, the 129 Note, the 12% Subordinated Subsidiary Guaranty "
and the Reglstranon Rights Agreement are all governed by New York Law and the 12% Note Waitants are
governed by the laws of the State of Delaware; the CanArgo Group Members party thereto subject themselves
to the Junsdlctron of New York Courts and waive the right to jury trial.

The Company evaluated the embedded conversion feature in this debt and determmed it did not meet the
criteria for bifurcation under SFAS No 133 “Accountmg for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
during the quarter. o : Lo SR s
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Pursuant to EITF 98-5 “Accounting for'Convertible Securities with Beneficial Conversion Features or
Contingently Adjustable Conversion Ratios” and EITF 00-27 “Application of Issue No. 98-5 to Certain
Convertible Instruments™, the Company has recorded a discount to the 12% Note in the amount of
approximately $2,700,000 based on the relative fair value of the beneficial conversion feature and warrants of
$50,000 be and $2,650,000, respectively.

4

We used the followmg assumpuons 10 determme the fair value of lhe 12% Note and 12% Note Warrants

! Addltlonal Loan

Stock price on dateofgrant.....I.,.......‘...l.‘ ....... i $0.74
Risk free rate of interest ... ................... ... R 5.30%
Expected life of warrant —days .......:.. R A e T3
-Dw:dendrate ...... S P ' LT S ,
Hlstorlcal volatility .. .. .. e - e ..... ‘_. 64.3% )

The discount is béing amortized to interest expense over the life-of the.12% Note using an effective
interest rate of 10.1%. We amortized $634,000 of debt discount as interest-expense in-2007. The total effective
interest rate for the 12% Note is 22.1%.

. Issue of further 3600,000 129% Notes in, connection with restructiuring of short term interest paymenis on .
the 129% Notes: On June -13, 2007, the Company entered ‘into an amendment, consent and waiver (the
“12% Note Amendment, Consent and Waiver) with, Persistency, the holder of the 12% Notes, in terms of |
which Persistency agreed to receive the interest payments due on the 12% Notes as of June 30, 2007 with a
payment in kind of additional 12% Notes. As a result, the.Company issued a further $600,000 in aggregate
principal amount of 12% Notes. These additional 12% Notes carry the same rights (including as to conversion
into shares of common stock of the Company) as the original $10 million in aggregate principal amount of
12% Notes which were previously issued. The rights attachmg to the 12% Notes are set out in the 12% Note
Purchase Agrerent and related agreements. :

NOTE 10 — DEFERRED REVENUE

Other liabilitiés cdﬁgisted of the foliowin'g at December 31: _ \
: . . . . 2007 . 2006

- Prepaid sales. . 7. e Y R e $— 3484515
. - . - ' v - . L .
$§— 484,515

fl . . . -
_— ;-

As of December 31, 2006 prepaid sales related to a deposit received from a customer for a sale of oil that
was completed in 2007. . - S

NOTE 11 — ACCRUED LIABILITIES

- ' [}

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following at December 31: '
' " 2007 2006

DIFIING CONMTACIONS + £+« o« v s e e oo, $4.931332  $5,030,685 .
Professional (668 . . . . ... . 929,628 706,288
Tethys Spin-Out costs . ............. P PR PO 395,611 . —
Non-cash loan interest . . . . .. ... R . L : 76,550 890,800 _
Other........ e e U 306,766 281,695

. : . . e : $6639 887 $6913468-‘

Amounts- due to drilling contractors at December 31, 2007 and at December 31, 2006, :nclude amounts
invoiced by Weatherford of '$4,931,332. We have formally notified Weatherford that we dispute the validity of
these billings to the Company for work Weatherford performed in.the first and second quarter of 2005. We
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have recorded all amounts billed by Weatherford as of December 31, 2006 pending the outcome of the dispute
resolution (see Note 12} following a formal Request for Arbitration with the London Court of International -
Arbitration against CanArgo Energy Corporation lodged by WEUS on September 12, 2005. v

NOTE 12 — COMMITMENTS AND CONT[NGENC[ES
We have contingent obhgauons and may incur addltlonal obligations, absolute and contingent, with
respect to the acquisition and development of oil and gas properties and ventures in which we have mterests

that require or may require us to expend funds and to issue shares of our Common Stock

At December 31, 2007, we had the contingent obligation to issue an aggregate of up to 187,500 shares of
our Common Stock to Fielden Management Services PTY, Lid (a third party management services company),
subject to the satisfaction of conditions related to the achievement of specified performance standards by the
‘Stynawske Field project, an oil field in Ukraine in which we had a previous interest. As far'as' mahagement is
aware, the project is not progressing at the desired pace of development and consequently, in management’s
opinion, the chance of having to issue these shares is remote. |

Under the Production Sharing Contract for Blocks XI and XIM (the “Tbilisi PSC™) in Georgia our
subsidiary CanArgo Norio Limited had a commitment 1o acquire additional seismic'data within three years of
the effective date of the contract which is September 29, 2003. The State Agency for Oil & Gas Regulation in
Georgia has given written consent to an extension to the period within which the data should be acquired to
July 31, 2008 and we are currently working with the State Agency to amend the Thilisi PSC accordingly. The-
total commitment oveér the remaining period is $350,000. In the event that a commercial discovery is not
established, our interest in the Tbilisi PSC would termmate 10 years from the effecnve date, which will be
September 29 2013. : '

In 2002, a parlicipation agreement for the three well exploration program on the Ninotsminda / Manavi
area with AES Gardabani (a subsidiary of AES Corporation) (“*AES”) was terminated without AES earning
any rights to any of the Ninotsminda / Manavi area reservoirs. We therefore have no present obligations in .
respect of AES. However, under a separate letter of agreement, if gas from the Sub Middle Eocene is .
discovered and produced from the exploration area covered by ‘the participdtion agreement, AES will be
entitled to recover at the rate of 15% of future gas sales from the Sub Middle Eocene, net of operating costs,
approximately $7,500,000, representing their prior funding under the Participation Agreement. AES have now
withdrawn from Georgia, but hydrocarbons have been discovered in the Manavi area reservoir and in the event
of a successful gas development from the Sub Middle Eocene, it is reasonably possible that AES may exercise
their rights under the letter of agreement.

In September 2004, a blow-out occurred at the N100 well on the Ninotsminda Field. The Company
currently estimates that the total costs attributable to the blow-out, including compensation and cleaning of the
environment will be $2,000,000. The Company’s insurance policies cover 80% of these costs up to a
maximum of $2,500,000 and the remaining 20% insurance retention being payable by the Company. In 2005
we received $800,000, as a first instalment, from our insurers and in 2006 we received a further $560,000, in
respect of costs incurred to date and the chance of receiving the remaining amount up to 80% of our total
costs, is deemed probable

On July 27, 2005,,GBOC Ninotsminda, an indirect -subsidiary of the Company in which the Company has
a 50% interest, received a claim raised by certain of the Ninotsminda villagers (listed on pages 1 to 76 of the
claim) in the Thilisi Regional Court in respect of damage caused by the blow-out of the N100 well on the
Ninofsminda Field in Georgia on September 11, 2004. An additional claim was received in December 2005
and amended in March 2006, thus bringing the relief sought pursnant to both claims to the sum of
approximately GEL 314,000,000 (approximately $198,000,000 at the exchange rate of GEL to US doflars in
effect on December 31, 2007). We believe that we have meritorious defences to this claim and intend to
defend it vigorously and as a result of'discussions with our legal advisors in Georgia, we would consider the
chances of the claim being successful to be remote. : '
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On September 12, 2005, WEUS Holding Inc (“WEUS”) a subsidiary of Weatherford International Ltd
lodged a formal Request for Arbitration with the London Court of International Arbitration against CanArgo
Energy Corporation in respect of unpaid invoices for work performed under the Master Service Contract dated
June 1, 2004 between the Company and WEUS for the supply of under-balanced coil tubing drilling
equipment and services during the first and second quarter of 2005. Pursuant to the Request for Arbitration,
WEUS’ demand for relief is $4,931,332.55. Although the Company has recorded all amounts billed by
Weatherford as of December 31, 2005 (see Note 11) the Company is contesting the claim and has filed a
counterclaim, We believe that we have meritorious defenses to this claim and intend to deferid- it vigo'ro'usly.
At this point in the proceedings it is not possible to predict the outcome of the arbitration. However, in the -
event that- Weatherford is successful, the extent of the loss to the Company would be limited to the payment of

the unpaid invoices and the payment of Weatherford’s professional fess in regards to this matter.
!
The Company has been named in a claim with a group of defendants by former interest holders of the,

Lelyakov oil field in the Ukraine, The plaintiffs are secking damages of approx 600,000 CDN (approx
$611,000 at December 31, 2007 exchange rates). The former owners of UK-Ran Oil Company disposed of
their investment in the field prior to selling the Company to CanArgo. CanArgo believes the claim against it to
be meritless. The Company is unable at this time to determine a potential outcome but in general would
consider the chances of the claim being successful to be remote.

Under the Ninotsminda PSC, NOC is required to relinquish at least half of the area lhen covered by the
production sharing contract, but not in portions being actively developed at five year intervals commencing
December 1999, In 1998, these terms were amended with the initial relinquishment being due in 2008 and a
reduction in the area to be relinquished at each interval from 50% to 25% whereby the Conlraclor selects the
relinquishment portions. ‘

CanArgo Norio Limited currently owns a 100% interest in the Norio (Block XI%) and North Kumisi
Production Sharing Agreement (“Norio PSA™), although this interest has a 25 year term it may be reduced to
85% should the state oil company, Georgian Oil and Gas Corporation (“GOGC”), exercise an option available
to it under the PSA for a limited period following the submission of a field development plan. Although we’
are not able to speak for GOGC, in management’s opinion it is likely that GOGC would exercise the option
available to it in the event of a commercial oil or gas discovery. As a contractor party, GOGC would be liable
for all costs and expenses in relation to any interest it may acquire in the PSA, This PSA covers an area of
approximately 265,122 acres (1,061 km?) following a 25% relinquishment in April 2006 and will be subject to
a further 50% relinquishment of the remammg contract area less any development area in Aprll 201]

Lease Commitments — We lease office space under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Rental
expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $461,655, $428,088, and $456,908
respectively. Future minimum rental payments over the next five years for our lease obligations as of
December 31, 2007, are as follows:

D008 . o oo e $ 461,655
2009, ... e 413,655
D010 . . e L. 240374
1] T I e . 67,094
71 2 o 67,094
Thereafter . ... . oo e e e 117,415*

* This represents payments for | years and 9 months after 2012.

Total sub-rental income due to the Company over the next 2 years and 6 months under sub-leases is
$435,254,

No parent company guarantees have been provided by CanArgo with respect to our contingent obligations
and commitments.
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NOTE 13 — TEMPORARY EQUITY

Our 2004 Plan allows for up to 17,500,000 shares of the Company's common stock to be issued to
officers, directors, employees, consultants and advisors pursuant to the grant of stock based awards, including
qualified and non-qualified stock, options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights and other stock based
performance awards. Stock options may be exercised, in whole or in part, by giving written notice of exercise
to the Corporation specifying the number of shares to be purchased. However, in the event of Change of
Control (as defined in the 2004 Plan) an optionee (other than an optionee who initiated a Change of Control in
a capacity other than as an officer or director of the Corporation) may elect to surrender all or part of the
stock option. to the Corporation and to receive in cash an amount equal to the amount by which the fair market
value per share of the Stock on the date of exercise shall exceed the purchase price per share under the stock
option muitiplied by the number of shares of the Stock granted under the stock option as to which the right
granted by this proviso shall have been exercised.

The company accounts for options issued with redemption features in accordance with SEC Accounting
Series Release 268 — Presentation in Financial Statements of “Redeemable Preferred Stocks” and EITF D-98:
Classification and Measurement of Redeemable Securities, the Company has calculated and classified the
intrinsic value of $2,119,530 as at December 31, 2005 to Temporary Equity, the vested portion of issued share
options from our 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan in accordance with the related guidance. The Company
believes that the likelihood of a Change in Control is remote at this point in time and therefore has fixed its
Temporary Equity as at the December 31, 2005 level.

NOTE 14 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

On July 8, 1998, at a Special Meeting of Stockholders, the stockholders of CanArgo approved the
acquisition of all of the common stock of CanArgo Oil and Gas (“CAOG”) for Common Stock of the
Company pursuant to the terms of an Amended and Restated Combination Agreement between those two
companies (the “Combination Agreement”). Upon completion of the acquisition on July 15, 1998, CAOG
became a subsidiary of CanArgo, and each previously outstanding share of CAOG common stock was
converted into the right to receive (.8 shares (the “Exchangeable Shares”} of CAOG which are exchangeable
generally at the option of the holders for shares of CanArgo’s Common Stock on a share-for-share basis.

On January 24, 2002 we announced that we had established May 24, 2002 as the redemption date for all
of the Exchangeable Shares of CAOG since the number of outstanding Exchangeable Shares had fallen below
the minimum 853,071 share threshoid. Each Exchangeable Share was purchased by CanArgo for shares of
CanArgo Common Stock on a share-for-share basis resulting in the issuance of an aggregate of 148,826 shares
of Common Stock. No cash consideration was issued by CanArgo and the purchase did not increase the total
number of shares of Common Stock of CanArgo deemed issued and issuable.

In February 2004, we announced that we had signed a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement that
atlowed us, at our option, to issue shares to US-based investment fund Cornell Capital Partners LP up to a
maximum value of $20,000,000 over a period of up to two years from the date on which the Registration
Statement on Form 3-3 registering for resale the shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(“Securities Act”) is declared effective. The Registration Statement was declared effective by the SEC on
February 3, 2005

In October 2006, we issued an aggregate of 12,263,368 shares of common stock in connection with a
private placement in Norway intended to qualify for the exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2)
of The Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”) and Regulation S promulgated under the
Securities Act, for aggregate gross proceeds of NOK (Norwegian Kroner) 111,596,239 ($16,687,039 equivalent
based upon a conversion rate of NOK 6.6876 per dollar) before placing fees and expenses estimated at NOK
6,695,774 ($1,001,222 equivalent). We agreed to register the Shares for resale under the Securities Act. As a
result of the delays incurred in registering the Reg. S Shares we have paid subscribers a cash liquidity penalty
of 5% of the subscription price of their Shares in the aggregate amount of NOK 5,579,812 ($834,352
equivalent). The Registration statement was declared effective by the SEC on January 19, 2007.
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On Angust 10, 2007, we entered into a subscription agreement with three accredited investors in terms of
which we issued those investors by way of a private placement 2,500,000 shares of CanArgo common stock at
$1.00 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of $2,500,000. In consideration for the investors agreeing to make
the subscription, we also issued to the investors warrants.to subscribe for an aggregate of 5 million shares of
common stock of CanArgo. The warrants have an exercise prlce of $1.00 per share, subject to adjustment and
are exercisable up to the énd of August 2009. Y

The total number of shares of common stock ‘authorized was 500,000,000 as of 'Dec’em.ber"3l, 2007,
375,000,000 as of December 31, 2006 and 300,000,000 as of December 31, 2005. e a e

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had 5,000,000 shares of $0.10 par value preferred stock
authorized, of which none were outstanding. The Board: of Directors may at any time issue additional shares
of preferred stock and may designate the rights and privileges of a series of preferred stock without émy prior
approval by the stockholders. . . . . B

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, the following transactions regarding |
CanArgo’s Common Stock were consummated pursuant to authorlzatton by CanArgo ] Board of Dlrectors or
duly constituted committees thereof. ‘ oo

L3 .h
TR .o K . L v . N

Year Ended December 31 2007 .
i . . . , .
* In January 2007 ) 000 000 shares of our common stock were tssued at $0.63 per shdre asa resuIt of
the exercising of warrants! LI : ek ‘

» In March 2007, 355,000 shares of our common'stock were issued at an average of $0 90 per share as a
result of an employee exercising stock options.

* In June 2007, 20,000 shares of our common stock were issued at 30.14 per share as a result of an

employes exermsmg stock options.
“H

v In August 2007, 1, 100 000 shares of our common stock were 1ssued at $0.10 per share as a result of
employees exercrsmg stock opuons

e In August 2007 2,500,000 shares of our common stock were 1ssued at $l OO per share in relation to a
private placement. .

110, v s " [N - Lt ot . . [ b

Year Ended December 31, 2006 < oo o 0 : "

. Ca me

» Ini Februdry 2006; 1,521,739 shares of our COmmon stock were lSSUCd convertmg the Ozturk Long Term
Loan with Detachable’ Warrants, T - : oo

. In September 2006, 774, 000 shares of our common stock were issued at an average of $0.76 per share
as a result of emp]oyees exercrsmg stock optlons

* In October 2006, 12 263 368 shares of our common stock were issued at $i 36 per share in relation to
a prtvate placement in Norway

N B . L
(L L . . ! wo ! . K

Year Ended December 31, 2005 I T e

We issued to Cornell Capital Partners, L.P. pursuant to the Standby. Equity Drstnbution Agreement, the
followmg shares at the dates and prices mdrcated

L

+ ,.* In February 2005, 380 836 shares of our common stock were issued at $1 31 per share .

* In February 2005, 335, 653 shares of our common stock were 1ssued at $1.47 per share.

. i Lot

« In March 2005, 344,758 shares of our common stock were :ssued at $1.54 per share .

« In March 2005, 370,599 ‘shares ‘of our common stock were 1ssued af $1.62 per share.’

* In March 2005, 381,170 shares of our common stock were issued at $1.57 per share. .

-
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« In March 2003, 495,745 shares of our common stock were issued at $1.21 per share. Coor!

. In Apn'l'.2005, 552,639 shares ot’_our common stock were issued at $l.09l‘!p‘er share. ' . L
'+ In Abril 2005, 473,634 shares of otir:common stock were issued at $1.27 per share. '
. In ’Il\duy 2005, 837,054 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.72 per share. '

* In May 2005, 813,670 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.74 per share.

» In May 2005, 872,854 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.69 per share.

* In May 2005, 847 458 shares of our common stock were issued at- $0.71 per share. i '
B In June 2005 80] 068 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.75 per share, | .
= In June 2005, 812,348 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.74 per share.

* In June 2005 639 59] shares of our common stock were tssued at $0.94° per share

' i

"« In June 2005 596, 421 shares of our common stock were tssued at $1. 00 per share .
 In July 2005, 613 ,246 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.98 per share.

* In July 2005, 630, 120 shares of our common stock were issued at $0. 95 per share

. In July 2005, 669 568 shares of our commoa stock were issued at $0.90 per share. . v
+ .In July 2005, 761,325 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.79 per share. - - ,

+ In August 2005, 783,188 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.77 pér share. "

. +
oot

Other Stock isstiances were as follows:

s + N
« In March 2005, 1,067,833 shares of our common stock were issued at an average of $0 34 per share as
* a result of employees' exercising'stock options!

n ; Yo

* In March 2005, 1,570, 000 shares of our common stock were issued at an average of $O ll per share as
d fésult of employees exércising stock options. = ° ’ :

o,

* In May 2005, 80,000 shares of CanArgo common stock were issueable to CEOcast [nc in relation to a
consultancy agreement between CanArgo and CEQOcast. e i R

* In June 2005..5,500,000 shares of our common stock were issued at $0.76 per share to Provincial, of
which Russell Hammond (one of our non-executive directors) is ]nves[ment Advisor and
5,500,000 shares of our common stock were issued at $0 76 per share to Vando, in conneclron with the
Tethys Acquisition. - . - St

* In August 2005, 360,000 shares of our common stock were lssued at an average of $1 44 per share as a
result of stock optlons being exercised. L :

« In September 2003, 284,000 shares of our common stock were 1ssued at an average of 1. 34 per share
as a result of stock optrons being exercised

NOTE 15 — NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

[ T
Earnings (loss) per share is calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Eammgs Per Share Basic and

diluted earnings per share are provided for contintiing operations,  disconitinued operations, cumulative efféct of
change of accounting principle,and net income (loss). Basic carnings (loss) per. share is computed based upon
the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period and excludes any potential
dilution. Diluted earnings per share reflects potential dilution from the exercise of securities (warrants, ‘options
and convertible debt) into common stock. Qutstanding options and warrants to purchase common stock are not
included in the computation of diluted loss per share because the effect of these instruments would be anti-
dilutive for the loss periods presented. -
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. Basic and diluted net loss per common share for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
were based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during those periods. Shares -
issuable upon the conversion of convertible notes, options and warrants to purchase CanArgo’s Common Stock
were outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 but were not included in the.
computauon of diluted net loss per common sharc because the effect of .such inclusion would hiave been anti-
dlluuve (1 e. reduce, the loss per share), The total number of such shares.excluded from diluted net ‘loss per
common share were 80,119,215, 97,365, 214 and 41 644 316 for each of the years ended December 31 2007
2006 and 2005 respectwely

Fl i
‘ . -

N et L

NOTE 16 — INCOME TAXES

CanArgo and its U S. domestic subsidiary file a U. S coneolldated income tax return. No benefit for _
U.S. income taxes has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements because of CanArgo’s, inability
to recognize deferred tax assets under provisions of SFAS 109, Due to the implementation of the quasi-
reorganization as of October 31, 1988, future reductions of the valuation allowance relating to those deferred
tax assels existing at the date of the quasi-reorganization, if any, will be allocated to capital in excess of par
value.

il
Cow

A reconciliation of the differences between income taxes computed at the U.S. federal statulory rate of
34% and CanArgo's reported provision for income taxes is as follows: ¥

Year Ended December 3, ’

- . ' T T 2006 2005
lncm:né tax benefit at statutory rate .. . .........0., $(!‘8,284,253) $(20,583,889) $(4,194,007)
Benefit of losses not recognized ... o .. .. e . . 18,284,253 . .20,583,889 4,194,007
Provision for income taxes ... ............... .8 — 8 — § —_
Effective tax rate . ... .. 0o 0% . 0% 0%

L . A v L

* The components of deferred tax assets consisted of the following as of December 31:

4 e - . St ' '

p ' ' o 2007 2006
U.S. Net operating loss carryforwards. .. ........ PP . $.14,062,000 .$ 11,059,000
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards. .+ ... ... e e i 2,357,000 2,794,000

. Net timing differences on impairments and accelerated capital , .. », » . o
Al OWANCES . .+ vttt e e e e 9,553,000 . 9,553,000
} ' 25972,000 23,406,000
Valuation allowance. ........ e .. e - (25,972,000 (23,406,000)
Net deferred tax asset recognized in balance sheet .............. $ —'s

On August 1, 1991, August 17, 1994, July 15, 1998 and June 28, 2000, CanArgo experiéﬁéeﬁ changes in
ownership as. defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”)..The effect of these changes in
owncrshlp is to limit the utilization of certain existing net operating loss cafryforwards for income tax
purposes to approximately $2,920,000 per year on a cumulative basis. As of December 31, 2007, total

‘unexpired U.S. net operating loss carryforwards were approximately $57,149,000, approximately $20,312,000
‘of this amount was incurred prior to the ownership change in 2000 and as a result of IRC Section 382

limitations approximately $15,789,000 of those carry forwards will expire unused.
The U.S. net operating loss carryforwards expire from 2008 to 2027. CanArgo also has approximately
$6,931,000 of foreign net operating loss carryforwards. A significant portion of the foreign net operating loss

carryforwards may be subject to limitations similar to IRC Section 382.
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CanArgo’s available net-operating loss carryforwards may be used to offset future taxable income, if any,
prior to their expiration subject’to the Section 382;limitations described above and potenual further limitations
as.a result of additiona! clianges in,ownership. = ,- vy ' e C

Effecuve January I, 2007 the Company adopted FASB Imerprelatlon No. 48, Accountmg for Uncertamty
in lncome Taxes — an mterprelauon of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 487). ’FIN 48 clarifies the accountlng
for uncertamty in 1nc0me taxes recognized’i in the f’manc1al statements if that position is more llkely than not
of being sustained by the taxm;, authority, The Company does not believe it has any tax positions that meet
this criteria; therefore, no amounts were recognized in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits and’its”
effective tax rate was not impacted by the adoption of FIN 48. The Company did not adjust the opening

balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2007. .

Accordingly, the Company did not accrue or recognize any amounts for interest or penalties in its
financial statements during 2007, The' Company will classify interest to' be paid on an underpayment of
income taxes and any related penalties s income tdx expense if it is determined, in a subsequent penod that a-
tax position-is more lxkely than not of being sustained by the taxing authomy

»” f

NOTE 17 — DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS . ‘ ‘ ER : : "

e

Tethys Petroleum Limited

CanArgo’s ownership of Tethys was diluted in stages ‘durinig the year ended December 31, 2007 from
100% ownership on December 31, 2006 through todisposing of its remaining shareholding on Augusl 3,
2007. In the first quarter of 2007, Tethys sold approx 6.8 million shares of its common stock in a private
placement offering to outside investors for gross proceeds of approximately $16.8 million. This transaction
reduced the’Company’s interest in Tethys to approximately 67%. In May 2007, Tethys received the approval
from the Ministry of Mineral Resourcés of Kazakhstan to exchange approximately 6 milliofi’ of Tethys
common shares in return'for the remaining 30% ownership of BN Munai LLP not previously controlled by
Tethys. This transaction reduced the Company’s ownership of Tethys to approximately 52%. As more fully
described in Note' 9 above, on June 13; 2007, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, CanArgo
Lid; transferred -6 million of its Tethys common shares to the CanArgo Noteholders in exchange for the
extmgulshmenl of $15 million in principal of outstanding notes payable. This transaction reduced the
Company’s ownership in Tethys to approximately 30% and resulted in Tethys no longer being a consolidated
subsidiary of the Company On June 27, 2007 Tethys announced that it had completed its initial public
offering through the i 1ssuance ‘of approximately 18.2 million shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange reducing
the Company s ownershlp to approximately 17.7%. On August 3, 2007 the Company sold its remaining !
shareholding in Tethys, receiving proceeds of approximately $20.8 million net of fees.

-

The results of discontinued operations in respect of Tethys consisted of the following for the years -ended:

it fL ) December 31, December 31,  December 31,
ceA » . 2007 2006 2005
Los/s.-Before Income Taxes and Minority Interest. . ..... $(3,999,646) 3$(6,781;987) & re—
Realisedhgain' on securities held forsale ............ 15,566,878 . — ‘ —
Equity Loss on investments ... ........ Lo Lol — — (155,016)
Income Taxes:,............ e 'L - = —

Net Income. (Loss) from Disc’ominued'Operation ...... $11,567,232  $(6,781,987)  $(155,016):

. SRR : Coany t . T . T
Ce oo . ' Co - ' .-
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Gross consolidated assets and liabilities in respect of Tethys-that are included in “assets to be disposed”

consisted of the following at December 31:

Assets to be disposed:

Prep:ayments Ce ' .....................................
Prepaid financing fees . . . ... ... ... ... L.
Other assets .. .+:.. ..., .. e e e e e ..
Capital @SSeIS .. ... e e e e e

Liabilities to be disposed:

Accounts payable . ........... ... .. . ... ... PR
Accrued Habilities . .. ...... .. e, SR R
Long termdebt. ... .......... e e e
-Other non current liabilities . . .. ................... e

. Provision for future site restoration .. . .

Samgori PSC Wl

December 31,
007

December 31,
2006

.

lI‘ff et

ITh a1 ?

+

$1 763 26]
5, 368
4,188,854
30,050

. 1,291,834

. 23,238,284

$ 787,581

-+ 468,762
3,083,673
31,715

, 450,667

$ 4,822,308

On February 17, 2006 we issued a press release announcing that our subsidiary, CanArgo Samgori,
Limited. (*CSL"), was not proceeding with further investment in Samgori .(Block XI By Production Sharing
Contract (“Samgori PSC”) in Georgia and associated farm-in which became effective in April 2004, and ,
accordingly we terminated our 50% interest in the Samg(m PSC with effect from February 16, 2006. The
decision by CSL not to proceed with further investment under the current farm -in arrangements was due to the
inability of CSL’s partner in the project, Georgian Oil Samgori lelted (“GOSL”), to prov1de its share of
funding to further the development of the Field. We consider that there would have been msufﬁcwnt time to
meet the commitments under the Agreement with National Petroleum Limited (“NPL")y the prevrous hcence
holders and we were not prepared to fund the project, which is not wnthout nsk on a 100% basns wrthoul
different commercial terms and an extenswn to the commitment period. 'It was not possrble to negotlate a
satisfactory position oneither matter. CSL has been informied that NPL has how exercised its right to take
back 100% of the Contractor Share in the Samgori PSC from GOSL and, accordingly, effecuve February 16,

2006 we have withdrawn from the Samgori PSC.

The results of discontinued operations in respect of CSL consisted of the following for the years ended:

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Operating Revenues. . ... .................... .. % — 81,002,842  $2,303,463
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes and Minority '

Interest ... ... (29,860) 672,803 603,170
Income Taxes .. ..... ... i — — —
Minority Interest in Income ... ................... — — —
Net Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operation . . .. .. $(29,860) $ 672,803 $ 603,170




-.Gross consolidated .assets.and liabilities. in respect of :CSL that are-included in “assets to be djsposed“
consisted of the following at December 31: v

December 31, December 31,
006

LA ) AF e s N 2007
e o
Assets to be disposed: . .
Accounts receivable (net) ................................... $ 71,294 $ 1,120
Other current assets .. ... .. A, e e T 6736

"$71294  § 7856

Liabilities to be disposed: . .
ACCOUunts payable. . ... ... .. e e - $327,046 $361,939 -

Deposits . ....... e e N — —
Prqyision for future site reStOFALION . . . ... .. i ittt it et i eeras 9,400 7,000
7 $336446 . $368,939 .
P i . 17
NOTE 18 — SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL DATA L. .
During the three years ended December 31, 2007 Georgia represented the only geographlcal and operating
segment, . . : o .o

Prior to the disposal of the Kazakhstan operations (see Note 17) the Company had tmultiple geographical
segmentss -t .

NOTE 19 — SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

2007 2006 2005 _
Non-cash transactions:
Stotk compensanon expense’. ... ... ... ovslo $- 627,791 $ 1,924,076 $ 2,374,578
Interést expense and amortizatibn' 6f debt dlscount . 4,445,416 3',543',9_38 1,277.878"
Non cash mlscellaneous expense—Fmancmg fees'... " o 193,000 '
. Debt extmgunshment expense .. .. l0. L S 12127494 ‘. = e
" Issuance of common stock for sarwces R h - - = 53,600
. Issyance of common stock pursuant to SEDA(I) ey r“ — ;_ ].0,}27,305
_ Issuance.of common stock to acquxre 55% remalmng , e L.
interest in Tethys Petroleum Investments, Ltd ..... ] - = 8,360,000
Interest cxpensc rolled into PIK foans...,.......... 1 2125000 o — ‘ .
Impalrment of 011 and gas ventures and other assets . 42,000_,_00_0 . 39,000,b00 o —

1, A

(1) The amount 'réébrded n 2005 ihcluded the folldWing

] - . . . . .
Tl P B BN CEEPIS PR vl .f v + [T e

F-43




Repayment of principal of $1.5 million Cornell advance ‘
from2004 .. ... ... e e oo 1,500,000

Repayment of principal of $15 million Cornell promissory ", )

note from2005 ............... ... .. ..., e 7,800,000
Payment of offering costs with proceeds from-SEDA ... ... . 994,757
Payment of interest on the $1.5 million Cornell advance -

from 2004 . ... . e ‘ 32,548
Ilssue of common stock pursuzmt toSEDA . ............. ‘ 10,327,305
There was no cash for income taxes for the years ended

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, ;
Reclassification temporary equity . . .. ................. — — 1,396,250

Cash paid for interest expense ............. e 1,762,944 3,436,117 621,644

NOTE 20 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

At December 31, 2007, stock options and warrants had been issued from the following stock based ‘
compensation plans:

» -1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“1995 Plan™). The 1995 Plan was approved by our stockholders at the
annual meeting of stockholders held on February 6, 1996. This Plan allows for up to 7,500,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock to be issued to officers, directors, employees, consultants and advisors
pursuant to the grant of stock based awards, including qualified and non-qualified stock, options,
restricted stock, stock appreciation rights and other stock based performance awards. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2007, options to acquire an aggregate of 739,000 shares of common stock had been granted
under this Plan and were outstanding all of which are 100% vested. The Plan expired on November 13,
2005. The awards have a term of 5 years from date of issue and vest immediately.

» The Amended and Restated CanArgo Energy Inc. Plan (the “CEI Plan). The CEI Plan (also known as
the CAOG Plan) was adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors on September 29, 1998. All
Options outstanding under the Plan as of July 15, 1998 were assumed by the Company pursuant to the
terms of an Amended and Restated Combination Agreement between the Company and CanArgo
Energy Inc. dated February 2, 1998 which was approved by the Company’s stockholders on July 8,
199€. This Plan allowed for up to 1,250,000 shares (of which only 988, 000 shares were registered) of
the Company’s common stock to be issued to any director or full-time employee of the Company or a
subsidiary of the Company. As of December 31, 2007, five year options to acquire an aggregate of
130,000 shares of common stock had been granted under this Plan and were outstanding of which
55,000 are currently 100% vested. The awards have a term of 5 years from date of issue, each award
having a special vesting provision defined in the award. '

* Special Stock Options and Warrants. This plan was created to allow the Company to retain and provide
incentives to existing executive officers and directors and to allow retirement of new officers and
directors following the Company's decision to relocate finance and administration functions from
Calgary, Canada to London, England. As of December 31, 2007, no special stock optlons and warrants
issued under this plan were outstanding.

* 2004 Long Term Stock: Incentive Plan (“2004 Plan”}. The 2004 Plan was approved by our stockholders
at the annual meeting of stockholders held on May 18, 2004. This Plan allows for up to
17,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to be issued to officers, directors, employees, .
consultants and advisors pursuant to the grant of stock based awards, including qualified and non-
quatified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights and other stock based performance
awards. As of December 31, 2007, seven year options to acquire an aggregate of 7,477,000 shares of
common stock had been granted under this Plan and were outstanding, 7,050,333 of which vested at
that date. The 2004 Plan will expire on May 17, 2014, although the Board of Directors may terminate
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the 2004 Plan at any time prior to that date. The awards, have a term of . 7-years from date of,i issue and
- vest ¥ for each year, with the first %4 vestmg tmmediately. ,

The purpose of the Company’s stock option plans is to further the interest of the Compzmy by enabling
officers; directors, employees, consultants and advisors of the Company to acquire an interést in the Coinpany
by ownership of its stock through the exercise of stock options and stock appre(:lauon rights granted under its
various stock option plans. S CeL e :

A summary of the status of stock options granted under the Company s plans are as fo]lows
Shares lssuable Under Welghted Average

e : Outstandmg Optlons Exercise Price

Balance, December 31, 2004 . . . .. .. .. ... .. ... ... 10, 472 833 0_56

Options (1995 Plan): ’ - '

Granted s market . . ... .. e e _
Exercised . . ..ot i e e e e e e e e (1.477.500) 0.13
Expired .................... e e —

CAOG Plan Authorization: 2 Y L - “ . -
Granted at MArKEl . . . .o v v v e e AP ' = e :
EXerCised . o o ottt e e e e e e e e e e e (305,000) 0.22

- Expired . .. .. .. L. O A PR S Lo Lo P - .

Special Stock options and warrants: . N
increase in shares available forissue .. . . ... .. ... . i —

Granied at market . PP . , . e - , o
Exercised. . ... ... e D e - (L118333 -7 - 0.83
r+ Expired ... ..! ... L e R (275,000) : 1.44

Options (2004 Pian): o, : PV AN I P B s . Lo
Increase in shares available for,lssue e e BRI .- - L
Granted at market . ... ......5 . ... L . T 3,129,000 1.03
Exerciséd. ... ... ... e '+ (381,000 065"
Expired ) Vot Tt v, | Lo e

Balance, December 31,2005+ .. . . ... A . ot o 3.10,045,000 R

Options (1995 Plan): ~ . ! C ’ . ' Ca b s
Granted at Markel . . . . . 0 o e e e e e e —_ .

- Exercised! ... ... ey i e e e Soo £220,0000 5o 065
Expired . . .,...,.. .o 0 M R .. " = PR ,

Oplions (2004 Plan) : B . !

Increase in shares available forissue . . 2. . ..o ..ot S e ' i
Granted at'markel . ..o o0l va s g e et e teld , 420,000 - 1.03
Exercised . . . ... S, T (554.000). 079
Expired /. ... 00 .. ... B L (60.000) Loo-

Balance, December 31,2006 . ... ... ........ .. AU R *© '9,631,000 )

woar b e T ) ol

Opnons (1995 Plan): . ) . s , ' ,
Granted &t markel ... ... .. .. e P R A B
Exervised. .. .......... .0 ... L QU R et s (4950000 0.10

- Expired ... ..... e e e T P i

Options (CEl Plan}: . S . .

Granted at market ., .. ... ..eenn o D0 T g
EXerCised . o ottt e e e (90000) 0.10
Expired-.". .. . ...... e R P B AT - ", . -

Special Stock options and warrants; | | - o o, B y L

Gramedatma.rket........._....‘.‘.‘ ............ e * . .
Exercised. /... ..ouee... AT A TR S (535 000) - ' 0.10 '}
. Expited L Ll e el ' g, = :
Options (2004 Plan): 2y AP,
Increase in shares available forissue . ... ... .. .. e e e ' —
Granted at market ... .......... e poee 280,000 085 |
"Exercised. .n ... lv L e S ToL L (355,000 ! 0.90 -
Explred ....... e L T : (90,000) © . . La7
Balance, December 31, 2007 .......... B h e s foen ' 8.346.000 ’ 0.80
\ ', . i e . ‘ I .
PR . ' f PR ' 1 b
] e ¥ '.
v wh ] . 1
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Shares.issuable upon exercise of vested options and the corresponding weighted average exercise pncc
are as follows:

o Shares Issuable Weighted
R L ) Under Exercisable Average
’ , Options * Exercise Price
December 31, 2005 . . . . .. e 5,938,000 . $0.63
Decemberl3l,2006.....................J...: ......... . 8,458,000 N $068
December 31,2007 .. ... ... ... .. . . i L 7,844,333 . %079

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the vear was $0.54, $1.03 and $0.83 for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively.

The number and weighted average grant-date fair value of non-vested options as at January 1, 2007 was
1,173,000 and $0.81 respectively. The number and weighted average grant-date fair value of options vested
during 2007 was 921,333 and $0.99 respectively. The number and weighted average grant -date falr valuc of
non-vested' optu:ms as at December 31 2007 was 501,667 and $0.98 respecnvcly Y

The number and weighted average gram-date fair value of non-vested options as at January 1, 2006. was
4,147,000 and $0.68 respectively. The number and.weighted average grant-date fair value of options vested -
during 2006 was 3,249,000 and $0.64 respectively. The number and weighted average grant-date fair value of -
non-vested opuons as at December 31, 2006 was 1,173,000 and $0.81. respecuvely SR .

The total mtnnsm value ‘of optlons exercised dunng each of the years cndcd December 31, 2007 2006 -
and 2005 were $779,320, $389,320 and $3,056,721 respectnvcly

As of December 31, 2007 total compensation cost related to non-vested oplmns not yet recogmzed is
$l40 950 and I.hIS cost will be recogmzed over.a weighted average period of 9 months. .

" Weé received cash proceeds of $430,600 from the exércise of options dunng the year ended December 31,
2007.- e L s i

Il

All share options prlans are approved by the shﬁeholders and a registration statement is-subsequently filed
w1th the SEC resultmg in the i issue of new shares by the company when options are exercised.

-

We used the black-scholes option pricing model using the followmg assumpuons to deterrmne the fair ,
value of the options issued under our plans during the following years: . o '

2007 2006 - 2005
Stock priceondate of grant ........ ... ... .. T 0 il $0.77 $ 091 . § 097
Risk free rate of interest ... ... S P S e e - 447% . 488%  4.16%
Expected life of warrant-months « .. ... . ... ... ...... PR - 84 84 ' g4
Dividend rate ... ..... e 0% 0% 0%
~ Historical volatility, . ..., ...... P 74.2% 94. 43% : 109.49% =

The numbers abovc reﬂect the welghled average “for the options 1ssued durmg the year.

The followmg table summarizes informatior about stock optlons outstanding at Dccember 31 2007

Optmns Outstanding Options Eierclsable P
Number " Number .
of Shares Weighted Weighted Of Shares | Weighted-
Qutstanding at Average Average Exercisable at Average
December 31, Remaining . Exercise December 31, Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices 2007 Term Price 21_)07 Price
$0.60 t0 $0.90 .. .......... 5,552,000 3.86 066 5290333 . 066
$090t0 $142 . ... ... CeooL. 2,794,000 448 ' 1.05 2,554,000 ' . -105 -
' W . t. t I PR -5
$0 00 to %1 42 ............ 8,346,000 , 407 080 7,844,333 ) 0.79
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The following table summanze‘; additional. information ‘about $tock options outstanding ‘at December 31
2007:

. Options Outslandirrg Options Exercisable
T Aggregate Intrinsic Aggregate Intrinsic
e R . Value Value
. . of Shares Qutstanding at  Of Shares Exercisable at
Range of 'Exercise Pricés- ¢~ " December 31, 2007 - December 31, 2007 -
$0.60 10 $0.90 .. ... L 1,380,682 © 1314499
R AN . : :
$090t0 5142 . ... e = ' o
$0.60 60142, . .. .. e oo 1,380,682° .- 1,314,499 < -
S, Ty s i
NOTE 21 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS oty '," o o T

CdnArgo 8, ownershlp of Tethys was drluted in stageq durmg the year ended December 31, 2007 from L
100% ownershlp on December 31, 2006 through to disposing of i its;remaining shareholdmg on August 3, —
2007. On June 27, 2007 Tethys announced that it had completed its initial public offering through the issuance
of approximately.18.2 million shares on the Toronto Stock' Exchange reducing the Company’s ownership to
approximately 17.7% and Dr..David Robson stepped down from the position of Chief Executive Officer df the"
Company but-remained as Chairman of the Company: Dr David Robson is-Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Tethys. CanArgo’s foriner Corporate Secretary, Elizabeth Landles, is-Administration " :
Director of Tethys CanArgo and Tethys shared some COMINON resources in 2007 1nclud1ng corporate

secretanal and investor relations services.

o |‘ : : o i .

Dr. David Robson, Chief Executive Officer of CanArgo untll .lune 27, 2007 and Non- Execuuve Chairman
thereafter, provided all of his services to CanArgo through Vdzon Energy errted a corporauon organized
under the laws of the Bailiwick of Guemsey (“Vazon™), of which he is the sole owner and Managing Director.
In addition management services,agreements exists between. CanArgo and Vazon Energy whereby the services
of Mrs. Landles (former Corporate Secretary & Executive Vice President) amongst others, are provided to - »
CanArgo. Approximately $775,000 was paid to Vazon in 2007 in respect of these services wh:ch mcluded
‘flow through’ costs for employees and consultants, =~ 5 - v : -

: L et - Y -

On June 7, 2005, CanArgo made an offer to acquire 55% of the ordinary share ‘capital of Tethys which
was held by Provincial and Vando for consideération of 11,000,000 CanArgo .common shares.’On June 9, 2005
CanArgo issued 5,500,000 shares to Provincial, of which Russell Hammond (one of our non-executive

directors) is Investment Advisor in connection with this transaction.

Mr. Russell Hammond, a non-executive director of CanArgo, is also an Investment Advisor to Provincial
Securities Limited who became a minority shareholder in the Norio and North Kumisi Production Sharing
Aoreement through a farm-in agreement to the Norio MK72 well. On September 4, 2003 we concluded a deal
1o purchase Provincial Securities Limited’s minority interest in CanArgo Norio Limited by a share swap for
shares in CanArgo. Provincial Securities' Limited received 2,234,719 shares’ of CanArgo common stock in
relation to the.transaction. Provincial Securities Limited also had an interest in Tethys Petroleum Irivestments
T.imited which was sold in-June 2005 tousbya share exchange for shares in, CanArgo. Provincial Securities
Limited received 5,500,000 shares of CanArgo common stock in refation to l;he transaction, Transactions with
affiliates or.othier rélated parties including management of affiliates are.to be undertaken on the samie bagls as
third party arms- length transactions.

Transactions wnh affiliates are revrewed and voted on solely, by non-interested members of the board of
dlrectors,u- CoT “ . T

i F . , 4 4 ™ e B

- NOTE 22 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS ) ) -
y o - T
On February 7. 2008, the Company announced that Dr. David Robson had tendered his_resignation - from
the positions of Non- Execuuve Chairman and Non-Executive Director of the Board of CanArgo with

immediate effect. Vazon Energy Limited received a payment, through, of approximately $60,000 in ‘settlement -
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of the remaining six month notice period under Dr..Robson’s service agreement. Vincent McDonnell became
acting- Chamnan of the Board in addmon to his dutles as President and Chief Executive Officer.

Effecuve February 1, 2008 Ehzabeth Lanclles, .res1gned from the position of Corporate, Secretary of the,
Company Also Effective February 11, 2008 Jeffrey Wilkins has been appomted lo the position of Corporate
Secrelary in addmon to his current dutles as ChJef F1nanc1al Ofﬁcer and Execuuve Dlreclor "

1

Effective September 24, 2007 Nils Truisvik, Non- Execuuve Dlrector,.stepped down from the, CanArgo .
Board with immediate effect due to potential conflict of interest in respect of other oil.and gas companies in,
which he is involved. The Company also appointed Mr. Jeffrey Wllkll’lS to the posmon of Exeeuuve Dlrector

,on_the Board of the Company in addition to his current duties as Chief Financial Officer:

y .
vy .

On September 27, 2007, the Company advised the American Stock Exchange (the “AMEX") by :

“correspondence of its' Board changés announced September 24,.2007 and at the same time ‘acknowledged that
the Company was not in compliance with Sections 121 (A)(1} and Section, 121(B)}2)a of the AMEX Company
Guide, which require, respectively, that at least & majority of the. directors comprising the Board of Directors
are independent and that the Company’s audit committee be comprised of at least three independent directors.
1 Specifically, the Company currently, only had two independent directors of the five directors on the Gompany's
Board of Directors and an audit committee composed of only two members. On September 27, 2007, the
Company also received notice from"the -AMEX: thatsince the Company was'not in compliance with - .
Sections 121 (A)(1) and 121(B)(2)a of the Company Gunde 1t had until December 27 2007 to regam
compliance with these requirements. .

On January 8, 2008, the Company recelved a deﬁc1ency létter. from the AMEX adv1smg the Company
that in v1ew of its conunued non comphance w1th Secuon lZl(A)(l) and’Séction lZl(B)(2)a of the contlnued
hstmg standcu'ds of the AMEX Company Guxde it had untll January 18, 2008 to submit a plan to the Exchange
of steps it has taken, or will’ take in order to regam comphance with these requ1remems by no later than ‘
April'4, 2008, The Company submltted a plan to' the Staff of the AMEX; which included’an explananon that
the Company has been halsmg with & spec1al|st recrumng agency and takmg indépendent steps 1o ﬁnd '
eand1dates with the necessary quahﬁcat:ons to comply with' the' requ:rements of the’ Ilstmg standards

T LA ith Ja [

L]

+ On! February 14, 2008 the Company was’ aclvnsed by the;AMEX that its listing is bemg continued umll :
April 4, 2008. As previously disclosed the Company had submitted a plan to the Staff of the AMEX and the .
AMEX has determined that the Company has made a reasonable demonstrauon of its ability to regain
comphance with the conunued listing standards by the efid of the plan penod The AMEX detenmned that the
end of the plan penod is to be Apnl 4; 2008 B

L A L T T s PR

NOTE 23 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited}. .. - . . .. T
b e ™ L . 12007 . 2007 N . 2'007, SR .'2007' e
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Operating revenue from continuing operations .. $ 446847 § 2915000 $ 32961 $§ 3,813,858

Operating income (loss) from continuing o
OPerations . ... ........ouiurinrinanan. (1,954,861) (303,907)  (2,197,196)  (41,924,860)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations. . . (4,091,403) (8,645,420  (9,903,798)  (42,673,965)
Net income (loss) from discontineed operations, .

netoftaxes ........................ Lo 2,205,217 13,389,959 (55.873) 43,0687
Net.income (1088) .. .........c it nnn. (5,931,803) 4,744,539 (9,959,671)  (42,630,278) .
Net income (loss) per common share — basic .

and diluted from continuing operations. . . . .. (0.02) (0.04) (0.04) (0.18)
Net income (loss) per common share — basic _

and diluted from discontinued operations . . .. (0.00) 0.06 (0.00) 0.00
Net income (loss) per common share — basic .

anddiluted .......... ... ... ... ..... (0.02) . (0.02) (0.04) (0.18)
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< B 200600 . 2006 C2006° 2006 -
~ Co . . - First Second Third , - Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Operating revénue from continuing operationis. . . s 698,9“4?1"| $'1,303,132 $ .2,090,147'_ $ 2,43_4,43@
Operating income (LOS§) from contmumg oo C S :

OPEIALIONS . v v v vl (3,090,043) (2,694,504)  (2182,546)  (40,551,589)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations . .. (4-,077;990) {4,335,303) . (4,226,407) (41,791,997)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operatlons . st ooy

netof taxes ...l .l o N(1,381,152) - 1,630,267 (1,491,710) 1 (4,866 559)
Net income (I0ss). . .5 oo, ol (5459,142)  (2,705,036) (5 718,111 (46 658 ,556)
Net income“(loss) per common share— basic . S T S e L o

and diluted from Continuing operations: . . .. .o (0.02) . (0.02) (4 02) (0 31)
Net-income (loss) per common share — basic A S : : -

and diluted from'discontinued operations - . . . o (0.0l) - 0.01 (0.01). ‘ (0 04)
Net income (loss) per: common share —'basic’ - v . o . ‘

and diluted. . .....". .. . o Ten (0 02) 40001 v - (0.03) - (0.35)

Lt . '

NOTE 24 — SUPPLEMENTAL OIL AND GAS DlSCLOSURE (Unaudlted) ' BREE
ESTIMATED NET QUANTITIES OF OIL AND GAS RESERVES -

Users of this information should be aware that the process of cstlmatmg quantities of * proved" and
“proved developed” natural gas and crude oil reserves is very complex, requmng significant sub]ectlve .
decisions in the evaluation of all available geologtcal engineering and economlc data for each reservoir. The
data for a given reservou- may also change substantially over time as a result of numerous factors including,
but not llmlted to, additional development act1v1ty, evolvmg productlon history and continual reassessment of
the viability of production under varying econormc conditions. Consequently, material revisions to exnsttng
reserve estimates occur_from time to time. Although every reasonable effort is made to ensure that reserve
estimates reported represent the most accurate assessments possible, the sngmﬁcance of the subjecnve decisions
" required and variances in available data for virious reservoirs make these estimates generally less prec1se than
other éstimatés presented in'connection with ﬁnancnal statement disclosures. ‘

Proved reserves are estimated quantltles of natural gas, crude oil and condensate that geological and
engmeenng "data demonstrate, with reasonable certainty, to be recoverable in future Yyears from known
reservoirs with existing equipment under existing economic and operating conditions,

Proved developed reserves are proved reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing
wells with existing equipment and under existing economic and operating conditions.
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Oil and gas reserves

N P

v'T'he’f()liowing tables set forth our net proved oil.and gas reseryes, including the changes therein, and.net

N

proved developed. reserves at December 31 2006, as estimated by the independent petroleum engmeenng firm,
Qilfield Production Consultants Limited for Georgia:

"Net Proved Developed and Undevel'o_ped Reserves — Oil (In Tﬁoysehds' of‘ BaFreIs):

2007 2006 2005

January 1 ..... ... S e e T M 2,196 - 43514 4,076 -

- Purchase of properties : .. ... ., e S I O et — — s

Revisions of previous estimates . . ............................ (552) (1,198) (410}

. Extension, discoveries, other additions ... ...................... o e —

Production. . .. ... .. . (106), (120) , (152)

- Disposition of properties . ....................... e . e Y

December 31. . .. .. o .o oL e e e UL « 1,538 - 2,196 3:514
Net Proved Developed Oil Reserves — December 31, 2007 . . . .- AU I T )

Net Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves — Gas (In Million Cubic Feet) — Georgia

LI

207 2006 2005

January 1........ ... L e 1’825.‘,. 1 599' 1,703
Purchase of properties. . . ............... e — —_ —
"Revisions of previous eSmMates " ... ... ......oou'oeeeeeenn... 215 700 "
_Extension, discoveries, other additions. . ... . ........0 ... oo, — — -
N <
Production . ©................ ... ... .. LR (410)  (483) " (104)
"Disposition of propemes ..... e R SR - =
"December 31 ... AU i 16307 1,825 1599
Net Proved Developed Gas Reserves —— Decermber 31, 2007 .. . 1249 -
Net proved oil reserves in Georgia consisted of the following at December 31: - e oy
o ' 2007 W6, .
. PSC PSC
' Oil Rescrves Entitlement Oil Reserves'-. - Entitlement

Proved Developed Producing . .......
Proved Undeveloped. . ............. :

Total Proven...... ] e

Net proved gas reserves in Georgla con51sted of the followin

Proved Developed Producing ........
Proved Undeveloped. .. ............

Total Proven. . ...................

Gross Volumes

(MSTB} "(MSTB)(1} '

Gross | ., Volumes .
(MSTB)®  (MSTBX)

1,386 901

979 637

2,365 ‘1,538 ‘
T

1811 177
1'568 - 1,019"
3379 2,196

)

g at December 31:

VIR e ' v e Y SN
2007 2006
PSC PSC
Gas Reserves Entitlement Gas Reserves Entitlement
Gross Volumes Gross Volumes
(MMCF) (MMCFX1) (MMCF) (MMCFX1)
1,921 1,249 1,885 1,225
587 381 923 600
2,508 1,630 2,808 1,825
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{1) PSC Entitlement Volumes attributed to CanArgo are calculated using the “economic interest method”
applied to the terms of the production sharing contract. PSC Entitlement Volumes are those produced vol-
‘umes which, through the production sharing contract, accrue to the benefit of Ninotsminda Oil Company
after deduction of Georgian Oil’s share which includes all Georgian taxes, levies and duties. As a result of
) CanArgo’s interest in Ninotsminda Oil Company, these volumes accrue to the beneﬁt of CanArgo for the
recovery of capital, repayment of operating costs and share of profit. -

‘ Results of continuing operations for ¢il and gas pmducing activities

Resuits of continuing operations for oil and gas producing actlvmes all in Georgia, for 2007, 2006 and
2005 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2007 - - Georgia

REVENUES . ..\ vt e e e e e e e e e $ 7,208,666
Operating expenses. . .......... e A - 1,370,153
Dépreciation, depletion and amortization . . .. ... .. oo e i i 2,411,500
Impairment of oil and gas properties . . . . ....... ... i i i . 42,000,000
Operating Income (LOSS). . . ... ... .. i e e e (38,572,987)
Income tax provision . ....... ... .. i e e e —
Results of Continuing Operations for Oil and Gas Producing Activities . .......... $(38,572,987)
Year Ended December 31, 2006 ‘ . ) ' Georgia *
REVEMUES . ..ttt e e e e e $ 6,526,660
Operating EXPENSES. . . . oottt iie e e 1,702,679
' Depreciation, depletion and amortization . . . e . P R 3,388,134
Impairment of oil and gas properties . . .. .. .. ... . L e 38,400,000
Operating Income (Loss). . ............. T R '. . (36,9@4_,153)
Income tax Provision .. ... ...t e —
Results of Continuing Operations for Oil and Gas Producing Activities . Cee $(36,964,153)
Year Ended December 31, 2005 K ) Georgia
Revenues. . .......c.ovivveinnenn e e $5,278,912
Operating expenses.. . ........ .......... e e 1,109,588
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . ......... ...t 2,651,053
Impairment of oil and gas properties . . ... i i e —
Operating Income (Loss) . ............... I R e ... 1,518,271 .

Income tax provision. .. ..... S O —

Results of Continuing Operations for Oil and Gas Producing Activities. . ........... $1,518,271

Georgia was the only country where we had oil and gas producing activities for 2007;, 2006 and 2005.

F-51




Costs incurred for oil and gas proper'ty acquisition, exploration and developmem_ gcﬁviﬁes .

Costs incurred for oil and gas propeny acquisition, explorauon and development activities for 2007 2006

and 2005 arc. as follows; . . o
Year ]Lnded December 31, 2007 . ' St MGeorgia
Property Acquisition

LT T A S L3 =
Proved. . ... e e e —-—

o . - st P T : I ‘4 i
Exploration'. ...}, 7. . .. S :. = ool U S SO 7509‘999
Development. . . . .. P Ve Tesg
‘Totl costs mcurred o R e T T $8.368,270

' - Lt S g, T T I ¥ ) . y 1 _—— Vi
- |‘|l ‘.‘ .- 1 “ ‘o T~ i -' . . ' -“. '-| " . ..‘ . . .. . .h‘ f ‘, . ‘_‘v-».
Year Ended December 31,2006 * © ' f o uhe st Georg'.a
T Te ot . T T T T T P DL B
Property Acquisition ..« ., .. .. L. T, e, e s woro oo e e ot
Unproved(1). .. ... ... o e Giuie . d s L —r
Proved..,.._.'.:.,I.‘.'.........,._..., ...... B T .,
Explotatlon ----- PN I L I L IR i LN .J..'. FRPCIF PP foa e ath, 2],851;057 by
Development.. . o\t o lonv e i BRI SR PR ol 1,998,556 .
e . PN R oo S . i,
Total costs incurred . .. .. ... . U e "‘ $23849613
(I [ - _.I. T Y Tk oexe 0 w 1 s Ah et e
et el O P ' o ,
Year: Ended December3l 2005, ¢, 2 e T, Lan - . L v ,¢ Georgia, |
Propenv Atqursmon L i e T n e e e
> ’ , 1 " o . S .
Unproved(l) ................................................ A $ ' —
d - LI FRPEE Y £ L4 o ¢ .
Proved. . ... ..o : : . —_
Pr s P LT RN, .
. Exploration ... .. .. ... RIS I S A 16,012,4654 ..;
Development . . . ... ... e 18,828,582.7 i
Total'costsrincurred...\.-‘.;.‘.'...—...:....:..-...;.,.’..‘...—..-..., ........ woe d .$34,841,047
. - e, T T G x'_-———

- o - N - .
Pl B /T Cate LA

(l) These amoums represent costs 1ncurred by CanArgo and excluded from the amoruzauon base until provéd

reserves are established or impairment is determined.

Aggregate Capitalized Costs

Capitalized costs relating to Oil and Gas Activities is as follows:

December 31, 2007 (in thousands) Georgia

Proved .......ocovvnnnnn.. e PO $ 145,983
Unproved . . ... e e e e 9,445
Total capitalized CoStS . ... ... i e e e e e e 155,428
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, impairment and amortization. ... ............. {112,201)
Net capitalized costs . .. .. ... . it i e e $ 43,227
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December 31, 2006 (i thousands) '+~ 0 o+t . o e T Georgin

Proved..... b v e e e b repg et iaangaauasiaaaas e R e $ 53,679
Unproved. . ........... g .. 55,097
Total capitalized Costs . ............... ...l frreeneee, 108776
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, impairment and amortization ....,.......... e (67 608)
Net capitalized costs. ... ........ RERRTEREES ST e B} y L8, 41 168

STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF DISCOUNTED F UTURE NET CASH FLOWS RELATING TO
PROVED OIL AND GAS RESERVES

The followmg mformanon has been developed utilizing procedures prescribed by SFAS No. 69 Disclosure
about Oil and Gas Producing Activities (“*SFAS 69”) and based on crude oil reserve and producuon volumes
estimated by the Company’s engineering staff. It may be useful for certain comparative purposes, but should
not be solely relied upon in evaluating the Company or its performance. Further,. information contained in the
following table should not be considered as representative of realistic assessments of future cash flows, nor
should the Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows be viewed as representative of the
current value of the Company. Co . . ' :

CanArgo believes that the following factors should be taken into account in reviewing the following
inforniation: (I) future costs and selling prices will probably differ from those required to be used in these
calculations; (2) actual rates of production achieved in future years may vary significantly from the rate of
production assumed in the calculations; (3) selection of a 10% discount rate is arbitrary and may not be
reasonable as a measure of the relative risk inherent in realizing future nét oil and gas revenues; and (4) future
net revenues may be subject to different rates of income taxation.

Under the Standardized Measure, future cash inflows were estimated by applying period=end oil_prices
adjusted for fixed and determinable escalations to the estimated future production of period-end proven,
reserves. Future cash inflows were reduced by estimated future development, abandonment and préduction
costs based on periad-end costs in order to arrive at net cash flow before tax. Future income thix expenses has
been computed by applying period-end statutory tax rates to aggregate future pre-tax net cash flows, reduced
by the tax basis of the properties involved and tax carryforwards. Use of a 10% discount rate is- requnred by
SFAS No..69: : C , oo

Management does not rely solely upon the following information in making investment. and: operating
decisions. Such decisions are based upon a wide range of factors, including estimates of probable as well as
proven reserves and varying price and cost assumptlons c0n51dered more representatlve of a range of possnb]e
economic ¢onditions that may be anticipated. - - Lo

+ . - . M .
Tk . B f L ! .
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Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and gas reserves

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and gas reserves for
Georgia is as follows:

December 31

(In Thousands) 2007 2006 2003
Future cashinflows . ........ ... ... .. e, ‘$133,874 $110,443  $179,340
Less related future: . . ' _
Production COStS . - v o v v o e e e e 43518 28,668 26;406 .
Development and abandonment costs ... ............... 8,250 7,120 - 18,808
Future net cash flows before income taxes ... .......... e 8.2,106 . 74,655 134,126
© FUture iNCOME TAXES . . o o v v it et e e i et e e e — L {4,091y - (6,567)
Future net cash flows(1). . .................. P 82,106 70,564 127,556 .
10% annual discount for estimating timing of cash flows. . .. .. ‘ (38,657) (37,419) {51,056)

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows . . . . . $ 43,449 § 33,145 § 76,503

(1) In Georgia, future cash flows are based on PSC Entitlemment Volumes attributed to CanArgo using the
“economic interest method™ applied to the terms of the production sharing contract. PSC Entitlement Vol-
umes are those produced volumes which, through the production sharing contract, accrue to the benefit of
Ninotsminda Oil Company Limited after deduction of Georgian Oil’s share which includes ali Georgian
taxes, levies and duties. As a result of our interest in Ninotsminda Oil Company Limited, these volumes
accrue to the benefit of CanArgo for the recovery of capital, repayment of operating costs and share of
profit. '

A summary of the changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows applicable to
proved oil and gas reserves for Georgia is as follows:

December 31

In Thousands 2007 2006 2005
BEZinning Of YEAr .. .« oo etet e e $33,144  $76502 $ 46411
Purchase (sale) of reservesinplace ... ................... — — —
Revisions of previous estimates . ... ..., .. ............... (33,363) (38,635) (13,209}
Development costs incurred during the period . . ... ... ... 1,988 {9,689) 27,437
Additions to proved reserves resulting from Extensions, .

discoveries and improved . .. ... ... ... ... . .. ... ... ... — — —
Recovery . ... ... .. — — —
Accretion of discount. . .. ..., .. . . . .. . e 3,314 7,650 4,641
Sales of oil and gas, net of production costs . . .............. (5,839 (4,824) (3,495)
Net change in sales prices, net of Production costs . .......... 35731 (8,269) 56,113
Changes in production rates (timing) and other . . ... ... ...... 8,474 10,409 (41,396)
Net increase (decrease) ......... .t 10,305 (43,358) 30,091
End of year . .. ... e e 43,449 $33,144 § 76,502

- END




